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Court File No. ---------

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT 
ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE 
ACT, R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, 
VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA - EASTERN REGION 
AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA - WESTERN 
REGION 

Applicants 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION 

TO THE PARTIES HEREIN: 

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the Applicants. The 
claim made by the Applicants appears on the following pages. 

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing before a judge presiding over 
the Commercial List at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario on November 25, 2015, 
at 10:00 am or as soon after that time as the matter can be heard. 

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step 
in the application or to be served with any documents in the application, you or an 
Ontario lawyer acting for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 
38A prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, serve it on the Applicants' lawyer or, 
where the Applicants do not have a lawyer, serve it on the Applicants, and file it, with 
proof of service, in this court office, and you or your lawyer must appear at the hearing. 

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY 
EVIDENCE TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES 
ON THE APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of 

- 1 -



appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the Applicants' lawyer or, where the 
Applicants do not have a lawyer, serve it on the Applicants, and file it, with proof of 
service, in the court office where the application is to be heard as soon as possible, but 
not later than 2:00pm on the day before the hearing. 

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN 
YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH TO 
OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID 
MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE. 

Date November '2015 Issued by ------------
Local registrar 

Address of 330 University Avenue 
court office 71

h Floor 
Toronto, ON M5J 1 R7 

TO: Bennett Jones LLP 

AND TO: 

3400 One First Canadian Place 
Toronto, Ontario M5X 1A4 

Mark Laugesen 
Tel: (416) 777-4802 
Email: laugesenm@bennettjones.com 

Lawyers for the Proposed Monitor 

DENTONS LLP 
Toronto-Dominion Centre 
77 King Street West, Suiet 400 
Toronto, Ontario M5K OA1 

Kenneth Kraft 
Tel: (416) 869-4374 
Email: kenneth.kraft@dentons.com 

Lawyers for the Boards of Directors of the Applicants 
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AND TO: CASSELS BROCK & BLACKWELLLLP 
21 00 Scotia Plaza 
40 King Street West 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 2C 1 

Joseph Bellissimo 
Tel: (416) 860-6572 
Email: jbellissimo@casselsbrock.com 

larry Ellis 
Tel: 416 869 5406 
Email: lellis@casselsbrock. com 

Lawyers for The Bank of Nova Scotia 
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APPLICATION 

1. The Applicants, Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada ("VON Canada"), 

Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada - Eastern Region ("VON East") and Victorian 

Order Of Nurses For Canada- Western Region ("VON West") make application for: 

(a) an Initial Order substantially in the form attached to the Application 

Record (the "Initial Order"), among other things: 

(i) abridging the time for service of this Notice of Application and 

dispensing with service on any person other than those served; 

(ii) declaring that the Applicants are parties to which the Companies' 

Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended, 

(the "CCAA") applies; 

(iii) appointing Collins Barrow Toronto Limited ("CBTL") as monitor of 

the Applicants in these proceedings (in such capacity, the 

"Monitor"); 

(iv) staying all proceedings and remedies taken or that might be 

taken in respect of the Applicants, their directors and officers or 

any of their property; 

(v) staying certain proceedings and remedies taken or that might be 

taken in respect of Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada -

Ontario Branch ("VON Ontario") and Victorian Order Of Nurses 

For Canada Nova Scotia Branch ("VON Nova Scotia") as further 

described in the Initial Order; 

(vi) authorizing the Applicants to carry on business in a manner 

consistent with the preservation of their property and to make 

certain payments in connection with their business and the 

proceedings taken hereunder, including payment and 

performance of certain obligations arising prior to the date of the 

Initial Order; 
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(vii) authorizing the Applicants to file with this Court a plan of 

compromise or arrangement, subject to the terms of the Initial 

Order; 

(viii) granting the following charges over the property of the Applicants: 

(A) a charge in favour of the Applicants' counsel, the Monitor 

and the Monitor's counsel, counsel to the boards of 

directors of the Applicants and the Chief Restructuring 

Officer (as defined below) in the maximum amount of 

$250,000 to secure payment of their fees and 

disbursements incurred in connection with this 

proceeding, including services rendered both before and 

after the commencement of these proceedings (the 

"Administration Charge"); 

(B) a charge to protect the directors and officers of the 

Applicants and the Chief Restructuring Officer from certain 

liabilities in the maximum amount of $750,000 (the 

"Directors' Charge"); 

(ix) approving a key employee retention plan; 

(x) approving the engagement letter entered into between VON 

Canada and the Chief Restructuring Officer (as defined below); 

and 

(xi) sealing the confidential exhibits to the Affidavit of Jo-Anne Poirier 

sworn November 24, 2015, 

(b) an Order appointing CBTL as Receiver of the goodwill and intellectual 

property of the Applicants substantially in the form attached to the 

Application Record (the "Receivership Order"); and 

(c) such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just. 

2. The grounds for the application are: 
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The Applicants are parties to which the CCAA applies 

(a) The Applicants collectively are subject to claims well in excess of $5 

million; 

(b) VON East and VON West are under common control with VON Canada; 

(c) The value of each of the Applicants' property is not, at a fair valuation, 

sufficient to enable payment of their obligations that are due or accruing 

due; 

(d) The restructuring of VON Canada cannot proceed if its arrangements 

with VON East and VON West are not resolved and VON East and VON 

West are not wound down in an orderly manner; 

Stay of Proceedings 

(e) The stay of proceedings in favour of the Applicants is necessary to 

provide a stable environment within which to undertake extensive 

operational restructuring efforts; 

(f) Without the relief sought in the proposed Initial Order, the Applicants 

would be exposed to significant and immediate claims resulting from the 

steps that will be taken in connection with the proposed restructuring; 

(g) The proposed restructuring may also trigger detrimental steps by certain 

contract counterparties against VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia, 

which steps would be highly damaging to the VON Group's business; 

Payment and performance of pre-filing obligations 

(h) The payment of the proposed pre-filing amounts on account of certain 

obligations to employees, professionals, volunteers, directors, assistants 

and credit card issuers are justifiable in the circumstances; 

(i) The continued service of these parties will be essential in the post-filing 

period to move forward with the Applicants' restructuring efforts; 
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U) Continued access to the company's credit cards, which have been 

issued by Bank of Nova Scotia is important from an administrative 

perspective and Bank of Nova Scotia has agreed to the continued use of 

these credit cards in the post-filing period, but amounts incurred in the 

pre-filing period must be paid; 

Charges 

(k) No secured creditors who have not received notice of this Application will 

be affected by the Administration Charge or the Directors' Charge at this 

time. 

(I) The proposed Monitor has reviewed the Administration Charge and the 

Directors' Charge; 

(m) The Applicants believe that the beneficiaries of the Administration 

Charge have played and will continue to play a necessary and integral 

role in the restructuring activities of the Applicants; 

(n) The Applicants require the continued participation of their directors and 

officers; 

(o) While the directors' and officers' insurance is available, the directors and 

officers of the Applicants cannot be certain that the insurance providers 

will not seek to deny coverage on the basis that the directors' and 

officers' insurance does not cover a particular claim or that coverage 

limits have been exhausted; 

Key Employee Retention Plan 

(p) In the circumstances, there is a strong possibility that certain critical 

employees would consider other employment options without the benefit 

of retention compensation; 

(q) Given the specialized nature of the Applicants' industry, the experience 

and knowledge of these critical individuals is highly valuable; 
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(r) The Applicants are unlikely to be able to adequately replace any of their 

critical employees at this time; 

Chief Restructuring Officer 

(s) March Advisory Services Inc. (as "Chief Restructuring Officer") has 

played and will continue to play a significant role in VON Canada's 

restructuring efforts; 

(t) The Chief Restructuring Officer is expected to be particularly helpful in 

ongoing reviews of strategic alternatives for VON Canada; 

Sealing 

(u) The information subject to the sealing request is commercially sensitive 

information, and in some cases private personal information, which if 

disclosed would be detrimental to the Chief Restructuring Officer's ability 

to compete for future engagements and to the key employees generally; 

(v) The sealing order will not prejudice stakeholders; 

Proposed Monitor 

(w) CBTL has consented to act as the Court-appointed Monitor of the 

Applicants, subject to Court approval; 

(x) CBTL is not subject to any of the restrictions on who may be appointed 

as monitor set out in section 11.7(2) of the CCAA; 

Modified Cash Management System 

(y) The Modified Cash Management System effectively segregates the cash 

management of the non-Applicant entities at VON Ontario and VON 

Nova Scotia from the existing cash consolidation arrangement and 

maintains an effective cash management arrangement for the Applicants 

to collectively fund their operations going forward; 

- 8-
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Receivership 

(z) It is both just and convenient to appoint a receiver under section 101 of 

the Courts of Justice Act (Ontario) over certain property of Applicants in 

the current circumstances; 

(aa) CBTL has consented to act as Receiver on the terms of the proposed 

Receivership Order 

General 

(bb) The provisions of the CCAA and the equitable jurisdiction of this 

Honourable Court; and 

(cc) Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this 

Honourable Court may permit. 

3. The following documentary evidence will be used at the hearing of the 

application: 

(a) The affidavit of Jo-Anne Poirier sworn on November 24, 2015, and the 

Exhibits attached thereto; 

(b) The Consent of CBTL dated November 24, 2015 to act as the Monitor; 

and 

(c) The Consent of CBTL dated November 24, 2015 to act as Receiver 

(d) The Pre-Filing Report of CBTL, as proposed Monitor, dated November 

24, 2015; and 

(e) Such further and other material as counsel may advise and this 

Honourable Court will permit. 
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November 24, 2015 
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Court File No. ____ _ 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, 
R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA - EASTERN REGION AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION 

AFFIDAVIT OF JO-ANNE POIRIER 
(sworn November 24, 2015) 

Applicants 

I, Jo-Anne Poirier, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH 

AND SAY: 

1. I am the President and Chief Executive Officer of Victorian Order Of Nurses for 

Canada ("VON Canada") as well as its four separately incorporated regional operating 

entities: 

(a) Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada- Eastern Region ("VON East"); 

(b) Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada- Western Region ("VON West"); 

(c) Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada - Ontario Branch ("VON Ontario"); 

and 
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(d) Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada Nova Scotia Branch ("VON Nova 

Scotia"). 

VON Canada, VON East, VON West, VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia, are referred to 

herein, collectively, as the "VON Group" and VON Canada, VON East and VON West are 

referred to herein as the "Applicants" 

2. I have held that position since January 2, 2014. As such, I have personal 

knowledge of the matters to which I hereinafter depose, except where otherwise stated. In 

preparing this affidavit I have also consulted, where necessary, with other members of VON 

Group's management team. Where I have relied upon other sources of information, I have 

stated the source of that information and believe such information to be true. 

3. This affidavit is sworn in support of: 

(a) an application by the Applicants for an order (the "Initial Order'') pursuant to 

the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as 

amended (the "CCAA"); and 

(b) an application by VON Canada for the ·appointment of a Receiver under 

Section 101 of the Courts of Justice Act (Ontario) over certain of the assets, 

properties and undertaking of VON Canada, VON East and VON West (the 

"Receivership Order"). 

I. INTRODUCTION 

4. The VON Group provides home and community care services that address the 

health care needs of Canadians in various locations across the country on a not-for-profit 

charitable basis. For over 100 years, the VON Group has been a part of Canada's health 

care system. 
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5. VON Canada is the administrative centre of the VON Group. 

6. The VON Group delivers its programs through its four regional VON Group 

entities (VON East, VON West, VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia). The services delivered 

in each region are subject to separate regional contractual arrangements and the services 

offered are not identical across all regions. 

7. The VON Group has experienced sustained financial challenges over the past 

several years, has incurred significant losses, and without an extensive restructuring of its 

operations and finances it could entirely exhaust its available liquidity in the very near future. 

8. The VON Group has considered and, where possible, implemented a variety of 

options to remedy these challenges by: (i) exiting loss producing lines of business; (ii) 

reducing and deferring capital expenditures; (iii) implementing hiring freezes for non-front line 

personnel; (iv) capital raising efforts; and (v) cost control efforts, including with respect to 

wages. However, the foregoing options were either not executable or, if executable, did not 

achieve the VON Group's goals of long term sustainability. 

9. The Applicants have determined that a formal process is necessary so that 

fundamental operational and financial restructuring steps can be undertaken in an orderly 

and controlled manner and stability can be maintained for the VON Group's core health and 

community care programs. 

10. The focus of the Applicants' efforts in its CCAA proceedings will be: (i) restructuring of 

overhead costs that are currently incurred at VON Canada and that are at an unsustainable 

level; (ii) winding down VON East and VON West, which are not financially viable; and (iii) 

positioning VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia to achieve long term sustainability. 

/2.. 
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11. A successful restructuring will allow the VON Group to continue providing much 

needed health and community care services in its core regions to a population that is 

increasingly in need of the flexible health and community-based care services that the VON 

Group provides. 

II. VON GROUP 

A. Corporate Structure 

12. The VON Group does not operate under a traditional vertical corporate 

structure. The current corporate structure is as follows: 

(a) VON Canada: VON Canada is a not-for-profit charitable corporation that was 

incorporated by Royal Charter dated the 28th day of December, 1897. It was 

continued under Part II of the Canada Corporations Act by Letters Patent 

dated the 31st day of December, 1974. It was continued again under the 

Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act ("CNCA") by Certificate of 

Continuance dated the 8th day of July, 2014. VON Canada's registered head 

office is located at 2315 St. Laurent Boulevard, Suite 100, Ottawa, Ontario 

K1 G 4J8. As a not-for-profit corporation, the affairs of VON Canada are 

governed by a board of directors (the "VON Canada Board") elected by the 

members of VON Canada. The members of VON Canada (analogous to 

shareholders of a business corporation) are the VON Canada board of 

directors and Community Corporations described below. 

(b) Regional Entities: VON East, VON West, VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia 

(collectively, the "Regional Entities") are the regional operating corporations 

of the VON Group. 

I 



- 5-

(i) VON Ontario is a not-for-profit charitable corporation incorporated 

under the Corporations Act (Ontario). VON Ontario's registered head 

office is located at 2315 St. Laurent Boulevard, Suite 100, Ottawa, 

Ontario K1 G 4J8. 

(ii) VON East is a not-for-profit charitable corporation incorporated under 

Part II of the Canada Corporations Act in 2004 and continued under 

the CNCA in 2014. VON East's registered head office is located at 

2315 St. Laurent Boulevard, Suite 100, Ottawa, Ontario K1G 4J8. 

(iii) VON West is a not-for-profit charitable corporation incorporated under 

Part II of the Canada Corporations Act in 2004 and continued under 

the CNCA in 2014. VON West's registered head office is located at 

2315 St. Laurent Boulevard, Suite 100, Ottawa, Ontario K1 G 4J8. 

(iv) VON Nova Scotia was established in 2000 under the Victorian Order of 

Nurses Act of Nova Scotia. VON Nova Scotia's registered head office 

is located at 900-1959 Upper Water Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia, B3J 

3N2. 

VON Canada and the Regional Entities operate as an affiliated corporate 

group. Operationally, VON Canada is fully integrated with each of the 

Regional Entities. Each Regional Entity has a board of directors composed of 

the same individuals who comprise the VON Canada board. The members of 

each Regional Entity are VON Canada itself as well as the individual VON 

Canada directors. VON Canada's senior management team is also the senior 

management team of each of the Regional Entities. 
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(c) Community Corporations: Over 30 separate community corporations (the 

"Community Corporations") are the members of VON Canada (together with 

the VON Canada board of directors). The role of the Community Corporations 

at this time is fund-raising as well as advocacy and community development to 

support the activities of the VON Group, primarily in their local communities. 

The Community Corporations do not provide health or community care 

services. The Community Corporations elect the board of directors of VON 

Canada, which also serves as the board of directors of the various Regional 

Entities. The Community Corporations are separately incorporated and 

therefore not subject to the direction or control of VON Canada. While the 

Community Corporations do provide some funding to the VON Group, the 

VON Group has many other material sources of funding that account for the 

majority of the VON Group's overall funding. 

13. This structure is the product of a prior corporate reorganization commenced in 

2000 and completed in 2006 outside of a court process (the "2006 Reorganization"). Prior 

to the commencement of the 2006 Reorganization, the individual Community Corporations 

each provided health and community care services directly to clients in their communities. 

However, in 2006 these operating activities were transferred to the VON Group and 

consolidated under the Regional Entities. 

14. In 2007, Association Agreements were entered into between VON Canada and 

the Community Corporations. The Association Agreements outline the responsibilities as 

between VON Canada and each Community Corporation. A copy of the template 

Association Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit "A". 
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B. Operational Structure 

15. The operational structure of the VON Group is as follows: 

16. 

(a) VON Canada: The administrative and overhead related functions of the VON 

Group are performed by VON Canada. VON Canada also owns the 

intellectual property of the VON Group, which is licensed to the Regional 

Entities and the Community Corporations through trademark licensing 

agreements. VON Canada provides necessary back office support and senior 

management oversight for the operations undertaken by the Regional Entities. 

(b) Regional Entities: The Regional Entities enter into and perform the VON 

Group's service agreements within specific provinces or regions. The majority 

of services are provided at the cost and direction of governments, government 

agencies, health authorities and charitable organizations across Canada. 

These service arrangements are the primary source of the VON Group's cash 

flow. 

VON Canada, the Regional Entities and each Community Corporation have 

also entered into trademark license agreements pursuant to which it is agreed that all 

applications for trademark registrations, registered trademarks and other names, logos and 

slogans listed therein are owned by VON Canada and that any use of such trademarks, 

names, logos or slogans is under license from VON Canada. 

C. Business Overview 

17. The VON Group maintains and provides a network of services that support the 

health and wellbeing of Canadians outside of a formal institutional setting, allowing 

16 
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Canadians to maintain their health and independence and providing family caregivers with 

much needed support. 

18. A core program of VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia is Home Care 

(consisting of visiting nursing and home support). Home Care is not a material part of the 

service offering of VON East or VON West. 

19. Community Support Services are provided by all Regional Entities. These 

services are deployed from over 50 sites across Canada and include: (i) adult day/respite 

care; (ii) foot care; (iii) active lifestyle programs for seniors; (iv) independent living skill 

programs for seniors; and (v) elder abuse prevention. 

VON Ontario 

20. VON Ontario provides Home Care and Community Support Services through 

arrangements with Ontario's Community Care Access Centre ("CCACs"), Local Health 

Integration Networks ("LHINs") and other funders. The CCACs and LHINs are funded and 

mandated by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (Ontario). 

VON Nova Scotia 

21. VON Nova Scotia provides Home Care through arrangements with the District 

Health Authority, which is funded and mandated by the Nova Scotia Department of Health 

and Well ness. It also has various contracts for Community Support Services. 

VON East 

22. VON East provides targeted services including: pre-travel clinics, flu clinics, fetal 

alcohol syndrome disorder programs, education and support to youth who are either 
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expecting a child or parenting an infant, adult day programs, foot care and certain limited 

services to Veterans Affairs Canada. 

VON West 

23. VON West provides a range of Community Care Services through 

arrangements with Alberta Health Services and other funders. VON West provides adult day 

programs, foot care and other services. 

24. VON East and VON West operate at a significantly smaller scale than both 

VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia. 

D. Employees 

25. The VON Group's services are delivered by unionized and non-unionized 

employees. 

26. In aggregate, VON Canada and the Regional Entities have over 4200 full time 

equivalent employees. Because service arrangements must often be flexible, most 

employees are casual or part time employees of the VON Group. In total, VON Canada and 

the Regional Entities have over 6000 full time, casual and part time employees. 

27. Most employees are employed by the Regional Entities as follows: 

(a) VON East: approximately 160 employees; 

(b) VON West: approximately 147 employees; 

(c) VON Ontario: approximately 3915 employees; and 

(d) VON Nova Scotia: approximately 1947 employees. 

fg' 
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28. The employees of the Regional Entities do not receive, and have not received, 

any remuneration from VON Canada. 

29. VON Canada has approximately 200 employees, primarily providing internal 

administrative support for the Regional Entities, such as financial services, information 

technology, human resources administration and payroll. 

30. The VON Group is party to over 60 collective agreements with 14 unions and 

67 bargaining units.1 The Applicants have collective agreements with six unions. 

31. The VON Group is also supported by approximately 7000 volunteers. 

E. Pensions 

32. The VON Canada Pension Plan (the "Pension Plan") was established on 

January 1, 1958. It is a defined benefit pension plan, registered in Ontario. 

33. VON Canada is the sponsor and administrator of the Pension Plan. VON 

Canada has retained the services of various agents including: (i) Morneau Shepell, Ltd. 

pursuant to an Administrative Services Agreement effective as of June 1, 2015 in respect of 

certain administrative pension services; and (ii) Mercer (Canada) Limited pursuant to a letter 

of engagement dated July 29, 2009 with VON Canada in respect of certain actuarial, 

consulting, and administrative services. 

34. The employees of VON Canada and the Regional Entities are members of the 

Pension Plan. 

1 The applicable unions include: Ontario Public Service Employees Union; Ontario Nurses Association; 
Service Employees International Union; Canadian Union of Public Employees; Ontario Federation of 
Health Care Workers; Unifor; Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private 
Employees; Registered Nurses' Union Newfoundland & Labrador; Nova Scotia Nurses Union; and 
certain affiliates of the Christian Labour Association of Canada. 

I~ 
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35. Each entity in the VON Group is required to match its employee pension cash 

contributions on a 1:1 basis under the Pension Plan. All required monthly normal cost 

payments under the Pension Plan have been made to date. The Cash Flow Forecast (as 

defined below) contemplates that all normal cost payments and special payments will be 

made during the period of the Cash Flow Forecast. 

36. Currently, the Pension Plan is in a solvency deficit position. Based upon a 

valuation as at June 1, 2015, the estimated wind-up deficiency for the Pension Plan was $17 

million. 

F. Key Customer and Supplier Arrangements 

37. Set out below is a summary of key contractual arrangements entered into by 

the entities in the VON Group. 

Collective Bargaining Agreements 

38. As mentioned above, the VON Group is party to over 60 collective agreements 

with 14 unions and 67 bargaining units. 

IBM Agreements 

(a) IBM MSA 

39. IBM Canada Limited ("IBM") entered into a Master Services Agreement dated 

January 1, 2009, as amended on June 1, 2013 with VON Canada (as amended, the "IBM 

MSA"). Under the IBM MSA, IBM agreed to provide, either directly or through TELUS 

Communications Company, certain specified technology services in connection with certain 

business transformation initiatives undertaken by VON Canada. 
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40. The services to be provided under the IBM MSA were to be reflected in 

statements of work issued under the IBM MSA. 

41. In connection with the IBM MSA, VON Canada and IBM entered into a loan 

agreement (as amended, the "IBM Loan Agreement"). Each statement of work set out 

amounts payable by VON Canada to IBM with respect to the goods and services provided 

under that statement of work. Upon receipt of invoices that complied with the terms of the 

IBM MSA, VON Canada would issue borrowing notices to IBM in accordance with the terms 

of the IBM Loan Agreement. The amounts set out in such borrowing notices would be added 

to the obligations under, and become payable in accordance with, the IBM Loan Agreement. 

At this time, material amounts remain payable by VON Canada under the IBM Loan 

Agreement, which has been amended as described below. 

;:2.{ 

42. The obligations owing under the IBM Loan Agreement are unsecured 

obligations of VON Canada. A copy of the IBM Loan Agreement is attached hereto as 

Exhibit "B". 

43. The obligations under the IBM Loan Agreement were the subject of a 

Restructuring Agreement dated March 25, 2013, a copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit "C" (the "Loan Restructuring Agreement"). 

44. At this time, obligations under the IBM MSA, including those under the IBM 

Loan Agreement, as amended by the Loan Restructuring Agreement, are $8,956,061.68. 

These amounts have not been repaid in accordance with the terms of the Loan Restructuring 

Agreement. 

45. The IBM MSA was the subject of a Novation Agreement dated May 29, 2015, 

pursuant to which IBM's rights under its arrangements with TELUS Communications 
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Company were novated to VON Canada and subsequently the provisions of the IBM MSA 

with respect to the managed services were terminated. 

(b) IBM Extended Payment Solution Agreement 

46. IBM and VON Canada entered into an Extended Payment Solution Agreement 

on November 30, 2011 (the "IBM EPSA"). 

47. On March 25, 2013, IBM and VON Canada entered into a Restructuring 

Agreement (the "EPSA Restructuring Agreement") in respect of the IBM EPSA pursuant to 

which VON Canada acknowledged that it was in default of the IBM EPSA and that the 

amount due under the IBM EPSA was $3,981 ,933.42. This amount remains outstanding at 

the current time. 

48. A copy of the EPSA Restructuring Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit "D". 

(c) IBM Leases 

49. IBM Canada and VON Canada entered into a Standing Order for Leased or 

Financed Items dated as of November 2, 2010 and various standing orders thereunder in 

connection with the lease of certain equipment (the "IBM Leases"). 

50. On March 25, 2013, IBM and VON Canada entered into a Restructuring 

Agreement (the "Lease Restructuring Agreement") in respect of the IBM Leases pursuant 

to which VON Canada acknowledged that it was in default of the IBM Leases and that the 

amount due under the IBM Leases was $165,115.74. This amount remains outstanding at 

the current time. 

51. A copy of the Lease Restructuring Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit "E". 



- 14-

Additional Supplier Agreements 

52. VON Canada entered into a Software End-User License Agreement on June 9, 

2009 with SAP Canada Inc. for certain ERP and payroll software licensing and support 

services. 

53. VON Canada entered into a Service Agreement effective October 8, 2013 with 

Celltrak Technologies, Inc. Pursuant to this Services Agreement, Celltrak Technologies, Inc. 

provides certain web-based administrative applications, mobile device applications and 

software designed for healthcare professionals. These IT services are utilized by a 

substantial portion of the VON Group's workforce on a day-to-day basis. 

54. As previously noted VON Canada entered into a Novation Agreement with 

TELUS Communications Company which provides for TELUS Communications Company 

(directly, rather than through IBM) to deliver site support, service desk support, data centre 

facilities, server management and storage management services. In addition, TELUS 

Corporation and VON Canada have entered into a Master Services Agreement, dated May 1, 

2013 (the "TELUS MSA"). Under the TELUS MSA, TELUS Corporation provides 

telecommunications services to ensure mobile connectivity for a high volume of VON Group 

users, web conferencing, long distance, call centre technology, and data communication 

linking VON sites. 

55. VON Canada entered into a Master Services and Software Agreement dated 

June 22, 2010 with Blackbaud, Inc. Pursuant to this agreement, Blackbaud, Inc. provides 

software and services including email services and internet domain name and hosting 

services to VON Canada. 

2..3 
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Funder Contracts 

56. The VON Group has contractual arrangements for the provision of services 

with various government and non-government parties (such parties being "Funders"). 

57. VON East has material Funder contracts in connection with Fetal Alcohol 

Spectrum Disorder programs, the "Healthy Baby and Me" program, the Canada Prenatal 

Nutrition Program and various flu related service with the Province of New Brunswick, the 

Government of Canada, and certain non-government organizations. 

58. VON West has material Funder arrangements through a Master Services 

Arrangement with Alberta Health Services pursuant to which VON West provides adult day 

programs, foot care and other services. 

G. Cash Management 

59. Net cash flows are not uniform across the VON Group entities: 

60. 

(a) VON Canada is a cost centre that has significant net negative cash flows 

attributable primarily to overhead expenditures that benefit the rest of the VON 

Group. These costs are offset partially by payments from the Regional 

Entities to allow VON Canada to recover a portion of its costs. 

(b) The Regional Entities generate revenue from community care and health care 

service contracts with Funders and incur costs associated with generating that 

revenue. 

Cash inflows and outflows are also not uniform from day to day or week to 

week. Cash inflows and outflows generally occur in large lump sums, resulting in often 

24 
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significant timing differences between inflows and outflows in any particular VON Group 

entity. 

61. To assist in dealing with the lack of uniformity of cash flows across the VON 

Group entities and the timing issues faced by those entities, a mirror account arrangement 

was agreed to with The Bank of Nova Scotia whereby funds could be effectively pooled 

among the VON Group entities, outflows and inflows could be netted out and a net overall 

cash position for the VON Group would be determined and maintained (the "Existing Mirror 

Netting Agreement"). A copy of the Existing Mirror Netting Agreement between the VON 

Group and The Bank of Nova Scotia dated June 22, 2004, is attached hereto as Exhibit "F". 

62. Under the Existing Mirror Netting Agreement all cash in the VON Group 

currently flows from each member of the VON Group into a consolidated account held by 

VON Canada. Bank balances for each of the Regional Entities are recorded, but this is a 

notional balance indicating what the status of each Regional Entity's bank account would be 

if the Existing Mirror Netting Agreement did not exist. 

63. Under the Existing Mirror Netting Agreement, the revenues of VON Ontario and 

VON Nova Scotia would fund the liquidity needs of other entities in the VON Group. 

64. At the date of commencement of these CCAA proceedings, the cash balance 

in the VON Canada pooled account is forecasted to be approximately $1.8 million. 

65. The Applicants propose that following the granting of the proposed Initial 

Order, the cash management system would be replaced by a new modified cash 

management arrangement (the "Modified Cash Management System"). Under the 

Modified Cash Management System: 
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(a) Immediately prior to the effective date of the Initial Order, all cash in the VON 

Group would be pooled in the VON Canada bank account in accordance with 

usual practice under the Existing Mirror Netting Agreement. 

(b) VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia would then establish a segregated mirror 

netting arrangement pursuant to which the consolidated cash position of VON 

Ontario and VON Nova Scotia would be maintained. 

(c) The Applicants would also establish an arrangement pursuant to which a 

consolidated cash position of the Applicants can be easily maintained and 

VON Canada, VON East and VON West could continue to utilize the 

consolidated cash balance held by those entities, collectively. 

66. The VON Group has requested and The Bank of Nova Scotia has agreed to 

facilitate the Modified Cash Management System. 

67. This cash management system must remain in place in respect of VON 

Canada, VON East and VON West in order to ensure that all such entities continue to have 

sufficient liquidity to cover their costs during these proceedings. This may result in funds that 

would otherwise be held by VON Canada being transferred to VON East and VON West to 

allow VON East and VON West offset negative cash flows. Without this arrangement, at 

various times during the proposed CCAA proceeding VON East and VON West would face 

periodic cash deficiencies, to the detriment of the VON Group as a whole and putting the 

orderly wind down of critical services at VON East and VON West at risk. The arrangements 

going forward provide a mechanism that maintains the notional individual balances of each of 

the VON Canada, VON East and VON West accounts. 

H. Assets and Liabilities 

68. Copies of the Applicants' non-consolidated financial statements prepared 

during the last year are attached hereto as Exhibit "G". 
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69. As at March 31, 2015, the assets of the Applicants were as follows: 

VON 
Consolidated2 VON Canada VON East VON West 

Current Assets 
Cash and Equivalents 4,759,388 2,401,441 0 2,510 

Accounts Receivable 13,744,628 466,020 687,198 573,019 

Prepaid Expenses and 848,679 3,878,662 129,081 43,244 
Other 
Total Current Assets 19,352,695 6,746,123 816,279 618,773 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, Equipment, 11,342,726 5,289,624 73,949 112,167 
Leasehold Improvements 
Total Non-Current Assets 11,342,726 5,289,624 73,949 112,167 
Total Assets 30,695,421 12,035,747 890,228 730,940 

2 VON Consolidated represents consolidated financial information from VON East, VON West, VON 
Canada as well as non-Applicant entities VON Ontario, VON Nova Scotia, VON Nurse Practitioner­
Led Clinic, VON 360 Degree Nurse Practitioner-Led Clinic. 
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70. As at March 31, 2015, the consolidated liabilities of the VON Group were as 

follows: 

VON 
Consolidated3 VON Canada VON East VON West 

Accounts payable and 42,763,058 5,707,527 889,272 409,791 
accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue 1,643,867 436,037 201,798 4,500 
Loan Payable 1,089,360 1,089,360 978,852 4,407,878 

Other 3,220,360 2,365,520 129,640 46,167 

Total Current Liabilities 48,716,645 9,598,444 2,199,562 4,868,336 

Long term debt 16,403,080 16,403,080 0 0 

Other 4,250,799 1 '170,879 5,551 35,333 
Total Non-Current 20,653,879 17,573,959 5,551 35,333 
Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 69,370,524 27,172,403 2,205,113 4,903,669 

Assets 

71. As a service provider, the VON Group's most significant assets are its 

accounts receivable. The largest components of the VON Group's revenue and accounts 

receivable are derived from Ontario CCACs and LHINs and the Department of Health and 

Wellness (Nova Scotia), which account for over 90% of total revenues and almost 90% of 

total accounts receivable. 

72. Cash and Cash Equivalents at all VON Group entities other than VON Canada 

are minimal. This is the result of the cost recovery arrangements in favour of VON Canada 

and the arrangements under the Existing Mirror Netting Agreement that the VON Group 

maintains with The Bank of Nova Scotia, pursuant to which the VON Group's cash on hand 

is consolidated on an ongoing basis in a pooled account held by VON Canada. 

3 VON Consolidated represents consolidated financial information from VON East, VON West, VON 
Canada as well as non-Applicant entities VON Ontario, VON Nova Scotia, VON Nurse Practitioner­
Led Clinic, VON 360 Degree Nurse Practitioner-Led Clinic. 
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73. VON Ontario owns one condominium unit in London, Ontario. 

7 4. The Applicants also own certain intangible assets, including brand-related 

intellectual property and contractual arrangements with customers. These assets are not 

recorded for financial statement purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles in Canada. However, these assets do have material value to the Applicants. The 

Applicants' brand-related intellectual property is owned by VON Canada and licensed to the 

other members of the VON Group. 

75. The Applicants hold certain endowment funds that are excluded from the 

above asset description. Those endowment funds totalled approximately $605,000 as at 

March 31, 2015. These funds are not available to the Applicants for general operating 

purposes. 

Loans Payable and Long Term Debt 

The Bank of Nova Scotia 

76. VON Canada currently has an operating facility with The Bank of Nova Scotia 

pursuant to an agreement dated September 9, 2015, as amended (the "Existing BNS 

Facility"). The Existing BNS Facility is limited to $4,000,000. As at the date of this affidavit, 

the Existing BNS Facility is undrawn. The Existing BNS Facility is guaranteed by all entities 

in the VON Group and the obligations under the facility and those guarantees are secured by 

general security agreements on the assets of all entities in the VON Group. 

77. A copy of the agreement governing the Existing BNS Facility is attached hereto 

as Exhibit "H". 

78. In connection with these proposed proceedings under the CCAA, the VON 

Group has requested that The Bank of Nova Scotia enter into a new demand operating 
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facility and credit card facilities to replace the Existing BNS Facility (the "New BNS Facility"). 

The New BNS Facility would have the following elements: 

(a) VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia would be the sole borrowers under the 

New BNS Facility; 

(b) The availability under the New BNS Facility would be substantially similar to 

the Existing BNS Facility and the total commitments under the New BNS 

Facility would be up to a maximum of $4 million, subject to the availability 

criteria in the New BNS Facility; 

(c) VON Canada would provide a guarantee of the obligations under the New 

BNS Facility (the "BNS Guarantee"); 

(d) The obligations of VON Ontario, VON Nova Scotia and VON Canada under 

the New BNS Facility would be secured by a general security interest over 

substantially all of the assets of the foregoing entities as well as a mortgage 

over certain real property owned by VON Ontario. The collateral securing the 

New BNS Facility would be substantially similar to the collateral securing the 

Existing BNS Facility; and 

(e) Each of VON Ontario, VON Canada and VON Nova Scotia will have credit 

card facilities that will be cross-guaranteed by each of the other. 

79. In the circumstances, the Applicants believe it is appropriate for VON Canada 

to guarantee the New BNS Facility. VON Canada will benefit from the liquidity that the New 

BNS Facility provides to VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia as that liquidity will permit VON 

Ontario and VON Nova Scotia to continue to operate in the ordinary course and generate 

revenues that will ensure that VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia can continue to pay their 



- 22-

agreed upon share of the costs incurred by VON Canada for the benefit of the entire VON 

Group. The Bank of Nova Scotia currently has no outstanding debt under the Existing BNS 

Facility. Therefore, the new security granted in connection with the New BNS Facility would 

secure only new advances. 

80. The New BNS Facility will become effective upon granting of the Initial Order 

sought in this Application. 

81. Copies of the BNS Guarantee and the general security agreement pursuant to 

which VON Canada would grant security to The Bank of Nova Scotia for VON Canada's 

obligations under the BNS Guarantee are attached hereto as Exhibit "I". 

82. VON West has also obtained a letter of credit issued by The Bank of Nova 

Scotia in the amount of $40,000 for the purposes of providing security for certain licensing 

obligations of VON West. This letter of credit is secured by cash collateral held by The Bank 

of Nova Scotia (the "LC Cash Collateral"). The proposed form of Initial Order does not 

propose a stay of any enforcement rights of The Bank of Nova Scotia against the LC Cash 

Collateral. 

83. The proposed form of Initial Order provides that The Bank of Nova Scotia will 

be treated as unaffected in any proposed CCAA Plan by the Applicants. 

IBM 

84. A material portion of the outstanding long term debt also relates to the IBM 

Loan Agreement, the IBM EPSA and the IBM Leases (each as amended), discussed in 

greater detail above. 
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Ill. FINANCIAL DIFFICULTIES AND THE NEED FOR CCAA PROTECTION 

A. Financial Results 

85. The financial results of the VON Group on a consolidated basis since 2012, 

indicate consistent liquidity issues: 

(a) Current liabilities have consistently exceeded current assets by a ratio of at 

least 1.78:1 and as high as 2.51:1; 

(b) Cumulative net losses from 2012 to 2015 total $13,624,897; and 

(c) Cash flows from operations from 2012 to 2015 were similarly negative in the 

amount of $8,203,266. 

86. While the VON Group ultimately seeks to achieve neutral financial results on 

an annual basis and certain temporary limited deficits can be bridged either by short term 

financing or by third party funding, the consistent operating deficits and liquidity shortfalls 

which the VON Group has faced in recent years are not sustainable. 

87. The VON Group's non-core operations (VON East and VON West) account for 

a disproportionately high share of the VON Group's overall losses and operating cash 

shortfalls relative to the revenues generated from these entities: 

(a) At VON West, cumulative net losses for 2012 to 2015 have been $2,656,078 

and cash from operating activities during that same period has been negative 

$2,768,244. Revenues at VON West have averaged $5,349,141.50 annually 

over this period; and 

(b) At VON East, cumulative net losses for 2012 to 2015 have been $856,544 and 

cash from operating activities during that same period has been negative 
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$3,07 4, 752. Revenues at VON East have averaged $6,179,643 annually over 

this period. 

88. The financial difficulties faced by the VON Group are clear. It faces a 

significant working capital shortfall and has been accumulating significant operating losses 

over the past number of years. Current forecasts suggest that the VON Group will face a 

liquidity crisis in the near future if restructuring steps are not taken. 

89. The key causes of these difficulties have been: 

(a) Significant investments and long-term operating arrangements were made in 

the 2006 Restructuring to achieve efficiencies and higher service levels, 

particularly in IT infrastructure. The VON Group sought to generate a 

substantial return on these investments that would more than offset the costs. 

However these returns did not materialize. As a result, the VON Group now 

bears significant ongoing legacy costs of the expansive platform developed in 

2006, without the revenues necessary to make this sustainable. Most of these 

legacy costs are incurred at VON Canada. 

(b) The areas of the health care sector in which the VON Group operates have 

also changed significantly over the last several years. One primary change 

that has negatively impacted the VON Group's viability, particularly in regions 

where the VON Group's existing business is smaller, has been competition 

from private sector service providers. This resulted in many of the VON 

Group's material customers soliciting proposals from other private service 

providers, which has both placed price pressure on the VON Group and 

resulted in the loss of certain material revenue streams. Significant business 

development investment will be needed to preserve the VON Group's 
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remaining business in view of this pressure. That significant investment must 

be targeted at the core regions of Ontario and Nova Scotia. 

(c) The size of the VON East and VON West businesses are not sufficient to 

justify the fixed costs attributable to those businesses. VON East operates in 

regions where the population is not sufficient to support a larger VON East 

business. VON West does not face these population issues but there is 

insufficient funding to allow appropriate business development spending to 

grow this business to a sufficient size to make its operations economically 

viable. 

B. Responses to Financial Difficulties 

90. The VON Group has taken many steps to attempt to address its financial 

issues prior to resorting to a formal restructuring proceeding: 

(a) During 2013, the VON Group monetized material assets, including real 

property in Ottawa owned by VON Canada, utilizing proceeds to pay down its 

outstanding bank debt; 

(b) In 2013, the VON Group sought to obtain funding from the Community 

Corporations; 

(c) IT service contracts that were previously outsourced have been brought back 

in-house at VON Canada, which has reduced overhead costs and increased 

service levels. Cost savings from this change are estimated to be $1,000,000 

per year; 

(d) Wage freezes were implemented and staff levels were reduced this year; and 



- 26-

(e) The size of the senior management team has been reduced under the 

guidance of a new Chief Executive Officer, resulting in further annual cost 

savings of over $500,000 annually. 

91. The above initiatives have had a material positive effect on the financial 

circumstances of the VON Group but, as its financial results and projections indicate, none 

have been sufficient to resolve the financial issues faced by the VON Group. 

C. Current Restructuring Goals 

92. Currently, the VON Group operations suffer as a result of excessive overhead 

cost and efforts to maintain a national network. The VON Group can have a sustainable 

future only if it modifies the scope of its operations and focuses efforts on its core businesses 

and regions. The Applicants' restructuring process will seek to achieve this. 

VON East and VON West 

93. The financial results of VON West and VON East have led the VON Group to 

conclude that these operations are not viable at their current limited scale and, further, the 

scale of these operations cannot reasonably be increased to a sufficient degree to make 

them viable. In the case of VON East, unfavourable regional market conditions and 

demographics make a larger operation impracticable. In the case of VON West, the amount 

of capital that would be required for a business development budget to achieve the growth 

necessary to make this business viable is not accessible. 

94. As a result of the above factors, the VON Group has concluded that VON East 

and VON West cannot be a part of the VON Group's business strategy going forward. 
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95. Portions of the VON East and VON West businesses have been marketed but 

no resulting executable sale transactions have been identified. Consequently, non-essential 

programs will cease immediately if the proposed Initial Order is granted and essential 

programs will be wound down in an orderly manner. 

96. This wind down will result in the immediate termination of employment of 

approximately 300 of the VON East and VON West employees. 

97. Certain former employees will be re-engaged as independent contractors by 

VON East and VON West in the post-filing period to ensure the orderly wind down or transfer 

of certain essential health care programs. 

VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia 

98. VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia are the core operating entities of the VON 

Group. During the 2012 to 2015 period, revenues at VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia 

have averaged $100,397,549 and $92,089,613, respectively. If overhead costs are properly 

managed and operations are restructured, it is believed that VON Ontario and VON Nova 

Scotia should be sustainable and the recent losses faced by these entities can be reduced or 

eliminated in the future. 

99. Business will operate as usual at VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia during 

the Applicants' CCAA proceedings. 

VON Canada 

100. VON Canada is the administrative cost centre for the VON Group and, as such, 

its earnings and cash flow from operations on a non-consolidated basis have been 

consistently negative. The functions performed by VON Canada are essential to the 
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continuing operation and service delivery of VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia. VON 

Canada will seek to restructure its management services delivery model in order to have a 

more efficient and cost effective operating structure. 

101. The restructuring is expected to result in the immediate termination of 

employment for certain non-unionized VON Canada employees. 

IV. OVERVIEW OF THE CASH FLOW FORECAST 

102. As set out in the 13 week cash flow projections (the "Cash Flow Forecast") 

that was prepared by the VON Group and reviewed by the Proposed Monitor (as defined 

below) for the period from November 25, 2015 to February 27, 2016, the VON Group's 

principal uses of cash during the next 13 weeks will consist of the payment of ongoing day­

to-day operational expenses and professional fees and disbursements in connection with 

these CCM proceedings. A copy of the Cash Flow Forecast is attached hereto as Exhibit 

103. As at the time of the commencement of these CCM proceedings, the 

Applicants are forecasted to have approximately $1.8 million in available cash on hand. The 

Cash Flow Forecast projects that, subject to obtaining the relief outlined herein, the 

Applicants, collectively, will have sufficient cash to fund their projected operating costs until 

the end of the stay period on the assumption that VON Canada funds are made available to 

offset negative cash flows at VON East and VON West. 

V. PROPOSED INITIAL ORDER 

A. The Applicants 

104. The Applicants in this proceeding are VON Canada, VON East and VON West. 
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105. VON East and VON West are not, individually, subject to claims of over 

$5,000,000. However, VON Canada and the Applicants collectively are subject to claims 

well in excess of $5 million. 

106. As a result of the unique corporate structure of the VON Group, which does not 

match the traditional vertical corporate structure that would exist in a for-profit setting, VON 

East, VON West and VON Canada are not controlled by a common shareholder or member. 

107. The members of VON East and VON West are (i) VON Canada; and (ii) the 

directors of VON Canada. The directors of VON East and VON West are the same as the 

directors of VON Canada. For all practical purposes, VON East and VON West are under 

common control with VON Canada. 

108. The restructuring of VON Canada cannot proceed if its arrangements with VON 

East and VON West are not resolved and VON East and VON West are not wound down in 

an orderly manner. As a result, I believe it is necessary to include VON East and VON West 

as applicants in this CCAA proceeding. 

B. Stay of Proceedings Re. VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia 

109. A substantial majority of the operating activities of the VON Group are 

undertaken by VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia. 

110. Similar to the Applicants, the operations of VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia 

are fully integrated with the overall business of the VON Group. VON Canada depends upon 

VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia for cash flow through cost recovery amounts charged to 

these entities for costs incurred by VON Canada on their behalf. VON Ontario and VON 

Nova Scotia depend upon VON Canada for critical administrative support and access to 

intellectual property. 

3 
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111. It is not intended at this time that VON Ontario or VON Nova Scotia will 

undertake any financial or operational restructuring in this proceeding and will continue 

operating in the ordinary course. 

112. The commencement of CCAA proceedings by the Applicants may expose VON 

Ontario and VON Nova Scotia to risks that as a result of, among other things, these 

proceedings and the declarations of insolvency made, remedies or other detrimental steps 

may be taken by the material customers and Funders of VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia. 

113. Any such proceedings or remedies against VON Ontario or VON Nova Scotia 

would be detrimental to the Applicants' restructuring efforts and would undermine a process 

that would otherwise benefit the VON Group's stakeholders as a whole. As noted above, 

VON Canada depends upon cash flows from cost recovery charges payable by VON Ontario 

and VON Nova Scotia in the ordinary course and VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia are by 

far the largest revenue generating branches of the VON Group. 

114. The proposed Initial Order contains provisions staying the exercise of rights 

and remedies by Funders against VON Ontario and VON Nova Scotia to the extent that 

those rights or remedies arise due to the Applicants being parties to this proceeding or 

having made an Application to the Court pursuant to the CCAA or the Courts of Justice Act 

(Ontario), including any declarations of insolvency contained therein in respect of the VON 

Group entities or the appointment of a receiver in respect of the Applicants. 

115. This limited and targeted stay is intended only to ensure that VON Ontario and 

VON Nova Scotia can continue operating as usual during the Applicants' CCAA proceedings. 

The VON Group is unaware of any party that may be prejudiced by this targeted stay of 

proceedings. 
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C. Payment of pre-filing amounts 

116. The proposed Initial Order authorizes payment of the following amounts, 

whether incurred in the pre-filing or post-filing period: 

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and pension benefits, 

vacation pay and expenses, and volunteer and director expense reimbursements, in 

each case incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing 

compensation policies and arrangements; 

(b) the fees and disbursements of any assistants retained or employed by the 

Applicants in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges; 

(c) the fees and disbursements of the monitor, counsel to the monitor, the CRO 

(as defined below), the Applicants' counsel and counsel to the boards of directors of 

the Applicants; and 

(d) liabilities for charges incurred on credit cards issued to the Applicants. 

D. Administration Charge 

117. The Applicants seek a charge on their current and future assets, undertakings 

and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate including all 

proceeds thereof (the "Property") in the maximum amount of $250,000 to secure the fees 

and disbursements incurred in connection with services rendered to the Applicants both 

before and after the commencement of the CCAA proceedings by counsel to the Applicants, 

the Proposed Monitor and the Proposed Monitor's counsel, the Chief Restructuring Officer 

(as defined below) and counsel to the board of directors (the "Administration Charge"). 

40 
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118. The Proposed Monitor has reviewed the proposed quantum of the 

Administration Charge and believes it to be reasonable and appropriate in view of these 

CCAA proceedings and the services provided and to be provided by the beneficiaries of the 

Administration Charge. 

E. Directors' Charge 

119. To ensure the ongoing stability of the Applicants during the CCAA period, the 

Applicants require the continued participation of their directors and officers. These directors 

and officers have valuable experience and, in the case of VON East and VON West, the 

directors are all members of these entities as well. 

120. The directors and officers of the Applicants have indicated that due to the 

potential for personal liability, they cannot continue their service in this restructuring unless 

the Initial Order grants the Directors' Charge (as defined below) to secure the Applicants' 

indemnity obligations to the directors and officers that arise post-filing. 

121. I am advised by Evan Cobb of Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, counsel to 

the Applicants, and do verily believe, that in certain circumstances directors can be held 

liable for certain obligations of a company owing to employees and government entities. As 

at the date of this affidavit, the Applicants have over 500 employees. Wages and statutory 

employee deductions are accruing in the ordinary course with no arrears due and unpaid as 

at the date hereof. 

122. The VON Group maintains directors' and officers' liability insurance (the "D&O 

Insurance") for the directors and officers of the VON Group entities. The current D&O 

Insurance policies provide a total of $30 million in coverage plus $10 million in excess 

coverage. 

41 
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123. The proposed Initial Order contemplates the establishment of a charge on the 

Property in the amount of $750,000 (the "Directors' Charge") to protect the directors and 

officers against obligations and liabilities they may incur as directors and officers of the 

Applicants after the commencement of the CCAA proceedings, except to the extent that the 

obligation or liability is incurred as a result of the director's or officer's gross negligence or 

wilful misconduct. The Directors' Charge was calculated by reference to (a) the monthly 

payroll and withholding obligations of the Applicants; and (b) vacation pay. 

124. The benefit of the Directors' Charge will only be available to the extent that a 

liability is not covered by the D&O Insurance. 

125. While the D&O Insurance is available, the directors and officers of the 

Applicants cannot be certain that the insurance providers will not seek to deny coverage on 

the basis that the D&O Insurance does not cover a particular claim or that coverage limits 

have been exhausted. 

126. The Applicants do not currently have sufficient funds available to satisfy any 

contractual indemnities to the directors or officers should the directors or officers need to call 

upon those indemnities. 

127. It is proposed that the CRO, as defined below, would have the benefit of the 

Directors' Charge to secure any indemnity obligations the Applicants may have to the CRO in 

connection with that role. 

128. The Proposed Monitor has reviewed the proposed quantum of the Directors' 

Charge and believe the Directors' Charge is reasonable in the circumstances. 
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F. Key Employee Retention Plan 

129. The Applicants depend upon the continued employment of certain highly skilled 

and experienced employees who: (i) perform roles that are critical to accomplishing the 

Applicants' restructuring goals; and (ii) likely cannot be suitably replaced at a reasonable cost 

(the "Key Employees"). 

130. The Key Employees will be essential to the Applicants' restructuring. However, 

those Key Employees are also incentivized to seek alternative employment given the 

financial circumstances of the VON Group. Therefore, the Applicants have developed a 

retention plan for these Key Employees (the "Key Employee Retention Plan"), the details of 

which are described in a summary attached hereto as Confidential Exhibit "K". In order to 

prevent private and confidential information about individual employees from being publicly 

disclosed, the Applicants will request an order sealing this confidential exhibit. The 

aggregate maximum amount that could become payable under the Key Employee Retention 

Plan to all eligible employees during the 2016 year is approximately $240,000. 

131. In designing the terms of the Key Employee Retention Plan, the VON Group 

considered a variety of factors including: (i) the maximum cost of the Key Employee 

Retention Plan; and (ii) market competitiveness of resulting total compensation levels for 

employees. 

G. Proposed Ranking of the Court-Ordered Charges 

132. The proposed ranking of the Court-ordered charges (the "Charges") is as 

follows: 

(a) First, Administration Charge; and 
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(b) Second, the Directors' Charge. 

133. The proposed Initial Order provides that the Charges shall, at this time, rank 

subordinate the security interests of all other secured creditors of the Applicants with the 

exception of The Bank of Nova Scotia. The Applicants will seek an order providing for the 

subordination of all other security interests to the Charges and the charge in favour of the 

Receiver, as described below, in the near future following notice to all potentially affected 

secured creditors. 

H. Approval of the CRO Engagement 

134. In order to assist in the implementation of this CCAA process, the Applicants 

seek the approval and confirmation of the Court of the retention by VON Canada of March 

Advisory Services Inc. as the Chief Restructuring Officer of VON Canada (in such capacity, 

the "CRO"), and approval of the terms of the CRO's engagement letter (the "CRO 

Engagement Letter"). A copy of the CRO Engagement Letter is attached hereto as 

Confidential Exhibit "L". 

135. The approval of the engagement of the CRO is appropriate in the 

circumstances as the CRO has worked extensively with VON Canada to date in its pre­

CCAA restructuring efforts and has extensive knowledge of the options reviewed and 

available to VON Canada. The CRO's background knowledge is particularly helpful in the 

ongoing review of strategic alternatives for VON Canada and the entire VON Group. The 

CRO will not take on any role in respect of, and is not engaged by, VON East and VON 

West. 

136. The Applicants will be seeking an Order sealing the Confidential Exhibit to this 

Affidavit which contains the CRO's engagement letter. The CRO's engagement letter is 
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commercially sensitive. The disclosure of the commercial terms of the CRO's engagement 

letter would have a detrimental impact on the CRO's ability to negotiate compensation on 

any future engagements. Further, the sealing of this Confidential Exhibit would not appear to 

materially prejudice any third parties. 

I. MONITOR 

137. Collins Barrow Toronto Limited (the "Proposed Monitor") has consented to act 

as the Court-appointed Monitor of the Applicants, subject to Court approval. 

138. Collins Barrow Toronto Limited is a trustee within the meaning of section 2 of the 

Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended, and is not subject to any 

of the restrictions on who may be appointed as monitor set out in section 11.7(2) of the 

CCAA 

139. Collins Barrow Toronto Limited has consented to act as Monitor. A copy of the 

consent of Collins Barrow Toronto Limited is attached hereto as Exhibit "M". 

VIII. PROPOSED RECEIVERSHIP ORDER 

140. The Applicants seek, in conjunction with the Initial Order, an Order appointing Collins 

Barrow Toronto Limited as Receiver of certain of the assets, properties and undertakings of 

VON Canada, VON East and VON West pursuant to Section 101 of the Courts of Justice Act 

(Ontario) (the "Receivership Order"). 

141. The Receivership Order is requested in respect of the following assets: 

(a) VON Canada's right, title and interest in its goodwill and intellectual property; 

(b) VON East's right, title and interest in its goodwill and intellectual property; and 
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(c) VON West's right, title and interest in its goodwill and intellectual property, 

(collectively, the "Receivership Assets"). 

142. As discussed above, VON East and VON West will be the subject of an orderly 

wind-down following the granting of the Initial Order. The Receivership Assets of VON East 

and VON West represent substantially all of the other assets (excluding inventory and 

receivables) of VON East and VON West. 

143. As also discussed above, VON Canada will be the subject of substantial 

restructuring and downsizing. Again, the Receivership Assets represent substantially all of 

the other assets (excluding inventory and receivables) of VON Canada. 

144. In aggregate, over 300 employees are expected to be terminated by the 

Applicants as part of this process. These employees will be paid their wages up to the date 

of their termination. However, the Applicants do not have sufficient liquidity to pay these 

employees amounts in respect of termination or severance pay at this time. 

145. I am advised by Evan Cobb of Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, counsel to 

the Applicants, that individuals whose employment is terminated may be eligible to receive 

certain payments under the Wage Earner Protection Program on account of unpaid vacation 

pay and severance and termination pay that remain unpaid to them after their employer 

commences a bankruptcy or a receivership. 

146. The Applicants have considered whether a bankruptcy of any of the Applicants 

would be possible at this time and have concluded that a bankruptcy of the Applicants would 

not be a practical option. VON East and VON West must remain under the control of existing 

management as certain critical health care and non-health care functions must continue to 

be provided during the period following commencement of insolvency proceedings in order to 
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ensure the orderly wind down of the VON East and VON West operations. VON Canada 

must remain under the control of existing management as it continues to provide 

administrative functions to the entire VON Group in the post-insolvency period. Therefore, a 

bankruptcy could not be engaged to trigger access to the Wage Earner Protection Program 

for terminated employees of the Applicants. 

147. The appointment of a receiver over the Receivership Assets would allow the 

orderly wind down of VON East and VON West to continue, would not interfere with the 

administrative functions that VON Canada must continue to perform, and would allow 

terminated employees to seek access to the Wage Earner Protection Program. 

148. The Applicants are of the view that it would be just and convenient to appoint 

the Receiver in this case. This relief would permit the over 300 terminated employees to 

seek to access the Wage Earner Protection Program and receive funds from that program on 

account of unpaid termination and severance pay up to the maximum amount permitted by 

statute. This is particularly important in the current case given the number of employees that 

will be terminated and whose termination and severance pay cannot be fully satisfied by the 

Applicants. The Applicants are unaware of any stakeholders that would be prejudiced by the 

Receivership Order. 

149. The Receiver would have the benefit of a charge over the assets of the 

Applicants, ranking behind the Administration Charge and the Directors' Charge, to secure 

amounts incurred in connection with its role as Receiver. The Receiver would also hold a 

cash retainer of $15,000 as security for such amounts. 

150. Collins Barrow Toronto Limited has consented to act as Receiver pursuant to 

the Receivership Order. A copy of the consent of Collins Barrow Toronto Limited is attached 

hereto as Exhibit "N". 
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IX. PURPOSE OF AFFIDAVIT 

151. This affidavit is sworn in support of VON Canada's application for protection 

pursuant to the CCAA and for the Receivership Order and for no improper purpose. 

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City of 
Ottawa, Province of Ontario, on 
November c:;Z;:L, 2015. 

(~·· 
Commissioner for Takilii§ A,.ffid~vits 

/l4AA/> \b-, Y .J ~ 11 Vff-
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ASSOCIATION AGRl~EMENT 

This Agreement is made as of the day of '200 ' 

BETWEEN 

RECITALS: 

VICTORIAN ORDER OF Nlm.SES FOR CANADA, a 
Corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada, 

("VON Canada") 

-and-

VON XX, a Corporation incorporated under Lhe laws ofthe Province of 

(the "Community Corporation") 

A. VON Canada is a non-profit, charitable corporation, with a membership comprised of 
separately incorporated community organizations that are also non-profit, charitable 
corporations. 

B. VON Canada possesses an excellent reputation and substantial goodwill that it has 
developed across Canada since 1897 due to its high standards of quality and service. 

C. VON Canada is the registered owner or applicant or has rights at common law to the 
Trademarks for usc in association with home and community based services and related 
products. 

D. VON Canada and the Community Corporation have similar charitable purposes and are 
both committed to the same vision, mission and core values. 

E. The Community Corporation wishes to be a member of VON Canada and to use the 
Trademarks and the Products. 

F VON Canada and tbe Community Corporation an: and wish to remain separate and 
distinct legal entities. 

G. The parties wish to sd out their mutual agreement regarding their objectives, financial 
arrangements, governance structures, management and administration and to define and 
clarify their respective roles, responsibilities and relationships to ensure that each party's 
needs are me1 and that its obligations are carried out in a timely manner. 



FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the parties agree as follows: 

SECTION 1 -DEFINITIONS 

1.1 When used in this Agreement or in any amendment hereto, the following terms shall have 
the following meanings respectively: 

(1) Agreement means tllis agreement, including any recitals and schedules to this agreement, 
as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time. 

(2) Business Day means on which banks are open for business in the Province of ( ) 
but does not include a Saturday, Sunday and any other day that is a legal holiday in the Province 
of( ). 

(3) Charitable Program means, for the purposes ofthis Agreement, any program financially 
supported or subsidized by the Community Corporation .. 

( 4) Community Board means the Board of Directors of the Community Corporation. 

(5) Community Corporation Activities means the activities authorized by the Objects and 
aligned with VON Canada's vision and mission including advocacy, Local Community capacity 
development, promotion of awareness and education, advancing the VON agenda, partnership 
building and fundraising activities carried out by the Community Corporation in the Local 
Community, but does not include the operations carried out by VON Canada in the Local 
Community, even if they are at the same physical location as the Community Corporation. 

(6) Community Corporation By-Laws means the By-Laws of the Community Corporation, 
which shall he in the format prescribed and pre-approved by the membership of VON Canada, a 
copy of which is attached as Schedule "D", as amended from time to time. 

(7) Community Corporation Revenue means revenues from fundraising net of direct 
fundraising expenses. 

(8) Confidential Information means any and all material, data, information or any other 
information whatsoever, whether in verbal, written or any other form, including Policies and 
VON Canada's intellectual property rights, relating to any and all aspects of the business and 
activities of VON Canada and the Community Corporation, respectively. 

(9) Effective Date means the _day of __ , 2007. 

(1 0) Local Community means the geographic area served by the Commtmity Corporation. 

(11) Objects has the meaning set out in Section 14 of this Agreement. 

(12) Policies means VON Canada's confidential and/or copyrighted resource materials from 
time to time provided to the Community Corporation or to which it is given access through VON 
Canada websites for the Conununity Corporation Activities including, without limitation, 
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policies, standards, regulations, rules, bulletins, directions, notices, or other materials whatsoever 
that the Community Cotporation is entitled to receive, consistent with its Objects and with it 
membership in VON Canada. 

(13) Products means the products described in the Trademark License and such other products 
as VON Canada may advise the Community Cmporation by notice in writing from time to time. 

(14) Site means the operations carried out by VON Canada in the Local Community, which 
may be in the same physical location as the Community Corporation. 

(15) Site Executive Director means an employee of VON Canada who operates and manages 
the Site and who provides support to the Community Board in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 7 of this Agreement. 

(16) Term means five (5) years commencing on the Effective Date and any renewal or 
extension thereof 

(17) 11-ademarks means the applications for trade-mark registrations, registered trade-marks 
and other names, logos and slogans listed in Schedule "B" to this Agreement, and such other 
marks as VON Canada may advise the Community Corporation by notice in writing from time to 
time. 

(18) Trademark License means the Trademark License Agreement dated_ between the 
Community Cmporation and VON Canada that governs the use of the Trademarks by the 
Community Corporation, a copy of which is attached as Schedule "C". 

(19) VON Canada Foundation means the VON Canada Foundation, which promotes and 
raises funds to support the activities of VON Canada. 

(20) VON Canada Services means all services offered by VON Canada to the Community 
Corporation, as set out in Schedule "A" to this Agreement, and such other services as may be 
required or requested by the Community Corporation from time to time. 

SECTION 2 -HEADINGS 

2.1 The division of this Agreement into sections and the h1se1tion of headings are for 
convenience of reference only and are not to affect the construction or interpretation ofthis 
Agreement. 

SECTION 3 -EXTENDED MEANINGS 

3.1 Unless otherwise specified, words impotting the singular number shall include the plural 
and vice versa, words importing gender shall include the masculine, feminine and neutral 
genders, and references to persons shall include individuals, trusts, firms and corporations. The 
tetm "including" means "including without limitation". 
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SECTION 4 -PURPOSE OF THE AGREEMENT 

4.1 The purpose of this Agreement is: 

(1) to establish and govern the relationship between the Commtmity Corporation and VON 
Canada and to set out the respective responsibilities of the Community Corporation and VON 
Canada; 

(2) to enable the Community Corporation to fulfill its Objects and mandate; and 

(3) to enable the Community Corporation and VON Canada to work together effectively. 

SECTION 5 -GRANT 

5.1 Subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the Trademark License, VON Canada 
hereby grants to the Community Corporation: 

(1) the right to be a member of VON Canada; 

(2) the non-exclusive right to use the names "Victorian Order of Nurses" and/or "VON" or 
any variation thereof (the "VON Name") in its corporate name, 

(3) the non-exclusive right to use the Trademarks and Products; 

(4) thnight to purchase the VON Canada Servic<Os; and 

(5) the right to have access to the Policies, 

all of which are hereinafter collectively referred to as "the Rights". 

5.2 Termination or expiration of this Agreement shall te1minate the Rights. 

SECTION 6 -OBLIGATIONS OF VON 

6.1 VON Canada agrees to: 

(1) punctually observe and perform all of the ten11S, covenants and conditions to be observed 
and perfmmed by it in accordance with the provisions ofthis Agreement; 

(2) maintain Errors and Omissions liability insurance for directors and officers and general 
liability insurance to include VON Canada and the Community Corporations; 

(3) work collaboratively with the Community Corporation to determine which services are 
reqtJired by the Community Corporati.on, as more fully described in Schedule "A" to this 
Agreement; 

( 4) snpport and mobilize the Community Corporation agenda; 
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(5) diligently provide the VON Canada Services in a professional and timely manner, in 
accordance with all applicable laws and regulations and in accordance with all of VON Canada's 
requirements and standards established from time to time for the provision of similar services; 

(6) deliver the Charitable Programs that are identified and to the extent they are funded by 
the Community Corporation; 

(7) through the Site Executive Director or delegate, ensure that the Community Board 
receives information about Charitable Programs that: 

(a) is mutually agreed upon between the Comm\mity Board and VON Canada; and 

(b) permits the Community Board to fulfill its fi.dueiary dllties with respect to the 
charitable fimds raised to support the Charitable Programs; 

(8) as the Community Corporation is a member of VON Canada, advise it of all VON 
Canada information and developments pertinent to the Community Corporation; 

(9) invite a representative of a Community Board from one site that will be managed by the 
individual being recruited to participate in the selection and evaluation of a Site Executive 
Director; 

(10) be the employer of any staff that may be required to support the Community 
Corporation's activities; 

(11) act consistently with its mission, vision and core values, which favour service to local 
communities, providing charitable services and meeting local needs; 

(12) supply such information with respect to the VON Canada Services and Community 
Corporation Activities as may be reasonably requested or required by the Community 
Corporation; 

(13) maintain proper books and records tor the Colllll1unity Corporation in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles; 

(14) submit all fi.nancial statements and other materials and reports pertaining to Community 
Corporation Activities to the Community Corporation in a timely fashion; 

(15) provide policy and strategic planning information that aligns with that of VON Canada to 
support the Community Corporation Activities; 

(16) provide tools and research for the Commnnity Corporation's advocacy activities; 

(17) submit all notices and filings required to be submitted to any governmental or other 
authority in a timely fashion; and 

(18) comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 
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6.2 Other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement, VON Canada shall have no 
obligation, liability or responsibility to the Community Corporation or to any other persons or 
entities in respect of, arising from or related to the Community Cot}loration. 

SECTION 7 ~ROLE OF THE SITE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

7.1 The Site Executive Director is at all times employed by and accountable to VON Canada. 

7.2 The Site Executive Director or delegate is responsible for facilitating that there are close 
ties and effective lwo-way communication between the Community Board and VON Canada 
including, without limitation: 

(1) liaising and maintaining close relations with the Community Board: 

(2) attending meetings of the Community Board; 

(3) collaborating with the Community Board to develop and seek tJmding for programs that 
will support the Comnumity Corporation's work in the Local Community; 

( 4) supplying such information with respect to the VON Canada Services and Community 
Corporation Activities as is reasonably requested or required by the Community Corporation; 

(5) ensuring that the Community Board receives the information about Charitable Programs 
that: 

(a) is mutually agreed upon between the Community Board and VON Canada; and 

(b) permits the Community Board to fulfill its fiduciary duties with respect to the 
charitable funds raised to support the Charitable Programs; 

(6) recruiting, hiring and supervising any staff that may be required to support the 
Community Corporation's activities; and 

(7) communicating reports, information, concerns or requests between the Community .Board 
and VON Canada. 

SECTION 8 ~ROLE OF THE COMMUNI'I'Y CORPORATION 

8.1 The Community Corporation agrees to: 

(1) be the VON Canada voice in the Local Community; 

(2) identify unmet health care and social support needs in the Local Community; 

(3) promote and support Charitable Programs to be delivered in the Local Community by 
VON Canada to meet these needs and fund them to the extent possible; 
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(4) ensure that its Objects, as filed with the relevant governmental authority, are consistent 
with the fonnat prescribed and pre-approved by VON Canada fi:om time to time; 

(5) enact Connnunity Corporation By-Laws consistent with the template for Community 
Corporation By-Laws prescribed by VON Canada from time to time, substantially in the form 
attached hereto as Schedule "D"; 

(6) if it has not done so already, execute the Trademark License; 

(7) operate in accordance with statutory requirements, the Objects, the Community 
Corporation By-Laws, the Trademark License and this Agreement; 

(8) work collaboratively with VON Canada to buy the VON Services from VON Canada; 

(9) enter into a contract with VON Canada pursuant to which VON Canada delivers the 
Charitable Programs; 

(1 0) punctually observe and perform all of the terms, covenants and conditions to be observed 
and performed by it in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; 

(1 1) maintain proper books and records in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

(12) worldng with VON Canada and aligned with the VON Canada budget cycle, prepare and 
submit an annual budget to VON Canada that shall include, without limitation, funding 
commitments for each Charitable Program supported by the Community Corporation and 
compensation for the VON Canada Services, the funding levels which shall be determined 
annually; 

(13) working with VON Canada, ensure the sustainability of Charitable Programs to the best 
of its ability through multi-year financial fimding commitments to VON Canada for the support 
of each Charitable Program; 

(14) submit all financial statements and other materials and reports required to be submitted to 
VON Canada in a timely fashion; 

(15) punctually make all payments due and payable to VON Canada; 

(16) maintain its corporate and charitable status and submit all notices and filings required to 
be submitted to any governmental or other authority in a timely fashion; and 

(17) comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 

8.2 The Community Corporation shall not take any of the following actions without the prior 
written consent of VON Canada: 

(l) change its Objects, letters patent, Community Corporation By-laws or corporate name; 
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(2) amalgamate or merge with another corporation; 

(3) wind-up, dissolve, reorganize or terminate the corporate existence of the Community 
Corporation; 

( 4) sell, lease, exchange, encumber or dispose of the undertaking or all or substantially all of 
the property or assets of the Community Corporation; 

(5) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

(6) institute any proceedings under any statute or otherwise relating to insolvency or 
bankruptcy; 

8.3 The Community Corporation shall not take any of the following actions: 

(1) acquire any employees; or 

(2) acquire the VON Services from any source other than VON Canada. 

8.4 The Community Corporation may at any time give a notice to VON Canada of its 
intention to take any of the actions listed referred to in Section 8.2 and VON Canada shall 
respond within ten (l 0) Business Days after receiving such notice. 

8.5 The Community Corporation shall consult with VON Canada prior to taking any major 
financial step that could affect its viability. 

8.6 From time to time, the Community Corporation shall designate an individual who shall 
serve as the single point of contact in respect of the performance of its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

SECTION 9 -ROLE OF THE COMMUNITY BOARD 

9.1 The parties acknowledge and agree that VON Canada is a unique organization with a 
dual governance stmcture in which the VON Canada Board of Directors sets policy, strategic 
directions and oversees management and operational issues for all VON Canada and in which the 
Community Board advocates for and represents the Local Community within VON Canada. 

9.2 The Community Board agrees to be responsible for: 

(1) ensuring that the mandate and obligations of the Community Corporation, as set out in 
this Agreement, are carried out; 

(2) ensuring that the Community Corporation is in compliance with the Objects, the 
Community Corporation By-Laws, the Trademark License, this Agreement and any relevant 
legislation and govemmental policies; 
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(3) ensuring that its messages are aligned with those of VON Canada and reporting back to 
VON Canada on the occurrence and outcome of any advocacy meetings with elected or 
unelected government officials, funders or donors; 

(4) exercising its role as local decision maker in: 

(a) building alliances and partnerships including: 

(i) building and maintaining relationships with members of the Local 
Conununity, Local Community agencies and other health and social 
advocates; 

(ii) carrying out Local Community capacity development activities and 
building partnerships in the Local Community; 

(iii) attending Local Community meetings on behalf of VON Canada, and 
fulfilling an important role in networking and carrying out communication 
and advocacy activities in the Local Community; 

(b) meeting needs in the Local Community including: 

(i) identifYing Local Community needs and strengths; 

(ii) identifYing potential solutions to Local Community issues including, 
without limitation, developing new programs, advocacy, building on other 
initiatives already underway and pmtnering with other agencies; 

(iii) advancing the development of new health care and social program 
initiatives to be provided by VON Canada in the Local Community; 

(iv) selecting and funding the Charitable Programs to be delivered in the Local 
Community by VON Canada to meet unrnet needs; 

(v) funding research and needs assessments for the purposes of identifYing 
Ulllllet health care and social support needs in the Local Community; 

(vi) funding health and support services to be provided by VON Canada in the 
Local Community to persons with debilitating diseases, illnesses and other 
health conditions for the purpose of preventing disease and promoting 
good health; 

(vii) working with Local Community groups to detennine strengths, needs <md 
possible roles for VON Canada; 

(c) promoting awareness and educating the public for the pmposes of: 

(i) encouraging changes and/or new developments in delivery of health and 
social services in the Local Community; and 
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(ii) developing meaningful responses to health and social issues and unmet or 
emerging needs to be provided by VON Canada in the Local Community; 

(iii) ensuring that the Community Corporation effectively fulfills its role as the 
voice and representative of VON Canada in and for the Local Community; 

(d) governance ofthe Community Corporation including; 

(i) supervising the affairs of the Community Corporation in accordance with 
the (provincial statute) as amended from time to time; 

(ii) participating in the Community Board orientation and ongoing education 
programs provided by VON Canada; 

(iii) undertaking Community Board strategic planning specific to the needs of 
the Local Community in concctt with the overall VON Canada strategic 
plan; 

(iv) participating in accreditation activities as necessary; 

(v) ensuring Community Board development activities take place and that it 
provides a board development program that contributes to the assessment, 
development and ongoing agenda of the Community Board; 

(vi) ensuring that a voting delegate is present at each Annual General 
Conference and Meeting of VON Canada; and 

(vii) in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, ensuring that the 
funds it has raised for charitable purposes are used properly. 

9.3 The members of the Community Board are elected at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Community Corporation held at the place and at the time and day in each year fixed by the 
Community Board, in accordance with the Community Corporation By-Laws. 

SECTION 10 -COMPENSATION 

10.1 Compensation rates for the VON Canada Services shall be determined annually, 
according to the process described in Section 8.1(12) of this Agreement. It is understood and 
agreed that VON Canada shall provide the VON Canada Services to the Community Corporation 
on a non proftt but fully casted basis. 

10.2 The Community Corporation shall be responsible for payment of all taxes associated with 
the fees payable to VON Canada under this Agreement, so as to ensure that VON Canada 
receives the full amount of any payment made to it as contemplated by this Agreement. VON 
Canada shall be responsible for all payments and withholdings required by law in respect of its 
own employees. 
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SECTION l1 -REVENUE, BOOKS AND RECORDS, RIGHT TO AUDIT 

11.1 It is understood and agreed by the parties that, in determining whether revenue ought be 
allocated to the Community Corporation or to VON Canada/VON Canada Foundation, the 
primary consideration shall be the wishes or designation of the donor or funder, as the case may 
be. 

11.2 Any funding for the support of a particular program shall be credited to VON Canada 
unless otherwise designated by the funder or donor. 

Notwithstanding any designation by a funder or donor, any funding for the support of a particular 
program shall be credited to VON Canada for use in the Local Cmmmmity. If the grant received 
from the Community Corporation leads to a surplus in a particular program, this surplus shall be 
retumed or credited to the Community Corporation to the extent of the original grant. 

11.3 The parties shall keep accurate and systematic accounts in respect of the VON Canada 
Services, Community Corporation Revenue and every other matter provided for under this 
Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

11.4 VON Canada shall have the right at any time and from time to time to inspect, audit and 
make copies of all corporate, financial and other books and records ofthe Community 
Corporation relating to any ofthe provisions of this Agreement. 

SECTION 12 -WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS 

12.1 VON Canada warrants and represents to the Community Corporation that: 

(1) it has been duly incorporated and organized, is a valid and subsisting corporation under 
the laws of Canada and has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement; 

(2) this Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by VON Canada and no 
other corporate proceedings on the patt of VON Canada are necessary to authorize this 
Agreement; ahd 

(3) this Agreement is a valid and legally binding obligation of VON Canada enforceable 
against it in accordance with its terms. 

12.2 The Community Corporation represents and warrants to VON Canada as follows: 

(1) it has been duly incorporated and organized, is a valid and subsisting corporation under 
the laws of (Province) and has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement; 

(2) this Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Community 
Corporation and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Community Corporation are 
necessary to authorize this Agreement; and 
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(3) this Agreement is a valid and legally binding obligation ofthe Community Corporation 
enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. 

SECTION 13 -CONFLICT OF INTEREST, CONFIDENTIALITY 

13.1 Each Community Board member shall sign the standard VON Canada Conflict oflnterest 
and Confidentiality policies and agreements, as amended from time to time. 

SECTION 14 -CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

14.1 Each of the parties covenants and agrees that: 

(1) It will not disclose or use any Confidential Information, or permit others to do so, at any 
time dnring or after the cuiTency of this Agreement; 

(2) It will take all reasonable precautions in dealing with Confidential InfolTllation so as to 
prevent its unauthorized use or disclosure; 

(3) It will not reproduce, copy or duplicate any Confidential Information without the prior 
written consent of the other party except as required to fulfill its obligations under this 
Agreement; and 

(4) Upon telTllination, for any reason, of this Agreement, or at any time prior to the 
termination upon the request of the other patty, it will retum forthwith to the other party every 
copy of any Conf1dential Information (including all notes, records and documents pertaining 
thereto) in its possession or nuder its control at that time. 

SECTION 15 -ESSENTIAL OBJECTS OF THE COMMUNITY CORPORATION 

15.1 VON Canada and the Collllllunity Corporation will work together to ensure that, to the 
extent required or pelTllitted by the governing provincial statute, the Community Corporation 
shall have the following corporate objectives and mandate, and the parties further agree to work 
collaboratively to ensure that the Community Corporation takes all steps necessary, including 
filing with the relevant governmental authorities, to amend its letters patent or other similar 
document of incotporation to reflect such objectives and mandate or such other objectives and 
mandate as may he established by the Board of Directors of VON Canada in writing from time to 
time (collectively, the "Objects"): 

(1) To receive and maintain a fund or f1mds and to apply all or part of the principal and 
income therefore, from time to time, to the Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada and/or the 
VON Canada Foundation, which are registered charities tmder the Income Tax Act, Canada; 

(2) To ftmd research and needs assessments for the pmposes of identifying unmet health care 
and social support needs in the Local Community and select and fund the Charitable Programs to 
he delivered in the Local Community by VON Canada to meet these needs; 
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(3) To fund health and support services to be provided by VON Canada to persons with 
debilitating diseases, illnesses and other health conditions for the purpose of preventing disease 
and promoting good health; 

( 4) To carry out Local Community capacity development activities and to build partnerships 
in the Local Community; 

(5) To advance the development of new health care and social program initiatives to be 
provided by VON Canada in the Local Community; 

(6) To promote awareness and educate the public for the purposes of: 

(a) encouraging changes and/or new developments in delivery of health and social 
services in the Local Community; and 

(b) developing meaningful responses to health and social issues and unmet or 
emerging needs to be provided by VON Canada in the Local Community; 

(7) To solicit and receive donations, bequests, legacies and grants and to enter into 
agreements, contracts and undertakings incidental thereto; 

(8) To prudently invest the funds of the Community Corporation; and 

(9) To ensure that, upon dissolution of the Community Corporation and after payment of all 
debts and liabilities, its remaining property is distributed or disposed of to Victorian Order of 
Nurses for Canada or the VON Canada Foundation, to be used in the Local Community. 

15.2 lt is understood and agreed that the provisions of Section 15.1 shall not apply if the 
Connnunity Corporation is in the Province of Nova Scotia and that, in such case, the Community 
Corporation shall at all times be incorporated pursuant to and shail comply with the provisions of 
the Victorian Order of Nurses Act, Nova Scotia, SNS 1996 c. 42, as amended. 

SECTION 16 ·-TERM 

16.1 This Agreement shall be in effect from the Effective Date until the expiration of the Term 
and shall be automatically extended for additional periods of two years each thereafter, unless 
terminated by written notice from either party to the other not less than six months prior to the 
end of the Term or any subsequent extension thereof. 

SECTION 17 -TERMINATION 

17.1 Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time on six months' prior written notice 
to the other. 

17.2 Either party may terminate this Agreement in the event of a bTeach by the other, in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 
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17.3 The expiration or sooner termination of this Ageeement shall not relieve or release either 
party fi:om making payments that might be owing under this Agreement or othetwise. 

SECTION 18 -EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

18.1 VON Canada shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and the Rights without 
prejudice to the enforcement of any other legal or equitable right or remedy upon the happening 
of any of the events outlined in Schedule "E" to this Agreement. 

18.2 The Community Corporation shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and the 
Rights without prejudice to the enforcement of any other legal or equitable right or remedy, if 
VON Canada materially breaches this Agreement and such breach shall continue for a period of 
30 days after written notice has been given to VON Canada by the Community Corporation. 

SECTION 19 -DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

19.1 If at any time a dispute arises between the parties concerning the interpretation of this 
Agreement or any part thereof which cannot be resolved by agreement among the parties, the 
dispute shall be submitted to and shall follow the VON Canada Policy, "Communicating 
Concerns to the National Board". Current policy outlined in Schedule "F" of this Agreement.. 

SECTION 20 -EFFECT OF TERMINATION 

20.1 Without prejudice to the enforcement by either party of any other legal or equitable right 
or remedy, effective immediately upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement 
for any reason: 

(1) the Community Corporation's membership in VON Canada is terminated and the 
Community Corporation is not entitled to: 

(a) attend VON Canada's annual conference; or 

(b) receive the VON Canada Services, provided that VON Canada may permit the 
Community Corporation to continue to receive the VON Canada Services for a .limited period of 
time for the purposes of transitioning or winding down Community Corporation operations; 

(2) the Rights are terminated; 

(3) the Trademark License is terminated; and 

( 4) the Community Corporation shall follow the process outlined in Schedule "E" to this 
Agreement. 

20.2 VON Canada shall be entitled to take such steps as it deems necessary to ensure that the 
Community Corporation complies with the requirements of this Section. 
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20.3 The expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement shall not relieve or release either 
pmty from making payments that might be owing to the other tmdcr this Agreement or 
otherwise. 

SECTION 21- MISCELLANEOUS 

21.1 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute VON Canada or the 
Co nun unity Corporation as agents, joint venturers or pmtners of one another for any purpose. 
The Conununity Corporation and VON Canada are independent contractors. The Community 
Corporation acknowledges and confirms that it may not make agreements or representations on 
behalf of or binding upon VON Canada and that it does not have the authority to commit VON 
Canada in any manner without specific written authorization from VON. 

21.2 Each patty shall from time to time promptly execute and deliver all further documents 
and take all further action reasonably necessary or appropriate to give effect to the provisions of 
this Agreement. 

21.3 The following Schedules are attached to and form part of this Agreement: 

(1) Schedule "A", VON Canada Services 

(2) Schedule "B", Trademarks 

(3) Schedule "C", Trademark License 

(4) Schedule "D", Template For Community Corporation By Laws 

(5) Schedule "E", Events Of Default And Process To Be Followed In The Event Of 
Termination Of This Agreement. 

(6) Schedule "F", Policy~ "Communicating Concerns to the National Board" 

21.4 The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and the provisions of 
Sections 8.1(13), 13,14 and 20 of this Agreement shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of this Agreement 

21.5 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Jaws ofthe 
Province of Ontario and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably attorns to the jurisdiction 
of the courts of the Province of Ontario for all matters arising herein. 

21.6 Neither patiy shall be liable in damages or have the right to terminate this Agreement for 
any delay or default in performing hereunder if such delay or default is caused by conditions 
beyond its control including, but not limited to Acts of God, Govenunent restrictions, the denial 
or cm1cellation of any other necessary license, wars, insurrections and/or any other cause beyond 
the reasonable control of the party whose performance is affected. 
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21.7 Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall enure to 
the benefit of and shall be binding npon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns. 

21.8 Any provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable shall not affect any 
other provision and shall be deemed to be severable. 

21.9 No amendment, supplement or restatement of any term of this Agreement is binding 
unless it is in writing and signed by each party. 

21.10 This Agreement may be executed and ddivered in any number of counterparts, each of 
which when executed and delivered is an original but all of which taken together constitute one 
and the same instrument. 

21.11 Time shall be of the essence of this Agreement. 

21.12 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 
Transaction and supersedes all prior negotiations and understandings. 

21.13 Unless otherwise specified, each notice to a party must be given in writing and delivered 
personally or by courier, sent by prepaid registered mail or transmitted by fax to the party as 
follows: 

To VON Canada: 

To the Community Corporation: 

or to any other address, fax number or person that the party designates. Any notice, if delivered 
personally or by courier, will be deemed to have been given when actually received, if 
transmitted by fax before 3:00p.m. on a Business Day, will be deemed to have been given on 
that Business Day, and if transmitted by fax after 3:00p.m. on a Business Day, will be deemed to 
have been given on the Business Day after the date of the transmission. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed by the parties as of the date first 
written above. 

[Signatures on next page} 
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Executed on behalf of the pmties by their duly authorized representatives. 

ASSOCIATION AGREEMENT 

VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR 
CANADA 

Per: ----------------------

Per:. __________________________ __ 

We have authority to bind the Corporation, 

VON XX COMMUNITY 
CORPORA TJON 

Per: __________________________ __ 

Per: ________________________ __ 

We have authority to bind the Corporation. 

' I, • 
! 
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SCHEDULE "A" 
VON CANADA SERVICES 

::: _____________ -_-_--_ 

The Community Corporation shall receive the following VON Canada Services pertaining to the 
Community Corporation Activities: 

(I) Charitable Programs, including: 

(a) Suppoti and/or carry out Local Community needs assessments 

(b) Budgeting, Planning, Staffing and Delivery of Charitable Programs 

(c) Financial reporting on Charitable Pro grams 

(d) Report on all Charitable Programs to Community Board 

(2) Banking, including: 

(a) Deposits 

(b) Maintenance of approved signing officer lists and authorizations 

(c) Account mmmgement 

(d) Access to VON Canada's favourable interest rate (using Scotiabank Mirrot 
Netting Service only) 

(e) Process donations, bequests and tax receipts designated for Community 
Corporation 

(f) Process on-line donations designated for Community Corporation 

(3) Finance, including: 

(a) Community Corporation Budget 

(b) Coordinate audits as appropriate 

(c) Finance policies, updates and business processes 

(d) Financial Statements 

(c) Regulatory Compliance 

(f) Financial Reporting including, without limitation: 

(i) Community Corporation Charitable receipts 
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(ii) Community Corporation T301 0 

(iii) Reporting to Community Corporation funders 

( 4) Fund Development, including: 

(a) Assist with Fund Development initiatives 

(b) Provide Support for Fund Development and Fundraising. 

(5) Community Board Development, including: 

(a) Community Board and volunteer development 

(b) Education of staff and volunteers (service and governance) 

(c) Community Board administration and support 

(d) Liaison with VON Canada management and Board 

(6) Community Corporation Conrmpnications, including: 

(a) Access to VON Canada Intranet and publications 

(b) Expertise and Counsel re: communications, media relations, public affairs, 
community engagement 

(c) Access to VON Canada research and policy development 

(d) Assist local events with advertising, preparation, communications, community 
engagement, platming and execution 

(e) Develop press, news releases (local) and media advisories 

(f) Develop and provide access to promotional materials for profile building and 
business development purposes (local) 

(g) Development of and engagement in Government relations at local level including 
meetings with elected and unelected officials 

(h) Local media monitoring where feasible using national tools 

(i) Engagement in the development of advocacy and policy making at the national 
level 

G) Involvement in any national events where appropriate 

(k) Media training for interviews 
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(I) Supporting, promoting and facilitating formation of partnerships and 
collaborations in the Local Community. 

OPTIONAL: 

Treasury/Investment. includi~ 

(1) Expertise and Counsel re: financial systems, investment and management; 

(2) Investment management 

(3) Develop and maintain investment strategies 
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SCHEDULE"B" 
TRADEMARKS 

VON Canada (Canadian Trade-mark Application# 1242125) 

VON Canada Touching Lives Since 1897 Au Coeur de la Vie Depuis 1897 + design (Canadian 
Trade-mark Application# 1287079 filed 2006-01-23) (the New Trade-mark) 

VON Caring for Life (Canadian Trade-mark Registration: TMA 597474) 

VON (;anada and V Design (Canadian Trade-mark Registration: TMA 358162) 

Health Care for All Ages (Canadian Trade-mark Registration: TMA 548561) 

Where's Bob (Canadian Trade-mark Registration: TMA 498382) 

Caring for Life (Canadian Trade-mark Registration: TMA 435708) 

SMART (SENIORS MAINTAINING ACTIVE ROLES TOGETHER) (Canadian Trade-mark 
Application# 1,335,667 filed February 15, 2007). 
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SCHEDULE "C" 
TRADEMARK LICENSE 

Copy of the signed license attached. 
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SCHEDULE "D" 
TEMPLATE FOR COMMUNITY CORPORATION BYLAWS. 

Copy attached. 
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SCHEDULE "E" 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND PROCESS TO BE FOLLOWED IN THE EVENT OF 
TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT 

A. Events ofDefault: 

( 4) VON Canada shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and the Rights without 
prejndice to the enforcement of any other legal or equitable right or remedy upon the happening 
of any of the following events: 

(a) If the Conmllmity Corporation breaches any term of this Agreement, the Trademark 
License, the Asset Transfer Agreement between the parties dated (to be 
inserted), the Objects or the Community Corporation's By-Laws and such breach shall 
continue for a period of30 days after written notice has been given to the Community 
Corporation by VON Canada; 

(b) if the Community Corporation loses its charter or its charitable status by expiration, 
forfeiture or otherwise; 

(c) if the Community Corporation ceases to operate or takes or threatens to take any action 
to cease to canyon business or takes or threatens to take any action to disburse or 
transfer its assets other than in accordance with this Agreement; 

(d) if an order is made or a resolution passed for the winding up, dissolution or liquidation 
of the Community Corporation; or 

(e) if any steps are taken to institute any proceedings under any statute or otherwise 
relating to insolvency or bankruptcy or should any proceeding lmder any such statute 
or otherwise be instituted against the Community Corporation, 

2. The Community Corporation shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and the 
Rights without prejudice to the enforcement of any other legal or equitable right or remedy, if 
VON Canada materially breaches this Agreement and such breach shall continue for a period of 
30 days after written notice has been given to VON Canada by the Community Corporation. 

B. Process to Follow in the Event of Termination of this Agreement: 

(1) In the event of termination of this Agreement for any reason, the Community Corporation 
shall forthwith: 

(a) 

(b) 

completely cease and discontinue all use of the VON Canada Name, Trademarks, 
Products and Policies; 

return to VON Canada all electronic and hard copies of all Policies and shall not 
copy or distribute the Policies; ' 
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(c) change its corporate name and/or trading style to a name not including the VON 
Canada Name or a word or words confusingly similar thereto; 

(d) change its corporate objects; 

(e) at its expense, make such modifications to the interior and exterior of the 
Community Corporation's premises as VON Canada may require to remove all 
VON Canada signage and identification; 

(f) cease operating or doing business under any name or in any manner that might 
. tend to give the general public the impression that it is or has ever been associated 
with VON Canada; and 

(g) at its expense, place notices with local media, including its local daily 
newspapers, advising that the Community Corporation is no longer affiliated with 
VON Carmda. 
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SCHEDULE "F" 

Policy- "COMMUNICATING CONCERNS TO THE NATIONAL BOARD" attached 
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Manual: Governance Standards 

Document developed by: 

CANADA 
Section: Standard 4 

Document#: 

Page#: 1 of 2 

Authorized by: VON Canada Soard of 
Directors 

Title: COMMUNICATING 
CONCERNS TO THE 
NATIONAL BOARD 

STANDARD: 4- GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 

Policy: The VON Canada Board is committed to working in good faith with the 
Community Boards and/or Foundations towards the benefit of the 
organization as a whole taking into consideration the diversity of 
viewpoints, and to obtain strategic direction from the communities it 
serves. To this end, the National Board agree to make a good faith effort to: 

Rationale: 

1. communicate with each other in a forthright and professional 
manner; 

2. maintain open and honest communication; 

3. resolve issues and concerns between the Community Board and 
National level; and 

4. make decisions at the lowest, most appropriate level 

The VON Canada Board and VON Canada office adhere to a philosophy 
of open, two-way communication and consultation with Community Boards 
and/or Foundations - particularly in the areas of policy, direction and 
decision making that may have impact on VON's conduct of charitable 
programs in the community. This policy establishes a framework for the 
Community /Foundation Board Chair to bring a matter of concern to the 
National Board Chair should the communication process fail to resolve a 
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gap in goals, direction, funding/fiscal responsibility or understanding. 

There are two primary areas where concerns or conflict may arise between 
the National organization and the Community/Foundation Board: 

• OProgram delivery matters that affect the branch or nat1onal 
organization's ability to deliver programs (charitable, not-for profit 
and profit) 

• Strategic Direction, Risk Management or Policy decisions made by 
VON Canada 

Program delivery matters 

In the event of there being an issue where there are differing views, the 
following process shall be followed by all parties: 

a) The issue shall be defined and a resolution attempted at the 
level at which it originated; 

b) If the issue is not resolved by step (a), then it shall be taken to 
senior individuals with decision-making authority for resolution 
(typically VP level). 

c) If, within thirty (30) days after this meeting the parties have 
failed to resolve the issue it shall be brought forward to the 
President and CEO for resolution. 

d) If, within thirty (30) days after step (c) the issue remains 
unresolved, it shall be brought forward to the Chair of the National 
Board or his/her delegate for closure. 

Strategic Direction, Risk Management or l'olicy Matters 

The Chair of the National Board shall: 

1. Investigate, manage, mediate and where possible, resolve confiicts. 
In investigating the conflict, the chair will determine if the conflict is 
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arising from facts, methods, goals or values. The following questions 
will be asked: 

o Is there a disagreement about the facts, methods, values or 
goals? 

o Are there different definitions of the issue? 
o Do the parties have different pieces of relevant information? 
o Are there conflicting ideas about the strategies or tactics for doing 

the task? 
o Are there different views about what is to be accomplished? 
o Is there a conflict about the objectives of a policy? 
o Are the parties disagreeing about the way power should be 

exercised? 
o Is there a conflict about what is good for the organization or 

ethical? 

2. As part of the investigation process, the Community/Foundation 
Board will have the opportunity to submit materials or make a verbal 
presentation to the Chair for consideration. · 

3. Following a review of the information, if the issue is related to 
communications and/or understanding, the chair will obtain and issue 
the necessary historical documentation/policy/bylaws to clarify the 
issue 

4. Following the investigation, if in the judgment of the chair or his/her 
delegate, an issue warranting further discussion exists or there is a 
need to compromise goals to meet community needs, the chair shall 
refer the conflict to the Executive Committee. The chair shall provide 
a report on the investigation. The Executive Committee shall 
determine if an additional presentation by the Community/Foundation 
Board is warranted. 

5. The Executive Committee shall receive and consider the infonmation 
and take such action as it deems appropriate and in accordance with 
the Bylaws, Policies and Strategic Plan for VON Canada. As 
necessary, the Executive Committee may bring a briefing note to the 
National Board, requesting a final decision. 

I ' . 
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References: 
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VON POLICIES 

EXTERNAL TO AGREEMENT 

l. Each Foundation, working with VON Canada, must prepare and, where appropriate, 
submit a multi-year funding commitment to VON Canada. This commitment would describe the 
funding level, as well as any conditions under which the funding is made available. Funding can 
be described in terms of dollars per tmits of service, or in terms of dollars per ammm, or in 
whatever fonn is acceptable to both parties. The commitment may also consider contingency 
planning- e.g. if third party funding became available in future years, or alternatively, if current 
third party funding should cease in the future. This commitment should be reviewed and updated 
at least once per year by both parties. 
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LOAN AGREEMENT ·~~~~·tit:fj:1i'i1J~ 
This LOAN AGREEMENT (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from 

time to time) is made as of the 31" day of December, 2008 between IDM Canada Limited, a corporation 
duly organized under the: federal laws of Canada with a place of busine~s at 3600 Steeles Ave. East, F4, 
Markham, Ontario L3R 9Z7 ("IDM") and Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada, a not-for-profit 
corporation duly organized under the laws of Canada with a place of business at ll 0 Argyle Ave., 
O!tawa, Ontario K2P IB4 (The "Borrower"). 

RECITALS: 

A The Borrower has requested the Tenn Facility for the purpose of tinancing the Borrower's 
obligations under the master services agreement for a business transformation initiative with 1BM 
(as may be replaced, amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the 
"Services Agreement"); and 

B. IBM has agreed to provide the Term Facility to the Borrower on the tenus and conditions set 
forth herein. 

NOW THEREFORE TIIIS AGREEMENT WJTNESSES that, in consideration of the 
covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree us follows: 

ARTICLE 1 
INTERPRETATION 

For the purposes of this Agreement: 

1.1 Definitions 

1.1.1 ''Advance" means ~he principal amount of any utilization of the Tenn Facility by the 
Borrower; 

1.1.2 "Applicable Margin" means, subject to Section 3 .2, 7 .28%; 

l.l.3 "Agreement" means this loan agreement and all schedules attached to this agreement, in 
each case as they may be amended or supplemented from time to time; the expressions "hereof', 
"hcrcln", "hereto", "hereunder", "hereby" and similar expressions refer to this Agreement us a 
whole and not to any partjcular article, section, schedule or other portion heJeof, and the expression 
"article" and "section" followed by a number, and "schedule" followed by a number, mean and refer 
to the speciiied article or section of or schedule to this Agreement, except as othenvise specifically 
provided herein; 

1.1.4 "Applicable Law" means all applicable laws, statutes, rules, by-l:1ws and regulations, 
rcgulatmy policies and all applicable official direct[VCJS, orders, judement~ and decrees of 
Governmental Bodies; 

1.1.5 "Availability l'eriod" means the 24 month period from April l, 2009 to March 31, 2011 or 
an earlic~· date w; a result of a declaration by IRM pursuant to Section 2.4.3, unless othetwisc renewerl 
or extended at IBM's sole discretion; 



1.1.6 "Base Reference Week" means the 7 calendar days immediately preceding the· date of this 
Agreement; 

1. I .7 "Borrowing Notice" means a notice substantially in the form as set out in Schedule I .I. 7 to 
this Agreement; 

1.1.& ·"Business Day" means any day other than Saturday or Sunday or any statutory holiday in 
the Province of Ontario; 

1.1 .9 "Canadian Dollars1
', «Cdu. $jj j "dolJarsjj or"$" means lawful currency of Canada; 

1.1.1 0 "Cash" means any cash, cash equivalents, marketable long term investments as indicated on 
the Borrower's Financial Statements, monies or deposits held by the Borrower including deposits or 
certificates held at any financial institutions, marketable securities or any other investments that are 
easily. converted to cash or of a type that are traded on recognized securities exchanges or securities 
markets; 

1.1.11 "CDS Index" means the Dow .Tones 5-year CDS High Yield Index (DJ CDX.NA.HY 5YR) 
in the Bloomberg information system nnder ticker CDXHY511 Curney using data source provider 
CMA New York and ltaving Bloomberg provider code CMAN; 

1.1.12 "Conditions Precedent" means those conditions precedent set out in Article 7; 

1.1.13 "Default" means an Event of Default or any event that would constitute an Event ofDcfimlt 
but for the requirement that notice be given or time elapse or 1Joth; 

1, 1.14 "Drnwdown Daten means any Business Day on which an Advance fs 1'Jladc tmder the Term 
Facility; 

1. l.l 5 "Event of Default" means any of the events set out in Article 8; 

1.1.16 "Financial Statements" means the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, 
statements of cash flows and statements of changes in net assets of the Borrower for the period 
specified, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and consistent with 
prior practices; 

1.1.17 "Financing Documents" means this Agreement and any other related agreements, 
instmments and financial documents (including without limitation, any Borrowing Notices, officer's 
certificates and transaction documents issued in connection with each Advance) delivered by the 
Bon·ower, from time to time, to IBM; 

1.1.18 "Governmental llo<ly" means ony government, parliament, legislature, or any regulatory 
authority, agency, commission, board or mlemaking entity of any govemment, parliament or 
legislature, or any court or (without limitation. to the foregoing) any other law, regulation or 
rulemaking entity (including, without limitation, any central bank, fiscal or monetary authority or 
authority regulating banks), having or purporting to have jurisdiction in the relevant circumstances, or 
any Person actiag onder the authority of any of the foregoing (including, without limitation, any 
arbitrator); 

!.1.(9 "Governmental Charges" means all taxes, levies, assessments, reassessments and other 
charges together with all related penalties, interest and fines, due and payable to any Governmental 
Body; 
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1.1.20 "Interest Rate" means, su~jccHo Section 3.2, the fi~ed annual rate of interest for each 
Advance under the Tctm Facility which shall be the sum of the Swap Rate Index for the Review Week 
plus the Applicable Margin; 

1.1.21 "Late Repayment Interest" means interest on overdue Repayments and all other overdue 
amounts owing or deemed to be owing hereunder calculated at the rate specified in Section 3.3; 

1.1.22 "Material Adverse Change" means any adverse chapge in the financial condition or 
prospects of the Borrower which, in the sole opinion ofiBM, acting reasonably, is likely to impair to a 
material extent the ability of the Borrower to repay tl1o Obligations; 

U.23 "Material Authorization" means the Borrower's accreditation by Accreditation Canada 
required to carry on its activities as presently carried on by it; 

1.1.24 "Maturity D><te" means, unless otherwise extended pursuant to Seetion 2.5.2, March 31, 
2014; 

1.1.25 °Net Revenue" for any p-eriod means tho Borrower's net revenue as indicated and titled 
"Net Revenue for the Year" on the consolidated statement of operations of the Borrower's Financial 
Statements; 

1.1.26 "Obligations" means all indebtedness, liabilities and other obligations of the Borrower to 
IBM lweunder or under any other Financing Document, whether actual or contingent, direct or 
indirect, ma11lred or not, now existing or arising hereafter; 

1. 1.27 <•Pct·sonl~ means an individual, partnership, corporation, joint stock company1 ·trust 
(including a business \rust), unincorpol'ated association, joint venture, limited liability company or 
other entity, or a govemmental or any political subdivision or agency; 

1.1.28 "Proceedings" has the meaning attributed to such term in Section 5.1.8; 

1.1.29 "Repayments" means, subject to Section 2.5.l, for each Advance, the repayment schedule 
of principal and interest payments due and payable by tl1e Borrower to IBM over the Term as mutually 
agreed upon by U1e parties; 

1.1.30 "Review Week" means the 7 calendar days immediately preceding the Drawdown Date; 

1.1.3 l "ServiCes Agreement" has the meaning set out in the Recitals; 

l.l.32 "Swap Rate Index" means, subject to Section 3.2, the average of the interest rate swaps of 
· CDSW2 (2-year CAD 'ask' swap rate) and CDSW3 (3-year CAD 'ask' swap rate), as published in tlre 

Bloomberg L.P.; 

1.1.33 "Term" means, subject to Section 2.3.2, for each Advance under the Tm·m Facility a. period 
commencing on the Drawdown Date (which shall be no earlier than April 1, 2009) and ending on the 
date of the last scheduled Repayment for that Advance (which shall be no later than tho Maturity 
Date); 

1.1.34 "Term Facility" means the tenn facility in the amount of the Tenn Facility Commitment 
made available to the Borrower by IBM pursuant to Section 2.!; and 

!.1.35 "Term Facility Commitment" means up to the maximum aggregate amount of 
$10,500,000. 



1.2 C.ender and Numher 

In this Agrecmen~ unless the context otherwise requires, words importing the singular 
include the plural and vice versa, words importing gender include all genders or the neuter, and words 
itnportingthe neuter include all gendcts. 

1.3 In validity, etc. 

Each of the provisions contained in any Financing Document is distinct and severable 
and a declaration of invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of any such provision or part thereof by a 
court of competent jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any otherpr·ovision of such 
Financing Document or of any other Financing Document. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, 
the Parties waive any provision of Applicable Law which renders any provision of any Financing 
Document invalid or unenforceable in any respect. 

1.4 Headings, etc. 

Th¢ division of a Financing Document into articles and sections, the inclusion of a table 
of contents and tb(J inSe!tion of headings are for convenience of reference only and sha\l not affect the 
construction or interpretation of such Financing Document. 

1.5 Governing Law and Attornment 

Except ru; otherwise specifica\ly provided, the Financing Documents shall be governed by 
and constmed in accordance with the laws ofthe Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable 
therein, and the parties irrevocably submit and attorn to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the cotrrts of the 
Province of Ontario for all matters arising out of or ill connection with this Agreement and the other 
Financing Documents. 

1.6 References 

_ Except as otherwise specifically provided, reference in any Financing Document to any 
contrac~ agreement or any other instrument shall be deemed to include references to the same as varied, 
amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time and reference in any Financing Document to any 
enactment, including without limitation, any statute, law, by-law, regulation, ordinance or order, shall be 
deemed to include references to such enactment as re-enacted, amended or extended from time to time. 

1.7 Currency 

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, all monetary amounts in any Financing 
Document are stated in Canadian Dollars. 

1.8 This Agreement to Govern 

If there is any inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of any 
other Financing Document, tlte provisions hereof shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency. 
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement and for greater certainty, this Agreement and the 
Services Agreement (and the tenns contained in them) are completely separate and independent 
obligations of the Borrower and IBM, and the Services Agreement (and the tenns contained in it) sha\l in 
no way whatsoever impact, affect or govern the subject matter of this Agreement and in particular tho 
Advances or the Term Facility provided to the Borrower for the purpose of financing the Borrower's 
obligations under the Services Agreement 



1.9 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, all ae<Jonnting terms shall be applied 
and C011!Jlrued in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, 
References herein to "generally accepted accounting principles" mean, the prip.ciples recommended from 
time to time in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, 

l.lO llrcorporation of Schedules 

Agreement: 
The !allowing schedules annexed hereto shall, for all purposes hereof, fnnn pal'! of this 

Schedule L 1.7 Borrowing Notice 

ARTICLE; 2 
TERM FACILITY 

2.1 Establishment of the Te1·m Facility 

Subject to Uw tenm and conditions of this Agreement, IBM hereby establishes the Term 
Facility in favour of the Borrower in the amount of tbe Term Facility Commitment. The Term Facility 
shall be available by way of Canadian dollar Advances during the Availability Period. 

2.2 l'urposc of the Term Facility 

The Term Facility shall solely be used to llnance the Borrower's obligations (including' 
any invoices or payments becoming due and owing under any final statements of work) under and 
pursuant to the Services Agreement, 

2.3 Advances Under the Term Facility 

2.3.1 Provided that on each Drawdown Date tbe Conditions Precedent specified in 
sections 7.1 or 7.2, as the case may be, hereof have been satisfied or waived by IBM in writing, 
Advances under tile Term Facility shall only be available in the fallowing manner: 

2.3.l.l The Bonower shall, at its sole discretion, deliver a duly completed and 
executed Borrowing Notice to IBM not later than 10:00 a,m. (Taranto time) on the 
fifteenth (15th) calendar day plior to the proposed Drawdown Date, and such Borrowing 
Notice shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower, 

and for greater certainty, IBM shall not make any Advances whatsoever to the Borrower unless 
the Borrower has delivered such a duly completed and executed Borrowing Notice to IBM. 

2.3,2 The Term for all Advances shall be coterminous and all Advances shall be repaid by 
no later than the Maturity Date (unless otherwise extended pursuant to Section 2.5.2). 

2.3 .3 IBM may, at its sole option, issue a transaction document confirming the details of 
each Advance, 

2.4 Unutilized Portion of Term Facility Commitment 

2.4,1 Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement, following delivery 
oftne Borrower's Fillancial Statements or other financial information pursuant to Sections 6.1.9 
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and 6.1.10, the terms, conditions and availability of the Tenn Facility shall be reviewable by 
IBM ammally; 

2.4.2 lf, following a review by IBM pursuant to Section 2.4.1, IBM detenni11es that the 
Borrower's fmancial position, creditwortbiness or ability to perfonn the Obligations or make 
the Repayments may be impaired then lBM shall provide the Borrower with 20 Business Days' 
notice of such determination and proposed amendmentl to the Term Facility, and the patties, 
acting reasonably, shall mutually agree to such amendments, modifications or changes to the 
terms, conditions or availability under the Term Facility; 

2.4.3 Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement, it is agreed that 
IBM shall not have the right to declare the unutilized portion (if any) of the Term Facility 
Commitment to be terminated (whereupon IBM snall not be required under any circumstances 
to make any further Advances under the Tenn Facility) or, as the case !nay be, change the terms 
and conditions of the Term FaciHty, except in the following circumstances: 

2.4.3.1 Pursuatrt to Section 8.2.1.1; 

2.4.3.2 Upon the ex pity of the Availability Period; 

2.4.3.3 Upon the expity of the Services Agreement; or 

2.4.3.4 Upon the tennination of the Services Agreement; 

2.4.4 If IBM is entitled to terminate the unutilized portion (if any) of the Term Facility 
Commitment pursuant to Section 2AJ, it shall give written notice thereof to the Borrower. The 
termination of the unutilized portion (if any) of the Term Facility Commitment as specified in 
such notice shall be effective as at the date of such notice unless Otlierwise provided in such 
notice. 

2.5 Repay,nent of the Term Facility 

2.5.1 The Repayments (and the repayment schedulo) in respect of each proposed Advance under 
the Term Facility shall be established prior to the proposed Draw down Date by good faith negotiations 
and mutual agreement of the parties, and shall, to the extent possible, be consistent wiU1 the structure 
and benefits contained in and to be derived from the Services Agreement (and the transaction 
contemplated by the Services Agreement) and shall abide by the Borrower's requirement that lower 
Repayments shall be payable by the Borrower in the beginning portion of the Term of each proposed 
Advance and higher Repayments shall be payable by the Borrower in the latter portion of the Term of 
each proposed Advance, provided that, in all cases, the following requirements shall, at all times, be 
met: 

2.5.1.1 A minimum of 10% of any llroposed Advance shall be repayable by the 
BoiTower to IBM in the fits! year of tho Term ofthe proposed Advance; 

2.5.1.2 A minimum of 40% of the proposed Advance shall be repayable by the Borrower 
to IBM in the first half of the Tenn o.f tlle proposed Advance; 

2.5.1.3 tl1e proposed Advance shall be completely repaid by the Borrower over the Term 
·of the proposed Advance; and 

2.5.1.4 Subject to Section 2.5.2, all outstanding Advances shall be repaid by the 
Borrower to lBM by no later than the Maturity Date; 

I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
l 

I 



2.5.2 Upon delivety of a written notice to IBM from time to time at anytime prior to the Maturity 
Dale, the Borrower shaiJ be entitled to request an extension of the Maturity Date for such additional 
period or p(:}riods 1 and on such terms and condHions as the partie11 may agree1 acting reasonably; 

2.5.3 The Bonower agrees to make Repayments to IBM no later than 12:00 p.m. (Toronto time) 
on the due date thereof by direct debit; 

2.5.4 For any Repayment not made on the due date, the Borrower agrees to pay Late Repayment 
Interest in accordance with section 3.3; 

2.5.5 The Borrower agrees (a) to make all Repayments when due in full without set .. oi'l; 
counterclaim, or deduction of any kind (and for greater certainty, all Obligations with respect to each 
Advance are due and payable at the end of the Tenn), and (b) the obligations of the Borrower to make 
all Repayments and to observe and perform the other covenants and agreements herein shall be 
absolute Hnd unconditional in all events, irrespective of the perfmmance, loss or quality of the services 
or products provided or supplied by, or the performance by, IBM or any other affiliate of IBM under 
any other agreement whatsoever with the Bon·ower (including without limitation, the Services 
Ag!'cemcnt); 

2.5.6 Repayments received by IBM will be applied against Late Repayment Interest, overdue 
Repayments and then other Repayments, in that order; and 

2,5,7 Any payment made by the Borrower which faHs due on a day wlrich is not a Business Day 
shall be made on the Business Day immediately following such day. 

2.6 Permanent Prepayment of the Term Facility 

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, upon 30 days' prior written notice to IBM, 
which notice, once !,>iven, shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower, the Borrower shall have the 
privilege of pennanently pmpaying, in whole or in part, the o11tstanding Obligations in respect of the 
Advances under the Tcnn Facility. The outstanding Obligations in respect of the prepaid Advances on 
the date of prepayment shall be determined by discounting the then remaining monthly principal 
payments for all Advances at n discount rate equal to the lesser of (i) the Interest Rate less 2.5% at the 
time of tbe original Advance or (ii) the Interest Rate less 2.5% 30 days prior to the proposed date of 
prepayment, without any additional fees or charges payable by the Borrower as a result of such 
prepayment. The Borrower shall not be entitled to re~borrow the amount so prepaid. 

ARTICLE 3 
INTEREST AND FEES 

3.1 Calculation and Payment of Interest 

3.1, 1 Subject to Section 3.2, interest on each Advance under the Term Facility shall bear interest 
at the Interest Rate. Interest shall accrue from day to day, both before and after default, demand, 
maturity and judgment, shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and on 
the basis of a year of 365 days and shall be compounded and payable to IBM in Canadian Dollars in 
arrears on· tbe first day of each calendar month (or, if not on a BushJess Day, on the immediately 
following Business Day), 

3.2 Interest Rate Protection 

3.2. I Notwithstanding anything contrary in this Agreement, the Interest Rate and the methodology 
used in establishing the Interest Rate (including without limitation, the definition or use of the 
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Applicable Margin or the Swap Rate Index) for each proposed Advance shall be reviewable by IBM· 
as of the <late of each Borrowing Notice for a proposed Advance. IBM shall compare the CDS Index 
as of the Base Reference Week and the Review Week, and if there has been a difference of more than 
50 basis points (or 0,5%) (either up or down) in the CDS Index, the parties may: 

3.3 

3.2. 1.1 By mutual consent, agree to adjust, amend, revise or modifY the Interest Rate, 
or the methodology and the establishment of the Interest Rate, with respect to the 
proposed or any future Advances (including without limitation, a chauge in the Swap 
Rate Index or the Applicable Margin) which may result in an adjustment, up or down, in 
Jhe Interest Rate on such proposed Advance or any future Advances; or 

3.:?.1.2 Failing any agreement by the parties as provided in Section 3.2.!.1, the 
Borrower may elect not to proceed with such proposed Advance or any future Advances 
under the Term Facility. 

Interest on Overdue Amounts 

3.3.1 All overdue amounts owing or deemed to be owing hereunder, whether in respect of 
principal, interest, fees or otherwise, both before and after judgment, shall bear.interest at an interest 
rate of 14% pe1· annum (or stJCh lesser amount as may be required by law). Such Late Repayment 
Interest shall accrue from day to day, be payable in arrears on demand and shall be compounded 
monthly 011 the last Business Day of each calendar month; 

3.3.2 To the extent there is an inconsistency between the late repayment or default interest rate 
included ot· indicated in an invoice or document provided by IBM to the Borrower, front time to time, 
and the Late Repayment Interest Rate then the Late Repayment Interest Rate shall prevail. 

3.4 Paymellt of Costs and Expenses 

Whether or not the Borrower takes advantage of the Term Facility, the Borrower shall 
pay to IBM o.n deman4 all reasonable costs and expenses of IBM, it£ agents, officers and employees and 
any receiver or receiver-manager appointed by it or by a court in connection with this Agreement or the 
Term Facility, including without limitation: 

3 .4, l the preparation, execution, filing and registration of any of the Financing Documents, any 
actual or proposed amendment or modification hereof or thereof or any waiver hereunder or 
thereunder and all instruments supplemental or ancillary thereto; and 

3 .4.2 the defence, establishment, protection or enforcement of any .of the rights or remedies of 
IBM under any of the Financlng Documents including, wlthout litnitalion, all reasonable costs and 
expenses of establishing the validity and enforceability of, or of collection of amounts owing under, 
any of the Financing Documents; 

and including without limitation, all of th.e· reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of IBM's 
counsel, on a solicitor and his own client basis, incurred in connection therewith, and including all sales 
or value-added taxes payable by IBM (if not refundable) on all such costs and expenses. 
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4.1 Jnsurance 

ARTICLE4 
INSURANCE 

' :::_o ___ ": ___ -___ -

The Borrower shall maintain public liability insurance in such amounts and against such 
risks as is normally carried by comparable charitable corporations or institutions engaged in comparable 
businesses and charitable activities. 

ARTICLES 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

5.1 Representations and Warranties 

The Borrowerrepresents and warrants to IBM as follows: 

5.1.1 Incorporation and Status. The Borrower is duly incorporated and validly existing under 
tlw laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has the corporate power and capacity to own its 
propmties and assets and to carry on its business as presently carried on by it; 

5.1.2 Power and Capacity. The Borrower has the corporate power and capacity to enter into 
each of the Financing Documents and to do all acts and things as arc required or contemplated 
hereunder or thereunder to be done, observed and performed by i~ 

5.1.3 Due Authorization. The Borrower has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the 
execution, delivery and perfonrumce of each of the Financing Documents; 

5.1.4 No Contravention, The execution and delivery of tlill Agreement and the other Finat1cing 
Documents and the performance by the Borrower of its obligations thereunder (i) docs not and will not 
materially contravene, breach or result in any default under the articles, by-laws, constating documents 
or other organizational documents of the Borrower or under any mortgage, lease, agreement or other 
legally binding instnunent, Material Authorization or Applicable Law to which the Borrower is a 
party or by which the Borrower or any of their respective properties or assets may be bound, (ii) will 
not oblige the Bmrower to grant any Lien (f) any Pm~on and (iii) will not result in or permit the 
acceleration of the maturity of any indebtedness, liability or obligation of the Borrower under any 
mortgage, lease, agreement or other legally binding instrument of or affecting the Borrower; 

5.1.5 No Consents Required. No authmization, consent or approval of, or filing wiUr or notice 
to, any Person (including any Gove(TlmentaJ Body) is required in connection with the execution, 
delivery or performance of this Agreement or any ofthe other Financing Documents by the Borrower; 

5, 1.6 Enforceablllty, Each of the Financing Documents constitutes, or upon execution and 
delivery will constitute, a valid and binding obligation of the Borrower enforceable against it in 
accordance with its tenns; 

5.1.7 Financial Statements. The audited Financial Statements of the Borrower dated as of and 
for the period ending March 31, 2008, luiVe been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and fairly present in all material respects the financial condition of the Borrower 
for the period and as at the date thereof; 

5.1.8 Litigation and Other Proceedings. To the best of the Borrower's knowledge, after 
reasonable inquiry, there is no court, administrative, regulatory or similar proceeding (whether civil, 
quasi-criminal, or criminal); arbitration or other dispute settlement procedure; investigation or enquiry 
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by any Governmental Body; or any similar matter or proceeding (collectively, the "Ptoceedings") 
against or involving the Borrower (whether in progress or threatened) which, if determined adversely 
to the Borrower would constitute a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or 
prospects and there is no judgment, decree, if\iunction, rule, award or order of any Governmental Body 
outstanding against the Borrower whioh would or may constitute a material adverse effect on its 
business, financial condition or prospects; 

5.1.9 No Default. The Borrower is not in defuult or breach under any material commitment or 
obligation and there exists no slate of facts which, after notice or the passage of time or both, would 
constitntc sucl1 a default or breach; 

5. 1.10 Compliance with Laws. The Bonower is conducting its business in compliance in all 
material respecl< with all applicable laws, regulations, by-laws and ordinances of each jurisdiction in 
which its business is carried on; 

5.1.11 Governmental Charges. The Borrower has filed all tax retums required to be filed by it in 
all applicable jurisdictions and bas paid all Govetnmental Charges. Adequate provision has been 
made in the audited consolidated financial statemei.rls of the Borrower for all Governmental Charges 
payable by the Borrower for all periods up to the date of the balance sheet comprising part of the 
audited consolidated financial statements; and 

5.1.12 All Material Ilrformation Supplied. The Borrower has, to the best of its knowledge after 
reasonable inquiry, provided to IBM all material information relating to the financial condition, 
business and prospects of the Borrower and all such infonnation is true, accurate and complete in all 
material respects and omits no material fact necessary to make such intonnation not misleading. 

5.2 Survival of Representations and Warranties 

The Borrower covenants thatihe representations and warranties made by it in Section 5.1 
shall be tmc and correct on each Drawdown Date with the same e!Iect as if such representations and 
warranties had been made and given otl and as of such day, notwithstanding any investigation made at 
any time by or on behalf ofiBM; except that if any such representation and warranty is specifically given 
in respect of a particular date or particular period of titne and relates only to such date or period of litne, 
then such representation and warranty shall continue to be given as at such date or for such period of time. 

6.1 Affirmative Covenants 

ART1CLE6 
COVENANTS 

So long as any Obligations remain outstanding, and unless IBM otherwise consents in 
writing) the Borrower covenants and agrees that: 

6.l.l .Punctual Repayment. The Bonower shaU pay or cause to be paid all Obligations falling 
due hereunder on the dates and in the manner specified herein; 

6.1.2 Corporate Existence. The Bonower shall do or cause to be done all things necessary or 
desirable to maintaln its corporate existence in its present jurisdiction of incorporation, and to 
maintain its corporate power and capacity to own its properties and assets; 

. 6.1.3 Conduct of Business. The Borrower shall catry on its business in a commercially 
reasonable manner for a charitable corporation or institution engaged in charitable activities in 
accordance with normal industry standards; 



'-- ----~_;_-::---"- ' 

6.1.4 Preservation of Material Authorizations. The Borrower shall preserve and maintain all 
Material Authorizations; 

6.1.5 Compliance with Applicable Law and Contracts. The Borrower shall comply with the 
requirements of all Applicable Laws and all contracts to which it is a party, non,compliance with 
which wr,uld, singly or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 
condition or prospects of-the Borrower; 

6.1.6 Accounting Methods and :Financial Records. The Borrower shall maintain a system of 
accounting which is established and administered in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, keep adequate records and books of account in which accurate and complete entries shall 
be made in accordance with such accounting principles reflecting all transactions required to be 
r·eflected by such accounting principles a11d keep accurate and complete records of any property 
owned by it; 

6.1.7 Payment of Governmental Charges and Claims. The Borrower shall; 

6.1.7.1 pay and discharge all lawful claims for labour, material and supplies; 

6,1.7.2 pay at1d discharge all Governmental Charges payable by it; and 

6.1.7.3 withhold and collect all Governmental Charges required to be withheld and collected 
by it and remit such Govemmental Charges to the appropriate Govemmental Body at the time 
and in the manner required, 

6, 1.8 Notice of Litigation and Other Matters. The Borrower shall, as soon as practicable after it 
shall become aware of the same, give notice lo IBM of the following events; 

6.1.8.1 tl1e commencement Of any action, Proceeding or investigation against or in any other 
way relating adversely to the BoTTower or any of its properties, assets or businesses which, if 
adversely determined, could singly or when agwegated with all other such actions, proceedings, 
arbitrations and investigations reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial condition or prospects of the Borrower or on the Borrower's ability to 
perform is obligations under the Financing Documents; 

6, 1.8,2 any amendment of its articles, by,laws, constating documents or other organizational 
documents; 

6.1, 8.3 any development which has had ot' will have a material adverse effect npon its 
business, financial condition or prospects, or its ability to perfom1 its obligations \lllder the 
Financlng Documents; or 

6.1.8.4 any Default or Event of Default, or the occurrence or non,occurrence of any event 
which constitutes, or which with the passage of time or giving of notice or both would 
constitute, a material default under any other agreement to which the Borrower is a party, giving 
in each case the details thereof and specifYing the action proposed to be taken with respect 
thereto; 

6.1 .9 Annual Financial Statements. The Borrower shall, as soon as practicable and in any event 
120 days after the end of each fiscal year, deliver to IBM the annual audited consolidated Financial 
Statements ofthe Borrower; 

6.I.l0 Other Financial Information. As soon as practicable following a request therefor from 
IBM, the Borrower shall fumish to IBM such other financial inforn1ation and projections as IBM may 
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reasonably request, inc.luding copies of any income tax returns, sales or value~added tax returns and 
othc1· tax returns and any other elections, remittance fonns or other documents filed by the Borrower 
pm•suant to any legislation which requires the Borrower to pay, withhold, collect or remit 
Govenunenla] Charges; and 

6.1.1 1 Use of Proceeds. The Boo·ower shall use the proceeds from the Teon Facility solely as 
described in section 2.2. 

6.Z Financial Covenants 

6.2.1 Minimum Cash. The Borrower shall maintain, at the end. of each fiscal year throughout the 
term of this Agreement, a minimum Cash balance of at least $4 million. 

6.2.2 Net Revenue. The Bonower shall maintain, at the end of each fwcal year throughout the 
term of this Agreemen~ positive Net Revenue. 

6.3 IBM Entitled to Perform Covenants 

If the Borrower fails to perform any covcrtant contained in Section 6.1, or in any other 
provision of any Financing Documen~ IBM may, in its discretion, perform any such covenant capable of 
being performed by it and if any such covenant requires the payment of money IBM may make such 
payments, All sums sa expended by IBM shall be deemed to be a loan payable by the Borrower on 
demand and such loan shall bear interest at the Late kepayment Interest as calculated in Section 3 .3. 1, 

6.4 Negative Covenants 

So long as any Obligations remain outstanding, and unless IBM otherwise consents in 
writing, the Borrower covenants and agrees that it shall not enter into any transaction (including by way 
of reorganization, consolidation, amalgamation, liquidation, transfer, sale or otherwise) whereby all or 
any material portion or significant operating division of the undertaking, property and assets of the 
Borrower would become the property of any other Person or, in the case of any such amalgamation, of the 
continuing corporation resulting therefrom. 

ARTICLE 7 
CONO!liONS PRECEDENT 

7.1 Conditions Precedent to the Initial A<lvance under the Term Facillty 

The obligations of IBM to make available the Tenn Facility to the Borrower are subject 
to COlJlplianee, on or before the initial Drawdown Date, with each of the following conditions precedent, 
which conditions precedent are tor tl1e sole and exclusive benefit of IBM and may be waived in writing 
by IBM in its sole discretion; 

7.1.1 the representations and warranties set out in section 5.1 shall be ltue and correct on the 
initial Draw down Date as if made on and as of such date; 

7. L2 no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred ~nd be continuing nor shall there be ru1y 
Default or Event ofDefault after giving effect to the proposed Tenn Facility; 

7 .1.3 IBM shall have received the following in a form and substance satisfactory to IBM; 

7.1.3.1 a Borrowing Notice; 



7.1.3.2 a certificate of a representative of the Borrower dated the date of this. Agreement 
certifYing thai attached thereto are true and correct copies of the following documents, a1ld that 
such documents are ill full force and effec' unamended; 

7.1.3.2.1 the articles or constating documents ofthe Borrower; 

7.1:3.2,2 the by-laws or other organizational docummrts of the Borrower; 

7.!.3.2.3 a certificate of incumbency including sample signatures of 
representatives of the Borrower who have executed any of the Financing 
Documents or any other document delivered to IBM under this Article 7; and 

7.1.3.2.4 the resolutions or other documentation evidencing that all 
necessary action, corporate or otherwise, bas been taken by the Borrower to 
authorize the execution, delivery and performance of the Financing Documents 
to which it is a party; 

7. 1.3.3 a certificate of status, certificate of good standing or similar c.ertificate with respect 
lo the jutisdiclion of incorporation of the Borrower dated the date of this Agreement; and 

7.!.3.4 such other documentation or inf01mation. as IBM snall have reasonably requested. 

7.2 Conditions Precedent to Subsequent Advances under the Term Facility 

The obligation of IBM to make any subsequent Advances nnder the Term Facility is 
subject to compliance, on or before the relevant Drawdown Date, with each of the following conditions 
precedent, which conditions precedent arc for the sole and exclusive benefit of IBM and may be waived 
in writing by IBM in its sole di.~cn>lion: 

7.2.1 the representations and warranties set out in Section 5 .I shall be true and correct on 
the relevant Draw down Date as if· made on and as of such date; 

7.2.2 no Default or Event of Default shall have occuncd and be continuing nor shall there 
be any Default or Event of Default after giving effect to the proposed Advance under the Term 
Facility; and 

7.2.2.1 IBM shall have received a Borrowing Notice and such other documentation or 
information as lBM shall have reasonably requested. 

8.1 Events of Default 

ARTICLES 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

If any ofthe following events occur, it shall be an Event of Default by the Borrower: 

8. 1.1 default in payment when due any Repayment or any other liability or obligation owed to 
IBM when due hereunder or under any Financing Documents unless such default is remedied within 5 
Business Days after notice thereof by IBM to the Borrower; 

8.12 default in the performance or observance of any covenant, condition or obligation in any 
Financing Document that docs not require the payment of money to IBM unless such defuult is 
remedied within 15 Business Days after notice thereof by IBM to the BotTower; 

r 
I' 

I 
J· 
I 

I 

I 

I 
I 
I 

I 

I 



.8.13 any statement, representation, or warrarlty made by the Borrower herein or in any officer's 
certificate or other documents delivered to IBM pursuant to this Agreement or in cmmection witb any 
Financing Document which induced IBM to enter into this Agreement or Financing Documents slJall 
prove to Jmve been false, incorrect, misleading, or breached in any material respect on fue date when 
made; 

8.1.4 use of the Term Facility for anything other than the agreed purpose set out in Section 2.2; 

8.1.5 the Borrower admits its inab11ityto pay its debts generally as they become due or otherwise 
acknowledges its insolvency; 

8. 1.6 the occurrence of a Material Adverse Change; 

8. 1.7 the Borrower institutes any proceeding or takes any corporate action or executes any 
agreement to authorize its participatlo~ in or commencement of any proceeding: 

8.l.7.1 seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent; or 

8.1.7.2 seeking liquidation, dissolution, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, protection, 
relief or composition of it or any of its property or debt or making a proposal with respect to it 
under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or compromise of debts or 
other similar laws (including, without limitation, any application under the Companies' 
Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) or any reorganization, arrangement or compromise of debt 
under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporatio11); 

8. 1.8 any proceeding is commenced against or aftecting the Borrower: 

8.1.8.1 seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent; 

8.1.8.2 seeking liquidation, dissolution, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, protection, 
relief or composition of it or any of its property or debt or making a proposal with respect to it 
under any law relating to bankruptcy, .insolvency) reorganizatjon or compromise of debts or 
other sitnilar laws (including) without limitation, any reorganization, arrangement or 
compromise of debt under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation); or 

8.1.8.3 seeking appointment of a receiver, lntstee, agent, custodian or other similar official 
for it or for any substantial pati of its propetiies and assets; 

and such proceeding is not being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or, if so 
contested remains outstanding, undismissed and unstayed more than 30 days from the institution of 
such first mentioned proceeding; 

8.1 .9 any creditor of the Borrower or any other Person shall privately appoint a receiver, trustee or 
similar official for any subsWttial part of the Borrower's properties and assets; or 

8.1.10 if any material execution, distress or other enforcement process (including pursuant to 
personal property security legislation), whether by court or otherwise, becomes enforceable against 
any property ofthe Borrower. 

8.2 Remedies 

8.2. J lf the Event of Default has not been remedied, IBM may: 
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8.2.l.l declare the unutilized portion (if any) of tho Tenn Facility Commitment to be 
tetminated (whereupon IBM shall not be required to make any t\lliher Advances); 

8.2.1.2 declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable; 

8,7..1.3 take snch actions and commence such proceedings as may be permitted at law or the 
equity at such times and in such manner as IBM in its sole discretion may consider expedient; 
and 

8.2.1.4 
remedies) 

t'ccover reasonable legal fees 1 costs and expenses incurred in exercising the above 

aU without, except as may be required by Applicable Law, any additional notice, presentment, demand, 
protest, notice of prates~ dishonour or any other action. The rights and remedies of IBM hereunder are 
cumulative and are in addition to and nat in substitution for any other rights or .remedies provided by 
Applicable Law. 

9.1 Reliance and Non-Merget· 

ARTICLE 9 
GENERAL 

All covcliants, agreements, representations and warranties of the Borrower made herein 
or in any other Financing Document or in any certificate or other document signed by any of its directors 
or officers and delivered by or on behalf of the Borrower that are material, shall be deemed to have been 
relied upon by IBM notwithstanding any investigation heretofore or hereafter made by lBM and shall 
survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement ar\d the other Financing Documents until the 
Borrower shall have satisfied and perfom1ed all of its obligations hereunder. 

9.2 Reliance by IBM 

IBM shall be entitled to rely upon any schedule, certificate, statement, report, notice or 
other document or written communication (includilJg any Mecopy, telex or other means of electronic 
communication) believed by it to be genuine and conect, and upon the advice and statements of agents, 
legal counsel, accountants, appraisers, consultants and other experts selected by it 

9,3 Amendment and Waiver 

Any amc11dment, waiver or variation of this Agreement will not be binding on the parties 
unless agreed in writing, Any failure to exercise or any delay in exercising a right or remedy at law or in 
equity shall not constitute a waiver of that 1ight or remedy nor a waiver of any other rights or remedies in 
the Agreement or any other Financing Document at any time. IBM shall be at liberty to impose a 
reasonable fee for any amendment, waiver, variation or extension of or in connection with this Agreement 
or any other Financing Document. 

9.4 No Set-Oifby the Borrower 

The amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder shall not be subject to any deduction, 
withholding, set-off or counterclaim by the Borrower for any reason whatsoever. 
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9.5 Notices 

Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be 
in writing and shall be given by prepaid mall, by telecopier or other means of electronic communication 
or by hand-delivery as hereinafter provided. Any such notice; if mailed by prepaid mail at any time other 
than during or within th1'ee Business Days prior to a general discontinuance of postal service due to strike, 
lockout or otheJWise, shall be deemed to have been received on the fourth Business Day after the 
post-marked date thereof, or if sent by telecopicr or other means of electronic communication, shall be 
deemed to have been received on the Business Day following the sending, or if delivered by hand shall be 
deemed to have been received at the time it is delivered to the applicable address noted below either to the 
individual designated below or to a senior employee of the addressee at such address with responsibility 
for matters to which the information relates. Notice of change of address shall also be governed by this 
Section. In the event of a general discontinuance of postal service due to strike, lock-out or otherwise, 
notices or other communications .shall be delivered by hand or sent by facsimile or other means of 
electronic communication and shall be deemed to have been received in accordance with this Section. 
Notices and other communications shail be addressed as follows: 

(i) if to the Borrower: 

Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada 
110 Argyle Ave. 
Ottawa, Ontario 
K2P !B4 

Attention: 
Telecopicr number: 

Vice President, Finance 
(613) 230-4376 

(ii) if to IBM: 

9.6 Time 

lJl M Canada Limited 
3600 Steeles Ave. Eas~ F4 
Markham, Ontario 
L3R9Z7 

Attention: 
Telecopier number: 

General Manager, IBM Global Financing 
(905) 316"3031 

Time is of the essence of the Finandng Documents. 

9, 7 Further Assurances 

Whether before or after the happening of an Event of Default, the Borrower shall at its 
own expense do, make, execute or deliver, or cause to be done, made, executed or delivered by other 
Persons, all such further acts, documents and things in connection with the Term Facility and the 

·Financing Documents as IBM may rea.~anably require from tune to time for the purpose of giving effect 
to tl1e Financing Document~ all immediately upon the request of!BM. 

9.8 Assignment 

9.8.1 The Borrower may not assign or transfer this Agreement or any Financing Document 
without JBM1s prior written consent; 
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9,8,2 IBM may assign or otherwise transfer, in whole or in part, this Agreement or any Financing 
Document without having to notify the Borrower and without the CeMent of the Borrower, including 
the right to receive payments, provided that any such assignment or transfer shall be on the same terms 
and conditions as contained in this Agreement including, without limitation, those relating to the 
Applicable Margin, Interest Rate and !he Repayments; 

9.8.3 If IBM assigns or otherwise transfers, in whole or in part, this Agreement or any Financing 
boc.umen~ the Borrower sl1al! not be required to pay any amounts to an assignee or any other Person 
in excess of amounts that it would have been required to pay had no such assigmnent been made; and 

9.8.4 · If IBM does so assign the right to receive payment, the Borrower agrees to m!lke 
Repaymen~' to the assignee directly on receiving written instruction from IBM to do so. 

9.9 Announcements and Publicity 

Neither party will make any public announcement or disclosure relating to this 
Agreement or any subject matter relating thereto, nor use the trade marks or copyright materials of the 
other, without tbe prior'wril!en approval of the other party, except as required by Jaw or by any legal or 
regulatory authority, in whi<>h case it shall notify the other party of the anrouncement as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. 

9.10 Accounting 

Neither IBM nor any of its affiliated or related ent1ttes make any representation 
whatsoever regarding ll1e Borrower's accounting treatment for the Term Facilily, the Advances or the 
Repayments. IBM Corporation accounts .for the Advances under the Tenn Facility as loans to the 
Borrower under US GAAP for US reporting purposes, Sununary details will be made available to the 
Borrower upon request to JBM. 

9.11 Indemnity 

The Borrower shall indemnify IBM for all losses (including lost profits), costs, expenses, 
damages and liabilities (including, without limitation, any Joss, cost, expense, damage or liability 
sustained by IBM in cotmection with tl1e liquidation Ot' re-employment in whole or in part of fnnds 
borrowed or acquired by it to make any Advance), which IBM may sustain or incur: (i) if the Bon·owcr 
fails to give any notice required to be given by it hereunder, in the manner a11d at the time speeil1ed 
herein, or (ii) as a consequence of any other default by the Borrower to repay any Obligations when 
required by the terms of this Agreement (which, for greater cetiainty, shalt not include losses caused by 
the negligent or wilful acts or omissions of IBM). A ccrtl:ficate of IBM seiling forth the amounl< 
necessary to indemnify IBM in respect of such losses, costs, expenses, damages or liabilities shall be 
primajacie evidence of the amounts owing under this section 9.11, 

9.12 Limitation of Liability 

IBM shall not have any liability with respect to any special, indirect or con;'equential 
damages suffered by the Borrower in connection with this Agreement, any Financing Document, any 
delay, omission or enor in the electronic transmission or receipt of any docume.nt~ or any claims in any 
manner related tbereto. Nor shall IBM have any liabili\Y to the Borrower or any other Person for any 
action t!lken or omitted to be taken by it hereunder, except for its negligent or wilful acts or omissions, 
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9.13 Survival of the Outstanding Advances 

Subject to Sections 8.1 and 8.2, the Borrower's right to repay the outstanding 
Advances plus any accrued interest in accordance with the repayment schedules agreed upon 
pursuant to Section 25.1, as such repayment schedules may be amended or extended from time 
to time pursuant to Section 2.5.2, oball survive the tennination of the Services Agreement, for 
any reason, by the Borrower. 

9.14 Counterparts and Electronic Transmission 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be 
deemed to be an original and all of which taken together will be deemed to constitute one and the same 
instrument. Delivery of an executed signature page to this Agreement by any party by electronic 
transmission will be as effective as delivery of a manually executed copy of this Agreement by such 
party. 

9.1.5 Entire Agreement 

Tiw Financing Documents constitute the entire agreement between the parties pertaining 
to the subject matter of the Financing Documents and supersede and.replace any prior understandings 0!' 

arrange1nents pertaining to the Tenn Facility. There are 1~0 warranties~ conditions, or representations 
(including any that may be implied by statute) and lbcte are no agreements in connection wifu such 
subject matter except as specifically set forth or referred to in the Financing Documents. No reliance is 
placed on any warranty1 representation, opinion, advice or assertion of fact made either prior to, 
contemporaneous with, or aflm entering into the Financing Documents, or any amendment or supplement 
thereto, by any party to the Financing Documents or its directors, officers, employees or agents, to any 
other party to the Financing Documents or its directors, officers, employees or agents, except to the extent 
that the same has been reduced to writing and included as a tenn of the Financing Documents, and nor1e 
o1"lhe patties to the Financing Documents has been induced to enter into the Financing Documents or any 
amendment or supplement by reason of any such warranty, representatlon, opinion, advice or assertion of 
fact. Accordingly, there shall be no liability, citl1et' in tmt or in contract, assessed in relation to any such 
warranty, representation, opinion, advice or assertion of fact, except to the extent contemplated above. 

[Sigu:>tnres Dll Next Page] 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed as of the date first wdtte11 
above. 

VICTORJAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA 

By: 

By: 

IDM CANAJ>ALIMITED 

By; 



SCB.EDULE 1.1.7 

BORROWING NOTICE 

TO: IBM CANADA LlMI'mD ("IBM") 

RE: Term Facility provided to Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada (the "Borrower") 

Reference is made to a loan agreement (the "Loan Agreement") dated as of December 
31, 2008 between the Borrower and IBM. This Borrowing Notice incotporates the terms of the Loan 
Agreement. All terms used in this Borrowing Notice which are defined in the Loan Agreement have the 
meanings attributed thereto in the Loan Agreement. 

The Borrower hereby requests an Advance as follows: 

L Amount of Advance under the Term Facility; • 
2. Proposed Drawdown Date: • 

3. Details ofiBM invoices (the "Invoices") to be paid with the Advance: • 
The Borrower certilies that the services itemized and described in the Invoices have been 

rendered and accepted. In the event the services set out in tl1e Invoices are not to fhe Borrower's 
satisfaction or expectation, this shaU in no way whatsoever affect the Borrower's obligations (including 
without limitation, the Borrower's obligation to make the Repayments) under the Loan Agreement or the 
Terrn Facility. 

Accordingly, the Borrower hereby irrevocably requests and directs IBM to use the 
Advance to pay the Invoices and this Borrowing Notice shall be IBM's good and sufficient authority to 
do so. 

All of the representations and warranties of the Borrower in Section 5.1 of the Loan 
Agreement are true and correct on tl1e date hereof as if made on and as of the date of hereof and will 
remain true and correct from the dute hereofto the Draw down Date. 

No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing nor will any Default or 
Event afDefault occur after giving effect to the aforementioned Advancr;, 

DATED this • day of•, 200•. 

VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 
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This RESTRUCTURINCJ AGREEMENT ("Restructurlng Agreemenf'), dated ns March 25, 
20\3, is entered into by and betweeu IBM Global Financing, n division of IBM Canada Umited, with a 
place of business at 3600 Steeles Avenue East, Mnrkhnm, Onta'rio ("D3M Canada") and Victorian Order 
of Nurses for Canada with il place o business at ll 0 Argyle Avenue, Ot1awa, Ontario K2P lBI! 
("Client"). IBM C;:mada and Client arc collectively referred to as the "l_",flJti~s" and each is referred to 
individually as il ''Pnrly". 

A. II3M Canada and CHent are party to f.hat certain Loan Agreement, dated a.s of December 31, 2008 
(as amended, modified or otherwise supplemented, the "Loan Agreement"); 

B. Client hns advised IBM Canada that Client acknowledges that it is in default under the Loan 
Agreement and the Parties desire to enter into this Restructuring Agreement to restructure certain of 
.Client's outstandtng obllgations to lBM Canada under the Loan Agreement on the terms and conditions 
set forth herein. 

8-.GREEMENT 

In consideration of lhe mutual agreements herein set forth, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be 
legally bonnd hereby, hereby agree as follows: 

All capitalized terms not otherwise cleft ned herein shaH have the meaning ascribed thereto in the 
Loan Agreement. 

"Oh!igations" means Client's outstanding obligations under this Restructuring Agreement and the Loan 
Agreement. 

2 ... ~.!Ig:ndmenU.o.Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

2.1 f-cknowledgement ofAmo!ints Due. The Parties agree that the amount due under the Loan 
Agt·eement is Eight Million Three Hundred Fifty Seven Thousand Thirty Five Dollars and Fity­
Two Cents ($8,357,035.52) (''Totnl Outstandings"). Customer hereby agrees to pay the Total 
Outstandings in accordance with the terms of this Restructuring Agreement as set forth in Anncl:f. 
A attaclwd hereto. 

2.2 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the scheduled repayment set f01ih in Annex A only 
goes to Apt·il 1, 2014, and the remainder of the repayment term is to be determined by mHt\ial 
agreement ofthe parties by or prior to September 30,2013. 

2.3 Failure of the Parties to determine the repayment term by or prior to September 30, 2013, 
shall result iu a default by the Client under this Eestructuring Agreement and the Lease 
Agreement, and fB!v1 C:anada shat! h;n·c the right to demand the re1nainder of the unpaid Total 
Ourstandings to he due <md payable by Client in full. 



2.4 financial Reporting, Client shall provide lBM Canada with Financial Stateme11ts no later 
than forty-five ( 45) days after each quarter end, together with a comparison to the Financial 
Statements for the same periods in the prior year, and aged Account Payable and Account 
Receivable listings, all having been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Acc<Jlmt Receivable 
listing is to be a detailed listing for all amounts $50,000 and over and a single cumulative total for 
amounts under $50,000 

3 .. B,caffumation and Grant ofSecurlJ:¥;j',Jf\'mation ofOblig~Jion~, 

3. l Reafftrmation and Grant of S_~g_mjJy, Client hereby ratifies and affirms its grant of any and 
all security interests in the Loan Agreement, to secure the drte and punctual payment of aH of the 
Obligations at maturity, whether by acceleration or otherwise, at1d at all times thereafter, as such 
Obligations are amended and modified by the terms of this Restructuring Agreement. 

3.2 Affirmation of Obligations, Client hereby affirms and admits tho indebtedness evidenced by 
the Loan Agreemctlt, as modified by this Restructuring Agreement. Client acknowledges that it 
has no claims, offsets _or defenses with respect to the payinents of sums due under the Loan 
Agreement, as amended by this Restructuring Agreement. Client ratifres and confirms each and 
all of the terms, conditions and covenants of the Loan Agreement as amended Ol' modified by this 
Restruduring Agreement and those provisions not so amended or· modified ar1d, except as 
spcciflc.ally amended or modified hereby, the Loan Agreement rc.mains unmodifled and in full 
force and effect. 

4. Miscellaneous. 

4.1 Rej_;oase. In exchange lot· the rights and beneftts arising under this Restructnring Agreement, 
Client, on behalf of itself and each of its present and former directors, officers, employees, agents, 
representatives, advisot"s, and afftliates, releases and discharges IBM Canada and each of its 
present and former stockholders, directors, officers) employeesj agents, representatives, advisors, 
and affiliates from any and all claims, causes of action, liabilities, and obligations, arising under 
the Loan Agreement. 

4.2 f~X:th~L!.\.s§1!£~J1£'&: From and after· the date hereof, without further considemtion, the Parties 
will cooperate with each other and will execute and deliver snch documents and instruments and 
do such other commercially reasonable acts and things as may be reasonably necessary for the 
purposes of carrying out the intent of this Restrncturing Agreement. 

4.3 Successors and Assigns, This Restructuring Agreement will be binding upon the Parties and 
their respective successors and assigns and will inure to tho benefit of the Parties and their 
respectlve successors and assigns, 

4.4 Amendment. This Restructuring Agreement may not be amended except by a written 
instrument signed by the Parties. 

4.5 Entire Agreement. This Restructuring Agreement contains the entire agreement among the 
Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior· agreements 
among the Parties with respect to those matters, In the event of any conflict between the terms of 
the Loan Agreement and th[s Restructuring Agreement, the tetms of this Restructuring 
Agreement shall gr)Vem. 
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4.6 Governing,Law/Attornrrtenj. This Restructuring Agreement, and the rights and liabilities of 
the Parties hereunder, shall be governed by arrd construed in accordance with the laws of the 
Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein. The Parties hereto irrevocably 
submit and attorn to the non·exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario for all 
matters arising out of or in connection with this Restructuring Agreefnent. 

4.7 Counterparts. This Restructuring Agreement may be exectrted in any number of counterparts, 
each of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute one 
agreement. Any signature pages transmitted by telecopier or electronically will have the same 
legal effect as an original executed signature page, 

4.8 Ca[,ltionft. Captions contained or cited herein are inse•·ted only as a matter of convenience and 
in no way define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this Restructuring Agreement or the intent 
of any provision hereof. 

4.9 Severability_, Every provision of this Restructuring Agreement is intended to be severable, If 
any· term or provision hereof is illegal or invalid for any reason whittsoever, such illegality or 
invalidity shall not affect tfle validity of the remainder of the terms or provisions of this 
Restructurlng Agreement. 

5.0 Eqglish LanguagQ, 'l'he part1es hereby confirm their express wish that this agreement and all 
documents related thereto be drawn up in English. Les Pmtles reconnaissent leur volonle 
expresse que la prescnte convention de location afnsi que tous les documentq qui s)y attachment 
so lent rCdig6s en langue anglaise, 

IN WfTNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Restructuring Agreement to be duly 
executed as of tfle date first above written, 

Il3M GLOBAL FINANCING, a division of 
IBM CANADA LLl\1ITED 
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5,569.69 
5,569.69 
5,569.69 
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5,569.69 
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27,848.86 
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AC{»tt~:i.i(i.Ni'nr ciil.~tc·Ai·i·WMis 
RESTRUCTURING AGREEMENT 

This RESTRUCTUR!NC AGREEMENT ("Restructuring Agreement"), dated as of March 25 
20 J 3, is entered into by and between TBM Global financing, a division of IBM Canada Limited, with a 
place of bu:>iness at 3600 Steeles Avenue East, !'vfarkhr1rn, Ontario ("IBM Canada") and Victorian Order 
of Nurses for Canada with a place o business al 110 Argyle Avenue, Ottawa, Ontario K2P 184 
("Cl ienl"). !Bfvf Canada and Client are eotlectively referTed to as the "Parties" and each is referred to 
ind ividua!Jy as a "Party". 

A. fBM Canada and Client src party to that certain Exttmdcd Payment Solution Agreement, dated as 
oCNovcmbcr 30, 2011 (as amended, modified or otherwise supplemented, the "EPS Agreement"); 

B. Client has advised IBM Canada that Client acknowledges that it is in default under the EPS 
Agreement to JBM Canada and the Parties desire lo enter into this Restructuring Agreement tu restructure 
certain of Client's outstanding obligations to IBM Canada under the EPS Agreement on the terms and 
conditlons set forth herein. 

In consideration of the mutual agreements herein set forth, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, lhe Parties, intending to be 
legally bound hereby, hereby agrcu as follows: 

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein sh:1ll have the meaning ascribed thereto in the 
EPS Agreement. 

''Obligations., means Clicnt'.c; outstanding obligi1lions under this Restructuring Agreeme;nt and the EPS 
Agreement. 

2. ~'\r:ncnd_Q1_l1!J.L\.Q Er.S.Arx«c.m~:Ji. The EPS Agreement is hereby amended a:> follows: 

2.l A_gJ<JlO)VIedgQl1Jent of Amoullts_J)Jl~. The ['artie~ agree that the <unounl clue under the EPS 
Agreement is Four Miflion Five Hundred fifty Nine Thousand Seven Iluncired Forty Five DoHsrs 
and Ninety Eight Cent; ($4,559,745.9S) ("Total Outstandinf,s"). Customer hereby agrees to pay 
the Total Outstandings in accordance with the terms c,f this R(:structuring Agreement as set forth 
in Ai1!1QX A att~chec! hereto. 

2.2 The Parties acknowledge at:d Hgrce that the scheduled repayment set forth in Annex A only 
goes to April [, 20\4, and tlw rem11 indcr of tlie t cpaymenl term i:; to be determined by mutwd 
agreement of the. parties by Df prior to September :10, '20 n. 

2.3 raifurc of the Parties to detcrmin~;; the repayment term by or prior to Scpternbet· 30, 2013, 
shall result in a dci'nult by the Client under thi.~; Restructuring Agreement and the Lease 
Agreement. and lBM CamHia shall have the right to do111and the remainder of the unpaid Total 
Outstandings to he clue and payable by Client in full. 



2.4 Financial. Reporting. Client shall provide !BM Canada with Financial Statements no later than 
forty-five ( 45) days after each quarter end, together with a compadso11 to the Financial 
Statements for the same periods in the prior year, including aged Account Payable and Account 
Receivable listings, all having been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Account Rece.ivable 
list.ing is to be a detailed listing for all amounts $50,000 and over and a single cumulative total for 
amounts under $50,000. 

3. _R,_affirmatiOtL'!,QQ.QJ.i!.t]J..Q,\'Jlgcuritv; Affirmation ofObligations, 

3.1 Reaffirmation and Grant of Security. Client hereby ratifies and affirms its grant of any and 
all security interests in the BPS Agreement, to secure the due and punctual payment of all of the 
Obligations at maturity, whether by acceletation or otherwise, and at all times thereafter, as such 
Obligations are amended and modified by tho terms of this Restwcturing Agreement. 

3.2 Affirmation of Obligations. Client hereby affirms and admits tho indebtedness evidenced by 
the BPS Agreement, as modified by this Restructuring Agreement Client acknowledges that it 
has no claims, offsets or defenses with respect l:o the payments of sums due under the EPS 
Agreement, as amended by this Restructuring Agreement. Client ratifies and confirms each and 
all of tl1e terms, conditions and covenants of the EPS Agreemct1t as amended or modified by this 
Restructuring Agreement and those provisions not so amended or modified and, except as 
specifically amended or modified hereby, the EPS Agreement remains unmodified and in ti1ll 
force and effect 

4.1 R<:Jease. ltr exchange for the rights and benefits m·ising under this Restructuring Agreement, 
Client, on behalf of itself and each of its present and former directors, officers, employees, agents, 
representatives> advisors, and affiliates, releases and discharges IBM Canada and each of its 
present and fanner stockholders, directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, advisors, 
and affiliates from any and all claims, catrses of action, liabilities, and obligations, arising under 
the EPS Agreement 

4.2 .t:_urther Assurances. From and atkr the dale hereof, without further consideration, the Parties 
will cooperate with each other and will execute and deliver such documents and instmments and 
do such other commercially reasonable acts and things as may be reasonably necessary for the 
purposes of carrying out the intent ofthis Restructuring Agreement. 

4.3 Successors and Assigns. This Restructuring Agreement will be binding upon the Parties and 
their respective successors and assigns and will inure to the benefit of the Parties and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

4.4 fcnwndment This Restructuring Agreement may not be amended except by a written 
instrument signed by the Parties. 

4.5 Entir<LMt~emcnt. Thls Restructuring Agreement contains the entire agreement among the 
Parties hereto with respect to the subject malter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements 
among the Parties with respeello those mallets. In lite event of any conflict between tlte tct'llls of 
the EPS Agreement and this Restructuring Agreement, the terms of this Restructuring Agreement 
shall govern, 
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4.6 _Goveming Law/ Attornment This Restructuring Agreement, and the rights and liabilities of 
the Parties llereunder, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of tile 
l'!'Ovince of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein. The Parties hereto irrevocably 
submit and attorn to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ont<~rio for all 
matters arising out of or in connection with this Restructuring Agt·cement. 

't 7 £:oLmterpart0, This Restructuring Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute one 
agreement Any signature pages transmitted by telecopier or electronically will have the same 
logal effect as an original ext.:wuted signature page, 

4.8 Captions. Captions contained or cited herein are inse1ted only as a matter of convenience and 
in no way define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this Restnwturing Agreement or the intent 
of any provlslon hereof. 

4.9 Severability, Every provision of this Restructuring Agreement ls intended to be severehle. If 
any term or provision hereof is illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or 
invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the terms or provisions of thls 
Restruct11l'ing Agreement. 

5,0 English LangL~. The parties hereby confirm their express wish that this agreement and all 
documents related thereto be drawn up in English. Les Parties reconnaissent leur volont6 
expresse q\le la presente convention de location ainsi que taus les documents qui s'y attachment 
soient rediges en langue at>glaise. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Patties h~tve caused this Restructuring Agreement to be duly 
execute,d as of the date first above written. 

i'BM GLOBAL FL"'ANCING, a division of 
lEM CANADA LIMITED 

Title:',~~~ 
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ANNEXA 

. PAYMENT~MONTI.fi"Y"E"A~R~~~-.-AMOuNT'"-"·-·. ---·-· ~ 

2013 
February 

March 
April 
May 
June 
July 
August 
September 
October 
November 
December 
2014 

January 
Fob 
March 
The 
Repayment 
of this 
amount 
needs to 
be 
resolved 
prior to 
September 
30 2013 

4 

--. c::·-. -··-~·'""''""'"'""''_, ________ , 

3,038.92 
3,038,92 

3,038.92 

3,038.92 

3,038.92 
3,038.92 

15,194.61 

15,194.61 

15,194.61 

30,389.22 

30,389.22 
30,389.22 

4,488,420.40 
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HESTRUCTURING AGREJ<:MENT 

This RESTRUCTURING AGRJ::;EMENT ("Restructuring Agrcewent"), dat.ed as of March 25 2013, is 
entered into hy and between iBM Global Financing, a division of IBM Canada Limited, with a place of business 
at 3600 Steeles Avenue Fast, Markham, Ontario ("fBM ~anad9c") and Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada 
with a place of business al 110 i\rgylc Avenue, Ottawa, Ontario K2P J 84 ("Client"). lBM Canada and Client 
arc collectively referred to as the "£a]1ies'' ::tnd each is referred to individually as a "_Farly". 

A. IBM Canada and Client are party to that certain Standing Order for Leased or Financed Items dated as 
ofNovember 2, 2010 and the Standing Order Attachment No. Ol15412SA, pursuant to which lBlvt Canada has 
provided leasing to Client under the following Supplcme.nt Numhers: 6 J:l !5 R-0 1, 613158-02, 613158-
03,613158-04, and 613158-05 (together, the Standing Order Attachment and the listed Supplement::, as 
amended, modified or otherwise supplemented, arc referred to herein as the "Lease Agreement"); 

B. Client has advised IBM Canada that Client acknowledges it is in default under the Lease Agreement and 
the Parties desire to enter into this Restructuring Ag,ree.ment to rcs!mcture certain of Client's outstanding 
oblif',ations to UJ!vl Canada under the Lease Agreement on the krms and conditions set forth herein. 

AGREEMENT 

lrt consideration of the mutual ugrecmcnts herein set forth, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and suffiviency of whivh are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally 
bound hereby, hereby agree as follows: 

Ali capitalized terms not otherwise definr;.d herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Lease 
Agreement. 

"Obligations" means Client's uutst;mding obligations under this Restructuring Agreenient and the Lease 
Agreement. 

2. Ame-ndment to Le<g;e Agr~~ment. The Lease Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

2.1 Acknowl~dgement_Q.[_/\ll1QIJ.[lts I2ue. The Partie~; agree that the amouul clue under the Lease Agreement is 
One Hundred Eigl1ty Nine Thousand Seventy l'ive Dollars and Thirty Four Cents ($1 l\9,075.34) ("Total 
Outstandings"). Client hereby agt'ees to pay the Total Outstandings in accordance with the tcrrns of this 
Restructuring Agreement as set forth in Annex A attached hereto. 

2.2 The Parties acknowledge and ngree thnt the scheduled repayment set f-orth in Annex A only goes to April l, 
2014, and the remainder of tltc repayment term is to be dclcrrnincd by mutual agreement of the parties by or 
prior to .September 30, 20\J. 

2.3 Failut·e of the Parties to cletermine the repayment term by nr prior to September 30, 20 ll, shall result inn 
default by the Client under this Re.sln1cturing Agreement and the Lease Agreement, and IBM Canada shall have 
the right to demand the remainder of the unpaid Total Outstandings to be due and payable by Client in full 
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2.4 Notwithstatlding anything to the contrary in this Restructmc Agreement, any payments forthcoming from 
LBM Canada in connection with PC credits, are to be applied in addition to the PC monthly payments. 

2.5 financial Rep.QJ:!ing, Client shall provide IBM Canada with Financial Statements no later than forty-five 
(45) days after each each quarter end, together with a comparison to the Financial Statements for the same 
periods in the prior year, including aged Account Payable and Account Receivable listings, all having been 
prepared in accordance with GAAP. Account Receivable listing is to be a detailed listing for all arnour1ts 
:\;50,000 and over and a single cumulative total for amounts under $50,000. 

3. Reaffirmation and Qwnt of Security; Affinnatio11 of ObliMtions. 

3.1 Reaffirm_g(ion and Grant of Security. Client hereby ratifies and affirms its grant of any and all 
security interests in the Lease Agreel110!\t, to secure the due and punctual payment of all of the 
Obligations at maturity, whether by acceleration or otherwise, and at all times thereafter, as such 
Obligations are amended and modified by the terms of this Restructuring Agreement. 

3.2 Atfrrmation of Ob(igatiolls. Client hereby affirms and admits the indebtedness evidenced by the 
Lease Agreement, as modified by tbis Restructuring Agreement Client aclmowledges that it has 110 
claims, offsets or defenses with respect to the payments of sums due under the Lease Agreement, as 
amended by this Restructuring Agreement. Client ratifies and confirms eacll and all of the terms, 
conditions and covenants of the Lease Agreement as amended or modified by this Restructuring 
Agt·eernent and those ptDvisions not so amended or modified and, except as specifically amended or 
modified hereby, the Lease Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect. 

4.1 Release. Jn exchange for the rights and benefits arising ullder this Restructuring Agreement, Client, 
on behalf of itself and each of its present and former directors, officers, employees, agents, 
representatives, advisors, and affiliates, releases and discharges IBM Canada and each of its present and 
formel' stockholders, directors, officers 1 employees, agents> tepresentatives, advisors, and affiliates from 
any and al1 claims, causes of action, liabllities, and obligations, arising under the Lease Agreement. 

4.2 Furthet' Assurances. From and after tho date hereot; without further consideration, the Parties will 
cooperate with each other and will execute and deliver such documents and instruments and do such 
other commercially reasonable acts and things as may be reasonably necessruy for the purposes of 
carrying out the intent of this Restructur·ing Agroel\lent. 

4.3 ,Stweessors and Assiglls· This Restructuring Agreement will be binding upon the Pal'ties and their 
respective successors and assigns and wlll inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective 
successors atld assigns, 

4.4 Amendment, This Restructuring Agreement may not be amended except by a written instrument 
signed by the Parties. 

4.5 Entirgj;greement. This Rcstructming Agreement contains the entire agreement among the Parties 
hereto with respect to the subject matter l1ereof, and supet·sedcs all prior agreements among the Parties 
with respect to those matters, [n the event of any conflict between the terms of the Lease Agreement 
and this Restructuring AgreeJ11ent, the terms of this Restructuring Agreement shall govern. 
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4.6 Governing Law/ Attornment. This Restruct1JJ'it1g Agreement, and the rights and liabilities of lhe 
Parties hereunder, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of 
Ontario and tl1e laws of Canada applicable therein. The Parties hereto irrevocably submit and attorn to 
the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Otrtarlo for all matters arising out of or in 
connection with this Restructuring Agreement. 

4.7 Counterparts. This Restructuring Agreement may be executed in any number of cmmterparts, each 
of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute one agt·eement. Any 
signature pages transmitted by tclecopier or electronically will have the same legal effect as an original 
executed signature. page. 

4.8 Captions, Captions contained or cited herein ate inserted only as a matter of convenience and in no 
way defme, limit, extend or describe the scope of this RestructLtrittg Agreement or the intent of any 
pt·ovision hereof. 

4.9 Severability. Every provision of this Restructuring Agreement is intended to be severable. If any 
term or provision hereof is illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall 
not affect the validity of the remainder of tbe terms or provisions of this Restructuring Agreement. 

5.0 f:_n'glisb __ J:,,'ll)gtHt.g~. Tire parties hereby confirm their express wish that this agreement and all 
documents related thereto be drawn up in English. Les Parties reconnaissent leur volonte expresse que 
Ia prc\scnte convention de location ainsi que taus les documents qui s'y attachment soient rediges en 
langue ang!aise. 

IN WffNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Restructuring Agreement to be duly executed as 
of the date first above written. 

IBM GLOBAL FlliANCING, a division of 
IBM CANADA LIMITED 

Title:~~~· 
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ANNEXA 

fPAYMENT MO:[IH /YEAR ''AMOUNT •~-'---· ------' 
. ' .. ~--·-···-

--~-...,__..._..., . ..:... .. .n~ 

2013 
February 
Morch 
April 126.01 
May 126,01 
June 126.01 
July 126.01 
August 126.01 
September 126,01 
October 630,06 

! 

November 630.06 
December 630.06 
2014 
January 1260.13 
Feb 1260.13 
March 1260,13 
The 186,117.74 
Repayment 
of this 
amount 
needs to 
be 
resolved 
prior to 
September 
30 2013 

CO!-l394652v2 4 



Exhibit F 



(12.--

AGREEMENT (Rev 05/01) 

-----··-- ·-- --·-··-
SERVICE AGREEMENT NUMBER 

SCOTIABANK 
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 

MONEY lvl.ANAGEMENT SERVICES 
MIRROR NETTING SERVICE AGREEMENT 

This Mirror Netting Servlce Agreement is made between: 

CUSTOMERS: 
name 

Victorian Order ofNur~es for Canada-Ontario Branch Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada-National Office 

Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Ontario Branch Cent1 Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada-Ontario Branch South' 
Victorian Order of Nurses for Canacla-Ornario Branch Centra Victorian Order of 'Nurses for Manitoba 1nc. 
Victorian Order of Nurses Eastern Lake-Ontario Branch V(ctorinn Order of Nurses for Canada Nova Scotia Branch In 

Victoria.n Order of Nurses for Canada- Western Region Victmian Order ofNurses for Canada- Sudbury 

n..:n - E I . . r.::::- ~~--... J ... "I'" IS X ttbM ............................... fmtNitMJ to'"~ 

l}f1KI<ivit o~.:c).Q.:: B.Nr.Jcr ... 'I??-?.J.£.1.~ .. 
svrom before me, this ..... ... .7:7 ............................ . 
oov , . :?.:.~ .. c~ ............. . 

~c_~-

(each a "Customer") nnd 

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA (the "Bank") 

011av,;a Main Branch 
BRANCH OF POOL ACCOUNI 

In consideration of the premises and mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

1. DESIGNATED ACCOUNTS; 

The Customers and the Bank agree that those accounts denominated in CAD 1 dollars, which the 
Customer31ave with the Bank and which are set out on Schedule A hereto (as supplemented and amended from 
time to time), shall for the purposes of this Agreement be "Designated Accounts" as of the "Effective Date". 

The term "Effective Date" means the date this Agreement becomes effective or, for accounts added to this 
Agreemen1by any addendum or by any amendment to Schedule "A" hereto, the date any such addendum or 
amendment becomes effective. 

1 Choose Canadian or US· use a separate agreement !or each currency. 



AGREEMENT IR<' 05/0l) 

2, POOL ACCOUNT: 

For purposes of this Agreement the Bank shall designate an account held in the name of Victorian Order of 
Nurses for Canada. Ontario Branch _2 (the "PrJmary.Customer") as a Pool Account (the ''Pool 

Account"). No Customer, including the Primary Customer, shall be permitted to draw cheques, bills of 
exchange, promiSsory notes, or other instruments or orders for payment of money on the Pool Account. 

3. PRIMARY DESIGNATED ACCOUNT: 

TI1e Primary Customer shall specify one of the Designated Accounts as the Prin1ary Designated Account in 
Schedule "A" hereto. to which the Bank shall also make credit entries recording any amounts due to the Primary 
Customer by the Bank hereunder and make debit entries recording any amounts due to the Bank by the PrJmary 
Ctistomer hereunder, other than net credit or debit balances in the Pool Account. 

4. TRANSFER OF EXISTING DEBIT AND CREDIT BALANCES: 

E<Jch customer hereby transfers to the Pool Accoum all credit or debit balances existing in il~ Designated 
Account(s) as of the Effective Date. The Primary Customer hereby assumes liability for all debit balances in 
the Designated Accounts as of the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoJng, entries showing all existing 
credit and debit !Jalances shall continue to be recorded in the Designated Accounts for record purposes. 

5. DEBIT TRANSACTIONS: 

On or after the Effective Date all cheques, bills of exchange, promissory notes, or other instrument> or orders 
for payment of money, drawn on any Designated Account. and all debit entries made to any Designated Account, 
other than entries made for record purposes pursuant to paragraph 7, shall be debited to the Pool Account and 
the Primary Customer expressly consents to the debiting of the Pool Account as herein provided; however, the 
foregoing shall not constitute an obligation on the part of the Bank to honour any cheques, bills of exchange, 
promissory notes, or other Instruments or orders for payment of money which may be drawn on any Designated 
Account or to make any debit entries to any Designated Account. 

6. CREDIT TRANSACTIONS: 

On or after the Effective Date each deposit or transfer of money authorized to be made to a Designated Account 
shall be credited to the Pool Account. 

7. PURPOSE OF DESIGNATED ACCOUNTS: 

The Bank shall record In each Customer's Designated Account all deblt and credit entries whlch that Customer 
causes to be made to the Pool Account. Each Designated account shall exist tbr the sole purpose of recording 
the particulors of all debit and credit entries to the Pool Account which arise out of transactions by or dealings 
With each Customer. AMOUNTS WHICH APPEAR AS CREDIT ENTRIES ON THE ACCOUNT STATEMENT ISSUED 
1D A CUSTOMER FOR SUCH CUSTOMER'S DESIGNATED ACCOUNT ARE ACKNOWLEDGED TO BE A 
STATEMENT OF FUNDS WHICH THE CUSTOMER HAS CAUSED TO BE DEPOSITED TO THE POOL ACCOUNT. 
ANY AMOUNT WHICH APPEARS AS A DEBIT ENTRY ON SUCH ACCOUNT STATEMENT IS ACKNOWLEDGED 
TO BE A STATEMENT OF FUNDS WHICH THE CUSTOMER HAS CAUSED TO BE WITHDRAWN FROM THE POOL 
ACCOUNT. SUCH CREDIT AND DEBIT ENTRIES APPEAR ON THE ACCOUNT STATEMENT SOLELY FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF ASSISTING SUCH CUSTOMER WITH ITS RECORD-KEEPING. 

z Indicate which of the Customers above iS designated as the Primary Customer 
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8. NO LEGAL RELATIONSHIP CREAIED BY DESIGNATED ACCOUNTS 

(a) Notwithstandingmy other provision of this Agreement or of any other agreement between any __ 
Customeend the Bank, the encoding of any cheque or other document with an account number of any Designated 
Account, the preparation or use of statements of account or other documents in respect of any Design<Jted 
Account, the recording of any debit or credit entries In any [)esigna\ed Account whether recorded prior to or · 
after the recording of the correlating debit or credit entries in the Pool Account, and any other statement, 
practice or evidenc40 the contrary, no Designated A=unt, and no debit or credit entries now or hereafter 
recorded in any Designated Account, $hall evidence or constitute: 

i) any present or future debt, liability or obligation of the Bank to any Customer or of any 
Customerto the Bank, as the case may be, except for debts or liabilities of the Bank to the Primary 
Customer or of the Primary Customer to the Bank, as the case may be, under the Pool Account; 

ii) any trust relationship between the Bank and any Customer; or 

iii) any waiver of any provision of this Agreement. 

(b) No Customer, other than the Primary Customer, shall have any right to receive from the Bank any 
present or future credit balances in the Pool Account nor shalt be liable for any present or future debit balances 
In the Pool Account. 

(c) Each Customer<~cknowledges that for purposes of this Agreement it shall not be entitled to any 
amount which now or hereafter appears as a credit balance on the account statement or in the Bank's records 
for the app\icable Designated Account nor is any Customer liable for any amount whim now or hereafter appears 
as adebit balance on the account statement or in the Bank's records for any Designated Account. No honour 
by the Bank of any cheques, bills of exchange, promissory notes, or other'1nstruments or orders for the payment 
of money, now or hereafter drawn on any Designated Account EJnd no debit entries now or hereafter made to 
any Designated Account and no acceptance by the Bank of a deposit or transfer of money to a Designated 
Accountshall evidence, or constitute an acknowledgement by the Bank of any right of any Customer to receive 
any credit balance now or hereafter in any Designated Account except for the right of the Primary Customer to 
recelvecredlt balances now or hereafter in \he Pool Account and the liability of the Primary Customer for debit 
balances now or hereafter in the Pool Account. 

i 

(d) No Customer shall be entitled to make any claim against the Bank in respect of any Designated 
Account or the Pool Account or otherwise contrary to this Agreement. 

9. CREDIT LIMITS: 

(a) The Bark may refuse to t-.:Jnoor any c.JraiMng I'Jlich in the opinioo of th3 Bank 'MlUid result in: 

I) a netdebil balance in the Pool Account after the transfer of available funds provided for in 
paragraph 10, if applicable: or 

ii) the net debit balance In the applicable Designated Account exceeding the control limit set out 
In Schedule "A'' t1ereto for that Designated Account. 

(b) Notwithstanding sub,paragraph 19(a), the Bank may from time to time in its sole discretion increase 
or decrease any control limit for a Designated Account set out in Schedule "A" hereto without the consent of an) 
Customerby giving notice of such increase or decrease to the Customer in whose name such Designated Accour 
is maintained. Any such Increase or decrease shall take effect immediately following receipt of such notice by 
the Customer in whose name such Designated Account ill maintained. 

Page 3 
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10. DEBIT BALANCES: 

If at any time the Pool AccoUllt reflects a net debit balance, the applicable amount shall constitute a lia!jlity of 
the Primary Customer payable on demand and' 

0 the Primary Customer shall pay the Bank interest thereon at the interest rate and on the terms established 
by the Bank for overdrafts ill the name of the Primary Customer. 

~ the Bank will transfer from tbe Investment Account, if any, and/or adva11ce through the Loan Account, 
if ~ny, under the Primary Customer's credit facilities with the Bank, if any. (which account(s) may be 
set out on Schedule A hereto) as the Bank may see fit. such funds as may be available to place the Pool 
Account in the mlnlmum balance position as set out on Schedule A hereto. The Bank will make such 
transfers in transfer multiples as may be set out on Schedule A hereto and the Bank is hereby authorized 
t.o m~;~ke such entries in the said accounts as may be required to effect the transfers. The Prlmary 
Customer shall p<Jy the Bank interest on any net debit balance remaining in the Pool Account at the 
interest rate and on the terms established by the Bank for overdrafts in the name of the Primary 
Customer. 

11. CREDIT BALANCES: 

If at any time the Pool AccoWlt reflects a net credit balance.' 

0 

12. 

the Bank shall pay the Primary Customer interest thereon at the interest rate a11d on the terms established 
by the Bank for deposits in the name of the Primary Customer. 

the Bank will apply such amount of the net credit balance !hat exceeds the minimum balance position 
required for the Pool Account (as set out on Schedule A hereto) as a repayment of advances made 
through the Loan Account, if any, and/or as a credit to the Investment Account, if any, (which account(s) 
may be set out on Schedule A hereto) as the Bank may see fit. The Bank will make s11Ch transfers in 
transfer multiples as may be set out on Schedule A hereto and the Bank is hereby authorized to make 
such entries in !he said accounts as may be required to effect the transfers. T\le Bank shall pay the 
Primary Customer interest on any net credit balance remaining in the Pool AccoWlt at the interest rate 
and on the terms established by the Bank for deposits in the name of the Primary Customer. 

POSTPONEMENT: 

The Customers agree that any debts or liablllties between themselves or any of them shall be deferred ant! 
postponed to any debts or liabilities of the Customers to U\e Bank, 

[3, CHARGES: 

Unless otherwise agreed ill writing between the Bank and the Customers, the Primary Customer shall pay the 
Bank charges for this service as setout or computed in accordance with the Money Management Services Notice 
of Rates attached hereto. The charges set out in the Money Management Services Notice of Rates are subject 
to cha11ge by the Bank without Ute consent of the Customers upon 60 days' prior written notice to the Primary 
Customer. · 

3 

4 

Choose one of the following paragraphs. 

Cbnose one of the following paragraphs, For both options. a compensation arrangement muse be in place wilh 
tile Primary Customer. 



AGR£11W'.NT (Rev 05101) 

L4. TERMINATION: 

This Agreement shall continue in effect and be blnding on all parties, their successors and",O!>Signs (provided that 
no party may assign its rights hereunder Without the consent of all other parties) unless terminated by the Bank 
or the Primary Customer upon at least30 days' prior written notice to the other or unless ternlinated by the Bank 
trrunediatelywithout pdor notice upon default in payment.of any present or future indebtedness or liability of any 
Customer or guarantor of any Customer to the Bank, upon service on the Bank of attachment. garnlshrnent or 
other process with respect to any account of any Customer, upon the failure of any Customer to observe or 
perform any term, condition or provision of this Agreement or of any other agreement to which any Customer 
and the Bank are parties, or if any representation or warranty made by any Customer herein or in any document 
or certificate furnished by any Customer 1n connection hereWith proves to be ill correct in any material respect, 
or if any Customer ceases or threaten> to cease to carry on its business. commits an act of bankruptcy. becomes 
insolvent, makes an unauthort:ed assignment or bulk sale of its assets, or proposes a compromise or arrangement 
to its creditors. if any proceeding ts taken with resJleCt to a cotnpromise or arrangement, to have any Customer 
declared bankrupt or wound up, or to have a receiver appointed of any part of the property and assets of any 
Customer or if any encumbrancer takes possession of any part thereof or any adverse change occurs in the 
fmancial or environmental condition of any Customer or any guarantor of Customer indebtedness or liability to 
the Bank; provided however, paragraphs 8b and 8d, all debts vnd Uabllities of the Primary Customer under 
paragraphs 4, lO, 13. the representations, warranties and liabilltles of all Customers under paragraphs 17 and 
18 respectively, and all debts and liablllties of the Bank under paragraph 11, shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement. 

15. CONSOLIDATION OF ACCOUNTS: 

The Bank may at any time without notice to the Primary Customer or any other customer combine or c.onsolid<~te 
all or any of the Pool Account, the Loan Account, if any, and the Investment Account, if any, and the Bank may 
apply all or part of any net credit balance remalning in all or any of such Accounts in or toward payment of such 
par!S of the indebtedness and liability, present or future, of the Primary Customer to the Bank as the Bank Iillly 
see fit irrespective of whether or not the Bank has made any demand for payment or such indebtedness or liability 
is due. 

16. SEVERABILITY: 

This Agreement shall remain enforceable against each of the parties notWithstanding that it has not been executed 
by, or is in whole or in part unenforceable against, one or more Customers. Each of the provisions contained 
in this Agreement is distinct and severable and a declaration of invalidity or un~nforceabllity of any such 
provision or part ther.eofhy a court of competent jurisdiction shall not affect the v<ilidity or enforceability of any 
other provision hereof. 

17. REPRESENTATIONS: 

Each Customer hereby represents and warr~nts to the Bank that none of the execution, delivery or perfom1ance 
by any Customer. nor any transaction by any Customer resulting in any debit or credit entries betng made to the 
Pool Account, is in contravention of or in conflict With the constating documents, by-laws or resolutions of 
directors or shareholders of any Customer, nor contravenes or results in any <:ontravention of any law, n1te, 
ordinance, decree, regulation or otber enactment of application to any Customer or its respective properties and 
assets. Each Customer further represents and warrants to the Bank that each deposit or transfer of money 
outhoriZed to be made to a Designated Account and the transfer of existing credit balances referred to irt 
paragraph 4 shall not include tn.tSt funds or fuods beneficially belonging to any party other than the Customer. 

Page 5 
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18. LIABILITY : 

The Customers jointly and severally agree to indemnify. the Bankage.Jnst all loss, liability and expenses (including 
without limitation legal feesn a solicitor and client basis). other than loss, liability or expenses arising from the 
Bank'sgross negligence or wilful misconduct, which the Bank may incur or be under arising from the provisions 
of this Agreement, the operation of the various accounts in ·accordance therewith or the enforcement or 
preservation of the Bank's rights under this Agreement. In addition, the Bank shall not be liable for any loss, · 
liability or expense of any Customer unless it results from the Bank's gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 

19. MODIFICATION: 

{a) Subject to sub-paragraph 9{b}, the Bank shan have the right on 30 days' prior written notice to the 
Customers to make additions, deletions or changes to the service provided by it under this Agreement that it may 
deem necessary or advisable. 

(b) Any of the Customers, other than the Primary Customer, mayceaseto be a party to this Agreement 
andthe accounts of such Customers may be removed from the list of Designated Accounts in Schedule "A" upon 
at least 30 days' prior written notice to the Bank from the Primary Customer and the applicable Customer or 
Customers and upon the written acceptance thereof by the Bank. 

(c) An additional customer or customers may become a party to this Agreement and the accounts of 
suchcustomers may be added to the list of Designated Accounts in Schedule "A" upon the execution of an 
addendum to this Agreement by the Customers and the additional customer(s)and upon the written acceptance 
thereof by the Bank. Upoacceptance thereof by !he Bank, the provisions of this Agreement including without 
limitation the term "Customer'' shall extend to and be binding upon such additional customer or customers. 

(d) The reference in this Agreement to Schedule "A" shall include amendments to Schedule "A" so 
that the document referred to as Schedule "A" In this Agreement shall at all times be the most current vers·1on 
thereof signed by the authorized representatives of the Bank and the Primary Customer. 

20. EFFECT ON \)THER AGREEMENTS: 

Exceplas specifically modified by this Agreement, other arrangements and agreements between the Customers 
and the Bank or other rights which the Bank may have under law respecting loans, deposit or other banking 
matters shall continue to apply. 

21. NOTICES: 

Excepns otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices required to be given pursuanttothis Agreement shall 
be in writing and shall be delivered to the address of the other party or parties as indicated in this Agreement or 
to such other address as may be notified to the ather party or parties during the currency of this Agreement. 

22. GOVERNING lAW: 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws in force in the Province 
where the branch at Which the Pool Account is maintained, is located. 

Page 6 
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AGREEMENT {Rev 05101) 
SERVICE AGREEMENT NUMBER 

23. lANGUAGE; 

The parties require that this Agreement and all related documents be drawn in English. Les parties exigent que 
cette conventiof\ et tous documents qui s'y rattachant soient rediges en anglais. 

24. This Agreement may be executeid counterparts and shall be binding upon the parties executing in such 
a fashion as if the Agreement had been originally signed by all parties at one time. 

25. The Mirror Netting Service Agreement shall replace any existing Mirror Netting Servioe Agreement 
bearing the same agreement number previously entered into between the Customers and the Bank and shall 
be effective when implemented by the Bank. 

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 

8y; 
Manager 

Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada-Ontario Branch • 
Customer Name 

By; 
Tille 

By. 
Title 

OatEl 

Vir:torlan Order ofNutSes fot Canuda M Ontario Branch Centra. I East "" 

Customer Name 

By: 
Title 

By; 
Title , 

Date: 

oate 

Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada-National Office • 
Customer Name 

By: 
Title 

By: 
Title 

0~\E'( 

Vjctori.i/1 Ordo;rofNW30 for Clilllih-OI'Iruio Bran~h SouthWt:!l PbJwln~ Ctnttc * 
Customer Name 

By: 
Title 

By; 
Title 

Data 

'This Agreement must be execute<! on behalf of each Customer by Its properly authorized officers. 
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Yicwrian Ordtr ofN\ll':'i4'~ forCaruub.-OtHario Ermr.h Ccntta! Pbnnittg Cct~tnr • 
~~~~-------------·-·-Customer Name 

By: 
Title 

BY: 
Title 

Date: 

V~ctorian Orde):" ofN\ltSes Eastern Lakc-Ontwio Branch..,. 

Customer Name 

By: 
Iitie 

By: 
Title 

Date: 

Vktorian Order of Nurses for Canada~ Westem Region* 

Customer Name 

Tille 

By. 
Title 

Oat<! 

Customer Name 

By: 
Title 

By: 
Title 

Dati'! 

SERVICE AGREEMENT NUMBER 

Victorian Order of Nurses for Manitoba Inc. 
Customer Name 

By; 
Tille 

By. 
Title 

Date 

Vir.toriom Order of Nurses for Canada Nova Scotia Bt:Ulch ln~ .... 

Customer Name 

Sy: 
Title 

, By: 
Title 

Oat€! 

Victorian Order ofNurses for Canada · Sudbury• 
customer Name 

By: 
Title 

By: 
Title 

Date: 

• 
Customer Name 

By: 
Title 

By: 
Title 

Oat€! 

'This Agreement must be executed on behalf of each Customer by its properly authorized officers. 
Page 
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SCHEDUl-E A (Rt;V 05/01) 

SERVICE AGREEMENT NUMBER 

SCHEDULE A TO MIRROR NETTING SERVICE AGREEMENT 

l'rimary Designated Accotlllt: 
Branch of Account 
Account Number 

Pool Account: 
Branch of Account 
Account Number 
Minimum Balm1ce 
Transfer in multiples of 

*Loan Account: 
Branch of Account 
Account Number 

0 *Investn1ent Account: 
Branch of Account 
Account Number 

*Positioning TyPe 
Debit Balances (select oneon(v) 

*Positioning TyPe 

40006 Ottl!wa Main Branch 
400060366218 

40006 Ottawa Main Branch 
40006 00174 18 
$!,000 
$ 10 000 (for transfers to and froml'oo\ Account) 

40006 Onawa Main Branch 
40006 0010775 OJ 

From Investment Account to Pool Account 
.. v'From Loan Account to Pool Account 
• From Investment Account and/or Loan Account to Pool Account 

-V'From Pool Account to Loan Account 
Credit Balances (select one only) · From Pool Account to Investment Account 

· From Pool Account to T-oan Account and/or Investment Account 

*Select if applicable. 

Designated Accounts: 

NA.'\1E OF CUSTOMER 
(and bra11c.h or divis1mJ of 
the Customer if appUcable} 

DJ<ANC!I OF ACCOU!H' ACCOUNT NllMlll:R CONTRoL IJMIT 

\r~¢\(.lthn Ord~ of Nurse~ E:utt.m t11-k<! Ol\wia Bn.n:::b. ~0006 Ott~wa Main 40006 01250 16 
-~ .. ,..~-· -
Vjctoriw.Onkr ofNUrn:.i ftlr C:::.n,ada..Qntruiu Bnm.cb ~0006 Ottawa Main 40006 01252 10 Cc.nln!l Eur. Cott otlt_t~~}~_,_ 

- ---· ...... .. ,_ 

Victar:illll 0rdt( ofNuro.::rs for Cart&da-N;J.tional Of!'i~t ~0006 Ottawa Main 40006 013:27 13 ......... --
Victorn.n Ordl':l' ofN~~BeS fer C.wula..ouuritl Br.~ru::ll ~0006 Ottawa Main 40006 03566 .I l So-U1h. W""-11 PI~ 0:11!-ft 

Yic:lllciiD Orda: o f"Nuzsu- f(lr C:t..ul~-Or:.\J.rl<> U1~~ 40006 Ottawa Main 40006 03662 18 
VkiMl...a. 0((1¢( (J[Nur~s for Cnn.Wa-O.olarl~ BrjUI.¢h 40006 Ottawa Main 4000603762 B Ctnlnl\ l'h..nnlng C::P.tn: ---
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SCHEDULE A(R~:o"'' OSI01) 

NAME OF CUSTOMER 
(cmd brcmCh ordivi:Jion of 
the CIIStOmer if"';,pp/lcablc) 

Hl'ANCII OF ACCO\Ml' AC(;O!JNT NlJMllV.R CONTROL UMIT 

Victorian Ordt:r ofNurses: far Manitoba 1nc. 40006 Ottawa Main 40006 04034 1 5 
I -··-·-~····~ 

YieJ(Iri.oAQni~ c[}iurnol (Qr Cal'l.l.dl. Nov~ Seilli• DriDct! Ill~, 40006 Ottawa Main I 40006 04168 19 
••••~•·-•·-c ······-~., 

VktorlM Onkr otN=I!l" for Cwarl.1. Wc~Wm Region 40006 Ottawa Main 40006 01284 14 
-· 

ViGto.rinn Orckt ofN~s forCru111dA·Sudbnry 40006 Ottawa Main 40006 00852 19 --
\---~--

... ___ ··-
' I 

·-·~ f...-----.... 
I 

·····-----~~ .. ·--

1---·· .. ········--··-

. .. 

... _._, __ .. 
. ·-·---···""'"'~ ···~-----·····-···· 

f,---~-.• i ' -~-------

I 

-+--··· I . .,. 

This Schedule shall be effective when implemented by tll!;.lliDJ)<. 

THE BANK OF NOV A SCOTIA 

By: 
·Manager Date: 

Victorian Order ofNur.st:s Eastern Lak~: Ontario Branch Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada-Ontario Bnmc:b. 
Cc:nl.nll East Corpornto C~t:r': 

Custome-r Name C11stom~r NCime 

.8y,· By: 
Title Title 

By: By: 
Title Title 

Date: DMe; 
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,June 20 1 2015 

lnd<lpendent: Auditor's Repm·t 

To the Honr<l of Dil•ectol"S of 
Victorian Ol•der of Nurses for Canada~ Eastern Region 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Eastern 
Region ("VON Eastern Region"), which comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2-015 and the 
statem_ents of changes in net liabilities, operations and cash flows for the year then e.nded1 and related 
notes, whjch comprise a .<mmma:ry-of significant accounting :policies and explanatmyinformation. 

Manage1nent's responsibility for the financial statenu~nts 
1\tfanagement is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements ln 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not~fo.r~profit organizations~ and for such internal 
control as management detet·mines is necessary to enable the preparation off[nnncial statements that are 
free frorn material misstatement) whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditol·'s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finandal statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance vvith Canadian generally accepted auditing stmulards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perfonn the audit to obtain.rensonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing proceduxes to obtain audit evidence about the amounts r:md disclosures in 
the £nancial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auditorls judgment,includit1g the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financiul statements) whether due to fraud or error_.. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers .internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances) but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the L'(~asonablenoss of accounting estimates made hy management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial .statements. 

Pl'icewater•lwuseCoopers LLP 
99 Bonk Str·eet, Suite 8D01 Ottawa, Ontario1 Canada K1P 1E4 
T: +1 6JB 237 3702, F; +1 618 237 3963 

"Pwc- rcfars Ia PtkewDlarf1cussCoopers LU', en Ontario l!mlied ilability pal1narshlp, 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financlal position of 
VON Eastern Regiol'l as at Match 31, 2015 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year 
then endt~d ln accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Chartet·c<l Profess.ioual.A(!countants, Licensed Public Accountants 



Victorian Or•der ofNluses fOJ.' Canada Eastern Region 
Balance Sheet 
As at March 31, 2.015 

Assets 

Current assets 
Accounts receivable (note 3) 
Receivable from related parties (note 9) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Capital assets (note 4) 

Liabilities and Net Liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Bank Indebtedness 
Accounts payable and accrued !labilities (note 6) 
Payable to related parties (note 9) 
Deferred revenue 

Deferred contributions for capital assets (note 7) 

Net liabilities 
Unrestricted 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

682,141 635,364 
5,057 1 '138,622 

~-1"2"'9"',.o"-s1~--~--- !~X,_/549 ,. 

816,279 1,961,535 

890,228 2,019,699 

978,862 1,955,985 
889,272 894,585 
129,640 126,229 

-~·~·'····?.Q:1Z? 8 ""'"""'"~"'"'V2R,~"'' 
2,199,562 3,028,507 

2,205,113 3,028,507 

~c'-(1"',3""1_,.4,"'88"'5"-)-----'-(1:_c,0=08,8.Qfll_ 

890,228 2,019 699 

(1) 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Eastern Region 
Statement of Changes in Net Liabilities 
For the year ended March 31_, 2.015 

Balance­
Beginning of year 

$ 

Net expense lor 
tho year 

$ 

Balance­
End of year 

$ 

Unrestricted ""-~'-'(..:.1L::,O.OMQ8:.!).....c.._"'--'-'(;;:_30::.:6:.:;,0::.;7.:..7Ll -=-'--"-""'--1-(1~,3::.;1_:4:,::,8.::;85::.;_.) 

The Rccompanying notes are an integra] :part of the.se financit~l.stat.eme.nts. 



Victorian Ordel· of Nurses for Canada- Eastern .Region 
Statement of Operations 
For the year ended March 2015 

Revenue 
Fees for service 
Donations and fundraislng 
Program grants 
Miscellaneous 
Amortization of deferred contributions for capital assets 

Expense 
Salaries and benefits 
Mileage and travel 
Direct program costs 
Occupancy costs 
Administrative, office and general expenses 
Bad debts 
Telecommunication costs 
Information technology services 
Corporate allocation fees (note 9) 
Amortization of capital assets 

Net expense for the year 

The accompanying notes are an integral p-art ofthese fintmdal statements, 

2015 2014 
$ $ 

4,937,622 5,740,860 
5,229 18,398 

1,696,040 1,305,963 
55,629 331593 

191 108 

.6.694.7.11 ·-·-·· . _ _7,09~.,1J~2_ 

4,430,513 4,880,209 
273,562 261,643 
784,008 822,036 
376,057 330,964 
268,857 274,636 

14,621 96,204 
94,954 101,487 
7,607 9,643 

729,594 829,007 
_.,_.?JJl.1~~.-~~·.~~1c::B:c. 0"'5"'6~ 

7,0,00.788. . ..... ],623.885 

(306,077) (524,963) . 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Eastern Region 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the cnd"d March 2015 

Cash flows provided by (used in) 

Operating activities 
Net expense for the year 
Items not affecting cash -

Amortization of capital assets 
Amortization of deferred contributions for capital assets 

Net change in non-cash working capital items 

Investing activity 
Purchases of capital assets 

Financing activity 
Deferred contributions for capital assets received 

Net change In cash (bank indebtedness) for tho year 

Bank indebtedness- Beginning of year 

Bank indebtedness- End of year 

The accomvanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements<· 

2015 
$ 

(306,077) 

21,015 
(191) 

1,293,444 

1,008,191 

(36,800) 

977,133 

(978,852) 

2014 
$ 

(524,963) 

18,056 
(1 08) 

(64,991). 

(572,006) 

(39,716) 

(611)22) 

(1,955,985) 

I 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Eastern Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March ::P, 2 015 

i Description of activities and status 

Victorian Ordel' of Nurses for Canada Eastern Region (''VON Eastern Region)') is incorporated without share 
capital under the Canada Not~for-Profit Corporations Act. Victorinn Order of Nurses for Canada Eastern 
Region provides nurHing and home support services for the preservation and strengthening offamily life 
tln·oughout the province on behalf offunders and clients. VON Eastern Region's statement of purpose is to 
provide an enhanced quaHty oflife for Canadians through co,-;t-effective, community-based health care and 
sodal service. VON Eastern Region is guided by the principles of primary healthcare and wor1\s in partnership 
with Canadians for a healthier society through k:adership in community-1)ase0 care 1 delivmy of innovative, 
cornprHhensive health and social services1 and influence ln the. development of health and social policy. VON 
Ear,tem. Region is a registered charitable orgnnlzation exempt: from income taxes, 

2. Significant accounting polieics 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting slanchu·ds for not-i'ot'­
profi t organizations and reflect the follOwing significant accounting policies: 

Use of estin1ates 

The preparation offinancial statements in acco-rdancevvith Canadian aecounting standards for not-for-profit 
ol'ganizations requires management to malte estimates and assumptions that affect the rBported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent a.">sets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues .and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ' 
from these estimates. 

Capital asst~ts 

CnpitaJ assets are initially recorded at cost and are then amortized over their estimated useful service lives, on a 
.straight-line basis, as fol1ows: 

Furniture, equipment and fh .• iures 
Computer haxdware and software 

Revenue reeogn:.ition 

2 to 7 years 
2 to 3 years 

Fees for scrvi(~e received are recognized in the period in which the seTvlce is delivered, 

VON Ea.stel.'n Rl~gion follows the deferral method of accounting for donations and program grants. Unrestricted 
revenue is recognizod when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonabJy estimated and 
collection is reasonably assured. Externally restricted donations and program grants are deferred and 
recognized as revenue in the year the related expenses are incurred, 

Externallyrestrieted contributions for capital assets are deferred and amortized on the same basis as the capital 
assets purchased. 

(l) 
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Victorhm. Order of Nurses for Canada- Eastern Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March 31; 

Coritrilntr:ed services 

Volunteers contdbute nmnerous hours to assist VON Eastern Region in carrying out certain charitable aspects 
of its sen-ice delivery activities, Because of the difficulty of determining their fnir value, contributed services are 
not ret1ected in the financihl statements. 

I) ens ion plan 

VON Eastern Region is a pmticipating sponsor of the VON Canada Pension Plan ('rthe Pian"), wJ1ich provides 
benefits to employees through participation in a contr:ibutory1 defined benefit pmwion plan for all eligible 
employees of VON Canada and of the former bt·anches of VON. Pension benefits are based on years of service 
and final average earnings. Annual funding requirements are determined in consultation with actuades to 
provide long-term stabllity to the Plan. 

VON Eastern Region accounts for the Plan, which meets the definition of a multi employer plan, using standards 
fol' defined contribution plans as VON Eastem Region is not able to identify its share of underlying assets and 
liabilities. Contl'ibutions for the plan are expensed as incutTed, 

3 Finaneial instruments 

A<:eounts receivable is comprised of: 

Veterans Affairs 
HST rebates 
Other 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 

4 Capita I assets 

Furniture, equipment and nxtures 
Computer hardware and software 

Cost 
$ 

119,900 

a mort1zation 
$ 

55,634 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

165,158 242,139 
47,906 43,671 

489,821 417,952 
(20,744) (68,398) 

;.,·:.~·.----.,-~-::";!~""·"· ~~~"""""""..,.,__;~""'·-, ... c-.-c···--~~o~·~'C:---'"~-"-':"-'-'·"" 

682,141 

Net 
$ 

64,266 

635,364 

Net 
$ 

Cost and· accumulated amortization amounted to $96).52.2 and ~;:38,358 at March 31, 2014 respectively, 

(2) 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Eastern Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March ;3'1, 20.15 

5 Bank indebtedness 

VON Canada has an operating line of credit of $4,000 1000, bearing interest at prUne plus 1.50% with a standby 
fee of 0,125% on any unused portion, A !~eneral security agreement over all present and future personal 
property \·vith insurance coverage has l)een pledged, 

6 Govern1ncnt l'entittances 

Government remittances (CPP, EI and income taxes) in the amount of $74,582 (2014- $85,604) are included 
:in accounts payable- and fWCrued liRbilities. 

7 Deferred contributions for capital assets 

Deferred contributions for capital 
assets 

8 Employee future benefits 

Balance­
Beginning of 

the year 
$ 

Contributions 
received 

$ 

5,742 

Amortl>:ation 
of 

contributions 
$ 

(i 91) 

Balance·~ 

End of the 
year 

$ 

5,551 

VON E"astcrn Region participates in a multiemp1oyer defined benefit pens-ion plan providjng pension benefits to 
varlous participating entities, Assets contributed by one. participating entity are not segregated in a separate 
uceount or restricted to provide benefits oniyto crnployces of such entity and1 thus, mny be used to provide 
benefits to c.mp1oyees of other participating entities. The Board of Directors of VON Canada administers the 
plan and its investments, This mu1tiemp1oyer defined benefit pension plan is accounted for by VON Eastern 
Region using the accounting standards for defined contribution plans as thete is insuffident informRtion to 
apply defined benefit pension plan aecounting. Accordingly, VON Eastern Region1

S pension expense in respect 
to this plan of $190,916 (2014- $203,324) is their annunl funding contribution and VDN Eastern Region does 
not recog:niz~ its share of the plan deficit, 

This registered pension pJan is funded by participating entities in the amount required by governing legislation 
and determined by the plan's actumy. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan for funding and 
aecounting purposes was completed on ,January 1 1 20l4 and indicated requil'ed an.:nual employer funding 
contributions by all participating entities to be $9 18721904. The next valuation vvi1l be <:'.ompleted vvith an 
effective dah~ no 'later than of January 11 2017. 

(3) 
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Victol'ian Order of Nurses for Canada· Eastern Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March 31, 2015 

.. ······--~~--~~~~~. 

The funding deficit for the P1an in its entirety fot' all participating VON Canada related entities is as follows 
(coo's): 

Plan assets at fair value 
Present value of futuro pension obligation 
Valuation allowance 

Funding deficit 

9 Related pm·ty hulances and transactions 

2015 
$ 

375,968 
(358,370) 

2014 
$ 

301,125 
(316,981) 

-~~(~1e:.c:,7 .. ~~L ...... - .. -.. -~~-
11.171) (15,859) 

During the year, corpornte allocation fees of $729,594 (2014- $829,007) were charged by VON Canada, VON 
Canada controls VON Eastern Region as it shares the same management team and Board of Directors. 

These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration estab1ished and 
agreed to by the related parties involved. 

The balances due to related parties are non-interest bearing with no fixed Tcpayment date, 

Receivable from related part:ies includes: 

VON Ontario 
VON Nova Scotia 

Payable to related parties Includes: 

VON Canada 
VON Nova Scotia 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

5,057 11,099 
~'-~~~1..c,1:,::27,523 

5,057 . 

20Hi 
$ 

109,622 
. 2D.P1L. 

129,640 

1' 138,622 

2014 
$ 

126,229 

126,229 



Victorian Ordet• of Nurses for Canada -Eastern Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Mar·ch 3:1,20:15 

1 0 Commitments 

VON Easte111 R~gion is committed to mi.nimUln annual payments under operating 1eases for equipment and 
premises over the next five years and beyond as follows: 

Year ending March 31, 2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 and beyond 

$ 

170,774 
141,883 
120,951 
110,917 
63,500 
21,920 

13 
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Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada 
Non-Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at Ma1•ch 31, 2015 

(Unaudited) 

I 

·•.•-,,~~,-·--...._,_--~-·~·:~·•-:-~,-::::•·":-·•:·-·::..,"~'"'~'~'"--~••"-,-,"-'-0~-,...,. ••• ~,--,c• I'•;:••••••••••....L•----------~----·-·•--~~--,~:·•··"·e·•·-···:·:·.~··~"::•:·•·c-·r•r•m·~"'"~"'"'""'~""".""f,_..•t''.'' -·•·••"''""'""'""''•''•" •-•,"":•·-•·;·,··-•.-·- •• 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash 
Accounts receivable 
Receivable from related parties (note 10) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Capital assets (note 3) 

Liabilities and Net Liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) 
Payable from related parties (note 1 0) 
Deferred revenue 
Deferred contributions (note 6) 
Current portion long-terrn debt (note 7) 

Long-terrn debt (note 7) 
Employee future benefits (note 8) 

Net liabilities 
Unrestricted 
Endowments (note 9) 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

2.,401,441 2,059,187 
466,020 587,827 

3,346,056 4,359,467 
532,606 894,618 

...,...~,_.-,.,_.,_, ________ , ______ ._._.'.'-'-·-····--·- .............. ····-·"•'"'"•'-"'''""'" __ ,,_., 

6,746,123 7,901,099 

5,289,624 6,146,036 
"~. ~. -----~---~- -.------,-.,.' 

12,035,747 14,047,135 

5,707,527 6,829,915 
146,935 85,030 
436,037 310,361 

2,218,1585 1,195,813 
~~1}l~B[),_:lll_o __ ~~1 "',4_,_7(),~.2L 

9,598,444 

16,403,080 
1 '170,.879 

9,891,626 

17,263,429 
15,856,000 

........... ?..?.JZil,~.9.~ ... -.. -... -·- ~23 1.9.:L:1_,_os_.5_ 

(15,742,591) 

c .• c ••.• §QQ&9£ , ..... . 
(29,557,309) 

59~,3.89~, 

(.15, 136,65i!l _(~~~:!63,920)_ 

12,035 7~7 --- 14,047, 1 .. 35 



Victorian 01•der of Nurses for Canada 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Liabilities 
For the year ended March ;31, 2015 
(Unaudited) 
'''''""''~. ~ .. · •~.~-~---''--

Balance­
Beginning 

of year 
$ 

Re-
N~t revenuo measurements 
for the year and other Items 

$ $ 

Transfers~!n 

$ 

Endowment 
contributions 

$ 

B-alance­

End of year 

$ 

2,795,294 11,207,000 (187,576) (29,557,309) (15,742,591) 

/3 

Unrestricted 
Endowments (note 9) .... §.~~'~§~ ,_. -·-· _ ... ,_. _. _. -~ ....................... ~.-~ ... c., ... ··-'-~-----------·- _gi14.6. ..... ~ ..... El.~ •. 9..~§ ... , 

11,207,000 ... (187,578) 

The accompanying notes are an integral :part of these non~consolirlated fina11dal statements, 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Operations 
Fo1• the year ended March 31, 2015 
(Unaudited) 

Revenue 
Fees for service 
Corporate allocation fees (note 10) 
Donations and fundraising 
Program grants 
Investment income and miscellaneous 

Expense 
Salaries and benefits 
Mileage and travel 
Direct program costs 
Occupancy costs 
Bad debts 
Administrative, office, and general expenses 
Telecommunications costs 
Information technology services 
Interest on long-term debt 
Amortization of capital assets 

Net revenue (expense) before the und<>r noted 

Gain on disposal of capital assets 

Net revenue (expense) for the year 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

810,266 435,009 
26,454,217 24,612,593 

1,158,160 630,196 
411,229 289,935 
401,857 6"13 196 
~~"--- . --·-·-·~·~~ 

13,246,356 
467,699 

49,065 
1,007,906 

50,000 

13,535,054 
476,062 

7,825 
959,120 

3,454,025 3,145,435 
421,421 202,394 

5,271,941 7,245,258 
377,242 341,755 

2,094,780 2,043,009 
--.~~-~=-~,--~,--.. -.. _ . '. --, 

26,440,435 ' 

2,795,294 

2,795,294 

27,955;912 

(1 ,314,983) 

(467,891) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these non-consolidah~d financin1 statementsr. 
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Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the yeai~ ended March 3i, 2015 

(Unandited) 

Cash flows from (used in) 

Operating activities 
Net revenue (expense) for the year 
Items not affecting cash-

Amortization of capital assets 
Pension expense 
Fair value change in investments 

Gain on disposal of capital assets 
cash paid for pension benefits 
Net change in non-cash working capital items 

Investing activities 
Sale (purchases) of Investments, net 
Proceeds on sate of capital assets 
Purchases of capital assets 

Financing activities 
Advances from long-term debt 
Repayments of tong,term debt 
Endowment contributions 

Not change in cash for the year 

Cast1 (Bank Indebtedness)- Beginning of year 

Cash -End of year 

2015 
$ 

2,795,294 

2,094,780 
(1 ,924,976) 

(12,447) 

2014 
$ 

(467,891) 

2,043,009 
(1 ,396,357) 

(847,092) 
(1 ,553, 145) (636,643) 
1 ,393,118 1672 867 

'"'----,--~----,.-,.,, •. _.,.,., ... ,.,.,,'c'-•'-•""c••-•-r··--""~".''~'·'•"ffmoo.(••"'":~;~;J..::-.----. 

2,792,624 367,893 

16,948 

(1 ,238,368) 

, .. , ... ,·-·~ .. -·, .. -.. -~, 

(4,046) 
3,698,590 

········-~· __ (725,911) 

104,011 3,242,009 
(1 ,345,507) (140,609) 

-~~1""2,546 1,075 

J1;?2!J,§i!.O), ~·· ... 2,.!9:2,1?_~ . 
342,254 

~_cc2ce,,o,~.fl.c1R ....... . 

2,401,441 .. 

6,439,001 

. (4,379,814) 

2,059,1&7. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these non-consoliclnted financial statements. 

I 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada 
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 2.015 

1 Description of activities and status 

VIctorian Order of NUrses for Canada ("VON canada") is Incorporated without share capital under the Canada 
Not-for-Profil Corporations Act, VON Canada's statement of purpose is to provide an enhanced quality of life 
for Canadians through cost-effective, community-based health care and social service. VON Canada is guided 
by the principles of primary healthcare and works in partnership with Canadians for a healthier society through 
leadership in community-based care, delivery of innovative, comprehensive health and social services, and 
influence In the development of health and social policy. VON Canada is a registered charitable organization 
exempt from income taxes. 

2 Significant accounting policies 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards tor not-for­
profit organizations and reflect the following significant accounting policies: 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements In accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for profit 
organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ 
trom these estimates. 

Investments 

Investments are measured at fair vallle using quoted marliet close prices. Dividends, interest and changes In 
fair value are included In investment income and miscellaneous income in the statement of operations. 

Capital assets 

Capital assets are Initially recorded at cost and are then amortized over their estimated useful service lives, on 
a straight-line basis, as follows: 

Buildings 
Furniture, equipment and fixtures 
Computer hardware and software 
Leasehold Improvements 

Revenue recognition 

25 to 40 years 
2 to 7 years 

2to 10years 
Term at the lease 

Fees for service received are defined and recogn'1zed in the period in which the service is del'lvered. 

VON Canada follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Unrestricted contributions are 
recognized when received or receivable if the amount to be mcelved can be reasonably estimated and 

I 



Victorian Ordel' of Nurses for Canada 
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements 
March 31, 2015 
-------~--'----

collection Is reasonably assured. Externally restricted donations and program grants are deferred and 
recognized as revenue in the year the related expenses are incurred_ 

Endowment contributions are recorded as direct increases in net assets. No encroachment on capital is 
permitted. Income that may be used for general purpose is recognized as revenue when earned, Income 
earned on the Helen Mussallem Education and Dr. Judith Shamian funds is deferred (note 9) and recognized 
as revenue in the year the related expenses are incurred for leadership and staff education. 

Contributed services 

Volunteers contribute numerous hours to assist VON Canada in carrying out certain charitable aspects of its 
service delivery activities. Because of the difficulty in determining their fair value, contributed services are not 
reflected in these financial statements. 

Employee futuro benefits 

VON Canada and its related entitles are participating sponsors of the VON Canada Pension Plan ("the Plan"), 
Which provides benefits to employees through participation in a contributory, defined benefit pension plan for all 
eligible employees of VON Canada and of the former branches of VON that have left the organization, based 
on years of service and final average earnings. Annual funding requirements are determined in consultation 
with actuaries. 

Because VON Canada is not able to identify the shares of underlying assets and liabilities belonging to Its 
related entitles the related entities account for tile Plan using the standards for defined contribution plans. The 
related entities expense employer contributions as incurred. VON Canada accounts for the plan using the 
standards for defined benefit plans, as it accrues the obligations for all related entities under the Plan and 
related costs, net of plan assets, 

The accrued benefit obligations are actuarially determined based on the most recent actuarial valuation report 
prepared for accounting purposes, 

Under the immediate recognition approach, actuarial gains and losses (and past service costs) are Included in 
the cost of employee future benefits for tile year, Re-measurements and otl1er items are recognized directly in 
net liabilities, 

When the fair value of the plan assets exceeds the defined benefit obligation, the plan surplus is recognized as 
a defined benefit asset only to the extent it is expected to be realized by VON Canada. VON Canada 
recognizes a valuation allowance for any excess of the plan surplus over the expected future benefit. Changes 
in the valuation allowance are recognized In net liabilities in the period in which the change occurs. 

In addition, VON Canada's Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) provides supplement pension 
benefits to certain employees. These benefits are unfunded but are guaranteed through the issuance of a one­
year renewable letter of credit, issued to the trustee of this plan. 

/40 
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Capital assets 

···•····-•"'''"'"-·-·"····""~=--'-'-

Cost 
$ 

Land 175,000 
Buildings 635,000 
Furniture, equipment and 

fixtures 38,578 
Computer hardware and 

software 16,158,651 
Leasehold improvements .~ ... c-'-.?.~.LZ? 1 . 

17,274.460 

2015 
Accumulated 
amortization Net 

$ $ 
175,000 

76,200 558,800 

8,122 30,456 

11,868,541 4,290,110 
__ , __ 31,973 ~-~ 235,258 

11,984,836 5,2~9,624 

2014 
~.-.-.,~ ..... ~-"-" 

Net 
$ 

51 ,467 

5,831,280 

-·--···--·?f:l.3,2,~-~-

6, 146,036 

Cost and accurnulated amortization were $15,985,292 and $9,839,256 at March 31, 2014 respectively, 

4 Bankindebtedness 

VON Canada has an opecatin~ line of credit of $4,ooo,ooo hearing interest at prime plus 1.5% with a standby 
·fee of 0.125% on any unused poliion, A general security agreement over all present and future personal 
property with insurance coverage has been pledged, 

The line of credit was unused as at March 31, 2015. 

5 Government remittances 

Government remittances (CPP, EI, i!lcomc ti1xes, employer health tax, WSIB) $296,848 [2014" $278,182) are 
included in accounts payable and acerued liabillties. 

6 Deferred contributions 

Deferred contributions cepresent funds that have been donated or re.ceived with a special purpose identitlcd by 
donor or fnnder. VON Canada does 110t have authority over the 11sc of these funds. 

Balance- Balance-
Beginning of Contributions Contributions End of the 

the year received spent year 
$ $ $ $ 

Deferred contributions 1,195,813 1 ,985,146 (962 374) 2,218,585 

141 
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7 Long-term debt 

IBM 
Community Corporations 

Less: current portion of long-terrn debt 

2015 
$ 

13,769,777 

.... :3·.~??.,l3§L __ 

16,403,080 

2014 
$ 

14,759,777 
. ,,,g1~13_±L1_~?., 

17,263,429 

VON Canada entered into an unsecured agreement with IBM Canada Limited to finance its obligation under the 
master services agreement for its business transformation initiative. 

The indebtedness bears inte1·est at 2..00% per annum. Annual minimum repayments of $l;Ooo)ooo are 
required together with additional quarterly payments in arrears of 50% offree cash flow as calcnlatetl in 
accordance with the agreement. No additional :payments were made during the year. 

VON Community Corporations aJ"e legally incorporated entities with their own Boards of Directors and have 
ftnH.lraish1g, advoeacy and community development roles. These entities are voting members of VON Canada. 

The amounts due to the Community Corporations 1·epresent contingent notes are unsecured and bear interest 
at rates ranging from o% to 5% per annum and a short-term unsecured Joan of $255,000 bearing interest at 
1.6%. During the year repayments of $345,507 (2014 $lO,OOO) and advances of $14,651 (2014 -.$3,242,009) 
were made during the year. Interest on the notes for the year amounted to $ 89,360 (2014- $70,698) which 
remains unpaid as at March 31, 2015. The parties have agreed that the interest will be repayable commencing 
April 2015. There will be no r·epayments under the contingent notes for the year ending March ;31, zcl16. There 
ate no minimum annnalrepaym.ents under the contingent notes availability of free cash flow as calculated in 
acQordance with the agreement and the approval of the bank, 
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8 Employee future benefits 

Extrapolations of actuarial valuations prepared as at January 1, 2014 for the VON Canada Pension Plan and 
September 30, ~W14 for the Aberdeen Pension Plan (2014- January 1, 2013 :md September 30, 2013) Indicated 
the following information about the VON Canada Pension Plan, SERP and Aberdeen Pension Plan, respectively, 
and the measurement date of March 31 each year($ ooo). 

201& 
"·'-··--'--

2014 ----------.. -. -· 
VON Aberdeen VON Aberdmw 

Canarta Pension Canada Pension 
Pension SERP Plan Total Pension SERP Plan Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Fair VAlUe of plan 
assets 373,524 24 2,420 375,968 299,242 20 1!863 301,125 

Defined benefit 
obllgatlon (354,904) (:l13) (3,153) (358,370) (313,822) (281) (2,878) (316,981) 

Valuation allowance ... _1_1(lJ~~L ····-·-········-·"•'"",L1_~, 769) 
...... 

"-''"-""'~.~:~-.. ·~"------,---· .. 

Deficit (149) !~89) (733) (1,171) . (14,5801 [261) . (1,015) (15,856) 

During the year, VON Canada charged the VON Pension Plan $;365,726 (2014- $350,207) for administrotive 
services rendered and other costs incurred on behalf of the Plan. 

These transactions were recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established 
and agreed to by the parties involved. 

VON Canada is the administrator of the VON Canada Pension Plan. VON Canada has declared partial pension 
plan wind-ups on behalf of four former VON branches. The eifect of these declarations is that the solvency 
deficiency related to those branches is crystallized. The financial condition of those branches is sucl1 that they 
cannot be expected to fund their deficits; three of the four have declared bankruptcy. The Financial Services 
Tribunal has determined that those branches are solely responsihle for funding the deficits associated with theit· 
employees. 

An application with the Pension Benefit Guarantee Fund (PBGF) was filed and inApt-il2o13 the VON Canada 
Pension Plan received $2,268,819 from the PJ3GF for three of the branches and has an application v.~th PBGF to 
receive funds for one other branch. VON Canada plans to fund the difference between the amounts paid by 
PBGF and the total deficit up to $400,000, During the fiscal year 2015 VON Canada paid $251,121 of this 
deficit. The remaining $148,879 has been accrued nnd is included in the pension obligation disclosed above. 

Effective January 1, 2o1a, active members of the Aberdeen Pension Plan stopped accruing service under that 
plan and started instead to accrue service under the VON Canada Pension Plan. VON Canada is working with 
the Financial Services Commission of Ontario to have the Aberdeen Pension Plan rolled into the VON Canada 
Pension Plan. 

J JJ 
I 

'I 
! I 
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9 Endowments 

Duchess of Connaught Fund 
Countess of Minto Fund 
The Wayne and Joan Myles Fund 
Dr Helen Mussallem Education Fund 
Dr. Judith Shamian Fund 

10 Related party balances and transactions 

2014 2013 
$ $ 

222,401 222,401 
112,364 112,364 
73,629 68,000 
91,580 89,624 

~--1 os,s~L--~~-J_9~()()~ 

605,935 .. 

During the year, corporate allocation fees of $26,454,217 (2014 ~ $24,612,593) were paid to VON Canada by 
entities related to VON Canada. 

These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount which is the amount established and agreed to by the 
related parties involved. 

The balances due to related parties are non-interest bearing with no ftxed repayment date. 

Receivable from related parties Includes: 

VON Nova Scotia 
VON Ontario 
VON Eastern Region 
VON Western Region 

Payable to related parties includes.: 

VON NP-Led Clinic 
VON 360 Degree NP-Led Clinic 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

1,734,048 1,874,356 
1,458,368 2,273,445 

109,622 126,229 
'-- '~-i1L0 .. 1 §:. cc ...... cc~c.cc"ccc•• .. il_§L~3 7,,,. 

3,346,056 4,359,467 

2015 2014 
$ $ 

114,850 85,030 
32,085 

'146,935 . . 85,030 __ .... _ _,. ... ...,..._,.;,,~.;. .... ,.,..:.,.,..._.;.~.,;...;..-.,..; 
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11 Commitments 

VON Canada is committed to minimum annual payments under operating leases for equipment, premises and 
services ovet the next five yeats as fo11ows; 

Year ending March 31, 2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 

$ 

7,161,354 
5,342,690 
4,191,526 
1,051,338 

148,698 
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June 20) 2015 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Board of Directors of 
Victorian Order ofNuxses for Canada- \.Vestm~n Region 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Vir.torian Order of Nurses for Canada -
Western Region ("VON Western Region"), which comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2015 and the 
statements of c.hanges in net liabilities1 operations and cash flmvs for the year then ended and the rch1ted 
notes, whieh comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory infm'mation. 

Managcment~s responsibility for the financial state-ments 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance vvith Canadian accepted accounting pr[ndples for not~for~profit organizations, and for sueh 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the pre'paration of financial statements 
that are free from matedal misstatement1 whether due to fraud or Cl'l'Ot'. 

Auditor's responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on theBl~ financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance \>vlth Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plcm and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the finandal statements are free from materla1 misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financia1 statements, whether due to fraud or 
errol'. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to desi.gn audit procedures that are 
appropl'iate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entily's internal control An audit a] so includes evaluaTing the appTopriaterwss of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management> as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financjal statements, 

PrlcewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
99 Bank Street.. Suite Boo) Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1P 1E4 
T: +1 613 237 3702, F: +1 61:) 2,'37 396,3 



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and aplll'Opriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion1 the financial statements present fairly) in all material respects, the financial position of 
VON Western Region as at March 31, 2015 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance vdth Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Chartered Professional Accountants) Licensed Public Accountants 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Western Region 
Balance Sheet 
As atl\1arch31, 2015 

Assets 

Current assets 
Cash 
Accounts receivable (note 3) 
Receivable from related party (note 9) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Capital assets (note 4) 

Liabilities and Net Liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Bank indebtedness 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 6) 
Payable to related parties (note 9) 
Deferred revenue 

Deferred contributions for capital assets (note 7) 

Net liabilities 
Unrestricted 

The accompanying notes tire an integral part of these financial statements~ 

2015 
$ 

2,510 
556,638 

16,381 
43,244 

618,773 

730,940 

4,407,878 
409,791 

46,167 
4,500 .. ,,~---

4,868,336 

'''·"·~·.·""-.·....;.· 
. 35 333 

2014 
$ 

2,510 
346,652 

50,789 
zs,z~~ 

425,735 

440,015 

3,641 ,2.42 
283,661 

85,437 

4,010,340 

...... A,010,340 

_H82,729L.-c-.·· C3,57o,3~L 

..,_.~7:..;;3:.::,0:.;;., 9,;;40:.c·;c,c· ""'"'~~~c.:. 4.9· 015 

(1) 

I 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Western Region 
Statement of Changes in Net Liabilities 
For the yeat· ended March 31~ 2015 

Unrestricted 

Sa lane&­
Beginning 

of year 
$ 

. (3,570,325} 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of those finacial statements. 

Net (expense) 
for the year 

$ 

(602,404} 

Balance­
End of year 

$ 

(4,172,729)' 

(z) 

I 



Victodan Order of Nurses for Canada" Western Region 
Statement of Operations 
For the year ended March 3;1, 2015 

Revenue 
Fees for servlce 
Donations and fundralslng 
Program grants 
Amortization of deferred conl!ibutions for capital assets 

Expense 
Salaries and benefits 
Mileage and travel 
Direct program costs 
Occupancy costs 
Administration, office and general expenses 
Telecommunication costs 
Information technology services 
Bad debts 
Corporate allocation expense (note 9) 
Amortization of capital assets 

Net (expense) for the year 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2015 
$ 

4,492,963 
12,749 

229,899 
4,667 .. 

. 4,740,278 

3,697,285 
228,928 
256,877 
396,651 
149,679 
81,582 

6,246 

504,316 
21,,118 

'""'·'·5,342E~L . .:.::.cC .. 

(602,404) 

I 

2014 
$ 

4,863,581 
46,474 

610,687 
. 1 255 

5,521,997. 

4,114,770 
192,445 
217,733 
347,845 
108,437 

87,304 
7,277 

101,907 
730,010 

7 108 

5,9.14,836 

(392839) 

(3) 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Western Region 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the yeal' ended March 31~ 201.5 

Cash flows provided by (used in) 

Operating activities 
Net (expense) for the year 
Items not affecting cash 

Amortization of deferred contributions for capital a&sets 
Amortization of capital assets 

Net change In non-cash working capital items 

Investing activity 
Purchases of capital assets 

Financing activity 
Deferred contributions for capital assets received 

Net change in bank indebtedness for the year 

Bank indebtedness- Beginning of year 

Bank indebtedness- End of year 

Bank Indebtedness consists of: 
Cash 
Bank Indebtedness 

The accompanying notes nre an integral part of these finAncial statements. 

~"';,;: ..... 

2015 
$ 

(602,404) 

(4,667) 
21,118 

(.101 ,678.) 

2014 
$ 

(392,839) 

(1 ,255) 
7,108 

(164,679) 

(687,63.,11_ _____ - ~(52_1 ,66~t 

(119,005) (6,863) 

(766,636) (558,528) 

(3,638,732) (3,080,204) 

_.J.;( 4:.,;.4:::;:0::::5"', 3~68::L) ~~~· (3,63 8, 732) 

2,510 2,510 

~4oz,s7s) -~ ~...1\:o3 .. 64t.~L 

(4,405,368) (3,638,732) 

(4) 

!52 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Western Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March 31~ 2<H5 

i. Description of activities and status 

Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- \A! estern Region ("VON VVestcrn Rcgion11
) is incorporated without share 

capital under the Canada Not-for--Profit Corporations Act VON Westm·n Region's statement of purpose is to 
pl'ovide an enhanced quality oflife for Canadians through cost-effet!tive, eommunity-based health care and 
social service.VONWestern .1\(\giDn is guided by the principles of primary healthcnre and works in partnership 
with Canadians for ll he~1lthier society tbl·ough leadership in community-based care1 delivery of innovative, 
co:mprehonsiv1~ health and social sel'Vkcs and influence in the development of health and social policy. VON 
Western Region is a registered eharitable organization exempt from income taxes. 

2. Significant aecountingpolicies 

These financial statements bave been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for­
profit orgnniz,ations and refl.ect· the following significant accounting policies: 

Usc of csthnatcs 

The preparation of financial statementg in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for profit 
OJ:ganizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assels and liabihties and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting pedods. Actut~l results could differ 
from theBe estimates, 

Capital assets 

Capital assets are initially recorded at cost and are then amortized over their estimated useful servi(~e lives> on a 
straight-line bosis, as follows: 

Furniture, equipment and fixtures 
Computer hard>'lare and software 
Leasehold improvements 

Revenue l'e(~ognition 

2 to 7 years 
2 to 3 years 

Term of the lease 

Fees for service received are recognized in the period iu whieh the service is delivered. 

VON \"{estern Region folh_nvs the deferral method of accounting for donations and program grants-. 
Unrestricted revenue is rec~ognized when reeeived or receivable if the amo-unt to be received ean be reasonably 
estimated and eollection.is reasonably assUJ:ed. Externally restricted donations and program grants are deferred 
and reeogniz.ed as revenue in the year the related expenses are incurred. 

Externally restricted contributions for capital assets are deferred and amortized an th~ same basis as the capital 
assets purchased, 

I 



Victorian Onler of Nurses for Canada -\'\!estern Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March 31, 2.015 

Contdhuted servkes 

Volunteers contribute numerous hours to assist VON Western Region in carrying out certain charitable aspects 
of its service delivery activities. Been use of the difficulty of detmmining their fair value1 contributed services are 
not reflected in these financial stntern.ent..<i. 

Pension plan 

VON Western Region is a participating sponsor Of the VON Canada Pension Plan CCUw Plan1
'), which -ptovidBs 

benefits to employees through participation in a contributory, defined benefit pension plan for all eligible 
employees of VON Canada and of the former branches of VON. Pension benefits are based on years of servie(-'. 
and final average enrnings. Annual funding requirements are determined in consultation wlth actuaries to 
provide long-term stability to the Plan. 

VON Western Region accounts for the Plan, which meets the definition of a multicmployer plan, using 
standards for defined contribution plans as VON Western Region is not able to identify its share of underlying 
assets and liabilities. Contributions for the plan are expensed as incurred. 

~j. Financial i:nstrtuneuts 

Accounts receivab1e is comprised of: 

GST rebates 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

15,609 33,968 
VON Community Corporations and foundations 
Other 

13,238 13,238 
540,065 320,073 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 

4 Capital assets 

Furniture, equipment and fixtures 
Computer hardware and software 
Leasehold improvements 

·~-· . _(g~?~) ~~"- - J3(),E!_~?t 
. 556,638 

2015 
~. -.-.. -.. ~ ..... ~ .. ~.----·Accumulated· 

Cost amortization Net 
$ $ $ 

400,783 390,383 10,400 
365,584 337,281 28,303 

346,652 

2014 
.,..,.,-----•->r<"<<c·•~· 

Net 
$ 

8,169 
6,111 

166,205 92 741 ... '''-"··-~L~.c.:,4.:o64ec·"-'·· --""'-'----'-"-

932,572 820,40~'-'· ===e't;1_ 2~·::;1.6;:;.7.,;. ·=_;;.._~~1~4 .• 280 

Cost and accumuhted amortization amounted to $8l:~,567 and $799 1287 at March 31, 2014 respectively; 

(6) 

15'1 



Victorian Order of Nurses for Canada- Western Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
l\iarch 31, 2015 

5 Banldndcbtcdncss 

VON Canada hRs an opemting line of credit of $4,000 1000l bearing interest at prime plus 1.50% \Vith a standby 
fee of 0.12.5% on any unused portion. A general security agreement ovor all})resent and future :personal 
property V\~th insurance eoverage has been pledged. 

6 Gover·nment re1nittances 

Government remittances (CPP, Eland income taxes) in the amount of $36,321 (2014- $42,994) are included 
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

7 Deferred contributions fm· capital assets 

Ooforred contributions for capital 
assets 

8 Employee future benefits 

Balance~ 

Beginning of 
the year 

$ 

Contributions 
received 

$ 

40,000 

Amorti2:ation 
of 

contributions 
$ 

\4,667) 

Balance~ 

End of the 
year 

$ 

35,333 

VON Y\Testern Region participates in a multiemp]oyer defined benefit pension :plan providing pension benefits 
to various participating entitles. Assets contributed by one participating entity are not segregat~d in a separate 
account or restricted to providn hcnefits only to employees of such entity and1 thus1 may be used to provide 
benefits to employees of other pmi:icipating entities. The Board of Directors of VON Canada administers the 
plan and its investments. This multi employer defined benefit pension plan is accounted for by VON Western 
Region using the accounting 3hmdards for defined contribution plans as there is insufficient information to 
apply defined benefit pem:ionplan accounting. Accord:ingly1 VON Western Region's pension expense in respeet 
to this plan of 1~89,652 (2014- $95,624) is their annual funding contribution and VON Western Region does 
not recognize its share of the plan deficit. 

This registered pension plan is funded by pal"ticipating entities in the amount required by governing legislation 
and determinerl by the plan1s actuary. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan fOL' funding and 
ac(',ounting purposes was completed on ,January t, 20l4 and indicated t'cquired annual employer funding 
contributions by all participaOng entities to be $9,8721904. The next valuation will be completed with an 
eff(~ctive date no later than January 1, 20l7. 

(7) 

I 



Victorian Order ofNurses for Canada- Western Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
March 3:1) 2.015 

The funding deficit for the Plan in its entirety for all participating VON Canada ](;gal entities is as follows 
(ooo's): 

Plan assets at fair value 
Present value of future pension obligation 
Valuation allowance 

Funding (deficit) 

9 Related party balances and transactions 

2015 
$ 

375,968 
(358,370) 

~~·l-:(1,_<!,769) .. 

2014 
$ 

301(125 
(316,981) 

~,__,..,..,(.:.!1 •..:..17:..:1.L) ~~"7;-"'c.\(15,856) 

During the year, corporate allocation fees of $504,316 (2014 ~ $73o,mo) were paid to VON Canada by VON 
Western Region. VON Canada controls VON Western Region as it shares the same management team and 
Board of Directors, 

These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount which is the amount established and agreed to by the 
related parties involved, 

The balances due to l'e]ated parties are non-inteTcst bearing with no fixed repayment date. 

Receivable from related party includes; 

2015 2014 
$ $ 

VON Ontario 16,381 50,789 

Payable to re1ate4 parties includes; 

2015 2014 
$ $ 

VON Canada 44,018 85,437 
VON Nova Scotia ~ 

46, 1()7 85,437 

(8) 

)5 



Victorian Order of Nurses fm· Canada- Western Region 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Mar•ch 31) 2015 

10 Commitments 

VON Western Region is committed to minimum annual payments under operating leases for equipment and 
premises over the next four years as follows, 

Year ending March 31, 2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 

$ 

304,998 
232,357 

95,606 
27,075 

15-::t-
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September 9, 2015 

Victorian Order ofNurscs for Canada 
2315 StLAurent Blvd Suite 1 00 
Ottawa ON KlG4J8 

De~_r Mrs. Poirier: 

ThQ B;mh of Hova 5(olia 
f~.ecutlw: Officet_ S:oti~ FL~i!J 
4~ King '\t(ee"( VJ€51 
Tor(m\u, Or< 
CmMla MSH 1l:1l 

We confirm that subject to acctlptance by you, The Bank of Nova Scotia (the "Bank") will. make 
available to Victorian Order of Nurses for Cant~da (the "Bon·ower"), credit 'f:qciJities on the tem1s and 

·j:onditions set out in the attached Tenns tmd Conditions Sheet. and Schedule "A'', 

lf tl1t: <~1Tarrgc.l1lent:. ;;r~l 0111 in thi::; leUt:r, rmd in th"' olltnchcd Term•; and Conditiow: She<:! und 
Sellc:cluh: "A" (eol!cctiv<;ly the. "Commitment Lt>J\er") nrc acccp~uble'to·you, piea:>e ~ign the unclosed c:opy 
nfthif. letter in lht:: ;;pg(:e ir!Jic:rtted lwlnw and retLnnlht: kticr 1\l ns by the cloot' ufbu:,ine:;:; or: 

C'-. ~;;?ptmnbcr+i; 1015, n!'ir:,J' wllir;h dat(• tl1is .-JOb· willlnp;:n. 
'-....) C .o\•l.:\l('{'.Q. 'j 

Thr; Cc•lnillillm:nt L~!t(:r ftlpl:rceB all rd·.::viow; CCllllmitntl:t\\ii ist:l!ed hy the finnk to the Bnrwwer. 

Yours trnly 

N Chopm 
Director- Special Accounts Management 

By signing this Commitment Letter you confirm tlwt the product(s) and/or scrvice(s) offered to you 
hcrein will nt1t be 11sed for or on behalf of any individual or ei1tity other than you nnd the other part\cs 
named in the Commjtmcnt Letter fix whose benefit sur;h products (tnd servlces an.J intended. 

Tbe arrru1gernents set out above and in th0 attached 'l\mns and c~,nJitions Sheet and Schedule "A" 
(collectively tbc ''Commitment Letter") are hereby ackn.owledged and acce.pted by: 

V1C'.f0RIAN ORDKH. 01? NU,EBES FOR CANADA 

By: By: 
Title: Tit!~;: 

Dr,te: Dnte: 
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Opemting Line. 

'PURPOSE 

CilJlac:lian. d.ollaJ:s. 

'VA' /tc.lLMENT 
'<,.,,' ''•-•';., •r'•••••••' 

'I:ERMS'AND•cONDITIONS 

.~ 

I ' 

Paget 

The Borrower iiiay avail the Credit by way of direct advances evidenced by an Agreement re: 
Operating Credit Line, 

lNTERilsT@,TE, 

l'hti'')?i,iilk's .J.'rlme Lending.Rat•i'from time to timi; plus 1.75% per iiliritifu wlili iiltetdst•payable 
moiiilily. · . ·· · 

.~FEES. 

A Stllltdby Fee ofQ,25"/o per iinlluin on the daily unused portion of the Ctedit; iS p~yable quarterly. 

}?~9~ 

Mvanc~~ '\fo to be made in minim\lffi multiples of $~p6,oti'o U:Mnr~lpt pf ilie.:ilPJmWet'~ W!'itten . 
. X«m~est 

,J<EllA~}j''J', 

.AliYl'!l~e~.w~.re~ya]Jieon ileman(l. 

11\e.followlng soourity, evidenced ])y doo\llllents in form $atislito(l?,Xlollle. B~•IU!!lrcgi$red;or 
, l'\lporcd"4 as,rei],uired l)y th.; ~atik. is. to ~e prtl~id(ld prj or to lilly'lldvlilices or a'(!lil~ent bi>lrtg nil!d~ 
·UUder.tlie Cr]lditt 

Agreement ni: Operating CreditLine. 

•'"·' ,, 
:~ : 

I 



(--.....' ." 

,'0Rilbn'N1JMF:l'lRl ¢1 .•.. , .•.. ,._,_._~--·..,...-'-+~~~1\l.jJtJ:lpiD11iff'A'Mt)1)1)1'ti:IJi~dOjOQQ; 

TYPE 

Scotia Visa Card for Business • Availmeot, interest tate, iuid repayment "'' per Cardholder 
Agreement. 

PURPOSE 

:8 !JSinoss ¢Xpenses. 

Canadian dollars, 

The folloWing secndty, evidenced by documents in fonn saiisfuctol){ to jlie EI"Jlk and ~<;glsterec\ or 
recorded as req'lired \>Y the Bilpl5; .is to be provitle\) pr!qr;to anY !l(ly\tfiqe~ Qt ~x?l(/llenJ b~ing nwle 
~l14~r ~'!' cil><\iti • 

· S~oBa v:lsa Cilrd.foiBrisiliess A!Veemeiit 

The 'following security, evidenced by documOI!ts in fo"!l satlsfaot<;>ry {o Jl)~ Iian¥: .U,d.r:egist'lJ:~.d 9r 
xec9r,d¢ a• ;:eq11iwd by tho :lii)nk; ii t<;), ~.;provided priodo any;~dvance~ or availinent being•Jllade • 
llJld~r;'J:4e.Cr:edits; 

Genom! seclli'lty Agreement over all present ili.fd fiitoie peiiionai.JlrapeitY willi ajipiojiriatl> 
1iisiiimuie c<rveliage, loss lfaay, payable to lhe Bank. ·· · · 

·c;pllalc!J!l M6rtgage In ilie .amount $J,dbo,oj)o providillg a .ied.iXed charge over 1.151 
}ljorQn~e Stree~ Suite 400, London ON witli replatemont cost fire insuriUlce and 
earth~ual<e covera~e, loss, ifany, payable to tllp Blink as mortgagee. 

:ouimuitees given by the follp)Ving (v;illi.oprp~r~t9: ~~a\.1111d re-sQluti9n ~~ mijl'l\M~) iij tjl~ 
· ~<?~~ ~oyn~r ~ 

J\'1 .,, ~P.w ~~·· , · 'Vfol~iJ\i Gfl'dep'~~l.'ll\\~~~for Cnnada. Ontario Branch lJ!l1i)Iliied 

, 

.' Nr~~ , , ~·'1 . · ' .," . , : •:t\l:6~&llso~a Branch • Unffin!ted 
: ~ • 1'1\~~Q ~ , ·~I®K~®cO.r:~erut.)'l"ursJJslorCanada- WesternRcg10n Un1!ID~ted 

,

;Ji' VIC!otJRI1 Ord"' ofNurses for Canada. Ef\Stem Region Unhmi!ed 

. '

:.· ~ • All of the above Guarantees ~re furt11er supported by: General Securljy Agreemc'llts 
over all present and future personal property with appropriate insurance coverage, 
loss if any, payable to the Bank. ' 

/bO 

.•; 



Page3 

§PBClFIC CONDITJ_Q~g 

Until all debt~ and liabilities. un4~r th~ C'redlts have qeen discharged in full, the following 
conditions will apply in respect of the Credits: 

Failure to revolve the Operating Line do\\'ll to $0 on a monthly basis will be considered an 
Event ofnefault. 

Any cash shortfu1Js must be funded by the respective CommU:nlty Corporations or anY other 
means. 

Until ull debts and liabilities under the Credits have been discharged in full, the following 
conditions wHlnpply in respect of the Credits: 

The Operating Line is to rev()lve monthly to a mlnimtl@ outstanding b~lanoe of$0. 

The !l!lgtegate of the Opemting Line and Scotia VIsa c;ard for Business irre not to .exceed at 
any time the lesser of \he operating limit or the "Borrowing Base" which is defined as the 
aggregate of 90% of good quality government accounts .receivable (excluding accounts' 
over 150 days);'pl~s 75% of good quality ac~o\lllts receivables (excluding Mcounts over 

. 90 days, accounts duo by ·erilplciyees/offsets 'rind inte(company accounts), less seourHy 
lnterestB or chlll'ge,s held by other parties and specific payables which have or may have 
priority over the Bank's security. · 

Without the Bank's prior written o.onsenl: 

Other than repayments to the Operating Line, no repayment of loMs including th.e 
Community Corporations. 

The OperatingLine shall not be used to make· any repayments of the loatJs from 
IBM Global Financing, a division of IBM Canada Limited (''lBM"), or any 
affiliated party, In additon, no IBM loan repayments may be made while the 
Operating Line lm~ art outstanding balance. 

Gullrantces or other contingent liabJHties are not to be entered into and assets are 
not to be further encumoered. 

For ongoing Credit Risk management purposes, all operating accounts of the Borrower 
shall be maintained wit!; the I)ank as long ru; the Borrower lu;s any Operating Line With the 
Bank, except fat i!On•operatilig legecy accounts that inay be wifu other fiJlanclal 
institutions. All efforts should be made to close all accounts held at financial institutions 
outside ofthc Bank. 

If there is any change from the ncoOtmting po Iicies, practices alld caiculMion m~thods used 
by the Borrower in preparing <my pllrt of it~ financial statements for the fiscal year most 
recently completed before tl1e date· of this Commitment Letter, the Boxrower $hall provide 
the Ilankwith all infonnation that the Bank requires to ensure that reporting provided to the 
Bank after MY changes life ccirnparab!e to previous reporting, In addition, all calculations 
JUade for the purposes ofthis Commitment Letter shall continue to be made based on the 
accounting policies, practices und ca\cu!ation methods in effect as at the date of the 
iiilancial statements for the most reeel!ily completed fiscalyeru:, In the event of a chaJlge in 
tho accounting pollcles, practices and calculatioll methods, the Bani!: retains the right (a) to 

lb/ 
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.• . 
I, 

ii,ot on iil)y default undef the fiJJancjal coven'J!lts pr any pther .Jepns an4 con~!liotltli\S 
oefin<:d in this Commitntent L~tter ih~t i~ dlscJ.osed l)y. applying 'i!)e previo11s accounting 
pol!clos, praptiees1U1d c~lculation methods lllld (bht its dls'cret!on and acting roasonab!y, to 
amend/rose! covenants that ate affected by tile 9han!\e· 

Ad(iitional limns and ctiilditlons ili Schedule A ate to af>.ply; 

(#l!l\l~J;~rutOWERJ!mlibR'fiNJ~:!fi@NpJllOhlt* 

Uu'tli :;dl debts and :il~bllities'under 1he:·CfediW have hellll.discharged iri full,'the.Boi'iower will 
!J:r<r'ildetho BmkWitli'tlle l.'oilowiilg: . · · . 

;,. 

Annual audited consolidated financial siatem~nts ofthe.iio;ro'!'et, prepnre~ u1 accordance 
)'Vith tbe.;ele<;ted Qenenilly Acoept'ed Accounting Principle ("GAAP") applicable at the date 
-p[th~ firtiuJCial statements, within 15 0 daYs of fiscal year end, duly si!;riecl: 

Annual audited unconsolidated FinHlloial Statements ofVictqrlan Or~er .of. Nurses .for 
Ctiilada - On!al'io B~ch, prypared in aqcordance with f!)fO. elcet~d. Generally Acc"pwd 
Acc~~ni!ng·?rinciple ("GAAP''). appllca.ble at tlje·date of tlie.iiJJandia! statements, areto.be 
~Jlb.milted Within !SQ days of the. (}Qarantofnisc!il yoerend, duly signed . 

.- ' •• I 

4Unual iiiJdlted 'uiicbnsolidated Finllllcl>ll Statement; of VQN C"'la:ila • N0va Sc0lla 
~~ID,Jch, prepare.<!. in ac()Qrd.~nc~ w,it\l the_o)ec\~il. ('J~nera!l~ ;\qc0p~d A,oc~l)lll#Ji :~oip,l,~ 
('lGJ,IA'Pj 'IJlJlltca1ll~ att~e date of !be fu)anqlall!b!teme.ll!Si are 1:1.) b)<§ubm\tllld .W)thm 150 
4a,ys,of;the.9~a!'l!Jltot's fiscal year end, duly signed, 

Annual ConsOlidated Budget Of the BortoW;fo~the upcoming flscaLyeiii Wlthitl 120 dayii 
Oftliil Bomiwer' s ffsc~lyf.lar eiJd, .. 
Semi-Annurtheport as at J'.1arch $1 .;,.d Septe!lli?<lr 3 0 from Mercer c:9n:firniing tlle status of 
¥OR's pensiodplan's solven9)'-position and .. future payment requirements pue wl1hib.l20 
ila:ysoflVlardt3i' andSeptembor.3'0. · ' 

¥6Whlfiriteiilally prepared interim consp,llq~t~d ~ta~"l,\t~, ii,1d!H~iJlgJ!;j9AlcY~~ ~l'd, <if 
<tlie•Borrower·with M!lllilgemerit Piscussjon .and Analysis to.he proyldea' withinAS days of 
'Perio,d.,,nd. 

:'i'o tbe e~cterrt not Included in tho monfuly Mabiigeriiei\t Discussion and Analysis; quarterly 
'detailed report addressing i. productivity, 2. operations in Nova ~0otia (lll~)uding strategy 
and notion plan conceming govemm~nt f\md)nglimiim negot!aii<ms) !llidJ. opeiations in 
t;inw!o (including strategy and action plan ,concerning sub contr:acj;ors) \o be provided 
.,Yith.ljl;45 .days of period end. 

Mort1hly Borrowing Base Calcitlatlon is to be providc4 wi!Jjii\, 45 cl~ys q~p~dM en4; iJuly 
·SiWted-; 

M9~thly Ag~d Listing ofA.cco\ffits Rec¢ivablc (lilioo~ts ov~t S500) to be provid~d wltljil) 
~$ ~ays, of Pmo<l end. Gove!'l'l()ent accounts tebelviilile should !5o sep.tatilly Identified 
{rom otlier tnide accounts receivable. 

Monthly.Agedtisting ofAc~Ul)ts Paxab!e to be,proiiided wltllln;45 :days ofperioP:end. 

Monthly Lt~ting providing details·of.all prlorllyi'ayabiOs to be' provided within 45 dityo'bf 
period.end. · · ·· ·· ' ·• 

'': 
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Ari:Aiilillill Review Fee of$5,biiOls payable annu~lly. 

l;,ate '!lqmrfing Fee of $250 for !he htit)al ocmirterice and $500 fOr each subsequent ·occurrence is 
pay~ble by tlie Borrower. • ' 

overrun Fee of$1;000. 

Tem]JDJ,','!IY qve!Tiln F~e of $1,000 per occurrence. 

A' Bl)!ach of credit Tenns/Conditions Fee of $1,000 for each Occurrence ls payable by 'the 
Borrower. · · · ,, · · 

In addition to, !lji~ n,ot in su)lstl\uti<ln for the obilgatlons ,Of thelJ~tr.ower and 'tlifriglitfbf tlie Barifu 
:upon !he occurrence !if an event ofderaultlrerein; the BOtrower ~haltp~;Yto the'•Ban~ admh!i&atl9n; 
fees:of: · 

@, $•'5.00 perhionth (or such hl!ll\iit-'"''o.Pnt ns may be d¢termme4 by the.Bimk fromthne t9 
il#~~Xl£1f·i11l#iifl'\i'~t]i;8if:partil\e!'lfl'l'i~4i:lilt\lYhicb the Borrower is late, in proViding, the Bank with 
~[\i,]i:l!i>•§lj,9,l!J;I\;iihiJolmat!on ~~»ti:;)dl!<lffill!) 

()>) ..... · ... ·· $$. .. \Xl· ·.• '.p. ·"~ .. ru. 'l!ltli (or s~dhiij/il.·Iel' !Jji\' .. ~unt us m. ay• ~ire4~i~.J#lm9~ ~)'iiM .l;jluik ;ft ... ·o .. ~nl ··IW.' > ~ to 
tiruet,fot ~1\'ckmb.fttlt or part tli61'W~·illi\'li\~ whio)i loan. :P.\Wll~lll!1':p'fpl')f!9lR<ll,, intel~s /ot other 
mnollrits iiie pust d.inl; an& · · ··· ·· · · · · · · 

' 

... ~J .. ··~o~ti~d·~~·~~i~i,~~=~~~·~o~;&~~~~~li~~~~?·~~~~t!lan~#::9:t~e;;~:. iJm~). . .... ~. 11l ~ .ll . l!ll, ll.PA ....... ® ... ~ l .. t. ··"~···· ,,, .!l')Yoll!ff:;:c·· ffil 
i~!ln~itll\n ~-ed·•!ji.·f!Us 0\ltiifuJ!W~~t:tle!i~{:~f iti :~;~))iey;!ll51Xl•.m~J1:t'fu.'J.:li1\1I' ~i¢ .lllin:\iwet• 
and. 'thellank are' parties. 

The i~po~ition q;ooileciion of!~cs does not con,tltute an exp~b!iior implied waiver by the Bank of 
• ao.y:~Y~ri): d{def~pi; qr .any oftho terms or c6ri~lrl9ns ofthe'iehdiilg arran~ements, sccurity pnigqts 
:ari~ing•from any default. Fees may he charged to the Borrower's deposit ~ccoP1ll w~.ln:wcurrcd. 

The app!icallle fees are subjoot to increase by the B.ank upon 30 days prlornotloe to.you. 

Th ll),~ IIV~n! of a d~fault in anr oft,he tenys arW~!idl~{jh~ ~6t ollt heriih th'e Bbrrowe• a9""~1,.»,:i)l>. 
th~ Blj!Jk that the mtetest raws 'W!II be ll).creased by 2.q,O·per O'!,¢,(f~) P."F~?,l!l O.J! ~~ .'!r"'l\ts 
qu~tand!ng to !hi> Borr.awet effective lis of the dat~ pf <Mault by theBp'I1'9\V~nnd qontinuing ~til 
th~ defatiltl~ Cli~d jjy i:Ii.e Borrower w~en.,ih" mt~estraies,~dfees wil!Jl~ reiiuced W tjle oHginal 
rilles' set out·herehL 'Tii.e.imp.o~ili'!'f and ~oll~ction.ofthesl1 incte!)Sejl}ntet;est;tates Jm,d/ees'Will!i6t 
oonstifute ll!l.expJ;e•s P,r implied waiver by the Bank Of any e!.>ent''ofdtfaiilt or any of the terms and 
Q91l<!fflp~s o~fhe i'endii\g arrall)¢rnenlll, security,or.ri@iw arising from an.i' defai\lf by th• Bqr;ower, 

·,, 
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,AI:JQl:UOMAL1;E~tif~Mf~O,NS{~Pl)il§~~ 

~~~arul~aW)eniSl~lhfut'*'i 
' 
J:Iiterestoii. laiinS/a\lvarides made in Canadian dollars will be chlculat;ed on a daily basis.and payable 
monthly on ·the 22rid day of each month (unless otherwise stipulated by the .Balik),, Lriterest shall be 
p~y~ble.!lot in ~cjvanoe on the p~slS 9h 0alenp.r yeo/ fo; tile acf]j,n) 11umber of days elapsed both 
before '!DC! aJ.1:er demand of paJilwnt 0~ <)efaqit arid! or ]udgmei)(, 

·J)l!.er.est~r..Py•td,l!,~·l1ll~(~!t 

1.. J:Iiterest on overdue interest sballbe·chlculated at !he sa:rnc· rate as interest on !lie loiiris/ridvatioes ill 
respe(jt of which interest is overdue, put ·~·ll be compounpcd p:tonthly IUld 9~ payable on. demand, 
l:ioth before and nfter demand Md judgment. 

•J)llfe-¥J'DYisl~l); 

3;; JfTh.eilliJ)Jducti9n, ado,p,tion odmplementati9rt of, or all)'.qh.11!l~e in,,qriidhe intelJ>retatlon of, or 
·llnY chf!l).g~ m.its applic~t!o11 to 1li~)lorrowQr of>~Y law •. r~gtJl~,o!Ji gqill~.\j\!Qprl]q\\xsf!?~P,!'~,b):' 
any, ~e!lttal •bank or .oUwr governmental authority (whether or riot•· havli!g th<; fQrce· t>P~w), 
irtcludirtg,. wi tMut limltation, an~ liq u idijycresel'\le br. otheaeserve·orspeciatdeposlnl.lqtiirenient rit 
an twx (other, thilii ·~· ori l:he li;ilircs. g~:ileralp:ioome) (if itiltca)litafreq~ifetilenr,.•ha~ d~~ to th? 
Blink's compliance the effect, ·d!rectli or liiditectly, ·of (i) increiisiili!:·· thO' 'CO'st• to 'the Billile of 
P,~tf9,rmjng ;\~:!, obll&atip~s jl9reun~o/· or 11pqer;anY ·~~ihl/.e~t )i~>teullcler;,:(il) red,uciiig .any amount 
;~ecel~.e~ lit rel,l<fivable•by the Bank or its effective .re!tlm h~reunder or :in i!lspe0!·of any availmo!lt 
hereunder.pr on' its .~apital; 0r (iii) causihg the Bank to mlil<:e any p~yment qr .\a. forgd any 1:\'tl\rll 
based .qu any mn(jlint receNed or te<\eivable by th~ Ba¥ heretmder orin respect of any ayallment 
hereuhde~ lleferinfued by the Bank in its diScretion, thei:i upon deriiilid ftoni time to time the 
Borrqwer sba~ pay such llll:lOU!l! ~· shall cqmpensate th~ Bank for !PlY •§uch cost, reduction, 
~.!o/m"l\1 QC fori!o.~~. re\1.11Jl (collectiy~ly "ll)ct~a~ed r:;o~\li;.) ·~ supjt ;llnmwi~ '!f.~ r~<J;l.onaNy 
\l~!<>mifu<Xl)y:tb~ Bank and setfort!J, in a eertl:fi<;ate:to the;.)lorrowe;. 

lli the'eveiifof the B5)rid'Q'~r becd~ing liable for slich J:Iici~ated .C\Js\#;. the Bp\'fbV{~r shf!ll h"ve 111!l 
rignhq prepay fu full, without penalty, tHe outstandiilg principal bii!ance·:uniler 'the'.affecteiCctedit 
fllh~r 1l)lm the ~~IO<i !llliol)!l~ pf anY docllll1ent pr instrJu11~~t i~sued Olj •cx:•l't:ed by til• Bank for the 
ac,.~qrit.oft)W ~offpwer,. including; without limi\Ution, .a Letter of Greg!):, (L~~er ,of Gu.'lnl!it•ll Pr a 
Bank¢rs' ./I.Qceptance, Upon any such prepayment, the Bdrrower shall also pay the then act;rl!ed 
lriterest 'on tho amount prBpald iii'!d the Increased Costs to the date ofprepaYIJleh\ tOgether with such 
amount.. a.; will comvensate the Bimk for the cast of any early 'lriimlliatiofl. of its funding 
~gpme)1js lr) ~ccordan® witl:t.its normal practices, as,suoil.a,tn9U!lts·"l• c~oj]latedin a certi:ficate. 
;reasciliallly prpp!!fed py the Ban!<:. 

4. '!'he Borrower agreeS> 

(It) ··~. obenli ~pp)iqab)o law(and req~lrements of any federal; proilnciKI; .or any clilier 
·governmentar· autbotity relatlilg to the envlroflnient and th~· operation of the business• 
•iictivitie'Sof the Borto\iler: · · 

(b)j to allo;y the,):lanj< ao~ss af all ilxn"!J to the business premises oft]leJ:lorrower to lj\l\pJ{\') ; "; 
nptj,'inspect all p,roper!y and b~sl11ess activities ofihe l'!orrower; · · · 

I 



(d): 

(I). 

(' ( 

to n0til'y ihe Bank from time tt1timo ohn:Y business activlty·colidilcted: b:\' tlie Borrower 
":'hiph fuvoJyes Jh,~ ,Use:ofllandJlriifof)li!Zru'dotiS 'fuilleflais Ot1Wris!es or wliiCfi inotMSes the 
enviionlfieiilii[ JiaJJDily of the Botfowcr in anymaferitil manner; ,, 
to noilty ihe Rank of.;my:;propose~ ob;mge iti the use or 66,eupatldn oi'tii~ prop!lrty of the 
Borroj'lor prior to any phange occurring; · 

to provide the Bank with 'iUIItiediate written notiee of any material environmen1al problem 
and nl!y bazarootis llUiteria!s OI substances whlcb !)ave an adverse effect OJ1 the properly, 
~quipmen4 or business activities. of the Bon:pwer ,and wjtl1 any other environinental 
ll)formation request~d by the Bank from tiino to time, 

to.~ondnot all envitonme11tal toniedial aotivitiils which a ciimmiirdl!llly\feasonii1lle person 
would perfoxtn in similar illr¢umlitiirices to·meetits enviro~~cnial•r"!lnq~~j)Ji)lil~~ Bljilif!!t~ 
Bcirri:lWeHa'Usto dd s6, \bo Bllrlk·may perfol1JI ~9~11,, ~gftylt(~~i ·~~ '· 

to pay for any fll~ironm.enta!lnye;'\lgatibns, asscssmelltii or temodlilllictiv!tles with Jesjiect 
to any prop,ity d' the ciJorrower that; may be perf~mted fOr or by the Bunk from rune to 
time. ' . 

If the Bo.rrowet'lJotifies tbeBankofany spepified activlly or cliange•oipro\Cides the Barikwiti1 any 
mforilllltion pursu;mt to ~11~s~ction~ (c), (d); or (e), or if the Blink receives any eovitonmental 
!rif")1ll~Po!\from 0ltier s0'1fces, ,the l;llink, in its sole discretion, maY, debide that an adverse change 
in t~e e!J.viiqrunental coridii:ion of the Borr,ow~f ol'any cjf the ji,fo{ieity1 equipmen~ or busmes~ 
'!l<:iiViti~s· oft~e Bo1:towcr ~~s occpired whiCh <,leclslon will constit~~ •. W. t!J~. a:Os<ln!1" 9~: tp>;nifc;,<t 
'l!X<i~\ c~iipluiij~e.evld6nho Of\lje adve~ech!lllg<l. 1i'IUowing'this:<J~¢lsi(Jn be'Jllgcmade by tlie lllillk;: 
ffio1Biiiikiilial1notil'y the:B91TP\Y~tp~ !hellan!>:'s d~~ision C<ihcotn\ng•the;adverile change. 

lf'lli~')l~ ac!#ig~on~!llY decides or is required to ii!bli): elqienses .fu compliance or to verifY the 
llwv.w~l'~ c<?1l1Jiliancil with appllcablc cJivironrnenb•f dr other .regulations, the Borrower .shall 
Jndemni~ thdank'li! f<j~,Ptiot bf siicli exppnsos, whlch willconstitute f\utb<!r a~y;mces by the Blink 
to tlie Biutower'uhdorthls Agreeme.nt. y ·•· 

if#lt1'\1J.'D(!!\v@:¥t:Q'; 

5, Tb~ ri~t of tlie Bqrrewer. 10 qb!J\fu the,lnitliil drawdOwn under !)le Qr~glj(~) !Jl: 1sq.~j~l~t'(9.1h~ 
'qo)ldi~on jiJ'COedent :that there Shall not· ha'\e \l~n !ll!Y;,m~ler!al.a<Jyers~ ~j,ang~: fu tl\~ finnnpl~J 
ooi!ditllln oi"the envii'onmenW cpndi~o!J off:\le Bo!l):>weror any glllU'Rlltor'ofthei3orrow~r. 

\l'eimllJ*'R'ii\iib\% 

~; {'he .9llligation 6fthe Bank to mak;\1 furth?r.adyances or other~ccOil!Jll94afl~n ay;~ll~l;Jje Jl!.lderany 
Credit(~)' of tH~·Bori'o'Wei'ucidei which the lndebted!\ess or )jab)lity of ll>e. Borrpw.er iii payable on 
demancii.!issubjecfto periodiQ·review IU)d to no adv.erso ¢!range ocourring ln tbo.financial condition· 
orthe ·~"1\-gnm~ntal col)dition o~tbe \3orroweror a1.Y guarantor, · 

·:'·· 

% 'fh~.EBrik'ii.lili'?ouxits, ~po~~ 11\ld F'!c,9rds con~tute, in tfre a]Js~titie:of manU:¢st e!ror, ~?iicl~siye 
~~!de~•· ·of tlie, adye,n.ces lJ11lde under 'llus Credi~ repajnlents bti accoiliit thereof and :the. 
lnde~~\l!J~~s qfl!)e Bbrtowerto the B<'Jlk. ··· · 

., . 



' ' 
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A)Lhtdepie~ess ani!ljabll!ty 0ftlre Iiarro:wer to the Bank not payable on de,mand,shall, aflhe 
qpilou offue Bank, become immediately due and payable, the security held by the Bank shall 
immodiatoi:Y, !iec0me enforceable, a:nd the obligatjon ofthe·Bank to make f))rtlfer' advances or. other 
accommodation availabJe.under the Credits shill! terminate, if ally one of ihe following Events of 
Default o6cilrs: 

(f) 

~ii) 

(iii) 

(Y) 

(Vi) 

(vii) 

(viii) 

the Borrower or any guaran(or fails to, 1~ake~he~ due, \ilhelh~r o,n demlU\d or. at 
a filled payment date; bY ooc<ilemtlbn or otherw4e, !ll):( .Jiaymont of interest, 
principal, fees, cotliriilsslbns or otl\er· amriun!i pa~able W'the :Sili!k;. 

!here is ~.breach, 'by the. gorr0w0r .qr !ll)Y gu!ll'!ll)tbr of: !IllY pthe~ !eqn or 
, c9ndlti?n contained in this Conunitmerit ·J:::ett~r or in any· o~er amement to 
whlch.the Borrower and/or any guarantor and the Bank ilre'p!lrtios; 

any default occurs undetnny se6tiri!)i liSted jli thiil C6iriiniinieritLetter under the 
headings !'Specific Security" or "General Security" or undeHny other credit, 
loan or se~urity agreement U1 which li!e )3oqqv/or tu>.!Vor·any gu!l!anior.Js·:~ 
p:ui:y; 

nnY· ~8ilkruptcy, re-organization; .<Sompromlse, ril'iangom~ri4 iriso!Verioy of 
"":_.._ ,.,_.- -- ',-- -- - •• ,: • .;·... ' ' .... ,, ···,\ ,.,, ••• ·.'< 

llquiiliitliin ptoceediiigs or other.proceedings .for the relief of debtors. ate 
ins~tuted by or agajlls! ihe ilop:qv.:~r ot•P¥ 'gu'\'!1!\ti>r ll\1~, 1f.imfizyte.4, ·~.~1\wt 
ihHloqp)'i'er ·or any gu!lfantor, !ll'e,nllpwed ~g~inst or,q0\j$ented W:)ly the 
B.ortowet or' any gullliJ,ntor or are not dlsml$s¢d 9r $tayed wit!lin 60 days Iiller 
such·· itrStitUtiot~;... · · 

.a rcicoiveds appointed over any property. of the Borrower or any guarantor or 

.any judgement or orc!er or any process of any courtbecome,s enforceable against 
the: Borrower or any gua,ranior ~r any propetiy ofilie Borrower or <ll!Y guanintor 
ot any creditor takes possession of.,an)" property of. tllii Borrower at any 
~arantor; · · · , ·' 

anyeourse''ora,!lpn js u¢~*~~ by_tbe j3o~oW•£ PIUI).Y 1)11'!j'anl~p9\ V<l~1 
.,re!p'lOtl<!, the. BorroW" o~ any,guarailtor which woliJdr~s~lt'fu the Borr0Wer's 
or ~arantoi's reorganization, amalgamAtiop or lll01'ge~with finiith~r cotlJ(lr~tion 
or tM. transfer 'Of all or. substantially all ofthe Biirrowor's ot atiy gharantOr's 
t!SSC~; . . 

any •guarantee of in~ebteqness and ll~tbillty un.cler the C\'edi~ Li!te. is withdrawn, 
dbt•mnhw4 tb be invaild or otherwise ren~ered fu~ffeotix~; - · · · ·· · · 

anY· adverse;chiii)gc occurs m tlib fuiahcial con1lill<ilt ·oftlie Bilrrowet of'iiliy'' 
zyatim!br. · · ,, 

'(J*) any ~pve,se·,change OC\)~rs in the enxiroumenulJ.oonhifion oJ': 

()\.) theflorr¢wer or any guarantor ofthe'Bottowei) of' 

any. prop'erty, eql)ipmen); or busin~ act!vifi~>s of the '!lo11'0))'er or any 
guaraJ1tor ofthe.Biirrower~ 

lb 



' . 

1. 

.Gosts; 

9. All oosts,ln61udmg)egal.lirid appraisal fees iii.curred. by the Bank relative to sec,;ity ana other 
\loctiliientatiori and the eirlbrcehlent fuereof, shall be for the account of the. Borrower !md 111ay be 
charged to ihe Borrower's deposit l\CCOunl when submitted. 

< ~ ,. ', 

. . 
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Exhibit I 



'-~'- .._. ; , fCI- , sworn utrn.1rB roo, utiS ... J.-............ : ... ..................... . 
GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT 

1 Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada -----
(NAME OF CUSTOMER) 

of2315 St. Laurent Blvd, Suite 100, Ottawa, ON, K1G 4J8 
·----·--· -······~··-~~--.-- ~·--····-·~------·-·-,.. 

(ADDRESS or CUS I OMER) 

for valuable consideration grants. assigns, transfers, sets over, mortgages an 

Branch located at 20 QUEEN STREET WEST, 4TH FLOOR, TORONTC, ~·, ,.,~,, v• "" 

··- . - (ADDRESS OF BRANCH)·-------·····--· 

(the "Bank") as and by way of a fixed and specific mortgage and charge, and grants to the Bank, a security interest in the 
present and after acquired undertaking and property (other than consumer goods) of the Customer including without limitation all 
the right title, interest and benefit which the Customer now has or may hereafter have in all property of the kinds hereinafter 
described (the "Collateral"): 

(a) all goods comprising the inventory of the Customer including but not limited to goods held for sale or lease or that have been 
leased or consigned to or by the Customer or furnished or to be furnished under a contract of service or that are raw 
materials, work In process or materials used or consumed in a business or profession or finished goods and limber cut or 
to be cut, oil, gas, hydrocarbons, and minerals extracted or to be extracted, all livestock and the young and unborn young 
thereof and all crops; 

(b) all goods which are not inventory or consumer goods, including but not limited to furniture, fixtures, equipment machinery, 
plant, tools, vehicles and other tangible personal property, whether described In Schedule "A" hereto or not; 

(c) all accounts, including deposit accounts in banks, credit unions, trust companies and similar institutions, debts, demands 
and chases in action which are now due, owing or accruing due or which may hereafter become due, owing or accruing 
due to the Customer, and ail claims of any kind which the Customer now has or may hereafter have including but not limited 
to claims against the Crown and clairns under insurance policies; 

(d) all chattel paper; 

(e) all money: 

(f) all warehouse receipts, bills of lading and other documents of title, whetl1er negotiable or not; 

(g) all instruments. including but not limited to bills, notes, cheques, letters of credit, and advices of credit; 

(11) all investrnent property. including but not limited to shares, stock, warrants, bonds, debentures, debenture stock and other 
securities (whet11er evidenced by a security certificate or an uncertificated security) and financial assets, security 
entitlements. securities accounts, futures contracts and futures accounts; 

(i) all intangibles including but not limited to contracts, agreements, options, clearing house options, permits, licences, 
consents, approvals, authorizations, orders, judgments, certificates, rulings, insurance policies, agricultural and other 
quotas. subsidies, francnises, immunities, privileges, and benefits and all goodwill, patents, trade marks, trade names, 
trade secrets, inventions. processes, copyrights and other industrial or intelleclual properly; 

(j) with respect to the personal property described in subparagraphs (a) to (i) inclusive, eli books, accounts, invoices, leiters, 
papers, documents, disks, and other records in any form, electronic or otherwise, evidencing or relating thereto; and all 
contracts. investment properly, securities, instruments and other rights and benefits in respect thereof; 

(k) with respect to the personal property described in subparagraphs (a) to (j) inclusive, all parts, components, renewals, 
substitutions and replacements thereof and ali attachmenls, accessories and increases, additions and accessions thereto; 
and 

(I) with respect to the personal property described in subparagraphs (a) to (k) inclusive, all proceeds tt1erefrom (other than 
consumer goods). including personal property in any form or fixtures derived directly or indirectly from any dealing with such 
property or proceeds therefrom. and any insurance or other payment as indemnity or compensation for loss of or damage 
to such property or any right to such paymenl, and any payment made in total or partial discharge or redemption of an 
Intangible, chatiel paper, instrument, security or investment property; and 

In this Agreement, the words ''goods", "consumer goods", "account", "account debtor", "inventory", "crops". "equipment". 
"fixtures", "chattel paper", "document of title", ''instrument'', "money", "security", or "securities", "intangible", "receiver", 
"proceeds", ··accessions", ''certificated security", "clearing house option", "control", "financial asset", ''futures account", "futures 
contract", "futures intermediary", "investment property", "securities account", "securilles lnlennediary", "security certificate", 
"securily entitlement'', and "uncertificated security" shall have the same meanings as their defined meanings where such words 
are defined in the Personal Property Security Act of the province or territory in which the Branch of the Bank mentioned in 
paragrapll 1 is located, such Act including any amendments thereto, being referred to in this Agreement as "the PPSA", In this 
Agreement "Collateral" shall refer to "Collateral or any item thereat". 

2. The fixed and speciiic mortgages and charges and the security interest granted under lhis Agreement secure payment and 
performance of all obligations of the Customer to the Bank, inclucling but not limited io all debts and liabilities, present or future, 
d1rect or indirect, absolute or contingent, matured or not. at any iime owing by the Customer to the Bank in any currency or 
remaining unpaid by the Customer to the Bank in any currency, whether arising from dealings between tile Bank and the 
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Customer or from other dealings or proceedings by which the Bank may be or become in any manner whatever a creditor 
of the Customer and wherever Incurred, and whether incurred by the Customer alone or with ano~her or others and 
whether as principal or surety, Including all interest, commissions, legal and other costs, charges and expenses (the 
"Obllga\lons"). 

3. The Customer hereby represents and warrants to the Bank that: 

(a) all of the Collateral Is, or when the Customer acquires any right, title or Interest therein, will be the sole property of the 
Customer free and clear of al! securlty interes!s, mortgages, charges, hypothecs, liens or other encumbrances 
except as disclo.sed by the Customer to the Bank in writing; 

(b) the Collateral insofar as it consists of goods (other than Inventory enrou!e from suppliers or an route to customers or 
on lease or consignment) will be kept at the locations specified In Schedule "8" hereto or at such other locations as the 
Customer shall specify in writing to the Bank and subject to the provisions of paragraph 4(1) none of the Collateral shall 
be moved therefrom without the prior wriHen consent of the Bank; 

(c) the Customer's chief executive office Is located at the address specified In paragraph 1; 

(d) none of the Collateral consists of consumer goods; and 

(e) this Agreement has been properly authorized and constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of the Customer 
In accordance with Its terms, 

4, The Customer hereby agrees that: 

(a) the Customer shall diligently maintain, use and operate the Collate1·a1 and shall carry on and conduct Its business In a 
proper and efficient manner so as to preserve and protect the Collateral and the earnings, Incomes, rents, issues 
and profits thereof; 

(b) the Customer shall cause the Collateral to be Insured and kept insured to the full Insurable value thereof with 
reputable insurers against loss or damage by fire and such other risks as the Bank may reasonably require and 
shall maintain such Insurance With loss If any payable to lhe Bank and shall lodge such policies with the Bank: 

(c) the Customer shaf1 pay all rents, taxes, levies, assessments and government fees or dues lawfully levied, assessed 
or Imposed In respect of the Collateral or any part thereof as and when the same shall become due and payable, 
and shall exhibit to the Bank, when required, the receipts and vouchers establishing such payment; 

(d) the Customer shall duly observe and conform to all valid requirements of any governmental authority relative to 
any of the Collateral and all covenants, terms and conditions upon or under which the Collateral is held; 

(e) the Customer shall keep proper books of account in accordance with sound accounting practice, shall furnish to the 
Bank such finanCial Information and statements and such information and statements relating to the Collateral as the 
Bank may from time to time require, and the Customer shall permit the Bank or Its authorized agents at any time at 
the expense of the Customer to examine all books of account and other financial records and reports relating to the 
Collateral and to make copies thereof and take extracts therefrom: 

(f) the Customer shall furnish to the Bank such Information with respect to the Collateral and the Insurance thereon as 
the Bank may from time to time require and shall give written notice to the Bank of all litigation before any court, 
admlnistratlve board or other tribunal affecting the Customer or the Collateral; 

(g) the Customer shall defend the title to I he Collateral against all persons and shall keep the Collateral free and clear of all 
security interests, mortgages, charges! liens and other encumbrances except for those disclosed to the Bank In writing 
prior to the execution of this Agreement or hereafter approved In writing by lhe Bank prior to their creation or 
assumption; 

(h) the Customer shall, upon request by the Bank, execute and deliver all such financing statements, certificates, further 
assignments and documents and do a!l such further acts and things as may be considered by the Bank to be 
necessary or desirable to give effect to the Intent of this Agreement and the Customer hereby Irrevocably constitutes 
and appoints the Manager or Acting Manager for the time being of the Branch of the Bank mentioned in paragraph 1, 
the true and lawful attorney of the Customer, with full power of substftutlon, to do any of the foregoing in the name of 
the Customer whenever and wherever the Bank may consider It to be necessary or desirable; 

(I) the Customer shall promptly notify the Bank In writing of any event which occurs that would have a material adverse 
effect upon the Collateral or upon the financial condition of the Customer and immediately upon the Customer's 
acqulsltion of rights ln any vehicle, mobile home, traller, boat, outboard motor for a boa!, aircraft or aircraft engine, 
shall promptly provide the Bank with full particulars, including serial number, of such Collateral; and 

U) the Customer will not change its name or the location of Its chief executive office or place of business or sell, 
excl1ange, transfer, assign or lease or otherwise dispose of or change the use of the Collateral or any Interest therein 
or modify, amend or terminate any chattel paper, document of title, instrument, security, Investment property or 
Intangible, without the prior written consent of the Bank, except that the Customer may, until an event of default set 
out In paragraph 9 occurs, sell or lease Inventory In the ordinary course of the Customer's business, 

5. Until an event of default occurs, the Customer may use the Collateral In any lawful manner not inconsistent wlththls 
Agreement or any other agreement to which the Bank and the Customer are parties, but the Bank shall have the right at 
any time and from time to time to verify the existence and state of the Collateral in any manner the Bank may consider 
approprlate and the Customer agrees to furnish all assistance and Information and to perform a!l such acts as the Bank 
may reasonably request In connection therewith, and for such purpose shall permit the Bank or Its agents access to all 
places where Collateral may be located and to all premises occupied by the Customer to examine and Inspect the 
Collateral and related records and documents. 
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6. Before or after an event of default occurs, the Bank may give notice to any or all account debtors of the Customer 
and to any or all persons liable to the Customer under an instrument to make all further payments to the Bank and any 
payments or other proceeds of Collateral received by the Customer from account debtors or from any persons liable to the 
Customer under an Instrument, whether before or after such notice Is given by the Bank, shall be held by the Customer in 
trust for the Bank and paid over to the Bank upon request. The Bank may take charge of all proceeds of Collateral and may 
apply any money taken as Collateral to the satisfaction of ihe Obligations secured hereby. The Bank may hold as additional 
security any increase or profits, except money, received from any Collateral in the Bank's possession, and may apply any 
money received from such Collateral to reduce the Obligations secured hereby and may hold any balance as additional 
security for such part of the Obligations as may not yet be due, whether absolute or contingent. The Bank will not be 
obligated to keep any Collateral separate or Identifiable. In the case of any Instrument, security, investment property or 
chattel paper comprising part of the Collateral, the Bank will not be obligated to take any necessary or other steps tO 
preserve rights against other persons. 

7. Before or after an event of default occurs, the Bank may have any Collateral comprising Instruments, shares, stock, 
warrants, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, securities or other Investment property, registered In its name or in the 
name of its nominee and shall be entitled but not bound or required to vote in respect of such Collateral at any meeting at 
which the holder thereof is entitled to vote and, generally, Ia exercise any of the rights which the holder of such Collateral 
may at any tlme have. The Customer will also take such steps as the Bank requires to enable the Bank to obtain and 
maintain control of any investment property, Including but not limited to arranging for any issuer of uncertlficated securities, 
securities Intermediary or futures intermediary to enter Into an agreement satisfactory to the Bank to enable the Bank to 
obtain and maintain control. The Bank shall not be responsible for any loss occasioned by the exercise of any of any rights 
contemplated in this paragraph or by failure to exercise !he same within the time limited for the exercise thereof. 

8. Upon the Customer's failure io perform any of lis duties hereunder, the Bank may, but shall not be obliged to, perform 
any or all of such duties, without waiving any rights to enforce this Agreement, and the Customer shall pay to the Bank, 
forthwith upon written demand therefor, an amount equal to the costs, fees and expenses Incurred by the Bank In so doing 
plus Interest thereon from the date such costs, fees and expenses are incurred until paid at the rate of 3% per annum over 
the Prime Lending Rate of the Bank In effect from time to time. The "Prime Lending Rate of the Bank" means the variable 
per annum, reference rale of Interest as announced and adjusted by the Bank from time to time for loans made by the 
Bank In Canada in Canadian dollars. 

9. Tile happening of any one or more of the following events shall constitute an event of default under this Agreement: 

(a) If the Customer does not pay when due any of the Obligations; 

(b) if the Customer does not perform any provisions of this Agreement or of any other agreement to which the Customer 
and the Bank are parties; 

(c) If the Customet' ceases or threatens to cease to carry on lls business 1 commits an act of bankruptcy, become's 
insolvent makes an assignment or proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, takes advantage of provisions 
for relief under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act or any other legislation for the benefit of Insolvent debtors, 
transfers all or substantially all of Its assets, or proposes a compromise or arrangement to its creditors: 

(d) if the Customer enters into any reconstruction, reorganlzat\on, amalgamation, merger or other slmllar arrangement; 

(e) if any proceeding Is taken with respect to a compromise or arrangement or to have the Customer declared bankrupt or 
wound up, or If any proceeding Is taken, whether In court or under the terms of any agreement or appointment in 
writing, to have a receiver appointed of any Collateral or If any encumbrance becomes enforceable against any 
Collateral; 

(f) If any execution, sequestration or extent or any other process of any court becomes enforceable against the 
Customer or If any distress or analogous process Is levied upon any Collateral; 

(g) If the Bank In good faith believes and has commercially reasonable grounds for believing that the prospect of payment 
or performance of any Obligation is or is about to be impaired or that any Collateral is or is about to be in danger of 
being lost, damaged, confiscated or placed In jeopardy. 

10. If an event of default occurs, the Bank rnay withhold any fuiure advances and may declare that the Obligations shall 
Immediately become due and payable In full, and the Bank may proceed to enforce payment of the Obligations and the 
Customer and the Bank shall have, in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law, the rights and remedies of 
a debtor and a secured party respectively under the PPSA and other applicable Jeglslatlon and those provided by this 
Agreement. The Bank may take possession of the Collateral, enter upon any premises of the Customer, otherwise enforce 
this Agreement, enforce its rights under any agreement with any Issuer of uncertlf\cated securities, securities Intermediary 
or futures intermediary and enforce any rights of the Customer In respect of the Collateral by any manner permitted by law 
and may use the Collateral In the manner and to the extent that the Bank may consider appropriate and may hold, Insure, 
repair, process, malntaln, protect, preserve, prepare for disposition and dispose of the same and may require the 
Customer to assemble the Collateral and deliver or make the Collateral available to i:he Bank at a reasonably convenient 
place designated by the Bank. 

11. Where required to do so by the PPSA, or other relevant legislation, the Bani~ shaH give to the Customer the written 
notice required by the PPSA or such other relevant leglsla\lon of an intended enforcement or disposition of the Collateral by 
serving such notlce personally on the Customer or by mailing such notice by registered mall to the last known post office 
address of I he Customer or by electronic transmission to the last known electronic malling or transmission address of the 
Customer or by ahy other method authorized or permitted by the PPSA or such other relevant legislation, 
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12. If an event of default occurs, the Bank may take proceedings In any court of competent jurlsdlctlon for the appointment 
of a receiver (which term shall include a receiver and manager) of the Collateral or may by appointment In writing appoint 
any person to be a receiver of the Collateral and may remove any receiver so appointed by the Bank and appoint another in 
his stead; and any such receiver appointed by Instrument In writing shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law or to 
such lesser extent permitted, have all of the rights, benefits and powers of the Bank hereunder or under the PPSA or 
otherwise and without limitation have power (a) to take possession of the Collateral, (b) to carry on all or any part or parts of 
the business of the Customer) (c) to borrow money required for the seizure, retaking, repossession, holding, Insurance, 
repairing, processing, maintaining, protecting, preserving, preparing for disposition, disposition of the Collateral and for any 
other enforcement of this Agreement or for the carrying on of the business of the Customer on the security of the Collateral 
in priority to the security interest created under this Agreement, and (d) to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the whole or 
any part of the Collateral at public auction, by public tender or by private sale, lease or other disposition either for cash or 
upon credit, a1 such time and upon such terms and conditions as the receiver may determine provided that If any such 
disposition involves deferred payment the Bank wl!l not be accountable for and the Customer will not be entitled to be 
oredi1ed with the proceeds of any such disposition until-the monies therefor are actually received; and further provided that 
any such receiver shall be deemed the agent of the Customer and the Bank shall not be ln any way responsible for any 
misconduct or negligence of any such receiver, 

13. Any proceeds of any disposlllon of any Collateral may be applied by the Bank to the payment of expenses incurred or paid 
In connection with seizing, repossessing, retaking, holding, repalring 1 processing, Insuring, preserving, preparing for disposition 
and disposing of the Collateral (Including reasonable solicitor's fees and legal expenses and any other reasonable expenses), 
and any balance of such proceeds may be applied by the Bank towards the payment of the Obligations In such order of 
application as the Bank may from time to time effect. All such expenses and all amounts borrowed on the security of the 
Collateral under paragraph 12 shall bear Interest at the rate of 3% per annum over the Prime Lending Rate of the Bank In effect 
from time to time, shall be payable by the Customer upon demand and shall be Obligalions under this Agreement. If the 
disposition of the Collateral fails to satisfy the Obligations secured by this Agreement and the expenses incurred by the Bank, 
the Customer shall be liable to pay any deficiency to the Bank on demand. 

14. The Customer and the Bank further agree that: 

(a) tbe Bank may grant extensions of time and other Indulgences) lake and give up security, accept compositions, 
grant releases and discharges and otherwise deal with the Customer, debtors of the Customer, sureties and others 
and with the Collateral or other security as the Bank may see fit without prejudice to the liability of the Customer and 
the Bank's rights under this Agreement 

(b) this Agreement shall not be considered as satisfied or discharged by any Intermediate payment of all or any part of the 
Obligations but shall constitute and be a continuing security to the Bank for a current or running account and shall be 
In addition to and not in substltutlon for any other security now or hereafter held by the Bank; 

{c) nothing in this Agreement shall obligate the Bank to make any loan or accommodation to the Customer or extend 
the time for payment or satisfaction of the Obligations: 

(d) any failure by the Bank to exercise any right set out in this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver thereof; nothing In 
this Agreement or In the Obligations secured by this Agreement shall preclude any other remedy by action or 
otherwise for the enforcement of this Agreement or the payment In full of the Obligations secured by this Agreement; 

(e) all rights of the Bani( under this Agreement shall be assignable and in any action brought by an assignee to enforce 
such rights, the Customer shall not assert against the assignee any claim or defence which the Customer now has 
or may hereafter have against the Bank; 

(f) all rights of the Bank under this Agreement shall enure to the benefit of its successors and assigns and all obligations 
of the Customer under this Agreement shall bind the Customer, his heirs, executors, administrators, successors 
and assigns; 

(g) If more than one Customer executes this Ag1·eement their obligations under this Agreement shaH be joint and several, 
and the Obligations shall Include those of all or any one or more of them; 

(h) If the Customer is a corporation, The Limitation of Clvi! Rights Act of tbe province of Saskatchewan shall have no 
application to this Agreement or to any agreement or instrument renewing or extending or collateral to this 
Agreement or to the rights. powers or remedies of the Bank under this Agreement; 

(I) this Agreement shall be governed In all respects by the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Branch of the Bank 
mentioned In paragraph 1 Is located; 

(j) the time for attachment of the security Interest created hereby has not been postponed and is intended to attach when 
this Agreement Is signed by the Customer and attaches at that time to Collateral in which the Customer then has any 
right, title or interest and attaches to Collateral in which the Customer subsequently acquires any right title or Interest 
at !he time when the Customer first acquires such right, title or Interest. 
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The Customer acknowledges receiving a copy of this Agreement. 

The Customer expressly waives the right to receive a copy of any financing statement or financing change statement which may be 
registered by the Bank In connection with !his Agreement or any verification statement Issued with respect thereto where such 
waiver is not otherwise prohibited by law. 

Signed this day of _________ _ 

customer: Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada 

Witness: 

by: X 
TTI~T~LE~-------------------------

by: :Oex=-----------------­
TITLE 

FULL NAME AND ADDRESS OF THf: CUSTOMER (FOR INDIVIDUAL(S), INSERT FIRST GIVE:N NAME, INITIAL OF SECOND GIVEN NAME, (FULL 
SECOND NAME IN ALBERTA, SASKATCHEWAN AND BRITISH COLUMBIA) IF ANY, THEN SURNAME) 

-

SCHEDULE '.'A" 

(Description of Collateral) 

If space is Insufficient attach additional page headed Page 2 of Schedule 11A". 

SCHEDULE "8" 

(Location of Collateral) 

If space Is Insufficient attach additional page headed Page 2 of Schedule "B". 

2315 St. Laurent Blvd., Suite 100, Ottawa, ON, K1G 4J8 

DATE RECEIVED 

RECORDED, 

APPROVED, 

E.O, 
AUDITOR, 

2311119 (12113) 

IF GIVEN BY INDIVIDUAL(S) SEX 
RECORD DATE OF BIRTH 

DAY MONTH YEAR M F 

00 

[] 0 

DO 
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Insert 
Uml\, 
if any. 

GUARANTEE 

IO THE BANK OF NOVASCOTIA 

IN CONSIDERATION .Of THE !3ANK OF NOVA SCOTIA (herein called the "Sank") agreeing to deal with 
or to continue to deal with 
VIctorian Order Of Nurses For Canada- Ontario Branch 
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,.-,,,.,,,,,,,:·······················,··············••••!''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' 
(herein called the "Customer") the undersigned and each afthem, If more than one, hereby jointly and 
severally guarantees payment to the Bank of all debts and liabilities, present or future, direct or Indirect, 
absolute or contingent, matllred or not, at any time owing by the Cus.tomer to the Bank ol' remaining unpaid by 
the c;;ustomer to the Bank, whether arising from dealings between (he Bank and the Customer or from other · 
cl~~llng& or proceedings by which the Bank moy be or become In any manner whatever a creditor of the 
Customer, and wherever Incurred, <Jnd Whether Incurred by the Customer alone o.rwlth enotl1er or others an~f 
whether as principal or surety, including all Interest, commissions, legal and other oosts1charges and 
expenses (swch debts ana ll•bllltles being herein called the "guaranteed liabilities), the liability of the 
undersigned hereunder being limited to the sum of 

-~~11::]1.\~.d, .......... ,., ................. , , , , .... , ., , , .. , .. , . ., .. , ... , , ... , , , , . ., .......... ;, ...... ,., ........... , . , . , , ....... dollars 
with Interest from the elate of demand for payment at the rate set out in paragraph e hereof. 

ANP THE UNDERSIGNED and eaCh of them, If more than ohe, hereby jointly and severally agrees with 
the Bank as follows; 

1. In this gua,·antee the word "Guarantor" shall mean t11e tmderslgned and, if there Is more than one 
g4arantor, It shall moan each of them. 

2. This guarantee shall be a continuing guarantee. of all the guaranteed liabilities and.shall apply to and 
secur$ any ultimate balil.11ce due. or remalrilng ~npald to the SanK~ and this guarantee shall not be aonslq0red. 
as wholly or partially satisfied l:ly the paymel1t.or liquidation at any time of any sum of money for the time bein.g 
due or remaining unpaid to the Bank. 

3. The Bank shall not be bound to exhaust its recourse against the CUstomer or others or any ·~ecurities 
or other guarantees It may at ariy time hold belom being entitled to payment:frorn \M Guarantor, ana ther 
Guarantor renounces all benefits of dlsOtlsslon and division. 

4. The Guarantor's liability to mak~ payment under this guarantee shall arise forthwltl1 after demand for 
payment has been made in writing on the undersigned or any one of them, If more than, one, and such 
demand shall be deemed to have been effectually made when an envelope containing such demand addressed 
t~ the undersigned or slich one ofthem at the address of the undersigned. or such one of thorn last known to 
the Bank Is posted, postage prepaid, in the post office; and the Guarantor's liabilitY shall bear Interest from the 
date of such demand at the rate set out In paragraph 6 hereof. 

5, The service pf demand· for payment, 'bY post, postage prepaid, in the post office, to a local a.gent ofthe 
Guarantor, said i.ocal agent being identified by name and located In the Provlnce.or jurisdiction where the 
Customer's main account Is l<ept, snall.be deemed to be service of deli1and on the Guarantor. 

6. The rate of Interest payable by the Guarantor from the ~fate of a demand for payment under this 
guarantee shall be the Sank's prime rate applicable at the time of demand, PLUS 2% per anm1m. Prime rate Is 
defined as the anm1al rate of Interest expressed ~s a percentage per ahnum announced by the Bank on that 
doy as Its reference rate for commercial. loans 111!)de by it in Canada In Ca~adlan dollars. interest Is calculated 
and payable mon\hly on the 22nd day of each month Fonowlng the day of demand and computed monthly on 
the samG day when not so paid. 

7. Upon default.lh payment of any sum owing by the Customer to the Bank at any time, the Bank may 
11·eat all guaral'iteed liabilities as due and payable and may forthwith colleotfrom the Gliar~ht6r the total amount 
hor~>by guaranteed an\l.may apply the sum so collected upon the guaranteed li~billtl~s or may place It to the 
credit of a special account. A written statement ol a Manager or Acting Manager of a bran on of the .Bank at 
which an 01ocount of the Customer Is l<ept or of a ()eneral Manager of the Bank as to the. amount. renialliing 
unpaid to the Bani< at· any lime by the Customer shall, If agreed to by the customer, be conclusive evidence 
and shall, In !thY event, be prlitla facie evidence against lhe GLiaranto.r as to the amoun\ remaining un~ald to 
the Oanl< at such time by the Customer. · 
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~. This guarantee shall be In addition to and not in sUb&tltutlon fp.r any other guarantees or other 
seol!ritles which the BMI1 may now or hereafter hold In respect of tile guaranteed liabilities and t11e Bank shall 
be under no obligation to marshal in favour of the.Gusrantor any otherguaran!ees or other securities or any 
moneys or other assets Which th~ Bani< may be entitled to receive or may haVe a cialni upon; and no loss ol or 
ih·.respect afar unenforceabitity ohny other guarantee:; or other seowltfes which the Bank t'nay now or 
horeafter·hold In respect of the guaranteed lit;~blllttes, whether occasioned· by the J~utt ofthe Bank or 
otherwise, shall In any way limit or lessen the .Guarantor's liability: 

9. Without prejudice to or in any way limiting or lessening the Guarantor's liabilitY and without obtaining 
the consent of or giving notice to the Guarantor, the Bank may discontinue, reduce, Increase or otherwise 
vary tt1e credit of the Customer, may grant time., renewets, .extensions, Indulgences, releases and.dlscharges 
to and accept compositions from or otherwise deal with the O.ustomer and others, including the Guarantor and 
any other guarantor as the Bani< may see fit, and the Bank may take, abstain fwm takiMg or perfecting, vary, 
exchange, renew, discharge, give up, realize on or other\Nise daa.l with securities and guarantees In such 
manner:as the Bani< may see fit, and the Bani\ may apply all molleys recei\IEld from the customer or others or 
from sectlrltles or !JUarahtees upon such parts of!he guaranteed. liabilities as the Bank maY see fit and change 
any such application. In whole or In part from time to time. 

10, Until repayment t.li fllll Of all the guaranteed liabilities, all dlvide11ds, cdlnposlttons, proceeds oi 
securities, securities valtted or payments received by the Bank from the C)ustomer or others or from estates In 
respect of the guarMteed liabilities shall be regarded for all purposes as payments in gross without any right 
on the part of the Guarantor to claim the benefit thereof In reduction of the liability under this guarantee, and 
the Guarantor shall not claim any set-off or counterclaim against the Ctistomer In respect of any liability of the 
Ctistomer to the Guarantor, claim or prove in the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Customer lh competition with 
the Banl1 or have ~ny right to be subrogated to the Bani\, 

11. This g\tar~nt~e shall not be discharged or otherwise affected by the death or loss of capacity of the 
Customer, by any change in the name of the customer, or in the rnernbershlp of the Customer, If a 
part~ershlp, or In the objects, capital structur.e. or constitution of the Customer, If a corpor~tton, or by the sate 
of the Customer's.buslness or any part thereof or by tl1e customer beli1@ amatgam~led witl1 a oorP9raflon, but 
shalt, nqtwithstancllng any SUCh eilent, continue to apply to•all guaranteed liabilities Whether theretofore or 
thereafter incurred; and lh the cas~ of a change In the metnberst1tpof a Customer which Is a partnership ol'ln 
the case of tile Gustorner being am~tganiated with a corporation, thls.guarentee shall apply to the tiabtlttles of 
the resulting palinershtp or c.orporatlon, and the term "Customer shall include each such resltitttig partnersllip 
and corporation, 

12. All advances, renew~ is and credits made or granted by the Baht\ purportedly to or lor the customer 
after the deatt1, loss of capacity, banllruptcy or Insolvency of the Customer, but pefore the Bank has received 
notice thereof shall be deemed to form part of the guaranteed liabilities; and all advances, renewals and oredtts 
obtained !rom the Sank purportedly by or on behalf ofthe Customer shalt be deemed to form part of.lhe 
guaranteed liabilities, notwithstanding any taek or limitation of power, incapacity or disability of'the Customer 
or ofthe di1·ectors, partners or agents thereof, or that the Customer may not be a legal or suable entity, or any 
Irregularity, defect .or Informality In the obtaining of such advance, renew;ets or credits, whether or not the 
Bent\ had tmowledge thereof; ana any.such advance, renewal or credit which: may not be recoverable from the 
unqerstgned as guarantor(s) shalt be recoverable from the underslgn$d ahd each of them, lfmore. than one, 
jointly and severalty as principal debtor(s) In respect thereof and shall b<;> paid to the Santi on .demand with· 
interest at the .rate set out lri.,par<>graph 6 hereof. 

13, All debts and liabilities, pres$ntand future, of the Customer to the Guarantor are hereby assigned to 
the Bank and postponed to the guaranteed liabilities, and all moneys received by the Guarantor in respect 
thereof shall be received In trust for the Bilnk end .tortl\wlth upon receipt s11all be paid over to !he Bank, the 
whole without In any way lessening or ttrntttng the liability of the GIJarantor under this guarantee; and this 
assignment and postponement Is Independent of the. g\tf\rantee an!J shalt remain in fUll force and effect until 
repaymenttn full to the Bank of ali the guaranteed liabilities, notwithstanding that the liability of the undersigned 
or any of them under"thts guarantee maY have·been discharged ortanninated. 

1322010. (04/ t I)) Page2of3 



14. The undersigned or any of them, if more then one, or his or their executors or administrators, by giving 
thirty days' notlcB In writing to the branch of the Bani< at which the main <lCCOunt of the Customer Is l<ep\,. rnay 
terminate his or their further liability under this guarante~ irHespectof liabilities oft he Customer Incurred or 
arising after the eXpiration of such thirty days, but not. In respect of any guaranteed liabilities incurred or erlslng 
before the expiration of.sllch thirty days even lhollgh not.then matured: provided that notwithstanding receipt of 
any sLJch notice theBankmay fulfill any requlremerHs ofthe Customer !Jased on agreements express or Implied 
1na~e prlorio the expiration of such. thirty days and any resulting liabilities shall be cowrect by thls·guarant~e: 
and provided further that In the event of\ he termination ofthis guarantee as \o·one or more oftl1e undersigned, 
If more than one, It shall remain a continuing guarantee as to the other· or others .of the undersigned. 

15. This guarantee embodies all the agreements between the parlles hereto relative to the guarantee, 
assignment and postponement and none of the parties shall be beund by any represent<ltlon or promise made 
by any person relative thereto which Js.not embodied herein: and It is spaoifioally•agreed that the Bank shall not 
be bound by any representations or prornlses made by the Customer to the Guarantor. 

Possession of this instrument by the Bank shall be conclusive eVIdence against th"e Guarantor that the 
instrunient \\1~9 not deilvered In escio\\1 or pursv~nt to any <Jgreementthat It should hot be effective until any 
condition preoedentorsubsequimt.has been compiled with ancl tills guarantee shalllw>iperative and binding 
notwithstanding the non-execution thereofby any proposed signatory. 

16. This guarantee shall bo. governed In all respects by the laws oi.tlw Province or jurisdiction In ;vhlcn tne 
Customer's main account with the Bank is.l<ept, 

17. This guarantee shall not be discharged or affected by the dealh or any disability of the undersigned or 
any oft11em, if more than one, and shall enure to tho benefit of and"be binding upon the Bank,.lts sucoe$SOrs 
Md assigns, and the Guarantor, his heirs, executors, administrators, scrcoe$sors and assigns, 

AS WITNESS tho hand and seal of thEi Guarantor at ~~----~~-~-

this-~----- day of ------

SIGNED SEALED AND DELIVERED 

In ll\e presenGe of SIGNAIUR6 AND SEAL 

Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada 

X 

6:1GNATURE 

SIGNATUf<R: 

SIGNATt,IRE 

SIGNATURr:i 
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Resolution of Directors 

RESOLVED that the ______ is hereby authorized on behalf of Victorian 

Order Of Nurses For Canada (the Company) to execute under its Corporate Seal an 

unlimited guarantee In favour of Tile Bank of Nova Scotia on the said Bank's regular 

form whereby the Company Guarantees the indebtedness and liability of Victorian 

Order Of Nurses For Canada- Ontario Branch to the said Bank. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Is a true copy of a Resolution duly passed at a 

meeting of thE! Board of Directors of Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada duly 

held. on the day of , aAd that the said 

ResolUtion Is lnJull force and effect. 

Date at-----~' this. _____ .day of 

x. _____ _ 

President I Secretary 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 

!+Ia 



lt1SO.Il 
Limit, 
If any, 

GUARANTEE 

TO THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 

IN CONSIDERATION OF THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA (herein called the "Bank") agreeing to deal with 
or to continue to deal with 

Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada Nova Scotia Branch 

(herein called the "Customer") the undersigned and each of them, if more than one, hereby jointly and 
severally guarantees payment to the Bank of all debts and liabilities, present or future, direct or Indirect, 
absolute or contingent, matured or not, at any time owing by the Customer to the Bank or remaining unpaid by 
the Customer to the Bank, whether arising from dealings between the Bank and the Customer or from other 
dealings or proceedings by which the Bank may be or become in any manner whatever a creditor of the 
Customer, and wherever incurred, and whether incurred by the Customer alone or with another or others and 
whether as principal or surety, including all interest, commissions, legal and other costs, charges and · 
expenses (such debts and liabilities being herein called the "guaranteed liabilities), the liability of the 
undersigned hereunder being limited to the sum of 

~~. l,ir:! It,<:~,, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ... , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , .. , , , , , , , d a II a rs 
with interest from the date of demand for payment at the rate set out in paragraph 6 hereof, 

AND THE UNDERSIGNED and each of them, if mare than one, hereby jointly and severally agrees with 
the Bank as follows: 

1, In this guarantee the word "Guarantor" shall mean the undersigned and, If there is more than one 
guarantor, It shall mean each of them, 

2. This guarantee shall be a continuing guarantee of all the guaranteed liabilities and shall apply to and 
secure any ultimate balance due or remaining unpaid to the Bank; and this guarantee shall not be considered 
as wholly or partially satisfied by the payment or liquidation at any time of any sum of money for the time being 
due or remaining unpaid to the Bank. 

3. The Bank shall not be bound to exhaust Its recourse against the Customer or others or any securities 
or other guarantees it may at any time hold before being entitled to payment from the Guarantor, and the 
Guarantor renounces all benefits of discussion and division, 

4. The Guarantor's liability to make payment under this guarantee shall arise forthwith after demand for 
payment has been made in writing on the undersigned or any one of them, if more than one, and such 
demand shall be deemed to have been effectually made when an envelope containing such demand addressed 
to the undersigned or such one of them at the address of the undersigned or such one of them last known to 
the Bank Is posted, postage prepaid, In the post office; and the Guarantor's liability shall bear interest from the 
date of such demand at the rate set out in paragraph 6 hereof, 

5, The service of demand for payment, by post, postage prepaid, In the post office, to a local agent of the 
Guarantor, said local agent being identified by name and located in the Province or jurisdiction where the 
Customer's main account is kept, shall be deemed to be service of demand on the Guarantor. 

6. The rate of Interest payable by the Guarantor from the date of a demand for payment under this 
guarantee shall be the Bank's prime rate applicable at the time of demand, PLUS 2% per annum, Prime rate is 
defined as the annual rate of interest expressed as a percentage per annum announced by the Bank on that 
day as its reference rate for commercial loans made by It in Canada In Canadian dollars. Interest Is calculated 
and payable monthly on the 22nd day of each month following the day of demand and computed monthly on 
the same day when not so paid. 

7. Upon default in payment of any sum owing by the Customer to the Bank at any time, the Bank may 
treat all guaranteed liabilities as due and payable and may forthwith collect from the Guarantor the total amount 
hereby guaranteed and may apply the sum so collected upon the guaranteed liabilities or may place it to the 
credit of a special account A written statement of a Manager or Acting Manager of a branch of the Bank at 
which an account of the Customer is kept or of a General Manager of the Bank as to the amount remaining 
unpaid to the Bank at any time by the Customer shall, if agreed to by the Customer, be conclusive evidence 
and shall, in any event, be prima facie evidence against the Guarantor as to the amount remaining unpaid to 
the Bank at such time by the Customer. 
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8. This guarantee shall be in addition to and not in substitution for any other guarantees or other 
securities which the Bank may now or hereafter hold in respect of the guaranteed liabilities and the Bank shall 
be under no obligation to marshal in favour of the Guarantor any other guarantees or other securities or any 
moneys or other assets which the Bank may be entitled to receive or may have a claim upon; and no loss of or 
in respect of or unenforceablllty of any other guarantees or other securities which the Bank may now or 
hereafter hold In respect of the guaranteed liabilities, whether occasioned by the fault of the Bank or 
otherwise, shall in any way limit or lessen the Guarantor's liability. 

9. Without prejudice to or in any way limiting or lessening the Guarantor's liability and without obtaining 
the consent of or giving notice to the Guarantor, the Sank may discontinue, reduce, increase or otherwise 
vary the credit of the Customer, may grant time, renewals, extensions, indulgences, releases and discharges 
to and accept compositions from or otherwise deal with the Customer and others, including the Guarantor and 
any other guarantor as the Bank may see fit, and the Bank may take, abstain from taking or perfecting, vary, 
exchange, renew, discharge, give up, realize on or otherwise deal with securities and guarantees in such 
manner as the Bank may see fit, and the Bank may apply all moneys received from the Customer or others or 
from securities or guarantees upon such parts of the guaranteed liabilities as the Bank may see fit and change 
any such application in whole or in part from time to time. 

10, Until repayment In full of all the guaranteed liabilities, all dividends, compositions, proceeds of 
securities, securities valued or payments received by the Sank from the Customer or others or from estates in 
respect of the guaranteed liabilities shall be regarded for all purposes as payments in gross without any right 
on the part of the Guarantor to claim the benefit thereof in reduction of the liability under this guarantee, and 
the Guarantor shall not claim any set-off or counterclaim against the Customer in respect of any liability of the 
Customer to the Guarantor, claim or prove In the bankruptcy or Insolvency of the Customer in competition with 
the Bank or have any right to be subrogated to the Bank. 

11. This guarantee shall not be discharged or otherwise affected by the death or loss of capacity of the 
Customer, by any change In the name of the Customer, or In the membership of the Customer, if a 
partnership, or In the objects, capital structure or constitution of the Customer, if a corporation, or by the sale 
of the Customer's business or any part thereof or by the customer being amalgamated with a corporation, but 
shall, notwithstanding any such event, continue to apply to all guaranteed liabilities whether theretofore or 
thereafter incurred; and in the case of a change in the membership of a Customer which is a partnership or in 
the case of the Customer being amalgamated with a corporation, this guarantee shall apply to the liabilities of 
the resulting partnership or corporation, and the term "Customer shall Include each such resulting partnership 
and corporation. 

12, All advances, renewals and credits made or granted by the Bank purportedly to or for the Customer 
after the death, loss of capacity, bankruptcy or Insolvency of the Customer, but before the Bank has received 
notice thereof shall be deemed to form part of the guaranteed liabilities; and all advances, renewals and credits 
obtained from the Bank purportedly by or on behalf of the Customer shall be deemed to form part of the 
guaranteed liabilities, notwithstanding any lack or limitation of power, incapacity or disability of the Customer 
or of the directors, partners or agents thereof, or that the Customer may not be a legal or suable entity, or any 
irregularity, defect or informality in the obtaining of such advance, renewals or credits, whether or not the 
Bank had knowledge thereof; and any such advance, renewal or credit which may not be recoverable from the 
undersigned as guarantor(s) shall be recoverable from the undersigned and each of them, if more than one, 
jointly and severally as principal debtor(s) In respect thereof and shall be paid to the Bank on demand with 
Interest at the rate set out in paragraph 6 hereof. 

13. All debts and liabilities, present and future, of the Customer to the Guarantor are hereby assigned to 
the Bank and postponed to the guaranteed liabilities, and all moneys received by the Guarantor in respect 
thereof shall be received in trust for the Bank and forthwith upon receipt shall be paid over to the Bank, the 
whole without in any way lessening or limiting the liability of the Guarantor under this guarantee; and this 
assignment and postponement is Independent of the guarantee and shall remain In full force and effect until 
repayment in full to the Bank of all the guaranteed liabilities, notwithstanding that the liability of the undersigned 
or any of them under this guarantee may have been discharged or terminated. 
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14. The undersigned or any of them, if more than one, or his or their executors or administrators, by giving 
thirty days' notice in writing to the branch of the Bank at which the main account of the Customer is kept, may 
terminate his or their further liability under this guarantee in respect of liabilities of the Customer incurred or 
arising after the expiration of such thirty days, but not in respect of any guaranteed liabilities incurred or arising 
before the expiration of such thirty days even though not then matured; provided that notwithstanding receipt of 
any such notice the Bank may fulfill any requirements of the Customer based on agreements express or Implied 
made prior to the expiration of such thirty days and any resulting liabilities shall be covered by this guarantee; 
and provided further that in the event of the termination of this guarantee as to one or more of the undersigned, 
if more than one, it shall remain a continuing guarantee as to the other or others of the undersigned. 

15. This guarantee embodies all the agreements between the parties hereto relative to the guarantee, 
assignment and postponement and none of the parties shall be bound by any representation or promise made 
by any person relative thereto which is not embodied herein; and it is specifically agreed that the Bank shall not 
be bound by any representations or promises made by the Customer to the Guarantor. 

Possession of this instrument by the Bank shall be conclusive evidence against the Guarantor that the 
instrument was not delivered in escrow or pursuant to any agreement that It should not be effective until any 
condition precedent or subsequent has been complied with and this guarantee shall be operative and binding 
notwithstanding the non-execution thereof by any proposed signatory. 

16. This guarantee shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the Province or jurisdiction in which the 
Customer's main account with the Bank Is kept. 

17. This guarantee shall not be discharged or affected by the death or any disability of the undersigned or 
any of them, if more than one, and shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Bank, its successors 
and assigns, and the Guarantor, his heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. 

AS WITNESS the hand and seal of the Guarantor at _________ ,_, ________ _ 

this-------- day of------

SIGNED SEALED AND DELIVERED 

in the presence of SIGNATURE AND SEAL 

VIctorian Order Of Nurses For Canada 

X 

SIGNATURE 

SIGNATUR,0E-----------------------

SIGNATURE 

SIGNATURE 

SIGNATURE 

SIGNATURE 
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Resolution of Directors 

RESOLVED that the ______ is hereby authorized on behalf of Victorian 

Order Of Nurses For Canada (the Company) to execute under its Corporate Seal an 

unlimited guarantee in favour of The Bank of Nova Scotia on the said Bank's regular 

form whereby the Company Guarantees the indebtedness and liability of Victorian 

Order Of Nurses For Canada Nova Scotia Branch to the said Bank. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of a Resolution duly passed at a 

meeting of the Board of Directors of Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada duly 

held on the day of and that the said 

Resolution is in full force and effect. 

Date at _______ ,, thls. ____ _;day of ____ , ___ _ 

X. ______ _ 

President I Secretary 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 

I 
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W'><"" 
Cash F1ow Forecast 

Direct =thad (Dated Nov=.bCl" 24. 20 15) 

-T.y~ o-f~dion I Week 30.Nov 5-ll« ~Dtt 19-Dec 25-Dtt WAn '"= I6,.Jall 23-Jan 3D-Lm <'-Fob .. .lJ..Feb 

Swnmm r«eipt:<l 

P:r~ on sale of Goodv·.'ill, IP and contrads (note 1) $0 so ];() so "' $0 $0 $0 S1J $0 so $0 

Funds from and (to) VON Canllda ( {l;(}te 7) $0 $0 so so so $0 $0 $0 so $0 "' $0 

Olher =:cipts collections {note 2) s1:·o;oo.o s11;?94 s-~.@· 527.-992: Si-1560 SlJ~OOO St1.5:oO S12:5.®; S11..SOG.' SP:500 511.500 S12.SOO 
T Dtal receipts S2fr,O{I{f" ___ S1:t794 S%:000 .$2.7.991- $17500 Sl UKKI S!1:;50o- Sl\-:Soo· S12;.500· Sl-''"'>00 SP...;500 :S.i2.500 

S~mnt9J:"V disb~"nS 

Net Payroll {not!:-3) S32.,8:01) $5'0,773 S9,500 $5,500 $0 so sn $0 $0 so $0 so 
Payroll d!:ductions (nore 3) $1) $11,509 $17,771 S"".o.,2.00 $1,400 so $0 so so so $0 so 
Pension -and Bcndits: so so so so $0 so $0 so so so so so 
Occupani;)Fcosts (no1t4) $0 :$44,000 $0 5D $0 so so so so so $0 $0 
Supplies (note 5) $0 $9,000 so sc so so $0 SG so so $0 $0 

Sub-Concractor (note 5) so $39.200 S38;200 .$4.000 '54,000 so S7,500 "' so so S7.500 so 
Op=rt:ing costs (note -6) szu.ooo $47,000 S18,000 Sl:S,OOO $5,000 $15,000 SlO,OOO :SlO.OOO SIO,OOO so SIO~O S:S;OOO 
Other- Payments .. ,., S(). SO· SO; so so so _$(!-, so. '"' Sij ., 

Ss'!.SDQ.: S"0!AS2 583.411. 'S2ts:J® -$_10.400 515,000 Sl7..::S® ·-s-lO.OOQ SIO.OO(;l·· Sll St7500 -ss-~0® 

Chmge in C25l! in week ~L:,SOO) {$123,58-E) (S4-7,471) :1::\,292 S7,1DO ($4,000) {S5,GOO) $2,.500 £2,500 $12,500 {SS,OOO) $7,500 

Openill_g cash S<J \534,8-00) (SJ:5-L4is) "<Si:0&.-959}" {5201.-661) {5200,557)_ (9__j){567) [S'l.J)9~567.) (s2o7.061} {$204.567-J (Sl92;:0:l.i-}. f.S-l91;!J-67) 

Closing casb. (S32,80Q) (~161,4SS) ($"20.8,9_5_2) Qi207,667) (gQ9.567) ($2.04,567) {$209..567) ($207.067) (S204.567) (Sl92.067) (Sl97.067) (SI89..56n 

Genttai Note: Managemeut of VON Canada eta! have f'«'P:mrl 1his forecasted cash flow statemem: based oo_ probabie and hypothecicsl assumptions -&b.iled in not~ 1-7 

The forecast has been prepared solely f-or the Cornp=y's CCAA filing to determine llqui.dity reqnit==ts.· :Since the proj=tions are based on assumptions. rega:rrltng futun:, events,. 
-actLal reslll.ts will vacy from the in:f-o-rmation preserrtcl, and 1hc varimions may be mat<::rial. Consequently, read=s arc cautioned that it may not be appr.::priare for other purposes. 

Note l -Management has b= -pur:s:tring oppOl'lUJrities: to sell =tain business contracts.. Goodwill m:ui or futclleetual property may be sold after filing by the Receiver. 

2Jl-Feb 

$0 

"' STi5oo. 
Sl'Z.SflO. 

so 
so 
$0 

so 
so 
so 

55,000 

so 
. S5.000 

.$7,500 

(S).S95.67:J 

{$182.067) 

Note 2 - Other Receipts Collections,. thls im:low -repres:e:n!:s the co-11=-ricn of tr.ade- reccivables after the complcti.on of substantially ill ofNovcrnbcr billings~ Expectati>m ls. 1hat co11ections Wlll be less !han 1lisroric collectio\1S patlcms dllC' to the filing. 

All coUcctious are based on =:l-1= rleliverci with substantially ;ill collections o::mingfrom Gcvemmc:nt SOTJl'Celi 

Note J - Payroll 2nd .deductions rcpn::scut peymen:t for all 147 staff for hours worKed to rlate of -fifu!g, including ill dWucfions_ The time reqnin:d to pay-these salaries depends Qll timiug uf submission of :time sheets. 

Note 4- AD lea.-= foHeal estate -will be disdai:(ned but requires the payment af full renla! paymtttt for December. 

Note 5 - Sub am!mctor costs n:pxes~r the staff that will be hired baCk for a period of7, 14 or 28: days to wind d,owu programs where dleots are :deemed to be :higher risk. Manag=ent have profiled all existing services and 

idel:ltificd pmgrnms where clieDts. will nr::ed time to fllld ahemative pro"idas. _'The workers will be paid a 20% premium above -current salaries.. Limited other IZ:Wm~gemeui and ~~ staff will be retained fur limited periods. 

Supplies :are estimated based on past expcciez~cc mqllil:ed to -o-pemtc tk.-pmp<mlS. 

27-Feb 

$0 

$0 
SJ!J!,-500· 
$l:!,5l:lO'. 

so 
so 
so 
so 

" 515,000 

so 
$0 

si5.000· 

(.$2.500) 

-($1£2:.067). 

{$18.4.567) 

Nott:: 6- M<mag=eJJtbas. estir:natcill;OSis for the period of wind down <~f-<ill operations. indudin_g cost ofse=ring :he premises, packiDg ll:lld shipping diems records md professional fees :forihe period of wind down. Supplies of a d:mg=.us Ill.!ture (syringes et<;;). 

-,.,.;n be =o.ved from sites. Included in these costs am the professional fees for the assignment and wiud do'hn period, 

Noie 7- Funds to Eas! and Westrepreso:~t that potential cash trans!= to support the COntiliiled costs for VON Westem and VON Eastern afte~: fU-ing.. Managemem:bs asl;ed our bankingparbto:totreataD 3 filing mrities as one bank balance 

on a"= balan= hWH. wher-...by if all3 entities have a net-positive balance, transfers bctw= ac.coun:ts arenotroquired. Ifthlsrequest is deoied tben VON Canada wilJ-r;~ to fund fup wind- down costs for VON Westwlani! VON Eastl::m. 

:row 

so 
so 

$285,286 

~286 

$98,573 
$32,-S:80 

so 
S44,000 

$9,000 

Sll5,400 

sno,ooo 
so 

~853 

{$184,.567) 

. so 

($1&4,567) 

-



""""" Csslr. Flow Forecast 
DU:ectmet:hod(Dated Navembcr24, :Z015) 

T~·~~ nf~c6on1Wtx:k 

Sumonuv~p:ts 

Proceeds on sale of Goodwill, IP and contracts (:nom I) 
Funds from and (to) VON Omada { =te 7) 

Other =cip15 coUcdions 
T ota! receipts 

Summsrr cliibwsemec~ts 
N<:t Payroll (nord) 

P.ap.un dcduaions (note 3) 

Pension and Benefits 
Ckwpancy costs (note 4) 
Supplies (uote 5) 

Sub-Contractor (not<:- 5) 

Opernting costs {m:rtc 6) 

Other Paymotts 

Olangc in cash in week 

Op=iug=h 

30-Nov 

$33,000 

so 
so 
so 
${) 

$0 

S20,000 

$0 

"$:53;000 

(S33,000) 

so 

5-D= 12-D(<: 

5;0 

SBO,OOO £15,000 

Sl6,000 SlOJlOO 

so so 
S29,000 $0 

SJ,75U Sl) 

S19,325 S:H,825 

$20,000 S25,000 
so so 

'tYi2:075- SSVJ::OS 

(SHJ5,25-l) .$4,879 

csn.ooo l. ($13"8.2512 

19--Dec 25--Dec 2..Jtlll 

so 

SI5,000 $0 so 
S9,000 $0 so 

so so so 
so so so 
so "' so 

$8,925 £8,925 so 
$25,000 .$25,.000 ss,ooo 

so "' so 
S57;92S ·:$35.91~ ''SS,{K)O. 

(57,807) $2,831 $-10.201 

{S133,37:n (Sl4blzt2 ~13&,348} 

9-Jau 16-J= 23-Jan 3{/.:.Jai:t 6-l;i'eb 13-Feb 20-Feb 

$0 so 

so so so so so so so 
5;0 so so $0 so $0 so 
$0 so so so so so so 
so so so so so so "' so so so so so so so 

$7,500 "" $0 so S7.500 $0 $0 

sw_ooo SIO,DOO SlO,OOO "' $10,000 so .$10,000 

so so so $(1 so . .so. $(1 

S!7.50C SW.f!GlL. .S,lO;(l~ . "' 517;500- SlL SlG,()(:fp-· 

$2,500 SlO,OOO sw.ooo J:ZD,DOO $2,500 szo.ooo ::1;10.000 

(Sl2-81147) ($125,~47) (l>ll5,64!) (!:105,647) (S85,647) (S&3J47) (.£63,147) 

Closing -easb {$3-3.000) ~I~lt25.1) {$133,~2) (Sl4l,t79;) (Sl3S:$4l!:J (5-12:8 t47) __ (~_q:\-647} {SH5~647J (Sl05~M1.J: (S&-5,647)' .{S83;A7)_ )($!lSjjt;E ._ ~5~1_-!JJ__,_ 

Generxl Nore: Mmll.lg;a:ru::nt of VON Canada etalhave prepared this forecasted cash fiCIW statement based on probable .and bypothecica1 asswnpliOII:S detailed in notes 1~7 

The forecast has b= prepared solely fen:- the Company's CCAA filing_ to de[ermine liquidrtyrequirements. Sin-ce the projections &e based-On assumptions n::gar.ding future events,. 

a..rtual results ...viii vary from the infonnation presented. and tbe variallims rt:tey be .materia]. Conscquelllly, readen; ate cautioned tllat it may not be appropriatl: f'or oJ:Ilu pwposes. · 

Nmc l ~ Managetnent has been pursuing opportlmitics to sell certain business conb::acrs., Goodwill and oc Intcllecmal propet1;y mey be sold after filing by the Receiver. 

l\ote2 ~Other RecciptsCollec-tions, this-i-nflow rcpresenis the collection oftrnde=ivables<da: the completion of suhstantia1Iyall ofl'Jovemberbillitrgs. bp=tationis:thacollecdo.."JS will~ less than l:UstoriccoJJectionspattcrns.due to the-filing. 

All conections-are based on servia:s delivered with substmtially :all wiJcqions- =wffig from Govemo= sources. 

Note3 ~ Payroll and -deductions represent payment fot" all ]60 stEff [Qr 1m=;. warl<ed to date of fillng, including all deductions. The time reqcirerl to -pay these salaries depends- OJJ timing of submission of time sheets 

N otc 4~ All lease~ for re3l estate will be disclaimed b'trt requires the peymon: of full rental payment for December. 

Note 5 ~Sub =tractor :COOts. ~t1he :st:affthat:v;;ll be hired hack for-apo:iod of7, 14 or 28 days to wind dcrwn programs -....here cli..'"Dis are deemed to be htgherrisk: Managern®t have profiled :all existing ser:vices end 

identified p{ogrems v.-h= clients "Will n=i time to- fuld alt:emarive provid...--rs, The workers will be paid a 20% -premium above current salari= LirniR:d other -nwtagetnetlt &td administrative sf3ff will be retained for limited period.s.. 

Supplies are esrimatt:rl based on past e:q=l= wqu:imi to operate 1ite pragr:ams. 

27-Feh 

so 
so 
$0 

so 
$0 

Sis,ooo 
so 
so 

Sl5.'000 

ss.ooo 

(553.147) 

~~[47) 

Note 6 ~ M=g.c:ment has estimated costs lor the period o-f v;:ind down of all opemticms. including cost of sccnring the- pr=ises, paclcing and slripping clieuts :r=ds and professional fees fur !he period -o.f wind dawn. Supplies of a ~<>emus na:b:IR: ( syringes etc) , 

wil[ be removed from sit=_ Included in these- cos-..s are th::: profi=iorcl fees far the asslgnment .:md wUtd down period-

Note 7 ~ Fwrds to East and West represent potential cash rnmsfen; to support-me concinued cosrs far VOK Western and YON Eastern after filing. ManaiCmenthas asked OJJr banking partner to 1reai al13 filing cntiri=s as one bank ba.'an~ 
on a·= balance basis''. wherebyifall3 entities have a net po!dcive balance,.lransfas b~= -accouzmare not required. If this request-is n:fused th= VON Can:arla will need to fund t!le wind~down costs for VON W~ and VON Easttxn. 

Total 

so 

$143,000 

$35.000 

"' S29,000 

S7,750 

S99,000 
Sl73,000 

so 
S4&£,750 

(S4-&.l47) 

sv 

($48,147) 
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ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

Court File No. ____ _ 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, 
R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA- EASTERN REGION, AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION 

Applicants 

CONSENT 

The undersigned, Collins Barrow Toronto limited, hereby consents to act as Court-appointed 

Monitor of the Applicants in this proceeding. 

Dated at Toronto this 24th day of November, 2015. 

WSLcga\\074961\0()00 I\ 128028\•lvl 

Collins Barrow Toronto Limited 

Per: 
/" ) . 
/.~ 

~-----:: ;2 
Name_:_o~nieTWeTsz-··--
Title: Senior Vice President 
I have the authority to bind the 
Corporation 



Court File No.: 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

Al\'D IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF :NlJRSES FOR CANADA- EASTERN REGION, 
AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION. 

WSLegal\07 4961 ',DOOOl \12802R14v 1 

Applicants 

ONTARIO 
SD"PERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

Proceeding commenced at Toronto 

MONITOR'S CONSENT 

BEI\'NETT JONES LLP 
3400 One First Canadian Place 
Toronto, ON M5X 1A4 
Fax: 416.863.1716 

MarkS. Laugesen 
(LSUC#: 32937W) 
Tel: 416. 777.4802 

La"'yers for the proposed monitor 
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ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

Court File No. 

IN THE MA TIER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, 
R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA - EASTERN REGION, AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION 

Applicants 

CONSENT 

The undersigned, Collins Barrow Toronto Limited, hereby consents to act as receiver pursuant 

to Section 101 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended, over the goodwill 

and intellectual property of the Applicants, without security, in this proceeding. 

Dated at Toronto this 24th day of November, 2015. 

. 'l 
fhis iu E»hibiL ... .... !.:-:< ............. refu«oo w €n ~ 

&f1idmtft ol... ..... -~; .. /\0:_ /~? ........ !:?.:. !P :\.~:J:·:::~ 

WSL<>y,•l\07<1% l \0000 I \12M'2?7!v l 

Collins Barrow Toronto Limited 

Per: 

Name:-t>anfei\Nelsz···------­
Titte: Senior Vice President 
I have the authority to bind the 
Corporation 



Court File No.: 

IN THE MATI'ER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEkfENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATI'ER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLA.t'l OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF :NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA- EASTERN REGION, 
AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION. 

WSLegal\074961\00001\12S02772vi 

Applicants 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

Proceeding co=enced at Toronto 

CONSENT 

BENNETTJONESLLP 
3400 One First Canadian Place 
Toronto, ON M5X 1A4 
Fax: 416.863.1716 

Mark S. Laugesen 
(LSUC#: 32937W) 
Tel: 416.777.4802 

Lawyers for the proposed receiver 

--



IN THE MATIER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, 
c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATIER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF VICTORIAN 
ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA 

Court File No:----------

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

Proceeding commenced at Toronto 

AFFIDAVIT OF JO-ANNE POIRIER 
(Sworn November 24, 2015) 

Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP 
Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower, Suite 3800 
200 Bay Street, P.O. Box 84 
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Z4 CANADA 

Matthew Halpin LSUC#26208F 
Tel: 613.780.8654 
Fax: 613.230.5459 
Email: matthew.halpin@nortonrosefulbrightcom 

Evan Cobb LSUC #55787N 
Tel: 416.216.1929 
Fax: 416.216.3930 
Email: evan.cobb@nortonrosefulbrightcom 

Lawyers for the Applicants 

-
~ 
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THE HONOURABLE 

JUSTICE 

ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

) e, THEe 

) 

) 
DAY OF e, 20e 

Court File No. 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, 
R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA - EASTERN REGION AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION 

Applicants 

INITIAL ORDER 

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicants, pursuant to the Companies' Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the "CCAA") was heard this day at 330 

University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

ON READING the affidavit of Jo-Anne Poirier sworn Novernber 24, 2015 (the "Poirier 

Affidavit") and the Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicants, 

Collins Barrow Toronto Limited (as the proposed Monitor), the Board of Directors of the 

Applicants and Bank of Nova Scotia, no one else appearing although duly served as appears 

from the affidavit of service of [NAME] sworn [DATE] and on reading the consent of Collins 

Barrow Toronto Limited to act as the Monitor, 

1 



SERVICE 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the 

Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Application is properly 

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

APPLICATION 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicants are companies to which 

the CCAA applies. 

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall have the authority to file and may, 

subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or arrangement 

(hereinafter referred to as the "Plan"). The Bank of Nova Scotia shall be treated as 

unaffected in any Plan. 

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall remain in possession and control of 

their current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind 

whatsoever, and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the "Property"). Subject to 

further Order of this Court and subject to Paragraph 11 hereof, the Applicants shall continue 

to carry on business in a manner consistent with the preservation of their business (the 

"Business") and Property. The Applicants shall be authorized and empowered to continue to 

retain and employ the employees, consultants, agents, experts, accountants, counsel and 

such other persons (collectively "Assistants") currently retained or employed by them, with 

liberty to retain such further Assistants as they deem reasonably necessary or desirable in 

the ordinary course of business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order. 

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall be entitled to establish and utilize 

the Modified Cash Management System (as defined in the Poirier Affidavit and as described 

in the Poirier Affidavit) or replace it with another substantially similar central cash 

management system (the "Cash Management System") and that The Bank of Nova Scotia, 

or any other present or future bank, providing the Cash Management System shall not be 

under any obligation whatsoever to inquire into the propriety, validity or legality of any 

transfer, payment, collection or other action taken under the Cash Management System, or 



as to the use or application by the Applicants of funds transferred, paid, collected or 

otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall be entitled to provide the Cash 

Management System without any liability in respect thereof to any Person (as hereinafter 

defined) other than the Applicants, pursuant to the terms of the documentation applicable to 

the Cash Management System, and shall be, in its capacity as provider of the Cash 

Management System, an unaffected creditor under any Plan with regard to any claims or 

expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the provision of the Cash Management 

System. For greater certainty, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 

Applicants and The Bank of Nova Scotia are authorized to terminate the Existing Mirror 

Netting Agreement (as defined in the Poirier Affidavit) and the existing cash management 

system as described in the Poirier Affidavit. 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall be entitled but not required to pay 

the following expenses whether incurred prior to or after this Order: 

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and pension benefits, vacation 

pay and expenses, and volunteer and director expense reimbursements, in each 

case incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing 

compensation policies and arrangements; 

(b) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the 

Applicants in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges; 

(c) the fees and disbursements of the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, the Chief 

Restructuring Officer, the Applicants' counsel and counsel to the boards of directors 

of the Applicants; and 

(d) liabilities for charges incurred on credit cards issued to the Applicants. 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the 

Applicants shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

Applicants in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after this Order, and in carrying 

out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation: 

(a) all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of 

the Property or the Business including, without limitation, payments on account of 

insurance (including directors and officers insurance), maintenance and security 

services; and 

I I 



(b) payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicants following the date 

of this Order. 

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall remit, in accordance with legal 

requirements, or pay: 

(a) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of 

any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be 

deducted from employees' wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect of 

(i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, (iii) Quebec Pension Plan, and 

(iv) income taxes; 

(b) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, "Sales Taxes") 

required to be remitted by the Applicants in connection with the sale of goods and 

services by the Applicants, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or 

collected after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or 

collected prior to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or after 

the date of this Order, and 

(c) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or 

any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of municipal 

realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any nature or kind 

which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured creditors and 

which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the Business by the 

Applicants. 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed in accordance 

with the CCAA, the Applicants shall pay all amounts constituting rent or payable as rent 

under real property leases (including, for greater certainty, common area maintenance 

charges, utilities and realty taxes and any other amounts payable to the landlord under the 

lease) or as otherwise may be negotiated between the Applicants and the landlord from time 

to time ("Rent"), for the period commencing from and including the date of this Order, 

monthly in advance (but not in arrears). On the date of the first of such payments, any Rent 

relating to the period commencing from and including the date of this Order shall also be 

paid. 

' 



10. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicants 

are hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, 

interest thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicants to any of their 

creditors as of this date; (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or 

encumbrances upon or in respect of any of their Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur 

liabilities except in the ordinary course of the Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 

termination of the Existing BNS Facility (as defined in the Poirier Affidavit) is hereby approved 

and Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada is authorized to enter into the BNS Guarantee (as 

defined in the Poirier Affidavit), perform its obligations thereunder, and grant security over its 

Property as security for its obligations to The Bank of Nova Scotia. 

RESTRUCTURING 

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall, subject to such requirements as are 

imposed by the CCAA have the right to: 

(a) permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of their business or 

operations, and to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding 

$100,000 in any one transaction or $250,000 in the aggregate; 

(b) terminate the employment of such of their employees or temporarily lay off such of 

their employees as they deem appropriate; and 

(c) pursue all avenues of refinancing of their Business or Property, in whole or part, 

subject to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material refinancing, 

all of the foregoing to permit the Applicants to proceed with an orderly restructuring of the 

Business (the "Restructuring"). 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall provide each of the relevant 

landlords with notice of the Applicants' intention to remove any fixtures from any leased 

premises at least seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removaL The relevant 

landlord shall be entitled to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe 

such removal and, if the landlord disputes an Applicant's entitlement to remove any such 

fixture under the provisions of the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall 

be dealt with as agreed between any applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the 

Applicants, or by further Order of this Court upon application by the Applicants on at least two 

(2) days notice to such landlord and any such secured creditors. If an Applicant disclaims the 



lease governing such leased premises in accordance with Section 32 of the CCAA, it shall 

not be required to pay Rent under such lease pending resolution of any such dispute (other 

than Rent payable for the notice period provided for in Section 32(5) of the CCAA), and the 

disclaimer of the lease shall be without prejudice to that Applicant's claim to the fixtures in 

dispute. For greater certainty, and without limiting any other provisions of this Order, nothing 

in this Order shall restrict the Applicants or their employees from retrieving and removing 

from any leased premises any medical records or personal property of employees and former 

employees. 

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer is delivered pursuant to Section 

32 of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective time of the disclaimer, 

the landlord may show the affected leased premises to prospective tenants during normal 

business hours, on giving the Applicants and the Monitor 24 hours' prior written notice, and 

(b) at the effective time of the disclaimer, the relevant landlord shall be entitled to take 

possession of any such leased premises without waiver of or prejudice to any claims or rights 

such landlord may have against the Applicants in respect of such lease or leased premises 

and such landlord shall be entitled to notify the Applicants of the basis on which it is taking 

possession and to gain possession of and re-lease such leased premises to any third party or 

parties on such terms as such landlord considers advisable, provided that nothing herein 

shall relieve such landlord of its obligation to mitigate any damages claimed in connection 

therewith. 

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANTS OR THE PROPERTY 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including December 23, 2015, or such later 

date as this Court may order (the "Stay Period"), no proceeding or enforcement process in 

any court or tribunal (each, a "Proceeding") shall be commenced or continued against or in 

respect of the Applicants, the Chief Restructuring Officer or the Monitor, or affecting the 

Business or the Property, except with the written consent of the Applicants, the Chief 

Restructuring Officer and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and any and all 

Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Applicants or affecting the 

Business or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this 

Court. 

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding paragraphs 14 and 17 herein, nothing 

herein will prevent The Bank of Nova Scotia from enforcing its rights against any cash 



collateral or other security held by The Bank of Nova Scotia in connection with any letters of 

credit or credit cards issued by The Bank of Nova Scotia in connection with, or for the benefit 

of, any of the Applicants. 

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that upon (i) the occurrence of an event that would permit 

demand and enforcement by The Bank of Nova Scotia under the BNS Guarantee and any 

related security and (ii) granting of an Order of this Court, granted on 2 business days' notice 

to the Applicants and the Monitor, approving the exercise of such rights and remedies, The 

Bank of Nova Scotia shall be entitled to exercise any and all of its rights and remedies 

against the Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada or its Property under and pursuant to the 

BNS Guarantee and related security. 

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES 

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any 

individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of the 

foregoing, collectively being "Persons" and each being a "Person") against or in respect of 

the Applicants, the Chief Restructuring Officer or the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the 

Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the 

Applicants, the Chief Restructuring Officer and the Monitor, or leave of this Court, provided 

that nothing in this Order shall (i) empower the Applicants to carry on any business which the 

Applicants are not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) affect such investigations, actions, suits or 

proceedings by a regulatory body as are permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA, (iii) prevent 

the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the 

registration of a claim for lien. 

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS 

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, fail 

to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal 

right, contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicants, except with 

the written consent of the Applicants and the Monitor, or leave of this Court. 

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES 

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written 

agreements with the Applicants or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods 

and/or services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and other 
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data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation 

services, utility or other services to the Business or the Applicants, are hereby restrained until 

further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the 

supply of such goods or services as may be required by the Applicants, and that the 

Applicants shall be entitled to the continued use of their current premises, telephone 

numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses, domain names, information technology 

support and data processing services, provided in each case that the normal prices or 

charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this Order are paid by the 

Applicants in accordance with normal payment practices of the Applicants or such other 

practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and each of the 

Applicants and the Monitor, or as may be ordered by this Court. 

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS 

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person 

shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of lease or 

licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, 

nor shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or 

re-advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicants. Nothing in this 

Order shall derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA. 

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by 

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against 

any of the former, current or future directors or officers of any of the Applicants with respect 

to any claim against the directors or officers that arose before the date hereof and that relates 

to any obligations of any of the Applicants whereby the directors or officers are alleged under 

any law to be liable in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or performance of 

such obligations, until a compromise or arrangement in respect of the Applicants, if one is 

filed, is sanctioned by this Court or is refused by the creditors of the Applicants or this Court. 

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE 

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall indemnify their directors and officers 

against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the Applicants 

after the commencement of the within proceedings, except to the extent that, with respect to 
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any officer or director, the obligation or liability was incurred as a result of the director's or 

officer's gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors and officers of the Applicants shall be 

entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the "Directors' Charge") on the 

Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $750,000, as security for 

the indemnity provided in paragraph 22 of this Order. The Directors' Charge shall have the 

priority set out in paragraphs 39 and 41 herein. 

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable 

insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim 

the benefit of the Directors' Charge, and (b) the Applicants' directors and officers shall only 

be entitled to the benefit of the Directors' Charge to the extent that they do not have coverage 

under any directors' and officers' insurance policy, or to the extent that such coverage is 

insufficient to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph 22 of this Order. 

PROTECTIONS FOR NON-APPLICANT ENTITIES 

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that, without limiting Paragraphs 14 through 19 hereof with 

respect to the Applicants, during the Stay Period, no Funder (as defined in the Poirier 

Affidavit) shall: 

(a) discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to 

perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or 

held by Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada Nova Scotia Branch or Victorian 

Order Of Nurses For Canada - Ontario Branch (collectively, the "Non-Applicant 

Entities"); or 

(b) have any rights to accelerate, amend, declare in default or enforce on any contract, 

agreement, instrument or other document, 

in each case, due to the Applicants being parties to this proceeding, having made an 

Application to this Court pursuant to the CCAA and the Courts of Justice Act (Ontario) 

including any declarations of insolvency contained therein in respect of the Applicants or the 

Non-Applicant Entities, the appointment of a receiver in respect of the Applicants, or taking 

any steps in furtherance thereof, or complying with the terms of any Order granted in these 



CCAA proceedings or under the Courts of Justice Act (Ontario), except with the written 

consent of the Applicants, Chief Restructuring Officer and the Monitor, or leave of this Court. 

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR 

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that Collins Barrow Toronto Limited is hereby appointed 

pursuant to the CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and 

financial affairs of the Applicants with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set 

forth herein and that the Applicants and their members, officers, directors, and Assistants 

shall advise the Monitor of all material steps taken by the Applicants pursuant to this Order, 

and shall co-operate fully with the Monitor in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its 

obligations and provide the Monitor with the assistance that is necessary to enable the 

Monitor to adequately carry out the Monitor's functions. 

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and 

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to: 

(a) monitor the Applicants' receipts and disbursements; 

(b) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate 

with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such other matters 

as may be relevant to the proceedings herein; 

(c) advise the Applicants in their development of any Plan and any amendments to such 

Plan; 

(d) assist the Applicants, to the extent required by the Applicants, with the holding and 

administering of creditors' or members' meetings for voting on any Plan; 

(e) have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books, 

records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the 

Applicants, to the extent that is necessary to adequately assess the Applicants' 

business and financial affairs or to perform its duties arising under this Order; 

(f) be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the 

Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and 

performance of its obligations under this Order; and 

I 



(g) perform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time to 

time. 

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property 

and shall take no part whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of 

the Business and shall not, by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or 

maintained possession or control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof. 

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to 

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or 

collectively, "Possession") of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, 

might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, 

release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting 

the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment 

or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the 

Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the 

Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and 

regulations thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation"), provided however that nothing 

herein shall exempt the Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by 

applicable Environmental Legislation. The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or 

anything done in pursuance of the Monitor's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed 

to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental 

Legislation, unless it is actually in possession. 

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the 

Applicants with information provided by the Applicants in response to reasonable requests for 

information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor. The Monitor shall not 

have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information disseminated by it pursuant 

to this paragraph. In the case of information that the Monitor has been advised by the 

Applicants is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to creditors unless 

otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the Applicants may 

agree. 

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the 

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or 

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, 



save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part. Nothing in this 

Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any 

applicable legislation. 

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, the Chief 

Restructuring Officer (as defined below), counsel to the Applicants and counsel to the boards 

of directors of the Applicants shall be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each 

case at their standard rates and charges, by the Applicants as part of the costs of these 

proceedings. The Applicants are hereby authorized and directed to pay the accounts of the 

Monitor, counsel for the Monitor, the Chief Restructuring Officer, counsel for the Applicants 

and counsel to the boards of directors of the Applicants on a weekly basis. 

33. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their 

accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal 

counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court 

of Justice. 

34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, the Chief 

Restructuring Officer, the Applicants' counsel and counsel to the boards of directors of the 

Applicants shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the 

"Administration Charge") on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate 

amount of $250,000, as security for their professional fees and disbursements incurred at the 

standard rates and charges of the Monitor and such counsel, both before and after the 

making of this Order in respect of these proceedings. The Administration Charge shall have 

the priority set out in paragraphs 39 and 41 hereof. 

APPOINTMENT OF CHIEF RESTRUCTURING OFFICER 

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada is authorized to 

engage March Advisory Services Inc. as Chief Restructuring Officer (in such capacity, the 

"Chief Restructuring Officer") on the terms and conditions set out in the form of CRO 

Engagement Letter (as such term is defined in the Poirier Affidavit). The Chief Restructuring 

Officer shall not be engaged by, and shall not be deemed to have been engaged by, 

Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada - Eastern Region or Victorian Order Of Nurses For 

Canada- Western Region. 



36. THIS COURT ORDERS Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada is authorized to enter 

into the CRO Engagement Letter and Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada is authorized to 

perform its obligations thereunder. 

37. THIS COURT ORDERS that any obligations of Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada 

under the CRO Engagement Letter for payment of fees and expenses shall be entitled to the 

benefit of the Administration Charge and any obligations of Victorian Order Of Nurses For 

Canada under the CRO Engagement Letter for payment of indemnities shall be entitled to the 

benefit of the Directors' Charge. 

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that any claims of the Chief Restructuring Officer under the 

CRO Engagement Letter shall be treated as unaffected in any Plan. 

VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER 

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Directors' Charge and the 

Administration Charge, as among them, shall be as follows: 

First- Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of $250,000); and 

Second- Directors' Charge (to the maximum amount of $750,000). 

40. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Directors' 

Charge or the Administration Charge (collectively, the "Charges") shall not be required, and 

that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes, including as against any 

right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected subsequent to the Charges 

coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or perfect. 

41. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Directors' Charge and the Administration 

Charge (each as constituted and defined herein) shall constitute a charge on the Property 

and such Charges shall rank in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and 

encumbrances, claims of secured creditors, statutory or otherwise (collectively, 

"Encumbrances") in favour of The Bank of Nova Scotia and behind all other existing 

Encumbrances affecting the Property charged by such Encumbrances in favour of Persons 

that have not been served with notice of this Motion. The Applicants and the beneficiaries of 

the Charges shall be entitled to seek priority for the Charges ahead of the Encumbrances in 

favour of Persons other than The Bank of Nova Scotia on notice to those parties likely to be 

affected by such priority. 



42. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or as 

may be approved by this Court, the Applicants shall not grant any Encumbrances over any 

Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Directors' Charge or the 

Administration Charge, unless the Applicants also obtain the prior written consent of the 

Monitor and the beneficiaries of the Directors' Charge and the Administration Charge, or 

further Order of this Court. 

43. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Directors' Charge and the Administration Charge 

shall not be rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees 

entitled to the benefit of the Charges (collectively, the "Chargees") shall not otherwise be 

limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the declarations 

of insolvency made herein; (b) any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s) issued pursuant to 

the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the "BIA''), or any bankruptcy order made 

pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing of any assignments for the general benefit of 

creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the provisions of any federal or provincial statutes; or 

(e) any negative covenants, prohibitions or other similar provisions with respect to 

borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan 

documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other agreement (collectively, an "Agreement") 

which binds any of the Applicants, and notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any 

Agreement: 

(a) the creation of the Charges shall not create or be deemed to constitute a breach by 

the Applicants of any Agreement to which any Applicant is a party; 

(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of 

any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the creation of the 

Charges; and 

(c) the payments made by the Applicants pursuant to this Order and the granting of the 

Charges, do not and will not constitute preferences, fraudulent conveyances, 

transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or other challengeable or voidable 

transactions under any applicable law. 

44. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real 

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applicants' interest in such real property 

leases. 
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KEY EMPLOYEE RETENTION PLAN 

45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the payments to be made pursuant to the Key Employee 

Retention Plan (as such terms are defined in the Poirier Affidavit), which is attached as a 

confidential exhibit to the Poirier Affidavit, are hereby approved and the Applicants are 

authorized and directed to make payments in accordance with the terms of such Key 

Employee Retention Plan. 

SEALING 

46. THIS COURT ORDERS that Confidential Exhibits "e" to the • Affidavit be and are 

hereby sealed pending further Order of the Court and shall not form part of the public record. 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in either the 

National Post (national edition) or the Globe and Mail (national edition) a notice containing 

the information prescribed under the CCAA, (ii) within five days after the date of this Order, 

(A) make this Order publicly available in the manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, 

by ordinary mail, a notice to every known creditor who has a claim against any of the 

Applicants of more than $1000, and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of 

those creditors and the estimated amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in 

the prescribed manner, all in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the CCAA and the 

regulations made thereunder, provided that the Monitor shall not make the claims, names 

and addresses of individuals who are creditors publicly available. 

48. THIS COURT ORDERS the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the 

"Protocol") is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service 

of documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial 

List website at http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service­

protocol/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute 

an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, 

service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This 

Court further orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol 

with the following URL: www.collinsbarrow.com/en/cbn/restructuring-and-recovery­

engagements/v-o-n (the "Website"). 



49. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance 

with the Protocol is not practicable, the Applicants and the Monitor are at liberty to serve or 

distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or 

other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, 

personal delivery or facsimile transmission to the Applicants' creditors or other interested 

parties at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Applicants and that 

any such service or distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall 

be deemed to be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, 

or if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business day after mailing. 

50. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as 

necessary a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the 

"Service List"). The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, 

on the Website as part of the public materials to be recorded thereon in relation to this 

proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Monitor shall have no liability in respect of the 

accuracy of or the timeliness of making any changes to the Service List. 

GENERAL 

51. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants or the Monitor may from time to time 

apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties 

hereunder. 

52. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from 

acting as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy 

of the Applicants (or any of them), the Business or the Property. 

53. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, 

regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States, to give 

effect to this Order and to assist the Applicants, the Monitor and their respective agents in 

carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative 

bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such 

assistance to the Applicants and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be 

necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the 

Monitor in any foreign proceeding, or to assist the Applicants and the Monitor and their 

respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. 



54. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicants and the Monitor be at liberty and 

is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or 

administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in 

carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act 

as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these 

proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada. 

55. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicants and the 

Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days 

notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such 

other notice, if any, as this Court may order. 

56. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 

12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the date of this Order. 
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THE HONOURABLE --

ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

) WEffi!<BA¥.~ .• THE#~. 

Court File No. --

JUSTICE-~- DAY OF MONTH.!., 20~ 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES': CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER_ OF SECTIOt:L1n_O.Eil::l.E__G_Ol.LB.IS . ..QE._J(.LS.IIC£ACT 
R.S..0 . ...199Q.LC.:-43, A.S.AM ENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT-Gll­
fA!>-P-biGANT-'-8-NAMBtftJcre-!'Afl!7l-ie-an\4 
QF VICTORIAN ORDER OF_ NURSE~R.CAI'-JAM._\,/JCTORIAN ORDER_QE __ 
NU.RS.Es ..... £0R ...... CAN6DA...=..EASI!;BN.EI;G1QJ::LAJ'JD :ilclORIAI'LOJ3Q.!;R .Q£. 
N_UR~.E~.EQRJ;;ANADA -_j[IL_~E.R.Dl B.mLQN 

INITIAL ORDER 

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicant§, pursuant to the Companies' Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the "CCAA") was heard this day at 330 

University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

ON READING the affidavit of {=NAME!,Jq,Anrre£'oiri!ll sworn [-!M:r-L"-fN>l.YJ:lmbJ>.L2 .. 4~ 

2.Q15_(!hSl ... :'J:pirierAffid<Jllil"l and the Exhibits thereto.,.-aOO-on being advioed that the secared 

ereffitors who are-.J.i/wiJ-~1-&--&e-Htf<.'eiet•f·h:r the charges created herein were given notice, and on 

hearing the submissions of counsel for fNAME8]. no-enetbe.AQ~a~C.Qllim;_Barcow Io.ronlo 

l,imited (<Js Jb.Sl~RLQRosed .• MontlocUbSl.f!Q<JIQ .. QLQmtors of 1h.e __ £\Rtlfu<ants ... .9Dd J?ank of Nova_ 

PGG,<;'l'GR: 2821810'1 



S..cillia. no one else appearing fer-fNA-MEl1 although duly served as appears from the affidavit 

of service of [N .. <\MEN_6M_E] sworn [DATEDATI;] and on reading the consent of [MONITOR'S 

NAME]Q_QllimtBaiTQW_lon:mlo_Limtlad to act as the Monitor, 

SERVICE 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the 

Application Record is hereby abridged and validated0 so that this Application is properly 

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

APPLICATION 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicam is a company6!212li!La!li~. 

<WHOmRanles to which the CCAA applies. 

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant~ shall have the authority to file and may, 

subject to further order of this Court, file with this Court a plan of compromise or 

arrangement (hereinafter referred to as the "Plan"). The Bank of Nova Scotla...s.halLbe 

il:~ated as un<~.ffe~dJru:mJLE1an . 

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant:1. shall remain in possession and control of 

tffitheir current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind 

whatsoever, and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the "Property"). Subject to 

further Order of this Court~d~!J!2iecUo..E£!Iam;;u2b_tLbereof, the Applicant~ shall continue 

to carry on business in a manner consistent with the preservation of tffitheir business (the 

"Business") and Property. The Applicant§ shall be authorized and empowered to continue to 

retain and employ the employees, consultants, agents, experts, accountants, counsel and 

such other persons (collectively "Assistants") currently retained or employed by filbeJn, with 

+ IneiHEle names of securer! crerliteJ·s or-other persmo,; "he must ~e servecl 8c%re-rertain relief ill this model OrEler 
"*')'-be granted. 8ee, for example, GCAf< Seetieas 11.2(1), 1!.3(1 ), c l.i (1 ), 11.51 (l), 11.52(1 ), 32(1 ), 32(3), 3~(2 
~f;lj. 

~-if service is effected in a manner etfler than as Btlthe-:l':iT.etl-By-fhe Ontt~rie R.tJcs e,{Cil if Prsccdure, aR order 
\ al ida~ing iffegular ,;en ice i,;; reEf:Ji:red pursuant te Rule 16.08 ofthe Rules ,~(Civil Proecdurc aaEI may be granted 
.ffi-attt7FBf1ri ate c iremns:anees. 

' 
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liberty to retain such further Assistants as it~ deems reasonably necessary or desirable in 

the ordinary course of business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order. 

5. fTHIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant§ shall be entitled to oontirmo to utilize the 

central~ash--ruttnageJ11et1i~t:etn" -c-tH'l'€\Rtly-in-J3laeeeJ>iabJlsh__and utiliz-e the Modified Cash 

Mana~.~J?lem"(a~.-dBJltle.dJnJJ:te PoirieLM>IalliL~~<lnd as described in the E.oirleL 

Affidavit of [NAME] sworn [DSI'E]l or replace it with another substantially similar central 

cash management system (the "Cash Management System") and that Ib..e .... B.!'tnk of I'JQlLa .. 
Sc.ul:ia. oLany other present or future bank, providing the Cash Management System shall 

not be under any obligation whatsoever to inquire into the propriety, validity or legality of any 

transfer, payment, collection or other action taken under the Cash Management System, or 

as to the use or application by the Applicant§ of funds transferred, paid, collected or 

otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall be entitled to provide the Cash 

Management System without any liability in respect thereof to any Person (as hereinafter 

defined) other than the Applicant§, pursuant to the terms of the documentation applicable to 

the Cash Management System, and shall be, in its capacity as provider of the Cash 

Management System, an unaffected creditor under thcarJY. Plan with regard to any claims or 

expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the provision of the Cash Management 

System. t-.. ~EoLgreateLcertainty~ .. ao.d . witb.o.YLJi miti ng..Jbegenera lilY _otJbe_JQf~.Q..Qlng.Jb..iL 

6tm~LQ.anis_ami_ The_Ban!LoLt'-lo.llfL.S.c.otla are aulborize_d .to __ te.rminate the Exlsting..Mlo:.or 

NeJlioQ...8gre_emeoL(a_s_deflne<:l inJ!:Le Poirit'lL.6ffid<JvitLand.j~~.cas.b .r:oaoagemen_t 

s_ystem a.s describedloJbe Poirier Affidavit 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant.§. shall be entitled but not required to pay 

the following expenses whether incurred prior to or after this Order: 

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee and pension benefits, vacation 

pay and expenses payable on or atter the date of this Order, __ aruLwluotae.L.an.d 

direQiQr__exgense reimbursement§, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of 

business and consistent with existing compensation policies and arrangements; ftlla 

(b) the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the 

Applicants. in respect of these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges~ 

"..:r'hi'i'!fB¥-i&ioo-&!tettboH>Riy-be t:tilizerl whe~ev of the fast taat eeHtral eash maaagemeHt sy,;tems 
eftett-operate in a l:fl-atlller that eonsoliEiates the eash ofc.pplieaat cmnpanie.::. 8peeific atteRtion :;ho:Ild be 13aid h+­
<ffi'>&~er aod iBt&H*>HlflHH)' transfers ef eash. 



~l !ile_ie_e~and_rlishutMmenis._of1b_e M on itQL_cou nse I 1o_1baMQnituJ:Jhe Cb ieL 

.B&structuring Offiq;UtJeAQJllicant~ counseL~lld__couns.eJ to_!he.__b~f~iLe~QiQ[s," 

of the AQRJkants:_and 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the 

Applicants shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

Applicants in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after this Order, and in carrying 

out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation: 

(a) all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of 

the Property or the Business including, without limitation, payments on account of 

insurance (including directors and officers insurance), maintenance and security 

services; and 

(b) payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Applicants following the date 

of this Order. 

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall remit, in accordance with legal 

requirements, or pay: 

(a) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of 

any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be 

deducted from employees' wages, including, without limitation, amounts in respect of 

(i) employment insurance, (ii) Canada Pension Plan, (iii) Quebec Pension Plan, and 

(iv) income taxes; 

(b) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, "Sales Taxes") 

required to be remitted by the Applicants in connection with the sale of goods and 

services by the Applicant§,, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued or 

collected after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or 

collected prior to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or 

after the date of this Order, and 

(c) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or 

any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of 

municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any 

t)[)CSTOR 2B21i'lo\+ 
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nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured 

creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the 

Business by the Applicant~. 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that until a real property lease is disclaimed for resiliated]4 in 

accordance with the CCAA, the Applicant~ shall pay all amounts constituting rent or payable 

as rent under real property leases (including, for greater certainty, common area 

maintenance charges, utilities and realty taxes and any other amounts payable to the 

landlord under the lease) or as otherwise may be negotiated between the Applicant§. and the 

landlord from time to time ("Rent"), for the period commencing from and including the date of 

this Order, twice monthly in eq~;al J:laym.ents on the first and fifteenth-day of eGch 

month.moll1tll¥ in advance (but not in arrears). On the date of the first of such payments, 

any Rent relating to the period commencing from and including the date of this Order shall 

also be paid. 

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Applicant~-+:;" 

ar5l hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal, 

interest thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Applicant~ to any of 

itsl.b.alr creditors as of this date; (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or 

encumbrances upon or in respect of any of its11:Le.ir Property; and (c) to not grant credit or 

incur liabilities except in the ordinary course of the Business. Nptwith.sianding the fo.regQlng~ 

!.b.~ term i nii!lipn oLtbe_fJ~lsti.oo.llJ'l.S .. EaciliiUa§ d§tfi ned JoJbeEQirter. Lilliru:udiUs here!;{~ 
llQRJ'~~Q ancLVJciOJ:iatLilider __ Qf NtJrS..as..£or Canada is <JJ.Itborized to enter into the BNS 

.G Uilra !Jl~U<i.~ £~irJ~_gJoJb~P-o irieL.6Jfuil;lvjiU2.l' rtc:molls _ obli~~Jllereu ndec__and ~r<Jnt . 

secLJrit\i over i1s_J'rQRerty asse_elJJ:iL!_ for it~s.to The Bank offuva Scotia. 

RESTRUCTURING 

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant~ shall, subject to such requirements as 

are imposed by the CCAA--ttn4--su&IT-W¥eRHHt-s-a:; may be---e<mt-a-inotl--in--+he----fkfmi-!i-ve-­

ffoc;;ment'S--{a;; hereinafter defined-);- have the right to: 

4 The term uresiliate!f shoHld rer:.1ain if there are leased r-wemises in the ProYi£1Ge ofQuebee, b:.-tt ean otllen'fi.se----lw­
removed. 
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(a) permanently or temporarily cease, downsize or shut down any of #stbeir business or 

operations, fand to dispose of redundant or non-material assets not exceeding 

$•j_Q.Q.QQQ in any one transaction or $•2.5Q.QQll in the aggregatet6~ 

(b) fterminate the employment of such of #sthei[ employees or temporarily lay off such 

of #s!b~I employees as H1hiilY deem;; appropriatej;6 and 

(c) pursue all avenues of refinancing of i+stheir Business or Property, in whole or part, 

subject to prior approval of this Court being obtained before any material 

refinancing, 

all of the foregoing to permit the Applicant~ to proceed with an orderly restructuring of the 

Business (the "Restructuring"). 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant~ shall provide each of the relevant 

landlords with notice of the Applieant's~ intention to remove any fixtures from any 

leased premises at least seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal. The 

relevant landlord shall be entitled to have a representative present in the leased premises to 

observe such removal and, if the landlord disputes ffieau Applicant's entitlement to remove 

any such fixture under the provisions of the lease, such fix1ure shall remain on the premises 

and shall be dealt with as agreed between any applicable secured creditors, such landlord 

and the Applican~$, or by further Order of this Court upon application by the Applicant~ on at 

least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such secured creditors. If ffieoo Applicant 

disclaims [or re:;ilia!esf the lease governing such leased premises in accordance with 

Section 32 of the CCAA, it shall not be required to pay Rent under such lease pending 

resolution of any such dispute (other than Rent payable for the notice period provided for in 

Section 32(5) of the CCAA), and the disclaimer--f&-res-i-ltH-l1,m} of the lease shall be without 

prejudice to the.a! Applicant's claim to the fixtures in dispute .... [QUJm!lte[ .!<e.tiaio!y,_and~ 

without. limillng...llllY__ofueL!llilYisjQj]s .of this Ordec~oillhing in this Order shalLn>strLcUlle_ 

0 -8eetffillc3(+-<>ffhe-am<:H<.l<O{f.G(;AA-dee,;-HoH;oom-!EH;WH:efHplate-il·jll'e-ajJjJHW<Odil<lWeH&-&elJ..~ubo<>GHBll·· 
3fi(3)) aHd moreo-.refjtlire.J aotiee (subc;eotim: 31l(2)) and eYideeee (subseetieH 36(7)) that ma; not have 
coeun·ea or be availt:ble at the initial CCAA jqec:ring. 

4 It is Ret c.:lear te the Model Order S:1beommit=tee \\hetfler the terminatioH cfGH employee i.J n 11 diselaimer or 
-f€-&-i-H.a-l:.~f:t.he en=tp!cty-H-1€ftt:--agfoement witflir:. tl:e rnec.niHg of SSBfien 32 of the an:eHdecl CCAA; jinee--#te-­
tera:ination of an employee me) Iffit be a matter geverned hy Section J2 of the amended CCAA (eJwept to the 
~tH!!Bt eclleeti\e ogreemet'l\s-iH"""*'*"tned fi·om the applioatiou eftkt Seeti<m), the Subeemmittee hos left this 
pHWLion in the Model Order. 

I 



6gQli cants 01 JhelLemtllill!ee~fLQffi__[fitJ:ie'Llog aod re lllillllooJron:LJmy_leased_~_mLs_es aw~ 

me_dLcJ~.I [ecords or_perSQD&QIQQe.Ji'L otemRJ~ee_s._a_ndJosmer~JQy~es., 

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a notice of disclaimer {·HH•ssi±iat1Bt1j-is delivered 

pursuant to Section 32 of the CCAA, then (a) during the notice period prior to the effective 

time of the disclaimer [or resiliation], the landlord may show the affected leased premises to 

prospective tenants during normal business hours, on giving the Applicant§. and the Monitor 

24 hours' prior written notice, and (b) at the effective time of the disclaimer~r:ilintion], 

the relevant landlord shall be entitled to take possession of any such leased premises 

without waiver of or prejudice to any claims or rights such landlord may have against the 

Applicant§. in respect of such lease or leased premises and such landlord shall be entitled to 

notify the Applicant§. of the basis on which it is taking possession and to gain possession of 

and re-lease such leased premises to any third party or parties on such terms as such 

landlord considers advisable, provided that nothing herein shall relieve such landlord of its 

obligation to mitigate any damages claimed in connection therewith. 

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPLICANT~ OR THE PROPERTY 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including [DATE MAX. JO DAYS]De.c.emb_er_ 

23, 20i5, or such later date as this Court may order (the "Stay Period"), no proceeding or 

enforcement process in any court or tribunal (each, a "Proceeding") shall be commenced or 

continued against or in respect of the Applican!Agolic.anis., tbe__GbieL&ls:tru.c:turlog O_ffij;;e:[ or 

the Monitor, or affecting the Business or the Property, except with the written consent of the 

i\pplicantt',pglica_nlli, the Chief Restructuring Officer and the Monitor, or with leave of this 

Court, and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the 

Applicant§ or affecting the Business or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended 

pending further Order of this Court .. 

15. IliL!;i.CQURLQRQ_EE$Jhatnoiwithsta!1Qiog,garngraQbsJA.andJl_herein,notbi.I1(L 

herein will prel!ent The Bank oLNo.v.a Scotia fi:oJILenforcing iis_rlg~againsLaoy cash 

collateral o.Lo1ber~r~held_gy_II:l!~.El;mls. QLtiQY<J .• S eolia in co.DJJ.e_cfulr:uviltLanvJetter:LoL 

cre_diLQs_..c;r~dllcards Ls_s_ue.d b¥-.Lbe_B_anK.oLt-Jo.v_a.S..c.oJiaJn cooned:lQnJAiiib~Q[fur the benefit 

oL..aw ..• ot!b~t6tlPJ ica nts.~ 

16. II::U,S__G_QURLQEW£RS.Jbat.J.!QQIL(i) Lhe occurrence of an event 1b~atwP~ 

liemam:L.aru:LentQr.c~meoUw~Ih.e .. Baok.oL.t'-Jova.Scolia \,llldJllJbeJ~Ji$ ... Guaraote_e_aod.~Y. 
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- o-~---~- ~-

related ~ecuriiy aru:Liiil granting of an OrOOJ:.. oUhis _ _C__ourt qcante_d on 2 b'tsine.ss day_s'" 

~oJl:le-Agplicant~arui!llil MQ!lilm:~RPW.'iinaJb<l exfirQise oLsucJJ.Jlgb!;;"_;wdJ:eme~" 

IhlLB.ank ... of Nova Sc_o_tla_shall be eotitle_d to exerclse_any aru:Lall of its rigb1s_ao_d_remedies 

~<liDslthe."\!ictoii<J!:LQ.rl:t!ilc..QLI':illr~ruLEorJ;_an a.da or illLE'IoPe.d.Y.wn~~illLI2Yr.~uautJcL1.m, 

BJ'.LS GJ.Jara ntee_arui.J.e la!ed s.ec.u~ 

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES 

17~ ~THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of 

any individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency, or any other entities (all of 

the foregoing, collectively being "Persons" and each being a "Person") against or in respect 

of the Ajc}jJl-iwi'lt6Rp!ic<JIJtl?,Jhe ChJeJ.BSJs.trw.Yring __ QifLc_e_r or the Monitor, or affecting the 

Business or the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent 

of the Apt~f€-an+8R.Pli.cants.__!he Chief Re~ructuring Office.r and the Monitor, or leave of this 

Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall (i) empower the Applicants, to carry on any 

business which the Applicants-1tu!re not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) affect such 

investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are permitted by Section 

11.1 of the CCAA, (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security 

interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien. 

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS 

18. -14-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall discontinue, 

fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, 

renewal right, contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Applicants, 

except with the written consent of the Applicant§. and the Monitor, or leave of this Court. 

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES 

19. -!-+.-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or 

written agreements with the Applicants or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of 

goods and/or services, including without limitation all computer software, communication and 

other data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation 

services, utility or other services to the Business or the Applicant§., are hereby restrained 

until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the 

supply of such goods or services as may be required by the Applicant§., and that the 

Applicant§. shall be entitled to the continued use of tffi~ current premises, telephone 



numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses-But}. domain names, information tecblli!!Qgy~ 

l>!.lggoiLand~.~;t<JilLilli>-~e.s_sJn~.rvi.c:es,,,provided in each case that the normal prices or 

charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this Order are paid by the 

Applicant§ in accordance with normal payment practices of the Applicant~ or such other 

practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and each of the 

Applicant§, and the Monitor, or as may be ordered by this Court 

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS 

20, +&-THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no 

Person shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of 

lease or licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of 

this Order, nor shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to 

advance or re-advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to the Applicant~. Nothing 

in this Order shall derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA" 

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

2.1. +9,-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by 

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against 

any of the former, current or future directors or officers of arw.C?Lthe Applicant~ with respect 

to any claim against the directors or officers that arose before the date hereof and that 

relates to any obligations of iill\'..ofJhe Applicant;;;, whereby the directors or officers are 

alleged under any law to be liable in their capacity as directors or officers for the payment or 

performance of such obligations, until a compromise or arrangement in respect of the 

Applicant~, if one is filed, is sanctioned by this Court or is refused by the creditors of the 

Applicant§ or this Court. 

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE 

22. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant~ shall indemnify imtb~Jr directors and 

officers against obligations and liabilities that they may incur as directors or officers of the 

Applicants after the commencement of the within proceedings,% except to the extent that, 

:t -:fh:i-s-&eH--Eieregat-i-EH'li:>ffiv-i-s-iHtt·ha-s-ae-fJl:Jire4-+ne-H~---s-igA::i.fiwnee--due-te--tlie-rec-eR-f-aH1-eriBn:re-nt-s--t-e--t~1e-C~-~AA,--s-bt€-€--a­
n~Jmber of aetions or Jtej3S eannot be stayed, or the stay is Jtibjeet to ee:t1a±lrlimits o11d restrictioH:s. See, for 
example, CCAA gections 11.0 I, 11.0 I, 11.06, l LO+,l+08, 1 1.1(2) and 11~ 

~ -+J.ce-l>f004.ind<*Hflt!y-lt~l;gtillb~fl-8eelffiH+i,+kJf-!li&GCAA·hall-OOeB-itHj'>E>Fte<J-tHt0-tlti5-f'MlgFHf'lr-'Flle­
grantin,; ofthe indemcit) ('A hetlm or net secured hy a Directors' Chnrge), and tile Jeope offlle indemHi'Y>"""'­
diseretionar5 matters tha: .;hauld be r:dch.;,;ed" itl1 tl1e Comt 



with respect to any officer or director, the obligation or liability was incurred as a result of the 

director's or officer's gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 

23. ::?cl~ THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors and officers of the Applicant~ shall be 

entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the "Directors' Charge")" on the 

Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $•15Q.QO_Q, as security for 

the indemnity provided in paragraph f2llf2 of this Order. The Directors2: Charge shall have 

the priority set out in paragraphs f38fil and f4llf1 herein. 

2"L He-THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable 

insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim 

the benefit of the Directors' Charge, and (b) the Ai3J7Heaffi!.s6gplicants' directors and officers 

shall only be entitled to the benefit of the Directors' Charge to the extent that they do not 

have coverage under any directors' and officers' insurance policy, or to the extent that such 

coverage is insufficient to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph f2llf2 of 

this Order. 

PROIECTIQNS FOR_NO_N.APPLICANT ENTITIES 

25. II:! .. ~ COQBT QEQ~I;ES thil.LWiLimuUlmitiogJ"aL<!9illRlliL14 thrQl,!Qh1_9Jlereill_witb 

r_esoe.ct Jo the AppJkanta. during tbe__St<w P""l:iod. JJo _Eund~J -~-elinedJn tb""__E>_Qiri.eJ 

6ffidallil) stl<!!L 

(a) discontinue fail to__hono_l.l[_aliar, interfere with repudiate,_terminate or cease_io 

J;l.exfoxm__anJ: .. Jight renewaLrlgbt, __ contraci,_a~m_ent,Jj_c_enG.e ... oJ .• Qll.rmiLin f<lliOULoL 

or held by__ILk:lorian QrdeLOilurses E~o';la_Sc,Q!laBrancb__or__ILi_c!orian 

QrdeLQLl:J_JJJs.es_EoLJ:;.anada - ... OolarLo Elr.am;;b •• (l;:.oll.ective.ly, Jb.e .... "Noo:AP.Riicant 

EntilLes"l: or 

(b) b;;~v.e .. aoy riqbJs to acc.eJe.r.;;~te,_amend,.dedareJn_dl\l(<J.uiLoLenfoJce.on.an)Lc_ootr.a.ct. 
agreement instrument or othe.r docum_enL 

io e_acb. case, due 1o1ll~;i~hP~.Iill.t§..,.b_eJng .. ,QiJJ:lje.s.Jo this~LQ.Qe~Lng.Jlglli!J9~made__an_ 

Application to this Crwrt pursuant to the CCAA and the Courts of .Justice Act (Ontario) 

in cludinQ .... aoy decla rati.oJls .. otiDs.olve.nGY .. 90iltaine_cLtbeJei.n.ln__r_e.~R-e_ct .. otlbe..AgglLc_aot§ oLtbe 

"Seetie>o 11.§ 1 (3) rf<Wltl"'-+lta!-tl>• CocH+t~l'-ffiake-<l>is seeurily 1eoarging order if iR tlie Court's epinio!t-llw­
App!icant eeuld oBt-a-Ht--atl-eq~Jate inEiemnifh;ation in.rdraaee for tfle direetor or effleer at a reaseaable eost. 



.i'/Qn-iippl icaoLErrttlLes th<LaQQ9i ntme DLQf_a_receilleLin~Q-e_CLQUb_e__ARR!icaois ,_Ql_iakin9~ 

illlY~J?_taRS_Jo. ... furth.erao ce \b__SlLeJJi~r comg!ylng--'!ii1h tbe_tElli(L_;;.J!LaD.~I~cgrnnte!;lilllbe~.IL 

_QQA6 R~~ediogs or yoder the _C.Qwts_Ql JJJstice A_ct (Qo.tarLQl,_exc~pi_wtlh the written 

.CQ0§!>~1~oLJhe_ApR.JicM1§._Qbiei,He£lrJ.Lclurjng_Qffic!'Lan>LJllil.Jv1onitor, ..... ucl~e of this_ 

G_gurl_ 

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR 

26. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that fMONITOR'1'> NAME]CQJlins_Bar[Qw.I_QLQoiQ 

_Limjled is hereby appointed pursuant to the CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to 

monitor the business and financial affairs of the Applicants with the powers and obligations 

set out in the CCAA or set forth herein and that the Applicant§. and its shm·ehol4erstb!itiL 

J:lliilll);>ers, officers, directors, and Assistants shall advise the Monitor of all material steps 

taken by the Applicants pursuant to this Order, and shall co-operate fully with the Monitor in 

the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations and provide the Monitor with the 

assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately carry out the Monitor's 

functions. 

27_. 2A7"' THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and 

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to: 

(a) monitor the Applican-f&t'.ppJicantll.: receipts and disbursements; 

(b) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate 

with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such other 

matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein; 

fe1 a-s&i-s-t-the Applieant, to the extent fe£ttlired by~th~·'-Appl-imtt1i';-in its disscminati-tm;-fe­

the DIP Lender and its counsel on a lTIMI·: INTERVAL] basis offinancial and other 

i-rlffimuxtion a~>et! to between-the Appli(J{iHt-aml--the-----9±P--bendL"i'--Wl-HBfr-H'ltl)'-00-

nsetl~in4ese-J*Oeee<.-l-i-ngs--i-I'IBklfl-in-!,'-l'epEwHn-g-Bn--a--ooffi1He--l;e-ngreeck¥i-th the DIP 

Lender; 

{4) mhise the App.lieant in it:; preparation of the Applieaut's cash How statements and 

f€j*H'fin<,;--f€t!uired by the DIP Lc'fldet7-wh-i-elr-ffiformation shall be reviewed with--+fie--

I 



Mooit~-iwre-E1-te the DIP bffiE!eHH'ld its coHnseH:m--tt-j'K-"fiedireasis, kt net­

less than [TIME---1-N-~'--tls etherw-is&agreed to by the-±)IP Lende1'; 

(c) fe}advise the Applicant~ in itslb .. eir development of the.am: Plan and any 

amendments to the~ Plan; 

_((::!) {-f)-assist the Applicant§_, to the extent required by the Applicant§_, with the holding 

and administering of creditors' or sltm•eht}l4lr&m_0_rnberl?' meetings for voting on 

the~ny Plan; 

(e) fgt-have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books, 

records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of the 

Applicant§., to the extent that is necessary to adequately assess the 

Applicant'sAgpJicants' business and financial affairs or to perform its duties arising 

under this Order; 

(f) 1:ftt-be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the 

Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and 

performance of its obligations under this Order; and 

(g) {-itperform such other duties as are required by this Order or by this Court from time 

to time. 

28. 25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property 

and shall take no part whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of 

the Business and shall not, by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or 

maintained possession or control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof. 

29. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to 

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or 

collectively, "Possession") of any of the Property that might be environmentally 

contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, 

discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law 

respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the 

environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without 

limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection 



Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act 

and regulations thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation"), provided however that nothing 

herein shall exempt the Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by 

applicable Environmental Legislation. The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or 

anything done in pursuance of the Monitor's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed 

to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental 

Legislation, unless it is actually in possession. 

3ll ti-,-THIS COURT ORDERS that that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the 

Ajoplicant and :he DIP Lendert,pplicanis with information provided by the Applicant§. in 

response to reasonable requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed 

to the Monitor. The Monitor shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the 

information disseminated by it pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information that the 

Monitor has been advised by the Applicant§. is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such 

information to creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the 

Monitor and the Applicant§. may agree. 

:CLt ~.,-THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the 

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, the Monitor shall incur no liability or 

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, 

save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part. Nothing in this 

Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any 

applicable legislation. 

32. ;:w.. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor,Jile Chi.el 

Re.s.J[U.C.luriog OJflce.[ (as _d_efJoad b_elo'Nl, co_unaeL1o_jlliL8J2Rli.canis_ and counsel to the 

Applf€-a£t.boards, oLdlr_ec;taLs~of lb.IL6QJ;lkllll!S. shall be paid their reasonable fees and 

disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, by the Applicant§. as part of 

the costs of these proceedings. The Applicant§.-HU!le. hereby authorized and directed to pay 

the accounts of the Monitor, counsel for the Monitor.Jhe.l;blm,E?structYJ:log___Qffic!Or,J;.QIJDl>el_ 

fos_jhe_)'l,gpiLcarrts and counsel for the 1\pplicant-on a [TIME-!N+L~-bfjo_jhe boards of 

gjre.<:<loDLPf the~PRlicanls ... oit.a __ w_eekly basis-tffid, in addition. the App!k'!tnt-is-Rere\;y­

m:thorizcd to pay to th€-Monitor, co:1nse! to the Monitor, and-cmmsel to the i\pplicant, 

refa.itters in the amount[s] of$" [, respeetively,]4E>-be held by theffi as security for payment of 

their re.>poctive foe.J ond disbmsements oatstancling Jhm1 time !&time, 



:n. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its legal counsel shall pass their 

accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its legal 

counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court 

of Justice. 

34. :;+,.-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor, if any. andlb<L 

Chief Res!ructucing Officer the ApplicaBt'-s,'l,g!2likilDts' counsel aru:LmunseLkLibe boards_ef_ 

!ilreCtQJ:S_Qftb.e .. 6t<Qiicant§. shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge 

(the "Administration Charge") on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate 

amount of $<~>25Q,QQ_Q, as security for their professional fees and disbursements incurred at 

the standard rates and charges of the Monitor and such counsel, both before and after the 

making of this Order in respect of these proceedings. The Administration Charge shall have 

the priority set out in paragraphs f3Sfjl and f4{}}1 hereof. 

DIP FINANGING 

APPOINTMENLO£..CHIEE RESTRUCTURING OE£LCER 

li ~THIS COURT ORDERS that fue-..AtJpliear~t i:; hereby authorized and empowered to 

obtain and borrow \mder a credit facility tl'om [DIP LENDER'S NAME] (the "DIP Lender") in 

tH'd{;l•-to-finanee the-Applicant's working capital requirements and other general corporate 

pHFpH50S-mtd-eapi-lfH-<*j*Affittlre&;-pl'H¥id-e6-t!-wt--lxJ!TOWi ags-<md er :;ac!reredit-fHeiJity-sltall­

nol exceed h \mless permitted by furfllerG.rdcr of t.ffis-~::i[t;;\QjjJl.U.~L.Qf NYC§§§ EeL 

Canada js._au\bQdz<lliio_.smqaQ!LM.arcb_Advisory Services Inc as Chief Re.str.ucturing Officer. 

(in such caQ9.c.itv the "C.hi.e.LRestructyrjog..O.Jflc.er"l on the terms and conditions s.e.l.o.uUn. 

the form oLCE.Q_Ej]j;Jagemeot Letter (as such tecm.J£.definedjn.Jbe...£oirier Affidavit) The 

Chief Restructuring QffLc.eLShallnoib_e engaged by and shall not be deeme.d.Jo..Jla\le...been 

engaqe,cll2y, Victoria o Q rdeLQil'>LIJC!:lell EoLCMi!>l<t- Eall.ternJiegJQD .. o.L l,'ictoiiii!n.Order_Qf 

J'iYill.ll.ll..£.QLC.aoada -c \Liles.temJ'Se_,g_ion~ 

:;+ +HIS CO\+!ZT ORDERS THAT nuch credit faei-lHy-s±raH be on the term,; and :m\~ect to 

the-wnditions sot forth in the commi:n~ent letter between the Applicant and tho DIP Lot;dor dated 

03-&f [DATI:'f{--the-"-Gennnitment Letter"), tiled. 

'14, THIS COl+R++)I@BR&--ltHrt4he-Appliec1ftHtl-hereby a ;;ti'Kwi'cod-aHd-€H·1pewered-te-

oxec\tto Gnd deliver such credit ngreements, mort-g;H~hc.rges. hypothees and seou.rit:y 

0 



~'iOOt&;-<JHaraffiees and-ether c'.e1inilfv&BBetHHeRis*"&lffie.li-vely,--lhe "D eflnitive­

fX'leuments"), as at·e conten1j7l&ted by the Commitment Letter or a~l n-wy be rea:lOnably l'ectltired­

by-th&OOLheHdffi~pun:cwnt to tho terms thereoi~ and the Applicant i;; hereby lfl+fhHFiced&md­

dH•t.·-,~lrdWflilrBnd perform all of its indebtedness. interest, fees, lit;bilities and-ebl±<Jations t-e-the­

Dl-P-L-€n(-k"f-HHder--aild-j3\±i'frtltlflt-tH-ihe-Gemmitmenl--bott'-''T-ft11d-#le-Qetlniti-w:-DeettHtents-as-and­

when-+he-£ame-l'roetl1ne-ffite-.ctHd-a-Joe-t~+-ile--fJe!4c'enned,-R<liwi1:hstar1din.sr-a-nyether-J3FO-v-iBiml-of4his­

Gffielc-

::~-§" +±H8 COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lem1er shall he eruitled to the benefit of and is 

~'frtttredtrell.~-th&-"t+IP LeHder' s Chaq,~-en the Propel'\:)'. whish DIP LendeFs­

~;ltm·ge :;l'lil-l-!-Het'-Se\.-'Hl'e-aH-&hligffiiBn-th-atce-x-i-ats-+>efure-+hi-&-(-:ffJer-i:; made. The-DIP-Lender'-s­

Ghar-g~U-have the priori!y-set-BHI--in paragraphs-{-38j--and [4111 herooi~ 

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that, not\Nifhste.nding any othe1· provinion of this 

Order:'\l'ictorian Order Of Nurs.es For Canada_..ls__aulborized to en.te.r..Jnto__jhe CRO 

~ement Letter and..'ILLc.tori.an 0Jrl.er Of Nu[ses For C.anadais...aulhorized to .Qerf_Qrm.its 

ol:l.lig_<JJiQn.:>ll:l!llilu.nder _ 

fa-) tl1L"--&f!l-LeH4er-Hlfr)'--tal~ch steps-fffi-m--#t1-1e-te-ti+"f!<Hls it may deem necessary-er 

fr!TPFEIJ*i-a-fe-t+rc~ile;-register,-reeerEl-e-r-perfect the OOLheHder-:s-Ghxtrge--BJ' uny of the 

DeJi.nitivc Doemnents; 

f&) upon tfw·-t>~*"IIHI!!'li.'IHJ{NrH'''e-n' of default under the Definitive Donrments or the DIP 

LeHder'u Charge, tho DIP Lender, apon " days-notice to the Applicant and-the­

M&ni+or, may exerciGe any-!tfl{-l-al-l-eJ-its righu rmd-ren1edies-againffi--lhe Appli-ea-nt-&r­

fue Property-ttnder or purs::.ant to the Commitment Let';er, Definitive Doc\±inents and 

fue-QIP Lender's Charge, inebding without limitation, to cease making advances to 

the ,\ppliOtlfll--aHd-sei--Bff-an<-lffir conlloliclate any am.eeffis em ing by tho DIP Lender to­

tho-Aj7pli&an-1-es>ainflt-the-<e;b-1igati(}ns-Bf-the-Af"Jll4eanl--to-the-DIP--b-endeHmd.el~Hre­

Commi.:ment Letter, the Definitive Doo~;ment;; or the DIP Lender's Char!!;e. to mal"-'~ 

demand, accelerate payment and give other notices, or to apply to this Court for the 

!\f)i7otn-tment of a receiver, receiver and maHager or interim rocei', er, or for a 

bankxUj7tey-&rdCH!b'itH'l-&Hhe--Aj7plicant a-Hd-fuHhe-afli76Htll'nent-e-f-a trustee in­

BtlrllB'H-pte)'--(4-tlle Applicnnt; and 

I 



fej ehe4eregeffig-rigftls-und-F€lfl'K'-<.+i<J~J of th~Hder-sltall-ee-enforeeahle-u-gaiflHH!Hy­

t-rustee-i-H-BtHqJrt'Hj'ltcy-.tater*H-Hleei\'er, reeeWei'-BHeeeWentfld-.ffia-llil1'\'ef--ef.t-he­

ApplicaBt or the Prope!'tp---

n IHIS COUBLQEillEESS that any ~_s ofVictorian.Qrder Qf Nurses£ur 

i&.nad<LUllil~Lt~ CRQ___ EngaQ!'_mentJ,_etteJ:JuutalL-IllEillL\lf fees a ncLe_xQen§~Uilll!Lil~­

entitled to the benefit of tbli.8dministra1iun___Charge aod____any___ubllgatiuns of '>Lictorian OrdeLQL 

l':JJ.!LS.e.~,£Qr Canada_IJil-de.cJbe QRQ .. Eugagemeni_l,etterJQI.J®IllenL\lLinct~mnili~s .. .§b.a!!lle 

emitl.edlo.Jbe.b.ene_fji__Q_tihe Di rectors:____c_~ 

38. ::0-+.---THIS COURT 0 R DE RS AN-f)-..fl:w:' LARES t-ha-H:-he-fli-P-L-eJideflhaLanv c!ai ms..of 

lb~ Chief g~_:iln.lQ.tu.ring QffiQer UllQ.er..Jb~_QEQ __ f_ug_a~_eni Letter shall be treated as 

unaffected in any plaH of arrangement oF--eHmpromio;e filed ey the i\pplicant ;mder tbe CCAA, 

or any p rllflooa+---Hlec4----hy :he Awl-iwnt'--tlt1El<lf-l-he----B,1111frlfp-l-ey---mld-lmlft-l-ve-Ne:v·-A-e'f-Hf canada­

ft he "BIA"J, with respect to any e.l!vunces made ;1ncler the Deffnitive Doc;unenffif'lan. 

VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER 

3.9. *.-THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Directors' Charge,.an.d the 

Administration Charge and the Dfl' Lender's GhffigC, as among them, shall be as follows+ll: 

First- Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of $•250 OOQ);.arui 

Second -l::)H"---bender':; Churge;---aoo:fli1rd ~ Directors-'-: Charge (to the maximum 

amount of $•1!iQ."QQ,Q). 

i\0. :W. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Directors-'-: 

Charge,_ or the Administration---C--'htH'g€--Sl'-4he mP Lem-ler-'-ti Charge (collectively, the 

"Charges") shall not be required, and that the Charges shall be valid and enforceable for all 

purposes, including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or 

perfected subsequent to the Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such 

failure to file, register, record or perfect. 

+4 Tfle ranking of these Charges is fuf-ill:ustrGtlon p:1rpeses onl), rm8 is net meant to be-6efermina:ive. This ranki~1g 
ma:' be :mhjeet to neguL:.la~ion, r:.HEI nhcmffr-be '.:ailered te the ciremnstances of'.:~-:e er:.se before tfle Co1:1rt. Similarly, 
t!1e quaritum and eap~plieabie :o :he Charges shmtk:l-f'HroonsiElereEI in enel1 ecue. Please n!..;e note the;:: the 
CCAA FlOVf--f!ermit; Charges in favour of eritieG.l suppliers anE1 other!:;,\\ hieh shou!Ele.lso be incorporateS inte ti:L 
Order (and the raRJi-i~~ 



~~ -I 

41. 4ch-THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Directors' Charge,_arui the 

Administration Charge illlil--tfte DIP Le!lder's Charge-fttlt.(e~h as constituted and defined 

herein) shall constitute a charge on the Property and such Charges shall rank in priority to all-

. ffil1ei' security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured 

creditors, statutory or otherwise (collectively, "Encumbrances") in favour of aey-Pet'S&Hl!:LEio 

B.@nk_oL['.!Q_'ilL,!;l~oti~ruill__Q<lbi.n\LBIL.QibeLe)~ililin~.fucu m bra n.ce.s alfecting .. tllil .. E'LoJ:lert.Y. 
illa£~..£Wcb Encumbrao.c_es in favour QlPersons tllat have nQLbeen seJYed.wilh notice 

Qllbis.Mo!JQJJ, Ttle . .Atmlicants .. <J.odJhe benefu;iari.earube. Charge~ . .s.haiU;te enti~ .. m.s.eSlK. 

12l19J:ii¥_fur the C.b.aroes_ahead_oUhe Encumucances in favour of Persons other than..Ihe_ 

Bank otNolfaBJ;Qtia oo_o.oticeJQJbose_pJ!rtiea likr;fyJ.Q be_arteQ16'li b v.~>.I.LQh.RJ:LQ.rii~<-

42. 4-l~ THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or 

as may be approved by this Court, the Applican(s shall not grant any Encumbrances over 

any Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Directors' Charge,_ar the 

Administration Charge-{-lf-4-h€--DIP Lender' .s Chilfb+e, unless the Applicant§ also obtains the 

prior written consent of the Monitor,-the-rnrLbooder and the beneficiaries of the Directors' 

Charge and the Administration Charge, or further Order of this Court. 

-4}. 4±-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Directors' Charge,_and the Administration 

Charge,-the Connilttrnent Letter, the-fc)ecfi-!'11#-ve-f}eaunents and the DIJ:Lbender' c; Charge shall 

not be rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees 

entitled to the benefit of the Charges (collectively, the "Chargees") anc.Jier-the--mP Lender 

tfierem1der shall not otherwise be limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these 

proceedings and the declarations of insolvency made herein; (b) any application(s) for 

bankruptcy order(s) issued pursuant to B±AI!Je Bankruptr:w ancUnso/vency Act ICJ!nada)Jtbe 

:BIA''l, or any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing of any 

assignments for the general benefit of creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the provisions 

of any federal or provincial statutes; or (e) any negative covenants, prohibitions or other 

similar provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of 

Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or 

other agreement (collectively, an "Agreement") which binds illJ)I~_the Applicant.s, and 

notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any Agreement: 

(a) neither the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection. 

registration or performanee-ei:.cthe Commilfnent Letter or the Definicive DoetnneTlffi-



shall_not create or be deemed to constitute a breach by the Applicant:> of any 

Agreement to which i+.anv__Agglicant is a party; 

(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of 

any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the ~7liffint-entefing­

i-nte-the Commitment Lett~creation of the Charges. or the exec~1tion, de!ivery-er­

flOrformance of the Detlnitive Documents; and 

(c) the payments made by the Applicant:> pursuant to this Order, tho Commitnl€Rt'-bettel~ 

erthe-Definkive DoemlleH{'S-; and the granting of the Charges, do not and will not 

constitute preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive 

conduct, or other challengeable or voidable transactions under any applicable law. 

44.. 4+.--THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real 

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Aflfllicant's8J;?J;lli.c.ants' interest in such real 

property leases. 

45. If:IJS CO...LJRT ORDERSlhaLtbeQa)(ments~R.UlSLli!DUo tb.e...Ke.y£mgloy_ea, 

Rere.D!i.on PI an (<;J$ .• s.ucb.Jerms .!IDtJ;t!illn!l.li.i!1Jbe Poirier Affidavit), -'tibiillj§_alts,r;;bed as a .... 

,QQDfidentlaLJ:lxbibil to the PoirieL.Afiida\CiL are be.reb_y~~e_Agglic.ants arJ:l 

ai!UHJJizecl .. iJnd...s.iire.qteci_/Q ..• mak~~n.l§.iD .. ~orQll..t:\Ce . .wi!~tbe~eJIDll .•. oLJt!JdL ... ~.e:L 

Em Qi.Q.~\iLB.ete.ntlo.ILPJ a o, 

SEALil'l.G 

46... Il:llS Q_QURLQRD~C-QJJfld.enti.a.Lfxblb.its ... ~.~" tQJ~ffi.d.rudttluJ:ld.JillL 

heiebY.lle.l!lelt~en.diugj.urlbeLQrge[_Oflhe.Cou r:t.a.ru:Ls.h<!ILUQ1fQrrn_garlQUbe .. Qu.bJic.re.~Qlii, 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

4L 4+.-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in 

[nev<spar>ers specified by the Co~ll"t]eilhe.r. ttJal,l;ltional Pq§t (national e..ditionl or the Globe 

ll,ncLM<liLU:latLooal edjtionl a notice containing the information prescribed under the CCAA, (ii) 

within five days after the date of this Order, (A) make this Order publicly available in the 

manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, in the presefibefr-RTilililOFQ..)' ordlnar)( mail, a 

j,)f)<:;g:l+~l: 3821816'1 



notice to every known creditor who has a claim against any_ill the Applicantll, of more than 

$1000, and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of those creditors and the 

estimated amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in the prescribed manner, 

all in accordance with Section 23(1 )(a) of the CCAA and the regulations made thereunder,,, 

ldLQ.Vlde.cltbaUlliLMcmitor sball..no1 make the clainls,_nam~J>_ancj a®LeJ>ses_ of indl\Li.dua!s_wb_e 

are cl:§diloLS publicly ~-

48. Il:ilS _ _G.QURT ORDEB.S_the£-Service_E'J:utQ_c_oLottbeJ:&JnJ:ueLcial List (th<>_ 

"Pro!oCQl"l is aQQ(OY.!OcLand acjg121edJlY'Jefec~caherein ?,Od. Jn_tbisJ2[Q<;;~\i!.Qlng,_1ha_§e[llic_e_ 

o.ldlLC-uments_made in__accordaru;,e wLth the PmtacoUwhich can be fouod___e..n the Commeccial 

WsL,.-~--~·-··"'~---~---- ·---~--~···- w~site ____ ''"··~-~ ... , .. --~----~---~~~-~---~~-------·- at 

htl~/Lwww. a otarj_a_c.ourts.caLsc,j(,Q[flclicelpracti.ce=clirectLansJJo rontille-oSilliLLcepLOJoCQJLL shalL 

~~'Lafui.and~Jk~ ... se[llLc;~SJJhi~ct.JoJ~JJ1sLlLQ5Jllis __ Orger:shaiL_c,Qnslitutii> an_orJJ~IloL 

~U.Ibs_titute_~ice_puruumJ toJ'iul e 16 O~t oJ the EulJl.s___eLCLv.il Proced u ce.. S ubi !;tCl_1_a__Rule _ 

3ll1Ldt of tb.e"_RuleJLot,QiJ,IJJ_frocedUriL£1n.d_ Q~I<!Rh-,2.Lof 1~ Proto-CoL :o~rvice __ of 

documents in_accorcjance_wlib_!he Protocal_wiU be effectl\Le on traosmis~o.UJ:l 

1uctbeLord~LaQ.as~sill' sbali.Jl.e.~tablilihed in~n:lance_with the Proioc;Q) __ wlltl. 

too following URL 

www collirlsbarLQiliLcaro/S~llLcb.olce~tr~dua::ao_d_:reco'Lllrv:@naaa~m~Q:n ~---~Klhe_ 

:'lll/_~llsite"l 

4.9. #.--THIS COURT ORDERS that the AppLieamitl~~erYLc.e.~ritllitLoo._ot 

®cume..nts in accordooce _ _with the Prpto.QOHs not practicahle,Jb.e_AgQ]icJiois and the Monitor 

scare at liberty to serve_QI dj§trib_u!!Z this Order, any other materials and orders in these 

proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by 

prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or eleotTonicta_c_simlLe transmission to the 

Appl~6pj:iliQ.anill: creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as 

last shown on the records of the Applicants and that any such service or ooti-eecjLs_trillJ.lliQ,a by 

courier, personal delivery or electronicf_ac.s.imile transmission shall be deemed to be received 

on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary mail, 

on the third business day after mailing. 

50. 4&.--THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant. the-Monitor, and any party who has-

filed a Notice of Appearotwe-!nay sewe c.fty co~;rt materials-in-these-preeeeffings-by e mailing­

a PDF or otl'lff-electronie oepy--&f :;uch materials to counsels' email addresses as recorded-en-

&~!~4-&-4-1--i~..J-



the 8ervk'%tifrtMooltor sh.all cre~t~aintain and_ u~i;!1e as nece.S.SN._ji__ajj_sl oJ all Persons_ 

;:u~ge.arlogjo gerson oLb.~ coun§~Uo_l~o.c.eadio~"-Service LiJtt") The_MonJto.uhall 

J2.0SUhe Service .. UEi,~_may_be_llgdaie.d from time to time, and the ,Monitor may post a eopy 

sfB-ny·oHill-stt&h-ai-ateffitl-s-en its website at [INSERT WEBSITE ADDRESSJ-,on the Wehsjie_ 

,as~!1f;!LoLlb.e P1ti21ip m;;~Iei~~"g__be~eJ<.ors:l~dJbereouJn .ce!OJtiQJ1 io~RCQQ®.dioo~ 

Notwithstanding the foregoing,Jhe Monitor shall have.noJiaQllit)IJnsespecLQfihe.~ra.£\'K 

QJ:Jbalimeline.s.s of m!;lkiDg.aoy~eJ.LtoJhe Sei"Yi.c.e List 

GENERAL 

5Je. 4+c-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant§ or the Monitor may from time to time 

apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties 

hereunder. 

52 4&o-THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from 

acting as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy 

of the Apjlli&an18QQiicanJs (or an¥ oUbem), the Business or the Property. 

53. 4-9-o-THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, 

tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United 

States, to give effect to this Order and to assist the Applicant§, the Monitor and their 

respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and 

administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide 

such assistance to the Applicant§ and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be 

necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order, to grant representative status to the 

Monitor in any foreign proceeding, or to assist the Applicant§ and the Monitor and their 

respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. 

54. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Applicants and the Monitor be at liberty 

and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or 

administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in 

carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Monitor is authorized and empowered to act 

as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these 

proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada. 



Q5~ ~~THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Applicant§. and 

the Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) 

days notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon 

such other notice, if any, as this Court may order. 

56, ~THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 

12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the dale of this Order. 



Tab 5 



Court File No. ____ _ 

ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

THE HONOURABLE _DAY, THE_DAY 

JUSTICE 

) 

) OF __ _ 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

20_ 

AND IN THE MATTER OF SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, 
R.S.O. 1990, C. C-43, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT 
OF VICTORIAN ORDER OF NURSES FOR CANADA, VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA - EASTERN REGION AND VICTORIAN ORDER OF 
NURSES FOR CANADA- WESTERN REGION 

ORDER 
(Appointing Receiver) 

Applicants 

THIS MOTION made by the Applicants for an Order pursuant to section 101 of the 

Courls of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "CJA") appointing Collins Barrow 

Toronto Limited as receiver (in such capacity, the "Receiver") without security, of all of the 

goodwill and intellectual property of Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada, Victorian Order Of 

Nurses For Canada - Eastern Region and Victorian Order Of Nurses For Canada - Western 

Region (collectively, the "Applicants") acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on 

by the Applicants, was heard this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

ON READING the affidavit of Jo-Anne Poirier sworn November 24, 2015 and the 

Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicants, Collins Barrow 



- 2-

Toronto Limited (as the proposed Receiver), the Board of Directors of the Applicants and The 

Bank of Nova Scotia, no one else appearing although duly served as appears from the affidavit 

of service of [NAME] sworn [DATE] and on reading the consent of Collins Barrow Toronto 

Limited to act as the Receiver, 

SERVICE 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the 

Application is hereby abridged and validated so that this motion is properly returnable today and 

hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

APPOINTMENT 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 101 of the CJA, Collins Barrow Toronto 

Limited is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of all of the goodwill and intellectual 

property of the Applicants acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on by the 

Applicants, including all proceeds thereof (the "Receivership Property"), and of no other 

property of the Applicants. 

3. THIS COURT DECLARES that the Receiver is a receiver within the meaning of Section 

243(2)(b) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the "BIA"). 

RECEIVER'S POWERS 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not 

obligated, to act at once in respect of the Receivership Property and the Receiver is hereby 

expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the following where the Receiver considers it 

necessary or desirable: 

(a) subject to Paragraph 5 of this order, to exercise control over the Receivership 

Property; 

(b) to exercise its statutory obligations under the Wage Earner Protection Program 

Act (Canada); 

(c) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the 

performance of any statutory obligations; and 
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(d) to engage counsel to assist with the exercise of the Receiver's powers conferred 

by this Order. 

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall have no obligation or authority to take 

steps to take possession of, dispose of or realize upon any of the Receivership Property. 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be and is hereby relieved from compliance 

with the provision of Sections 245(1), 245(2) and 246 of the BIA; provided that the Receiver 

shall provide notice of its appointment in the prescribed form and manner to the Superintendent 

of Bankruptcy, accompanied by the prescribed fee. 

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Applicants, (ii) all of their current and former 

directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and members, and all other 

persons acting on their instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations, 

governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the 

foregoing, collectively, being "Persons" and each being a "Person") shall forthwith advise the 

Receiver of the existence of any Receivership Property in such Person's possession or control 

and shall grant immediate and continued access to the Receivership Property to the Receiver. 

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the 

existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting 

records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the Receivership 

Property, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data storage 

media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "Records") in that 

Person's possession or control, and shall grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of 

accounting, computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that 

nothing in this paragraph 8 or in paragraph 9 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records, 

or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver 

due to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to applicable laws 

prohibiting such disclosure. 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a 

computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service 

provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give 

unfettered access to the Receiver as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall 
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not alter, erase or destroy any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. 

Further, for the purposes of this paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such 

assistance in gaining immediate access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may 

in its discretion require including providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any 

computer or other system and providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account 

names and account numbers that may be required to gain access to the information. 

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER 

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the stay of proceedings in effect in accordance with 

paragraphs 14 and 17 of the Initial Order under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act 

(Canada) granted in these proceedings on the date hereof, as may be amended from time to 

time (the "Initial Order") shall apply mutatis mutandis to any Proceedings (as defined in the 

Initial Order) or any right or remedy against or in respect of the Receiver and the Receivership 

Property and nothing herein shall derogate from the stay of proceedings in effect pursuant to the 

Initial Order, except to the extent necessary to give effect to the appointment of the Receiver. 

EMPLOYEES 

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Applicants shall remain the employees 

of the Applicants until such time as the Applicants may terminate the employment of such 

employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities or obligations, 

including any successor employer liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, 

other than such amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect 

of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner 

Protection Program Act. 

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to 

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or 

collectively, "Possession") of any of the Receivership Property or any of the Applicants' other 

assets, property or undertaking, including (without limitation) property that might be 

environmentally contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or 

contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, 

provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or 

rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination 

I 
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including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario 

Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational 

Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation"), provided 

however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make 

disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. 

POSSESSION OF RECEIVERSHIP PROPERTY 

13. The Receiver shall take no part whatsoever in the management or the supervision of the 

management of the Business (as defined in the Initial Order) and the Receiver shall not, as a 

result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers under 

this Order, be deemed to be in possession of or be deemed to have taken any steps to dispose 

of any of the Receivership Property, or of any other assets, property or undertaking of the 

Applicants, including (without limitation) within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, 

unless it is actually in possession. 

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER'S LIABILITY 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result 

of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross 

negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under sections 81.4(5) 

or 81 .6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act. Nothing in this Order 

shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA or by any 

other applicable legislation. 

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS 

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid 

their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges and 

that the Applicants are hereby authorized to pay to the Receiver a retainer in the amount of 

$15,000, to be held by the Receiver as security for the payment of the Receiver's and its 

counsel's fees and disbursements outstanding from time to time. 

16. THIS COURT ORDERS the Receiver shall be entitled to and is hereby granted a charge 

(the "Receiver's Charge") on the Property (as such term is defined in the Initial Order), as 

security for its, and its counsel's, fees and disbursements, both before and after the making of 

this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form a charge 
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on the Property ranking: (i) subordinate to the Charges (as such term is defined in the Initial 

Order); and (ii) in priority to all Encumbrances (as defined in the Initial Order) in favour of any 

Person that rank subordinate to the Charges. 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

17. THIS COURT ORDERS subject to further Order of the Court, service and notice with 

respect to this Order and the appointment of the Receiver shall be in accordance with 

Paragraphs 48 and 49 of the Initial Order. 

GENERAL 

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for 

advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder. 

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting 

as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Applicants (or any of them). 

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or 

amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party 

likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may 

order. 

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 

12:01 p.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on November 27, 2015. 
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ORDER 
(aAppointing Receiver) 

THIS MOTION made by the l~f'AgRJk;anis for an Order pursuant to~ 

of the Bal?kntptc}' and brso/veney Act, R.S.C. 1985, o. B 3, as amended (the "BIN') and section 

101 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. CA3, as amended (the "CJA") appointing 

[I~4-\LBIZ~~NAME}~ollins fiariQY'Lll2Iontg,J..imiteQ as receiver faml-·-fllllflHgefj-(in such 

capaciti-eily, the "Receiver") without security, of all of the asse:s, undertakings and properties of 

[DEBTOR'S N .. •Jv!E] (tho "Dchtor"goo.dwUL . .aruUntelleclual RrJmo[\y_Qf_Jflc.!o.ri.an . ....Order Of 

Nurses EoLC.anacla..'llic.tori.ao Qr.d.eLQf. N.urses For Canada :::- Easte.r~imd 'iicto.rian. 

.QrdeLQLNu~ .. .EcL.C.a.oada .. :::: \Ciester.rtEeglonjc_QJlec.tiliel'l,J~ ::6RPJic.ant~) acquired for, or 

used in relation to a business carried on by the Debto:iiQQlic.an.ts, was heard this day at 330 

University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

ON READING the affidavit of jNAMJ+fJD=ArllliL.E'.cirier sworn [DATE]N.o..v.ember 24 

;2.Qj_Q and the Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for [NAMES], no one 

appeafing-fe-r [NAME]the &lRiicants Col!i!:l§L Barrgw TQCQOtQ.,,l,Jm.i1ed (as ... !he ... l:l[.QRQse.d.. 

Re~;e iverl~theJk!ard.....QLOiie.ctqrs oUhe..ARI21Lc<Jnts aqg_ThtL6..1lolcoLNQ.\Ia .... S.c.Q!Ia..no..9lle ... el§l.e .. 
ilR.hleE~riog although duly served as appears from the affidavit of service of [NAME] sworn 

[DATE] and on reading the consent of [IUlCEIVER'S NAMJo:]ColliJ1s .. 6.arr.Q~A'.lQJ:Qll.\Q .. Umit~ to 

act as the Receiver, 

SERVICE 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Moti.onAgglication and 

the MotionARRiic.llfum is hereby abridged and validated-' so that this motion is properly 

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

APPOINTMENT 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 213-( 1) of the BL\ e.nd section 101 of 

the CJA, [RECEIVER'S NAME]Collins B.aJIQw Toronto Limited is hereby appointed Receiver, 

without security, of all of the assets, nndmtakings and properties of the Debtorgoodwill and 

"-&eetiBa 2'1~-f-l+eHhe BIA ~ro• id~ay G~~oint a reeeh er "en Gfpliehtien by a .;eeurea ereditar". 
,;;. lf service in effected in a mafl±l:er etller than as a:1therized by tfle OH:k~rie Ruk.s sfCh :! Precet.~Jte, a:n ofEI.er­

-validatinJ irr~:gukr serviee in reqai:reEl fl'.Jl'SBant te R:Jle 16.08 of tile Rules lfCivi/Prece.:iz.re anEI Hla-J' be granted 
.ffi--.awropriate eire:-Jmstaaees. 
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i.rrtelles;twaLRJ:Q~<HiY of 1bsL6R~ILcants acquired for, or used in relation to a business carried on 

by the Del1ter8J;JpJjQan!s, including all proceeds thereof (the "fu>c.lilliershi.R Property")_, aodoilliL 

oJ.~LRLQJ2<lr!~oJJbe_6RRlLC.j!JJ1~ 

3. IHJ~_CQURLDE_Ql,ABE:Slh<!Uhe.Bec;eiYerjs,£ receiYer within itl& .... me<JDiD£LQLSect.i.on 

243(2JJb)_Otlila.Bankn1J2Icv and Jnsol'lene_'Lfki ICaoadal (tile...:BIA"). 

RECEIVER'S POWERS 

4. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but 

not obligated, to act at once in respect of the Rac.ewr:shio__Property and, without in Gil)' Wll)' 

~imit-i,,g--fl.t!l-i,>enerality of the foregoiflg;- the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and 

authorized to do any of the following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable: 

W to take possession of and exercise control over the Property rmd all)' and 

all-proc-eeds, receipta anfl disbmsemenls arifring-fHt!---Bf or from the 

Pr-c}j3Cl'ly; 

f&) to receive, preserve. and protect the Property, or any part oF-parts thereof 

including. b~1t not lin;ited to, the changing ofloclfS-flHEl security cedes, the 

relocating of Property to safeguard-H, the engaging of if!dopendont-seeuffiy­

peffif)J'lfl{:;l, the :alffi~cal inventories cmd lhe--tJ-~"Cll~lf..ffi-lB-llc 

imtlffil-flee coverage as lr~y-BHiosirable; 

{:e1 to n1anage, operate, and carry on the business of the Debtor. inebding th.e 

pmvers-46--enter-into-at~' agreemonfs.;-i,wttr any obligations in the ordinm')'­

comc;e of basiness, ecase--tH-eaHy-eft-il-it-er any pmi of the--bt'l&i1l.'*l&;-HF­

eetrse-+o-peffernl-aHy-c-'trntfaet&-ef the Debtor; 

f:<B to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, e1cperts. auditors. acemmtants, 

managem, cO\HtSel-alli4--sut.,4--Hther--personB--from tin:o :-o time anfl--Qft­

vffiatever--!Jasit;,-+nel'I.Jtl-i+t~Hn--a-le!Bp&Fftfy-haffis,-·lfl-ffi\Wivl-wil~+-lhiH!XtPtH'n!­

oF·Ihe.·-Rt•eeiocer~eJ:s and c!ution, including withBltt--1-i+mtation tllflfl€­

e&~Tiefred by :his Order; 
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(-e-1 te--j}Hrehase-%r lease sueh--n1ft6h-ilull'y,-e<lHiPmorrt, invent&fiw;----s-l-!j7pli.es,­

premi: .. :e:J of-&l11or asse:c: to c-&Btinuo :·he bt~s-ines;;-ef the Do1Jcor or any pu.rt 

Of-parts thereof; 

(:ft to receive Gnd collect all monies and accounts no'vi o\ved or hereafter 

owi+<~o>---l-o--th""-Doohlr--a-nd--t&-e-~"---(tll-fe-£-lWies of the De!Jt%f---i-JT­

eo-lle€li-a~o"-Bue-h.---Jn~--iHe-1-H{-1-ing,-''Yithoat l imi-tat~{Jt~o--e-n:!Oree---any­

oonJrity held by the Debtor; 

f:g1 to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor; 

fft) to eKec~-ttce;--arJsign, issue and endBise documen{s of ;;natoYer nature m 

fefrJ3e;+-of-a£y--flf-the--P-l'flt1Crty, vchether in the--I~eei-ver' s name or in the 

rttt!Tl£-iHffi-etr-liehalf ofthe-QeBtiJL fer e.ny purpose pursuant to this Order; 

\+) to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all 

proceedings and to defend---al-l-47r-&eeeding:J now pending or hereafter 

inst-iatl-ofr-with respooHB--the--Debtor, the Propefly--&F-tlle--I~ei-ver;--an{+-to­

settle or comprorai*'"----flllY rmoh proeeedinga.4 The authority hereby 

oouveyetl--sha1l extend to such appeals or applicati-ons-for judicial redew 

in-reB-!1e€'k+f-mJY-<:7fde!'-B!'-j-uegJBeffi-prono~;nced in any such proceeding; 

ffi to market any or all of the Pre-perty, inclut!-ing--a{Weftlflir;g and soliciting 

offers in respect of the Proper!)' or any part or parts thereof and negotiating 

stl€-h--teR-ns--atffi.--Bol.ffiffi-on.J of sale as the Receiver in its discretion n+ay­

Wen1 appropl'i-ate;-

W to selL c&nvey. tnmsfer, lease or e.ssign the Property or any part or parf&­

th.ereof oat of the ordinary coarse of business, 

4-=t-ll-i-&--Btede~"i}FEie-F-dee-s-Het-tnelude-&j:7e(;.'-i'f-1B··1:H:!:~A-e-F-it;f-~B-B-H-ittiHg-Ehe-R-eee-i-v-ef-te--t"-i{~iel'-fi-le-HH--as-5-igrHt1e-Ht-ffi­
tJiffikfltf'lC';'-<•H--belml~&f-!11~eBt*11';-fl!'-l&-€6HB<>Ht-f9-!h&-H1£\oing-&f-a-blffik-H+f.ll-0~>FGet'-agffiH-Sl-lhe-I~ebter. A 
banlmlj-}k')'--lHay-ha-ve-lR<>-efloo!-ef-itlierit>gihe-priet'itie.Htfteng-€-f<lffileF&,-at>El--th~t'e-lll-e-£j'Je€-i+k>.-aHtlH>ffi-y-el'-lh€-­
Gi>urt-sfiet!k-1-l>&wughl-if-the--{;,eee-i"€l'-Wi&heB-!B-t-ak<l-Em<HJlCthes<>-£t<ljJ&, 
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eo~l!+illij>gt;---~o$===='' i'PIBHCPHff'icled that th&-aggregate ccmsidemtiBfr-

for all sac-h-4nmsactions doe:J not exceed $ ; m:d 

f:H1 with tho approvu±--ef this Co~:rt in respect of any transaction in 

whi£1Hcl16--J*~'-hase-pl'iee-er-the aggregate-}'>nrohase-pl~ee-eds­

the-at}J*He"!l17le-a!HflHnt-Bet-m~t'-Hi-tch~t}FeeetffiJcg-£-lffiwe; 

and in each such ease notice :1nder s;.,b:.;ection 63('1) of the Ontario 

Persencl Pr&pe:'i)' 8eel,.ril) Act, [or section 31 of the On:ario MorlgEges 

A c/, as tho cnse ma~' shall not be--reqHired, aad-ciH each case the 

Oatario Bulk Sales , 1 ct r;ha!l-not-apply. 

to apply for any ver;ting order or other orders necessary to cmn ey the 

-12rej3efty-frr-fmy-pafl-er-pa-rts thereof to ll purehaser or pm•ehasors thereof 

f\~ny--l-ieJ'!S-or-eootHHbranee:.l aJ'Jeeting-sHeh Preperl'y;--

(tR-'j to report to, meet with and diocw.Js with-mteh affected Persons (as detinWc­

belo·N) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the 

P-ffij'lerty and the reeei\ crship, and to share infonnufie.lt,-Eltlbject to sach 

to-Hn-s-u1HB-eonfitlontiatity-a-&-the-ReG-'-eiv-eJ'-tl eems ach'iSfiB.lo; 

fnf to register a copy of t!t}s-+)Rler nnd any other OrdffiJ-ifl-l'e5}JOOt of the 

Property against title to any of the Property; 

{:e-) to apply for any--pei'Ifl-i-ls;--li-cences, approvG!s or peBHi:Jsions as may be­

fetj-airecl-hy all)' governmenta-!-tlut-l-1Brhy-aHtl~wls-then;ef-for--untl­

on behalf of and, if tho~:ght denirable by the Receiver, in the name of the­

Debtor: 

\-!31 tB--enter into agreements wi:h--any trustee in banlffu-ptoy appointed ill­

res-poot of the Debtor, includtr-;g,--wii:he-nt-l-iH-1-i-tiHg--fho--genet.'aH+y--ef-t~ 

"-14'-lhe-R-e6€Wer-;¥-ill-6e-4ea-li+>g-with-a55el&-ia-etlteryfe~e-&fl5it!<JF-adding--re-tere~plieahle-;;t<t!utes-in­
etltef J3FS\ iflees. If~hts is doHe, these :JttJutes mttst be re\ ievred to er:s:we thc.t tile Reeeh er i.J eJ~empt frem er ean 
be exen:pted from sueR notiee 13eriodn, and fmther that tfte Ontario Cmu4-BG3 fhe juri:Jdietieu to grrmt nueh an 
CJiemrtion, 
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Jer~-!,'fl±~t~h1'Klbilit)' to e!lt'el'--inle-ee&~.+Joa11Bfrilji!;r~oown+s-feHH-1Yim~pefly­

H-wmxlHf-leaBed by the-Debffif-;-

ftt') to exereise-any sl~areholder, partnership, joint venture or othef--fij,"-hhs­

vvhich the Debtor may have; and 

!£L s_ubjoct to Pa~ 5--'l_Uhis__omer to exercise cQntroLolLeL.th_e Bec_ehfershig 

~J:l)':;. 

!J;U to~rcise jts st<Jtutorv__QJ;Jl_Lqatloo<Lunsie_c tho_ Wmze Eilmer Proteclion ProarallL 

LJQL(QmJillta);_ 

fff-U<Lto take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the 

performance of any statutory obligations~arlli 

U:ll to e_ng age c_ouns_eUoassist withthe_ exercJ~iLQLtll<'L&QBJ_,~f!r's_go_w_e_r:s_c_ollfurr_ect__ 

QJI,J!1is Order. 

5. IHIS CQURLQBDEBS tba!Jbe.Recelvo[shallhave no_o_bJigatlQJ] or author_tiy to~tiJke_ 

sta~tilke..QQ§session of __disgoso of ouo_aliz:e_ugoo_any oUbfLRo.c_eL'Lors_big_P_rog.erty,, 

6. t:nd in each case \Vhcre tho Receiver tal:es any-ooch actions or steps, it shall be 

exchwively au1hemed a~td empewered-te-cle-se,-ffi-ih.e exchwion of all o1her Perso~ts (as defi~tecl 

belewj,-i-netu4ing the Del)tor, and without --ffilefference trom m1)·--Bi'heF--!'-efSBllcl!::llS~.CQU RL 

QBQERS tbattb.eHeceL\IoLbe <mQ._is b!llill:l¥-.J~li~'lll.P fr.om .... QQIDQiiaoce witiL1lle~m~i.:>.iolL!lL 

S.ecliilllB..2<!5.(1 ).,_24_5_(2luand 246~_o_f tbe_BJb;~Q[O'.'id~r;Ltb_aUbfLRe.ceiver shall groyjde ootice of 

.its .... aRP-Ointrne.nL in ... lh.e _gres£rll:te.\1JQIDJ .illld~.m.anwL.1~L.tbL~.\JP-'1Ilo1eod_enLot_B_aokruplc_y,~ 

accomganLed.by tbe gre.scrihed foe" 

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER 

7. 4.-THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Debtm6p_J2)jc.ao.ts, (ii) all of H&ibeir current and 

former directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and 

::hareholder:HTielll.berJl., and all other persons acting on iffitbe.lr instructions or behalf, and (iii) all 

other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having 

notice of this Order (all of the foregoing, collectively, being "Persons" and each being a 

"Person") shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any Re..celv~ersbiP-Property in 
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such Person's possession or control,_aod shall grant immediate and continued access to the 

liaQ?l':LefshJ[LProperty to the Receiver;-and shall deliver-a-l-1-ooel~erty-t-e--t~-­

~he Receiver's request. 

8. §-,.-THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the 

existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting 

records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the bu:;ine;;s or 

aJ:Tair:; of the DebtorBec;eiv~ers~£ro12.eJi;,t, and any computer programs, computer tapes, 

computer disks, or other data storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, 

collectively, the "Records") in that Person's possession or control, and shall provide :o :he 

Receiver or permit the I{ceeiver to make, retain ami take away copies thereof and grant to the 

Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting, computer, software and physical facilities 

relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this paragraph ~~ or in paragraph 6~;)~ of this 

Order shall require the delivery of Records, or the granting of access to Records, which may 

not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client 

communication or due to statu~ory prO':isiomiaQplic.ableJaw.s prohibiting such disclosure. 

9. &-THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a 

computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service 

provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give 

unfettered access to the Receiver-fur the p~;qJtiW--flf-a-1-](+WiHg-tlle ReoeiveHe-feeover and full)~ 

copy all of '.he information contained therein \Vbether by way of printing the information onto 

paj3er or mGking copies of computer-disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the 

in.foflnn{~B+1 as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or 

destroy any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the 

purposes of this paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in 

gaining immediate access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its 

discretion require including providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer 

or other system and providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and 

account numbers that may be required to gain access to the information. 

+. +Hh'>~-G(}\cfl{+-(~)I~EI~~mH~re--I{6€~~vef'-&hnll-trl'&Vide~ea&h-B{'~lfl€--fetevaHt--lat1Eiieffis­

with notice of the Reeeiv~nretllion ~o remove any fixtures from an~y--ieased premineE; at lea:;t 

DOCSTOR: ~~15Jilii9 
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se-v;m-.(-7-)--Elay&-]WiBJ~e-<ktre--ef-ltlo intendoo-retRoval. Tlle--re-1€-venHandlord shalJ-.be-entitled­

ffi--have a representative preo;ent in the loasefr-t'll'€1Hffles.--+e--BbserYe suclt--retBtwa-l---and, if tlte­

landlord disputes the Rceeiver's entitlement to remove any nuch fixtHre ~1m!er the provisions of 

the let:se, .meh fixtGre shall remain on the premiGos and shall be dealt with as agreed between any 

apj'Tl~eable--seemed-vretffiers,st~clt--lamlffiffi--.and--the--Reeeiver, of--13y-cfurther---Grt!N-<~4lri-:rl.2otH'l~ 

tJt)OB-applieatitHl--h)YlHH:Zeooivor-or1--atc.l€litlt-two--(-&)--daytH1otiee--to--sHeh--lHntlffird--antl-an-y-csooh-

seeured creditors. 

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER 

10.. %.--THIS COURT ORDERS that lli7i~cJ.i.n-b-'-()!'-enfm-eement proeoc.:o ifr.any-{c'HI±F-kli~ 

tri!mnal (each, a "Proceeding"), :;hall be comm;,Hced or continued against the Receiver except­

with fue written consent of the Rtceiver or with leave of this Court. tba.sJay__of_QroceedingJ;; in 

~ctin_ accordarrce wjth_tmmoraplls. jLi_and 17 _gf tbe .. JnitlaLDrder_under the__Gomgani£1~ 

,QreditQG?.i3mmgftme.ot.ll ct (Qa~~ra.n1!>d .. itl"tbe--a!'l ... QL~eg_lng1LOnJhe _dateJJ.eleoLfls !llll.:L 

Qe. amelld"'-d_ fr.om time jo time (llte__"lrrttlal Order") shall ar;<pl)LJllUtaJj~___lllllfan_dis._N__anJL 

I:'.roQ.e.eQiogs_@~u;Jmi~!Llni.liiJI Ordec) .. or_<ttJ\LLighlilJ:.Leme.d¥~insJ"oLJnr.e~~~t.>lt~., 

Racaill.e.r__aruUhe RecejyershiiLELQ~y an.cLoothing herein shall derogate__fr_om.Jhe sta)( of 

J2IQQeedin9Jl-lD effe.cL~.!JillllJlLibe Initial Qn:ier...excepUoJb!il .. extenLoece~rv to gl\leefted_ 

J.o_jbe_agg,oJoimeotJ:>Lthe R e.c.eLv.er.. 

·9-c +I#S C OUI{-12-{:}Rf)f\.!{8--that-+lH--Pi~.tng--agffi.rwH7r--i·n-resp&+-&f-.the--fl"Bttli'-<7r-4lle­

P-ropoFty o;hllll be commenced or continHcd mwept with the written cement of the Receiver or 

with leave of tllis Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or iH respect of 

tlte--9ebk'lHJH-he Property are hereby stayed-and sm:pended pending furth~fthis Comt. 

N~ERCISE Ol? RIGHTS OR REMEDIES 

Hh TillS COTJR+-<)-R~at all rightl> and rcm&lies-agaim:Hhe Debtor, tho Receiver, or 

afJ-eetiHg-the-JlrefleFty;--are--+lereby--stayed-antl--sH&pended encept \v#h--t-h&-WFitten-€f)!'l5en t of the 

Receiver or leave of thia Comt, provided howey or that-thi£: may m:d na:;pension doc;: not apply-iH­

respect of m1y "eligible financial oontrnc:" as defined in the BlA, m1d farther provided that 

nothing in this parat,'fHph shall (i) empower th~ Debtm to carry on any business 
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wllliJ1-Il,e-Dwt-&-4s-+J-eHavvf-t-!lcly-ettti+led4e-eaff)'-6fl-;-fii}<E~H'rpt-th~eei-~r or the J:}ootBJ~fmm­

oompliance-\vtth. stat~;tory--Hr-regt~latory pre-visixms relacing-!B-hea#h, safety-Hr-the-€twiro-Bftlel-1f;­

(-i-ii-)-prevent the Hffi-1g-of any registration to preseP<'c or perfect a seoUFity interest, or (iv) provem­

the registratoi+m of a claim for lien. 

N9-I-NTEIU!'ERENCE WITH TH~: RECEIVJm 

+h THIS COURT ORDER8 that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter. interfere 

with, repudiate, terminate or cease tO-j'lfffom' tmy righ+, renewal--right, contract agreement-,­

lK"C"fle~lr·tlemJ-it-in favour of-oF-held-lly-the Debtor, withtm{c-'l¥!'ittcel,__Hsent of-th&-ReoeiveJ"-W­

leaye of this-Gooi'-h 

+2--c TI-HS COURT ORDERS fJmHtl-J-Per:.;onn having oral-or--\¥FiHen agreementG v.#fl-the­

Debtor or stc;t~;tol)' or reg;;latory mandates for the supply of good:J and/or services, inebding 

wit:lliHtt-ffiffi-!ation, all eomput~'e-;--OOHln'ltlllieation and other dnta~es, centrali>led 

oonlfing-B&-vioo&-payroll services, insl:nmoe, crunspoffitci{)!l-fieJ'viees,-Hti-ltty or other Gerviees to 

the Debtor are hereby restmined-nHtil-i'mthff-Grder of thin Co~;rt from discontinuing, altering, 

interfering with or terminating the Sllpply of such goods or services as may b~ 

Receiver, and •,hat the Reeeiver shall b&-eni#l-ed--to the CB!'tH+H±ed---twe of the Debtor's current 

telephone-±1umeers,-faGSH-Ri-lo--nutH-ber&;-int&net ad dres;;es nnd-4cllna-in-nam~)f(7-vtded--in-et~oh­

eL:se chat the nonnnl pri.een or charge:; for all such gomls or services received after tke date of thi:; 

Grder are paid by the Roeei-. or in accordance with r:onnal pU)1nent practices of the Dchtor or 

such other praeliB>S-a-&-111£1)' be agreed upon by tho su-pplier or service prffi~mJ-the-ReeeiYer, 

ef-f!S-tHf!TI3e-o-FElerecl-l3y-tch-is-C-e-rwt-o--

RECEIVER TO HGLD FUN-DS 

-H. =!'-H-I&--C-*JUR-+-GI:{D-IS-RS-'that'-E!ll-fnnd-s,-B'!et1io&,-c41eE!i'!Otl,-instFHmt:m1~14ethc"-!cfutmtref­

]lli)'H1Cllt:; received or colleet&EI--by--the-R~'-i-ver---A'ttn: and after cbe making of-this Order ti·onr-any­

Gmrrce v<hatsocver- including without limitt:tien the sale of all or any of the Property and the 

oo±lootie-lr-&1'-any-awoBttts-Joeeeivahl-e--in-wh&le-e-r-*1--Jffil'-l,-whot£~-s-tencc'-00--l~'l<l-date--&f+hi-s­

Order or hereafter coming intB--effistence, shal-1-he--def)oai(e{-l---into one or more nov, aocounts to be­

~ by tho Receiver (the "Poc;t Receivership Aoco;;nt:;") and the-monies standing to the credit 
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ef-stJe-h-f'-est-R~i-".'effihtj3--A~"''eunffi--4roiR-lime-!e-tillie.-Re{'-B f any d isbttfselneffis-previded-f'el~ 

her-e+H-;-Shu11 be ltek! by the Re<.o.efve!'--le--Be-pa-itl-iH-aWtwdance widt-the terms--Bf-this Order or an;~ 

flfrlhe:· Order of d1in Court. 

EMPLOYEES 

11. -l4-THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the f}ebffif6BQ1immts. shall remain the 

employees of the f}ebteft,QQjlc<;Jnts until such time as the -Reeei-veF;----&n the Debt<:w's­

-8eha#,6RRJil;.<;JIJJs may terminate the employment of such employees. The Receiver shall not be 

liable for any employee-related liabilities__o.r oblig.illk>JlS, including any successor employer 

liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such amounts as the 

Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations under sections 

81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act. 

+!i-, THIS COURT ORDERS that. parsuanHB-el-a-Hsc 7(3)(c) of the Cane.da Per.swwl 

b7formatirm Pro!eetirm amf Efutrenic Dacumenls Acl, the Receiver shall disclose personal 

i-nfonnat1~enffi'ift6lc individuals to prospeetivc--p'Urel!HS€FS-er bidders for the Property and 

to their aElvisB'F&;-htt!'--e-n-l;He-t-ht:H:llfl01th4esira-8l-e-er-reE!uireEl tr-HJeg&ti-a-t~ltt'tnpHtt-Bttnl.tJl.-ete­

one or more sa~opei'Cy (ec.ch, a "8e.le"). Et:ch prospeetive parchaoer or bidder to 

whom such pemonal iRforma:ion is disclosed shall maintmn and protect the privac) of st:ch 

iH-fer-maliHH-anfl-±imit the use of such information to-#s-eva-h!Ht+on of the Sale, and if i: doer; not 

OOH'!t~ Sale, shall retuJ'fHl-1-Hn~'-lt-i-nt'orn'lfltimr-te-the Receiver, or in the-a-14om-at1ve-desH'f>y-a±l­

such inf01111ation. 1£c p;trchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue :o use :he pernonal 

infonnation provided to it, r.nd rekted to the Properly pmebased. in a manner vdrieh is in all 

11lflterial respects iElenli€al to the-pri-erl'lfi!HThsuch information by the Debtor, and shal~ 

othef-i'l01'00Ha-l-infuFHJ-alkm-to-l£o-RereiveJ';--or-onsllf-o-!ltat-a±hther-pcrtlonal inte-nRffii-en-i-5-

destreyeth-

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES 

12. -M.,. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to 

occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or 

collectively, "Possession") of any of the ~ertyRac.eiY..e.LsJJi~~ or any of the A);lpllcants.'. 
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o_theLaSs.els_. QLogert)l_or _ undeJ:talslog ,_induct ln&UX£ithooUmita1Lo nl RLQ!lell)l that might be 

environmentally contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or 

contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, 

provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or 

rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination 

including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario 

Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational 

Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (the "Environmental Legislation"), provided 

however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make 

disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. 

POSSESSLQN O£RE_GEIVERSHIP PROPERlY 

J3. The.Ees::eivec.sbal~~-<~lsoever-inJbemao,eg,ement orh.~liillion.oLthe. 

m<Jna~emaoLof tbe Business (_<Js defined jnJhe.JoitlaLQrder) and tbe_ Receiver shall not, as a 

result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers under 

this Order, be deemed to be in J2osseDsiBB-ef-ar~y of the Propertyposses.!>ion QlQ[]le_de.amerliCL 

b<l'LlLtaken <lllY~Jll@.§Jo_dis.RQ§,LoLan~ .. 1beJ~e~vers_biR PcoR.ertv. ... oc ... oL<Jn\' otb_eLas§eta 

f2[QJ2J~J!)'_Q[_J,Indertaking_DLfue_ArmJi><ants,Jncluding !witbout limitationl within the meaning of 

any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession. 

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER'S LIABILITY 

14. ..f.'7c-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a 

result of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for 

any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under 

sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act. 

Nothing in this Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 

of the BIA or by any other applicable legislation. 

RECEIVERl:S ACCOUNTS 

15. WIS CXJURT. DRDfRSt!LaLtlle I'Yi"fiL'tfJ.~&o.cLcatmsBUcLtl)ef',eceiver shall be paJcl 

t}Jf!I(LADf!CII1D.ble..f?""?~~JJD_d [JJ;~/)_uJsenJent s,in .. paqh case'"'at tlwiJ·_s.tfllltiWJf1/£1 s q_[ld ch a rg_e,S,J;!JJJ;L 

~-6PRli>;_gots,.ar.e.heLai:J_)I .autbQ[izect :to Q.a',' to tbll Receiv.eG1 retain.ac in.Jhe. munLof 

DOCSTOR: m.H4-;!15J5.6.l~9 
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$Jli.OOO,JQ .. be held b\' ttLe ReceiveL as security for I he. pil)lmeot of tile Rec.eiver's and its_ 

CQUU~"el:£fee"s and_riNbursementS_illill;landillilfmmlime.Jc time_ 

1§., -HI,.,.:J2UJ~'..Q).fd.l?-Tfc.J.l?PK10-flwf.-lhe-Rt't'f!iww"enc~Gf!IH!fii4-te--t-he--R{if"f'-fW+F"ffiall-/Je-tHti~lc-

l-heie-r-ethYOI?ah lefe-es"ili'ld dA,ln>~rNcmenl!i;-·in--et'!Gh--&tlseHHiu~il· srcrndaNI--Nt/t',T-mlilt•hdrg?-s--tutl-es,s­

othorwinc ordered by the Cour: on the pm;siq~ of accounts, tmd that the Receiver and eo:msel 

teiJ::US C.QLJRT ORDERS the Receiver shall be entitled to and weis hereby granted a charge 

(the "Receiver's Charge") on the PropertyJ,a_s_ su.ch.Jerm__lli___de_fined jn the lnitiaLOJ:derl, as 

security for fl'ltehiill.. and its cou.~LA •. fees and disbursements, both before and after the 

making of this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form 

a •l'ieit---€harge on-tllil-Prerefly--ffi-tll'ier-ity-ffi--Bll secmi:y interoot-s,--t'fcl!lt:;, lien:;, charges antl-­

ene:;mbranees, r:tatutory or otherwise, i1; favour of any Pen:oo, but subject to oeetions l ·1.06(7), 

81.1( I), and 81.6(?) oftbe BIA.4 chame Ql1__\be E'rQR..er!YJaQisJng; (i) sub_O[dinate to the Qb~ 

!as~§uch le.m:ti;;;___.Qefin_e(J .. _in the JniiLai_O.Jd§lt. amLCllLin .RJiorjty_tQ.l!IL EnG.~JllQC!ilD>;.e.s(as_gml,~. 

in the I oiliaLD.rde.r)jnla'iQMLO.LallV .Eers.oolbaLrank..sul;l.u[dinata1o..tha..Charg~ 

+9-, THIS CO illa-I:}I-ID-E-RS that--!he-!{ewi-voJ'--BtH:l---it-s--legak'-W-Rsel :;hal~s-ifs--uee-&Hnts-­

ffem--ffino-iB time, and for this purp(75e--lii&-a-eeounts of the Reeeivef und-its legal co;mtJe! are 

herel1y refcHed to a judge of the Commefcial List oftl:e Ontario Superior Court ofhstice. 

2-G-, THIS CO-bi-1~-8--that-}Jrior to the pa:;sing of itG accotn'lt~oiver shdl be at 

l+he~~-y-H'&J•n-i'i-nl€--!'<'r-time--to--tl-j'lfrly--reasonalJte--aflt(-1H11t&-<+ttf-of-the monies iJr-its-!HmclB;--frgai+1-ilt--i+s­

foe:HmEklcis~-tffi€+11011l.l, inc!:Jding legal fee;; anEklc~WI'Hel'ltS;- incurred at the otandard mtes and 

charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such ammmts shall cons:it:;:e advances against its 

retm-H'lefat-ion-antl--d-isbursements 'i\'heiJ-and-afl-aJ'J'}Fe'Vetl--by tltis Comt. 

FUNDING OF THE Hl£CEIVERSIHP 

fr TH18 COt'R'I' ORDERS that the Rce<."fVer be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to 

BBfl'OW--1JY-'W8)' of a revo!Ying credit or othenvise, such monies fi·om time to time as it mc:y 

comidor necessary eF·-<.-lesira-Ble, provic~ed thllt the ou:stat:ding-t)finoipal amount does no: exceed 

il>:=====-\:f'fl''-fSf(JUtcclnr-ggfCateHtn1ffi-nrt-i1S-+his-Gttufl--~n'ther-GHlOf--au{ir{Wire-)--al--atly time, at-

6-N-ete that suhseet-ierhM;>f:6)-eJCthe--B-~Ai>rov-i<les-thi!l-the-Geuff-ffiily-~>BHB<>k-e.,;ueh-ilrlceffieF-''uille55-it--bH<tt-is-HOO­
th.at-the _;eeured erediter.; whe v:eCJid be materially a!Jected B) the er<ler were given reaseHable rwtie&-a~~<l-aR­
Bfi30rtuHity to make representatieFLJ''. 

DOCSTOR: ~~-1!'14!\535_6ll)9 
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Stl6!-1-tt11%-m--mtes of iBt~est-as--i+--c-k"e!1'\S--aEI-vis&hle-ffif-stlffi--j3erietl-m'-j'leR04s--ef-time as iHnay­

fll'fllflb"&,-fer-tlle--j3urpose oJC-Rmding the mcerci:;e ef.-the--pewe-rs-an-c+-c.Jaties confcrred-Bpoa the 

Receiver by thls-(iffie~~+effnl mcpenditureG. 'l'he vfhole of the PH7perty shall be and is 

hereby ehc:rged f>y way of a !~xed and specific charge (the "Receiver's Bonowings Charge") ttH­

sce-uFil:1~.-f+H•--!I-i,~jNI:'fNIC'!7l--11/~ •• lwntenk"B-BeHoweth-!og€-t-l-lC-r-witlr-inlerest-ttlKH41Bfg<JS-thereHn;-ii1-

rwH,wity-to-all--seo<wity-intere-sts,-1mst~HS;-L4h'lfgetHmtHmet~mlwaneeB-;-S1it1utery-Bi'-Hi:hmwi&e,-irr 

favour of any P0fSB!l, b:;t uabordmatc in priority to the Rccei'.'er' s Charge and the cfiargcs as set 

ou:in sections 14.06(7), 81:1(1), and 81.6(2) ofthoBIA. 

;&.:h THIS COURT-ORDERS that neither the Receiver's Borrowings Charge HOf-aHy-o-t-hor­

seotH~ty-g;oantod-By-the-Reooiver--i-n-eonneetton wit!T-its-\3(*rowings-ttlli4ei' this Order shall be­

on-K+Feed-wttlt8+tf-kGw ofthi:; Colilt 

+H.J.S-Gf)URT ORDElUi :hat the Receiver is e.-Hi-Bcrty and a~1lhorized to isst~e certificatot-

sHhflltlHti-ally-iR the form-ltnneo:-ed-afl--SBhedH-1 e "A" hereto-0'he "Receiver's C ertifi€iltes"}+ffi'-ffi'l)'­

ometmi-lxm'O""'Cd-By-i+-pul'Stlf1Tl±-to-this Order. 

24, TIIIS COURT OJIJ)~hat-tho-±UOnies from time to time borrowed by tl1e Receiver 

pursuant to this Order or any frn·ther order of thls Co:ut and any and all Receiver',; Certificates 

evit!Hncing tl'!O-Btlffie or any-j'lf\ff-the~'~*-shal+-raRk--l'll1-i!-f1&i-p~is.,-t~n]ess otherwise agreed 

ffi-hy-t-fle-lc1~}ltleJ'&-Bf-any-pfiOi'-is~El-II.oeeivei"s-GeFt#k-at~ 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

1L 8-,--THIS COURT ORDERS that theE SerYice Protocol of the Commeroid List (the 

"PFetecel") is approved and-adepm& by reference herein and, in thi;; proceeding, the service of 

tloeti-mom.s made in aOOBl'<-iBnee-wi+h--the-Pi'OtOOHI-(whioh can be found on the Commercial List 

wehffite--------------------------------------------------------------~ 

~ww·Vr.<'lcft!BfiH\lO:Irt:.J.Qa/no,i/pmetic0/praeticc cl-irectionslt<-~JL~QrY:i~protp col/) Ghnll be 

vdid and effective SCIYiee. St~bject :o R::le 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for 

sitb;;tffi+tod sorvic-o--pHi'SUaHt-le-RHio-!4-fl'l of tbe-R-Hl~CWH-Proeeclme. Subject to Rule­

+.G-1-fd-)-Hf+ho-f.?.ulHB-B f Civil PrH€0tiur&nfld-j'l&rfl-gTat}}-~-1-oH11&-P-!'Otoool,-serv ice of doem-nents-in­

accordance with thc--J2J'Otocol will f>e effective on tranomission. Thin Coart further ordero tl1at a 

Case Wel1site shall be established in accordance with the Protocol wi:h the followiHg URL 

DOCSTOR: +-1-1++4-l\~9 

4 



- 14-

'<@>' -~IJ1ecUo furJber Qrdecof ttLe_l.&_urt. ~ewlce aog noti.ceJNitb ~ecUo lbLs Qrder and 

th!Lf!RJ20itltJ1le_n_t~Ui1aHeceJ.w,Jih.~.11 .. 1:J~..ln ac.G.or!:J.flnce.vvilbJ:>aragrapb_? .. .4J~ .... aodA\l,ef the lnJI.iaL 

QrdeL 

;:!.6, 'f-J:c[I£ CO Ul{+-(clRtHlR&-+llffi-if-tfie--sewiBe--<.·H'-Eitei£~8B1~en-HI:_~,umer'llit-it1--lHJ<,"{~fEkme<J­

with tho Protocol-4s-Ret practicable, the Receiver in at lilierty to serve or distriliu:e thin Order, any 

etiteF--tHaterials lmcl offie;·s in these---fll'Bceeding~es or other oorrenponclence, by 

ffirwarding true copies ll'!el'eef-.by prepaid OFcliHf!lT+lhlikourier. pel'Sonal delivery or facsimiie­

tffmsmisffi.&R-l&-ehe-9ehtotcfH,'J'ed.ii:<:w;; or other intm~tlarties at theif respec:ive-addressoo--a-s-­

last shown-- on the roe orcin of the Debtor c.nd that any ouch service or distribution by courier, 

flOrsonal delivery or facsimile tranmnission shall be deemed to ~'l€-reeeived on the nmct business 

d-ay-fu-llowing the date of forwarding thereoC or if sent by ordinary maiL on the third k1sinoss 

~t~l-iw,s. 

GENERAL 

18. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court 

for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder. 

19. ~THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from 

acting as a trustee in bankruptcy of the DebtorA~QUillY of..tJJJ'lm}. 

:;?1), +HIS COURT HEREBY REQUBSTS the aid and recognition of any court tribm1al, 

Ieg-t+la-toroy-t>F-achniltis1Hti-ve-body-hfwing-jnrwdi8-hm-4n---Ganad-a--Br-in the United-&ta-tes to give 

effect to thin Order m:d to assi.1t the Receiver and its e.gents i-n-earrying out the term:: of thi-s-­

Order. AH eoarts, tribunds, reg;;latory and c.dminislTative bodies are hereby respectbl!y 

rett-uestoed-+o--t11ake--sueh orders ancl--t'&}~!'!Wide s;;eh assistance to the Receiver, as an officer ofthis 

CHurt, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to-fhis-f)R4eF-EH'4{+-£\&S·ist-the-I{eeeiver c.nd 

its agents in ean)-iilg-f>Hl-the tenns of tlti-s--Order. 

~ THTS COUKI' OHDER8 that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized m1d 

OH1J'>o-wered to apj'>ly-ffi-aay--€Eltll+.--tfi+lBHal;---Fegulatory or adminislTative body, \Vherever located. 

ffii'-lh~'D-gni-tiz·H-1-BHhi-s--{l-Fder-and-fur--a-ssista-Rt'<l-ffi--{,-'ffiT)'ing o u: the-le!TH-s-4 this Order. omi­

that the Receiver is outherized and empowered to Hot ctS--a-l'cprer:en+ative-i-11-FCSflOCt of the within 

DOCSTOR: -I-H+'74Alll.(i.Lii9 
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flHl<Oe<e{~{-rlgB-R"J~!l+€--J3lH'j-)OO€---{jf:_lnwi+1g--lheoo-J3reeeeeings-FeeBgnlli~El--in-a-:fHJoffidietietHJtlfside­

~ 

*. THIS COURT ORDERS thl\t :he Plaintift:_,;lwll have ito costs of this motion, up to and 

inel~;ding entry and sen·iee of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Plaintiffs secmity or, 

if.t1et-Do pro\ ided-by--the-Jl-1-a{ntiffo sooelfity,!hen on a sabffiaflti-al--fn{-k"'BmHy-bas-is-te--be-paic-l-by­

the--f{eooivet~floc»"114he-l)ebtm's--esta'ffi-W+t-h-scHJl+-tWiority-and---at-ffi'fBh-t#1HJ-as-4l'lfs-GfmrHnay-

6€-i:-em:~ 

20. ,3-;h-THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or 

amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party 

likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may 

order. 

HECEIVER CERTIFIC},T--E 

GHR-'nFICATE N-~===== 

AMG~~=========== 

SCHEDULE ",'." 

21. -h--THIS 18 TO CER"f-IFY t!Jat [RECEWER'8 NAME], the reeeiwr (the "R'"eeiver") of 

:he am;ots-;-undef-takings ancl propertiea [DEBTOR'S NAME] rwqttired-fef;-BH!BC{l-ilHela#on-ie-a­

hHstne';s carried on by the fkbtoF;-ID_eludi-Bg-ttll-j3fE\Ceed:; tllCf<*lf (collectively, the "Property") 

awei-nted-b~le-Qalar:o 8Hperior Court of kstiee (ComrneFG-'-i-al-Li:;t) (the-'!-G!+urt'-'")-­

dated the -~day of --~· 20 __ (the "Order") made in an action having Comt tile namber 

-CL - , as-reecived---as--&u<:>h-R'"ee1-ve-r--fr-&m-thB-hBldeF--ef--l+li-s-Wfti+tc-aie-ftc!l~H-Eior--")­

t1le-r~al-&HH!-ef ' , ffiflg part of the total principal----surH-&4======­

whi-cb--tl-1e Heceiver is authorized to borFeW'-t:ndcr and pursuc:Bt to the Order.i;;QlJELQBQ!;;ES .. 

tb.aUhis Order and all of its grovisions _are eftecti'Le as_oiJ2·D1 g m Eastern Standard/Qay:jjghl 

Time on.NovemQ.eL:?Z.:?Q1g_._ 

;&.- The principal SHill evidenced by t!Jis certificate is payable on demand by the LendeT with 

interest thereon calealated aBEl C&l'BflCUH-ded--fd-aily] [monthly not in advance on tile day-
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~ Sach principal :mm with interest thereon is, by the tenns of the Order, together with the 

J3!'incipal sams and interest thereon of all other certificates issued By-tho Receiver pursuant to the 

0fflel'-0F-te-an)'-ftH4het'-&FC-IeH;l'+he-(-'et!i'~harge--\Jpen-+lle-whe-le-ef-tl1e-Jl.rerffiy;-i-n-pri-e-ri-lij--k+­

tho··sca!-fity-"inteH'Sffi-&l'-any-e10her-re-;'Sen,lmt-&ull:fceHe-1:he···J.lFiority-Bi'-!±18-Bharges--set'-But-in-the­

Order and in the Banknq1IC)' and !nsoh·encJ' Act, t:nd the right of tho-Reeciver to indcmnif)' itself 

oat of such Property in respect of its rerc:uneration and mq1enses. 

4, All sums payable in :·est;ect of prineipal and in{erer;kmder this certificate are payable-at~ 

the-trutffi-efJ.'K,~he Lemkr at TorolH'<'l,-OBti±fif" 

§o 1Jnt+l-a!l-tta1.7i+ity in respect of this certificate has beer: termim:ted, no oertitlcateo creating 

elmFg-es-ranl'iii'J1,'-Bf-pmporting :o rank in priority to this certificate .;hall be issaed by the Receiver 

ffi-RH)'--j)Cl'Stlli'-Bther+hatHhe-hoJ.der-ef-\ft}s-re~nHhe-pfior-wfilten OOnOORt-ef-the­

hH!dei'-<:rHhi£-eeRifieit1:&. 

6-, The chrn·ge oeoming thb certificate shall operate GO as-to-p;..~eeoiveHe-doal-with­

the Prope1iy as authmiwd by the Order and as a~;thorizecl by any f'.trther or other order of the 

~ 

+, +he--I~Jes-T1ot c:ndm4uke, and i: is nBH!i*loF-acl)'"Pe:lWtlfl±.+iahility,-te-r-ay-aflTS11tH-

ill-l'BSpO~'-hich it may isst!€-Wfti-lffl!lte5-ttncleF-tlw-lert'11G of the Order. 

DATED tho day or '20 

[RECEJVER'£ l'li\ME], solely in its capacity 
as Receiver of the l'rope.rty, and not in its 

personal· capaetty-

):ler. .. 
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